for the second s

RECEPTOR USAGE AND PATHOGENESIS IN ACUTE AND CHRONIC VIRAL INFECTION

Hosted by Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota and Kazutaka Terahara





FRONTIERS COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

© Copyright 2007-2012 Frontiers Media SA. All rights reserved.

All content included on this site, such as text, graphics, logos, button icons, images, video/audio clips, downloads, data compilations and software, is the property of or is licensed to Frontiers Media SA ("Frontiers") or its licensees and/or subcontractors. The copyright in the text of individual articles is the property of their respective authors, subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this e-book, as well as all content on this site is the exclusive property of Frontiers. Images and graphics not forming part of user-contributed materials may not be downloaded or copied without permission.

Articles and other user-contributed materials may be downloaded and reproduced subject to any copyright or other notices. No financial payment or reward may be given for any such reproduction except to the author(s) of the article concerned.

As author or other contributor you grant permission to others to reproduce your articles, including any graphics and third-party materials supplied by you, in accordance with the Conditions for Website Use and subject to any copyright notices which you include in connection with your articles and materials.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws.

The above represents a summary only. For the full conditions see the Conditions for Authors and the Conditions for Website Use.

Cover image provided by lbbl sarl, Lausanne CH

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88919-066-9 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88919-066-9

ABOUT FRONTIERS

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

FRONTIERS JOURNAL SERIES

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing.

All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

DEDICATION TO QUALITY

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view.

By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

WHAT ARE FRONTIERS RESEARCH TOPICS?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area!

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: researchtopics@frontiersin.org

RECEPTOR USAGE AND PATHOGENESIS IN ACUTE AND CHRONIC VIRAL INFECTION

Hosted By:

Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan



In the first phase of the viral life cycle, the virus enters cells using a specific cell surface receptor. Many viruses use multiple receptors: some of which are unique to a certain cell type, while others are ubiquitous in many cell types. Depending on the receptors used, the viral cell tropism is determined, which may result in the characteristic distribution of virusinfected cells/tissues. Obviously, virus entry is not the whole story. After the virus

enters, various cellular proteins interact with it - some support virus replication, while others inhibit it. The intrinsic anti-viral cellular machinery differs among cell types; thus, viral cell tropism based on the receptor usage plays an important role in the pathogenesis. For example, HIV-1 utilizes one of two co-receptors, CXCR4 or CCR5, in addition to a major receptor, CD4. CCR5 expression is restricted to a certain subset of memory CD4+T cells, while CXCR4 expression is rather ubiquitous among CD4+T cells. Therefore, the latent infection of CCR5-utilizing HIV-1 in resting memory (CCR5+) T cells would be largely responsible for intermittent virus blimps accompanied by immune activation during chronic HIV infection. This may explain why CCR5-utilizing HIV-1 is preferentially isolated in the early phase of HIV-1 infection, even when the HIV-1 transmitter carries CXCR4-utilizing HIV-1 in abundance. In the case of the measles virus, CD150 (Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule: SLAM) is a major receptor, while vaccine strains utilize CD46 when CD150 is not available. The third possible entry receptor would also be utilized for the infection of lung epithelial cells. The impact of these receptor usages in vivo on the disease outcome is now under investigation. We also know that the distinct use of host cell sugar moieties mediates species tropism in the influenza virus, and that a mutant virus breaking the species barrier is highly pathogenic in humans.

Thanks to the recent development of reverse genetics, it is now possible to visualize virusinfected cells, or even the virus itself, by using highly sensitive flow cytometery or microscopy. How viral cell tropism, determined by the receptor used, can affect the disease course of acute and chronic virus infection is an important question to address. In this Research Topic, we focus on studies connecting virus receptor usage and the pathogenesis of various viruses causing acute or chronic infection.

Table of Contents

- **05** *Receptor Usage and the Pathogenesis in Acute and Chronic Virus Infections* Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota and Kazutaka Terahara
- 67 Fluorescent Reporter Signals, EGFP, and DsRed, Encoded in HIV-1 Facilitate the Detection of Productively Infected Cells and Cell-Associated Viral Replication Levels
 Kazutaka Terahara, Takuya Yamamoto, Yu-ya Mitsuki, Kentaro Shibusawa,

Masayuki Ishige, Fuminori Mizukoshi, Kazuo Kobayashi and Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota

- 18 Cellular Factors Involved in HTLV-1 Entry and Pathogenicity Hiroo Hoshino
- 30 Cell Tropism and Pathogenesis of Measles Virus in Monkeys Sei-ich Kato, Kyosuke Nagata and Kaoru Takeuchi
- Wild-Type Measles Virus is Intrinsically Dual-Tropic
 Makoto Takeda, Maino Tahara, Noriyo Nagata and Fumio Seki
- 43 Exploitation of Lipid Components by Viral and Host Proteins for Hepatitis C Virus Infection

Kohji Moriishi and Yashiharu Matsuura

- 57 *Molecular Mechanism of Hepatitis C Virus-Induced Glucose Metabolic Disorders* Ikuo Shoji, Lin Deng and Hak Hotta
- 62 Peripheral B Cells as Reservoirs for Persistent HCV Infection Masahiko Ito, Hideki Kusunoki and Toshiaki Mizuochi
- 65 Scavenger Receptor B2 as a Receptor for Hand, Foot, and Mouth Disease and Severe Neurological Diseases

Seiya Yamayoshi, Ken Fujii and Satoshi Koike

- 71 *Cellular Receptors for Human Enterovirus Species A* Yorihiro Nishimura and Hiroyuki Shimizu
- 76 Mouse Hepatitis Virus Receptor as a Determinant of the Mouse Susceptibility to MHV Infection

Fumihiro Taguchi and Asuka Hirai-Yuki

- 80 Cell Receptors for Influenza A Viruses and the Innate Immune Response Irene Ramos and Ana Fernandez-Sesma
- 86 Norovirus Recognition Sites on Histo-Blood Group Antigens
 Haruko Shirato

Receptor usage and the pathogenesis in acute and chronic virus infections

Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota* and Kazutaka Terahara

Department of Immunology, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Tokyo, Japan *Correspondence: yyokota@nih.go.jp

Edited by:

Akio Adachi, The University of Tokushima Graduate School, Japan

Reviewed by:

Akio Adachi, The University of Tokushima Graduate School, Japan

In the first phase of the viral life cycle, the virus enters cells using a specific cell surface receptor. Many viruses use multiple receptors: some of which are unique to a certain cell type, whereas others are found in many cell types. After the virus enters into cells, various cellular proteins may interact with it; some support virus replication, while others inhibit it. Once virus succeeds to establish its life cycle in the target cell, the progeny viruses disseminate within the tissues or systemically via viremia. The intrinsic pro- or anti-viral cellular machinery differs among cell types. Thus, depending on the receptors used, the viral cell tropism is determined, resulting in the characteristic distribution of virus-infected cells/tissues and the disease outcome *in vivo*.

How viral cell tropism, determined by the receptor used, can affect the disease outcome in acute and chronic virus infection is a major subject under extensive investigation in Virology. To understand the mechanism which causes human diseases by viruses, that is, viral pathogenesis, we have studied various aspects of virus infection at a cell/tissue level or using animal models. In this context, the recent development of reverse genetics allows us to visualize virus-infected cells/tissues or even the virus itself. By applying such manipulated viruses to animal models, it is also possible to analyze the dynamics of virus infection *in vivo*.

In this Research Topic, we selected on studies connecting virus receptor usage and the pathogenesis of various viruses causing acute or chronic infection. Eventually, it could expand to cover the receptor-pathogenesis relationship in various acute and chronic virus infection. This research topic comprises an original research article on HIV-1, two opinions articles on the hepatitis C virus (HCV) and norovirus, while the remaining review articles on HTVL-1, measles virus (MV), mouse hepatitis virus (MHV), influenza virus, HCV, and enterovirus (EV) provide overviews on various aspects of viral pathogenesis. In all these review/opinion articles, at least one comprehensive table or figure is incorporated so that readers who are unfamiliar with these viruses can get a message at a glance.

With regards to the cell tropism of HIV-1, Terahara et al. (2012) presented his recent study using CCR5-tropic and CXCR4-tropic HIV-1 with distinct fluorescent reporter. These HIV-1s allowed us to detect HIV-infected cells at a different stage of infection and to evaluate the level of virus replication in CD4⁺ T cells with distinct differentiation phenotype including CCR5⁺ memory. In contrast, a receptor for HTLV-1 and related pathogenesis is still intriguing issue, which is described by Hoshino (2012) in his extensive review.

The two reviews on the MV (Kato et al., 2012; Takeda et al., 2012) were published at a very appropriate time as a third receptor for MV entry into epithelial cells, nectin 4, had just been discovered

(Muhlebach et al., 2011; Noyce et al., 2011). Here, Kato et al. (2012) focused on the receptor usage of MV *in vivo* which may influences the disease outcome using monkey models, while Takeda et al. (2012) discussed about the dual-tropic nature of MV using SLAM and nectin 4 expressed in immune cells and epithelial cells, respectively.

Ito et al. (2012) addressed the importance of B cells as a reservoir for persistent HCV infection. In two reviews on HCV, Moriishi and Matsuura (2012) overviewed a current research focus on lipid components for the HCV pathogenesis, while Shoji et al. (2012) discussed about glucose metabolic disorders associated with HCV infection.

Nishimura and Shimizu (2012) and Yamayoshi et al. (2012), both of whom successfully identified two novel receptors for EV, overviewed the current knowledge about receptor usage and various diseases associated with EV infection. For the coronavirus, Taguchi and Hirai-Yuki (2012) overviewed studies on the receptor and related cellular factors for MHV, which may contribute to the mouse susceptibility to MHV infection.

As regards to the virus recognizing sugar moieties, Ramos and Fernandez-Sesma (2012) provided insights about the interaction of influenza A virus with sialic acid receptors on immune cells with special reference to the innate immune response. Shirato (2012) described about the norovirus with distinct genotypes which recognize a specific structure of sugar chain.

We will learn by these articles the fact that to identify a receptor is the first important step to know a virus, but many questions remain in order to fully understand human diseases caused by viruses. I would like to express my cordial thanks to all the contributors for this topic. I hope readers find the content interesting, but most importantly, that the information will prove very useful for future research.

REFERENCES

- Hoshino, H. (2012). Cellular factors involved in HTLV-1 entry and pathogenicity. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:222. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00222
- Ito, M., Kusunoki, H., and Mizuochi, T. (2012). Peripheral B cells as reservoirs for persistent HCV infection. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00177
- Kato, S. I., Nagata, K., and Takeuchi, K. (2012). Cell tropism and pathogenesis of measles virus in monkeys. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:14. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00014
- Moriishi, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2012). Exploitation of lipid components by viral and host proteins for hepatitis C virus infection. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:54. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2012.00054
- Muhlebach, M. D., Mateo, M., Sinn, P. L., Prufer, S., Uhlig, K. M., Leonard, V. H., Navaratnarajah, C. K., Frenzke, M., Wong, X. X., Sawatsky, B., Ramachandran, S., McCray, P. B. Jr., Cichutek, K., von Messling, V., Lopez, M., and Cattaneo, R.

(2011). Adherens junction protein nectin-4 is the epithelial receptor for measles virus. *Nature* 480, 530–533.

- Nishimura, Y., and Shimizu, H. (2012). Cellular receptors for human enterovirus species a. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:105. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00105
- Noyce, R. S., Bondre, D. G., Ha, M. N., Lin, L. T., Sisson, G., Tsao, M. S., and Richardson, C. D. (2011). Tumor cell marker PVRL4 (nectin 4) is an epithelial cell receptor for measles virus. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002240. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002240
- Ramos, I., and Fernandez-Sesma, A. (2012). Cell receptors for influenza a viruses and the innate immune response. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:117. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00117
- Shirato, H. (2012). Norovirus Recognition Sites on Histo-Blood Group Antigens. Front. Microbiol. 3:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00177
- Shoji, I., Deng, L., and Hotta, H. (2012). Molecular mechanism of hepatitis C virusinduced glucose metabolic disorders. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:278. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2011.00278
- Taguchi, F., and Hirai-Yuki, A. (2012). Mouse hepatitis virus receptor as a determinant of the mouse susceptibility to MHV Infection. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:68. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2012.00068
- Takeda, M., Tahara, M., Nagata, N., and Seki, F. (2012). Wild-Type Measles Virus is Intrinsically Dual-Tropic. Front. Microbiol. 2:279. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00279

- Terahara, K., Yamamoto, T., Mitsuki, Y. Y., Shibusawa, K., Ishige, M., Mizukoshi, F., Kobayashi, K., and Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y. (2012). Fluorescent Reporter Signals, EGFP, and DsRed, Encoded in HIV-1 Facilitate the Detection of Productively Infected Cells and Cell-Associated Viral Replication Levels. *Front. Microbiol.* 2:280. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2011.00280
- Yamayoshi, S., Fujii, K., and Koike, S. (2012). Scavenger receptor b2 as a receptor for hand, foot, and mouth disease and severe neurological diseases. *Front. Microbiol.* 3:32. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00032

Received: 20 July 2012; accepted: 23 July 2012; published online: 08 August 2012.

Citation: Tsunetsugu-Yokota Y and Terahara K (2012) Receptor usage and the pathogenesis in acute and chronic virus infections. Front. Microbio. **3**:289. doi: 10.3389/ fmicb.2012.00289

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2012 Tsunetsugu-Yokota and Terahara. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and subject to any copyright notices concerning any third-party graphics etc.



Fluorescent reporter signals, EGFP, and DsRed, encoded in HIV-1 facilitate the detection of productively infected cells and cell-associated viral replication levels

Kazutaka Terahara¹, Takuya Yamamoto², Yu-ya Mitsuki^{1,3}, Kentaro Shibusawa^{1,3}, Masayuki Ishige^{1,4}, Fuminori Mizukoshi⁵, Kazuo Kobayashi¹ and Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota¹*

¹ Department of Immunology, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Tokyo, Japan

² The Immunology Laboratory, Vaccine Research Center, National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases, National Institutes of Health, Bethesda, MD, USA

³ Research Resident, Japan Foundation for AIDS Prevention, Tokyo, Japan

⁴ Division of Hematopoiesis, Center for AIDS Research, Kumamoto University, Kumamoto, Japan

⁵ Department of Microbiology, The Tochigi Prefectural Institute of Public Health and Environmental Science, Tochigi, Japan

Edited by:

Hirofumi Akari, Kyoto University, Japan

Reviewed by:

Mikako Fujita, Kumamoto University, Japan Jun-Ichi Sakuragi, Osaka University, Japan

*Correspondence:

Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Department of Immunology, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, 1-23-1 Toyama, Shinjuku-ku, Tokyo 162-8640, Japan. e-mail: yyokota@nih.go.jp

Flow cytometric analysis is a reliable and convenient method for investigating molecules at the single cell level. Previously, recombinant human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) strains were constructed that express a fluorescent reporter, either enhanced green fluorescent protein, or DsRed, which allow the monitoring of HIV-1-infected cells by flow cytometry. The present study further investigated the potential of these recombinant viruses in terms of whether the HIV-1 fluorescent reporters would be helpful in evaluating viral replication based on fluorescence intensity. When primary CD4⁺ T cells were infected with recombinant viruses, the fluorescent reporter intensity measured by flow cytometry was associated with the level of CD4 downmodulation and Gag p24 expression in infected cells. Interestingly, some HIV-1-infected cells, in which CD4 was only moderately downmodulated, were reporter-positive but Gag p24-negative. Furthermore, when the activation status of primary CD4⁺ T cells was modulated by T cell receptor-mediated stimulation, we confirmed the preferential viral production upon strong stimulation and showed that the intensity of the fluorescent reporter within a proportion of HIV-1-infected cells was correlated with the viral replication level. These findings indicate that a fluorescent reporter encoded within HIV-1 is useful for the sensitive detection of productively infected cells at different stages of infection and for evaluating cell-associated viral replication at the single cell level.

Keywords: HIV-1, flow cytometry, EGFP, DsRed, Gag, productive infection

INTRODUCTION

Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) interacts with its primary receptor, CD4, and a co-receptor, usually CCR5 or CXCR4, to infect T cells, macrophages, and dendritic cells (Mcclure et al., 1987; Berger et al., 1999; Tsunetsugu-Yokota, 2008). Single cell analysis of HIV-1-infected cells is an essential approach to investigate the differential dynamics of HIV-1 infection and the cellular consequences for each of the HIV-1-targeted cell populations. To monitor HIV-1 infection, a recombinant HIV-1 encoding a reporter luciferase (Luc) gene, or indicator cells transduced with enzymatic reporters such as Luc, β-galactosidase, alkaline phosphatase, and chloramphenicol acetyl transferase, incorporated downstream of the HIV-1 long terminal repeats (LTR) have been widely used (Kar-Roy et al., 2000). However, these reporters require additional substrates or co-factors, and lysis or fixation of cells is required to show reporter activity, which makes the experimental process more complex. In addition, it is difficult to distinguish infected cells from uninfected cells using these reporter assays.

An alternative molecule, green fluorescent protein (GFP) and/or its derivatives, is a powerful reporter that does not require any substrates and co-factors to generate a reporter signal (Chalfie, 1995; Cubitt et al., 1995; Heim et al., 1995). Page et al. (1997) first used a GFP derivative, called enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP), as a fluorescent reporter molecule for HIV-1 and showed that infected cells were detectable and, more importantly, distinguishable from uninfected cells using flow cytometry. Furthermore, a red fluorescent protein, DsRed, has been used as an HIV-1 fluorescent reporter (Weber et al., 2006). The main benefit of such recombinant HIV-1 molecules is that the targeted cells do not require any modulation (e.g., transfection) of exogenous reporter genes and, therefore, they allow the characterization of intact HIV-1-infected cells. In most cases of previous recombinant HIV-1 strains, the nef gene was replaced with a reporter gene. Therefore, we previously constructed nef-intact, replicationcompetent, recombinant HIV-1 strains encoding either EGFP or DsRed, and showed that CXCR4-tropic X4 and CCR5-tropic R5 viruses replicate differently in CD4⁺ T cells simultaneously infected with X4 HIV-1 encoding EGFP and R5 HIV-1 encoding DsRed (Yamamoto et al., 2009). Such recombinant HIV-1 strains encoding a fluorescent reporter gene will be even more valuable because of recent advances in multicolor flow cytometry, which permit more detailed characterization of HIV-1-infected cells.

Flow cytometry is a reliable and convenient method for analysis at the single cell level. Because the transcriptional activity of HIV-1 can be quantitatively monitored in indicator cells according to the fluorescence intensity of an EGFP reporter driven by the HIV-1 LTR (Dorsky et al., 1996; Gervaix et al., 1997; Kar-Roy et al., 2000), we investigated whether the HIV-1-expressing fluorescent reporters EGFP and DsRed would allow the quantitative evaluation of viral replication using a flow cytometer. The results show that a fluorescent reporter signal generated by recombinant HIV-1 strains enables the detection of infected cells at various stages of the viral life cycle.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

CELL PREPARATION

Human peripheral blood samples were collected from healthy donors after written informed consent. Sample collection was approved by the Institutional Ethical Committee of the National Institute of Infectious Diseases (NIID; Tokyo, Japan). Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were separated on a Ficoll–Hypaque density gradient (Lymphosepal; IBL, Gunma, Japan) and $CD4^+$ T cells were negatively selected from the PBMCs using an EasySep Human $CD4^+$ T cell Enrichment Kit (StemCell Technologies, Vancouver, BC, Canada).

CEM cells stably expressing human CCR5 (CEM–CCR5) were established by transducing CEM cells with the human *ccr5* gene using a conventional mouse retrovirus system. CEM–CCR5 cells were maintained in complete RPMI medium (10% heat-inactivated fetal bovine serum, 100 μ g/ml penicillin, 100 μ g/ml streptomycin, and 2 mM L-glutamine) supplemented with 1 μ g/ml puromycin at 37°C.

PREPARATION OF HIV-1 VIRUS STOCKS

We previously constructed pNL432-based proviral clones encoding EGFP (pNL-E) or DsRed (pNL-D) for X4-tropic HIV- 1_{NL-E} or HIV- 1_{NL-D} , respectively, and pNLAD8-based proviral clones encoding EGFP (pNLAD8-E) or DsRed (pNLAD8-D) for R5-tropic HIV- $1_{NLAD8-E}$ or HIV- $1_{NLAD8-D}$, respectively (Yamamoto et al., 2009; **Figure 1**). To prepare the HIV-1 viral stocks, the human embryonic kidney cell line 293T was transfected with pNL-E, pNL-D, pNLAD8-E, or pNLAD8-D using the calcium phosphate precipitation method and then incubated for 48 h. Culture supernatants were filtered and frozen at -80° C. The amount of virus in each culture supernatant was measured using an in-house HIV-1 Gag p24 enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA; Tsunetsugu-Yokota et al., 1995).

STIMULATION OF T CELL RECEPTORS

T cell receptors (TCR) were stimulated as described previously (Yamamoto et al., 2009) with some modifications. In brief, primary CD4⁺ T cells were suspended in complete RPMI medium supplemented with 5% human plasma and stimulated with 5 μ g/ml of immobilized anti-human CD3 monoclonal antibody (mAb; eBioscience, San Diego, CA) and 1 μ g/ml of soluble anti-human CD28



FIGURE 1 | Structure of the proviral DNA. The pNL432-based proviral clones encoded EGFP (pNL-E) or DsRed (pNL-D) for X4-tropic HIV-1_{NLE} or HIV-1_{NLD}, respectively, and the pNLAD8-based proviral clones encoded EGFP (pNLAD8-E) or DsRed (pNLAD8-D) for R5-tropic HIV-1_{NLAD8-E} or HIV-1_{NLAD8-D}, respectively. EGFP or DsRed was not expressed as a fusion protein with Env due to the insertion of a single base after the Env stop codon. Nef was also independently expressed under the control of IRES. t (Thymine) and g (guanine) are additional DNA sequences.

mAb (eBioscience) in U-bottom, 96-well plates at 37° C for 4 (weak stimulation) or 24 h (strong stimulation).

HIV-1 INFECTION AND CELL CULTURE

Primary CD4⁺ T cells (either unstimulated or pre-TCRstimulated) or CEM-CCR5 cells were infected with 200 ng of p24-measured amounts of HIV-1_{NL-E}, HIV-1_{NL-D}, HIV-1_{NLAD8-E}, or HIV-1_{NLAD8-D} per 1×10^6 cells by spinoculation at $1200 \times g$ for 2 h at 25 (conventional conditions) or 4°C (for CEM-CCR5 cells), as described previously (O'doherty et al., 2000; Dai et al., 2009). After spinoculation, cells were washed three times with PBS. Primary CD4⁺ T cells were then suspended in complete RPMI medium supplemented with 5% human plasma. The cell suspensions derived from unstimulated or pre-TCR-stimulated CD4⁺ T cells were settled onto U-bottom, 96-well plates with or without TCR-stimulation, respectively, at 37°C for 24 h. After the 24 h culture, cells were washed three times with PBS, suspended in complete RPMI medium supplemented with 5% human plasma and 50 U/ml recombinant interleukin-2, and cultured in U-bottom, 96-well plates at 37°C for up to 4 days.

FLOW CYTOMETRY

Cells were stained with fluorescence-conjugated mAbs as described previously (Yamamoto et al., 2009). The following mAbs were used for flow cytometry in various combinations: Pacific Blue-conjugated anti-human CD3 mAb (BioLegend, San Diego, CA, USA), phycoerythrin Cy7-conjugated anti-human CD4 mAb (BioLegend), and Alexa Fluor 700-conjugated anti-human CD8a mAb (BioLegend); and Nu24 mAb specific for HIV-1 Gag p24 (kindly provided by Dr. T. Sata, NIID, Tokyo, Japan) and conjugated to Alexa Fluor 647 using an Alexa Fluor 647 Protein Labeling Kit (Molecular Probes, Eugene, OR, USA). Dead cells were stained with propidium iodide or a LIVE/DEAD Fixable Dead Cell Stain Kit (L34957; Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA, USA). Intracellular staining (ICS) by Nu24 mAb was performed using a FIX and PERM Fixation and Permeabilization Kit (Invitrogen). Data collection was performed using a FACSCanto II (BD Bioscience, San Diego, CA, USA) and the data were analyzed using FACSDiva software (BD Bioscience) and FlowJo software (Tree Star, San Carlos, CA, USA).

QUANTIFICATION OF REPLICATED HIV-1 IN CELL CULTURE SUPERNATANTS

Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication was quantified in cell culture supernatants by ELISA and real-time RT-PCR. Gag p24 was measured using a RETRO-TEK HIV-1 p24 Antigen ELISA (ZeptoMetrix Corporation, Buffalo, NY, USA). For real-time RT-PCR, viral RNA was extracted using a QIAamp Viral RNA Mini Kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA) and subjected to real-time RT-PCR using a SuperScript III Platinum One-Step Quantitative RT-PCR System (Invitrogen), a set of HIV-1 *gag*-targeted primers, and a TaqMan probe as previously described (Saito et al., 2010). PCR was performed in an Mx3000P (Stratagene, La Jolla, CA, USA).

RESULTS

CD4 DOWNMODULATION IS ASSOCIATED WITH HIV-1 FLUORESCENT REPORTER INTENSITY

The cell surface CD4 molecule is downmodulated in HIV-1infected cells in response to the HIV-1 components Env, Nef, and Vpu (Malim and Emerman, 2008). Therefore, to investigate the correlation between the level of CD4 downmodulation and the HIV-1 fluorescent reporter intensity, primary CD4⁺ T cells infected with HIV-1_{NL-E}, HIV-1_{NL-D}, HIV-1_{NLAD8-E}, or HIV-1_{NLAD8-D} followed by TCR-stimulation for 1 day and cultivation for a further 4 days were analyzed by flow cytometry. As shown in Figure 2 (left panels), HIV-1-infected cells expressing a fluorescent reporter signal, EGFP, or DsRed, were detected, although the numbers varied between individual donors (n = 3-4): about 10-30% for X4-tropic HIV-1_{NL-E}-infected and HIV-1_{NL-D}-infected cells and 1-10% for R5-tropic HIV-1_{NLAD8-E}-infected and HIV-1_{NLAD8-D}-infected cells. However, the number of HIV-1⁺ cells was comparable between HIV-1_{NL-E} and HIV-1_{NL-D} (X4-tropic), and between HIV-1_{NLAD8-E} and HIV-1_{NLAD8-D} (R5-tropic) within each donor, showing that the fluorescent reporter genes encoded within the HIV-1 proviral genome did not affect HIV-1 infectivity as described previously (Yamamoto et al., 2009). When we categorized CD3⁺CD8⁻ T cells into three fractions (HIV-1-negative, -dull, and -high) based on the fluorescence intensity of EGFP and DsRed, we found that CD4 was strongly downmodulated in the HIV-1 high fraction in all the HIV-1 strains (Figure 2, right panels). Interestingly, CD4 was also downmodulated in the HIV-1 dull fraction, but the level was modest compared with that in the HIV-1 high fraction (Figure 2, right panels). These results indicate that the level of CD4 downmodulation is associated with HIV-1 fluorescent reporter intensity.

FIXATION/PERMEABILIZATION WEAKENS THE HIV-1 FLUORESCENT REPORTER SIGNAL

To investigate the correlation between HIV-1 fluorescent reporter intensity and viral replication levels, we attempted to perform ICS

for Gag p24 in HIV-1-infected cells prepared as described above. When we observed X4-tropic HIV-1_{NL-E}-infected and HIV-1_{NL-D}infected cells from three donors by flow cytometry, we noticed that fixation/permeabilization, an essential step for ICS, weakened the fluorescent reporter signal for both EGFP and DsRed. Figure 3 shows the flow cytometry profiles obtained for EGFP and DsRed at identical photomultiplier tube (PMT) voltages between intact (untreated) cells and fixed/permeabilized cells to visualize the differences in fluorescent reporter intensity. DsRed⁺ cells were not properly separated from DsRed⁻ cells within the population treated by fixation/permeabilization; the frequency of DsRed⁺ cells was, therefore, markedly decreased. No adjustment of the flow cytometer settings, including PMT voltage and compensation, improved the blunted fluorescent reporter signal generated after fixation/permeabilization. Nevertheless, the number of EGFP+ cells within the intact cell and fixed/permeabilized cell populations was comparable. Similar results were obtained for R5-tropic HIV-1_{NLAD8-E} and HIV-1_{NLAD8-D} (data not shown). Taken together, these results indicate that it is preferable to use an EGFP reporter when the fixation/permeabilization of cells is required.

HIV-1 FLUORESCENT REPORTER SIGNALS RELIABLY DETECT PRODUCTIVELY INFECTED CELLS SHOWING DIFFERENT VIRAL REPLICATION LEVELS

Following the results shown in Figure 3, we next assessed viral replication levels in the HIV-1_{NL-E} infection group (5 days culture) from six donors using Gag p24 ICS (Figure 4). A representative flow cytometric analysis showed that not all EGFP⁺ cells were Gag⁺ and vice versa. When CD4 expression levels were compared in each of the four cell fractions based on the expression patterns of EGFP and Gag p24 (EGFP+Gag+, EGFP+Gag-, EGFP-Gag+, and EGFP-Gag-), the strongest downmodulation of CD4 was observed in EGFP+Gag+ cells (red fraction). CD4 downmodulation was moderate in EGFP+Gag⁻ cells (green fraction). However, CD4 was not downmodulated at all in EGFP-Gag+ cells (blue fraction) and the expression level of CD4 was the same as that in EGFP-Gag- cells (black fraction). We further divided the EGFP+Gag+ cells (red fraction) into Gaghi (brown fraction) and Gaglo cells (pink fraction) and compared the expression levels of EGFP and CD4 with those of Gag p24. Gaghi cells (brown fraction) showed the strongest expression of EGFP and the strongest downmodulation of CD4. Gag^{lo} cells (pink fraction) showed an intermediate level of EGFP expression [between that of Gaghi cells (brown fraction) and that of EGFP⁺Gag⁻ cells (green fraction)] and CD4 expression [between that of Gaghi cells (brown fraction) and EGFP-Gag- cells (black fraction)]. These results indicate that the expression level of EGFP correlates with that of Gag p24 in HIV-1-infected cells in which CD4 is downmodulated.

HIV-1-BOUND OR -INTERNALIZED CELLS ARE ALSO DETECTED BY Gag $p24\ \text{ICS}$

Because CD4 downmodulation was not observed in EGFP⁻Gag⁺ cells (**Figure 4**; blue fraction), it is possible that these cells may still be bound by or have internalized HIV-1 but have not produced virions. Therefore, we next investigated the kinetics of EGFP⁻Gag⁺ cells during 5 days post-infection. Primary CD4⁺



and cultured for 5 days (including the initial 1 day culture with TCR-stimulation). (Left panels) representative pseudo-color plot profiles for

the Dead⁻/CD3⁺/CD8⁻-gated cell fractions from three donors. Cells were classified as high (red), dull (blue), and negative (black) based on the HIV-1 reporter intensity. (Right panels) histograms of CD4 expression by the high (red), dull (blue), and negative (black) fractions defined.

T cells from three donors were infected with $\rm HIV\textsc{-}1_{\rm NL\textsc{-}E}$ followed by TCR-stimulation for 1 day and cultivation for a further

4 days. **Figure 5A** shows a representative flow cytometric analysis. At 1 day post-infection, 17.6% of Gag p24⁺ cells were observed,



despite the fact that no EGFP⁺ cells were detected. At 2 days postinfection, the proportion of EGFP⁻Gag⁺ cells was decreased and $\rm EGFP^+$ cells including Gag $\rm p24^+$ and Gag $\rm p24^-$ cells became to be observed, suggesting that initially infecting HIV-1 was



degraded and/or replaced with replication-competent proviruses. After 3 days post-infection, EGFP⁺ cells were clearly visible and the proportion of EGFP⁻Gag⁺ cells turned to be increased, suggesting that progeny virus infection occurred. Because the CD4 expression levels were identical between EGFP⁻Gag⁺ cells and EGFP⁻Gag⁻ cells throughout the culture period, Gag p24 ICS must have detected cells that had bound or internalized HIV-1.

CEM–CCR5 cells, which are almost as susceptible to X4 and R5 HIV-1 fusion (data not shown), were used to confirm that Gag p24 ICS did indeed detect HIV-1-bound cells. Also, because it has been suggested that spinoculation at 25°C may induce HIV-1 fusion to the targeted cells (Dai et al., 2009), we tested Gag p24 ICS using CEM–CCR5 cells immediately after spinoculation with X4-tropic HIV-1_{NL-E} or R5-tropic HIV-1_{AD8-E} at 4°C. When cells were not fixed/permeabilized, no Gag p24⁺

cells were detected by flow cytometry (**Figure 5B**, upper panels); however, when cells were fixed/permeabilized, a substantial proportion of Gag⁺ cells was detectable in both the HIV- $1_{\rm NL-E}$ and HIV- $1_{\rm AD8-E}$ infection groups (**Figure 5B**, lower panels). Taken together, these results indicate that cells that have bound or internalized HIV-1 can be detected using flow cytometry for Gag p24 ICS.

THE INTENSITY OF THE HIV-1 FLUORESCENT REPORTER SIGNAL DEPENDS ON TCR-MEDIATED ACTIVATION LEVELS

T cell receptors-mediated activation of HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells increased productive viral replication, although the signaling pathway responsible may be different for X4 and R5 HIV-1 (Popik and Pitha, 2000). We investigated whether the intensity of the HIV-1 fluorescent reporter signal was affected by TCR-mediated



FIGURE 5 | Evaluation of Gag p24 ICS for HIV-1-internalized and -**bound cells. (A)** Representative flow cytometric analyses of the HIV-1_{NLE} infection (NLE) and mock (Mock) groups from three donors in which unstimulated primary CD4+ T cells were infected with HIV-1_{NLE} or not, respectively, and cultured for 5 days (including the initial 1 day culture with TCR-stimulation). The expression patterns of EGFP and Gag p24 are indicated in the pseudo-color plot profiles for the Dead⁻/CD3⁺/CD8⁻-gated cell fractions (upper panels). The expression level of CD4 in EGFP⁻Gag⁺ and EGFP⁻Gag⁻ cells is indicated in the histograms by the blue and black lines, respectively (lower panels). **(B)** Representative flow cytometric analyses of Gag p24 staining. CEM–CCR5 cells were infected with HIV-1_{NLE} (NLE), HIV-1_{ADBE} (AD8-E), or not (Mock). Immediately after spinoculation at 4°C, the cells were washed and fixed/permeabilized (fix/perm) or not (intact) prior to Gag p24 staining.

activation levels. In this experiment, primary CD4⁺ T cells from four donors were individually pre-stimulated via the TCR for 4 (weak stimulation) or 24 h (strong stimulation), infected with HIV-1_{NL-E}, and then cultured for a further 3 days. First, we confirmed that this experimental protocol allowed the preferential production of HIV-1_{NL-E} upon strong stimulation in all donors by examining the cell culture supernatants by ELISA (Figure 6A) and real-time RT-PCR (Figure 6B). Flow cytometric analysis of intact cells showed that HIV-1_{NL-E}⁺ (EGFP⁺) cells were more prevalent after strong stimulation than after weak stimulation, although the proportion of HIV-1_{NL-E}⁺ cells varied among individuals (Figure 6C, upper and middle panels). The PMT voltage was optimized for EGFP to prevent excessive EGFP signaling (Figures 2 and 3). Of note, EGFP expression by HIV- $1_{\text{NL}-\text{E}}^+$ cells was lower in the weak stimulation group than in the strong stimulation group (as observed in donors #4 and #5), and EGFP expression in the weak stimulation group approached that in the strong stimulation group in parallel with the increase in the number of HIV-1_{NL-E}+ cells (as observed in donors #6 and #7; Figure 6C, lower panels). Taken together, these results show that the intensity of the fluorescent reporter is highly correlated with the viral replication level.

DISCUSSION

Flow cytometric analysis is a reliable and convenient method for detecting HIV-1-infected cells at a single cell level. Here, we studied the potential usefulness of several HIV-1 fluorescent reporters that have been published previously (Yamamoto et al., 2009). We examined whether they would be helpful for evaluating viral replication levels based on their fluorescence intensity. In this study, we used recombinant HIV-1 encoding either EGFP or DsRed to show that the fluorescence intensity of the EGFP and DsRed reporters was associated with the level of CD4 downmodulation (Figure 2). Furthermore, we showed that EGFP intensity was associated with the expression level of Gag p24 (Figure 4). These findings clearly indicate that fluorescent reporter intensity is useful for evaluating viral replication levels. To confirm this argument, we further compared the fluorescent reporter intensity of HIV-1-infected cells that were strongly or weakly stimulated via the TCR. As expected, higher levels of HIV-1 replication/production occurred in strongly stimulated cells from all the donors tested (Figure 6A,B). Although the proportion and EGFP intensity of the HIV-1-infected cells varied among individuals, this might be due to differing susceptibility to HIV-1 and/or TCR-stimulation. Thus, the variability in EGFP expression is rather favorable to our argument, as increased EGFP intensity was associated with an increase in the number of HIV-1-infected cells after weak stimulation (Figure 6C).

Although Gag p24 ICS is usually used for flow cytometric analysis of other markers, we showed that it can also be used to detect cells that have internalized or bound HIV-1 (**Figure 5A,B**). However, Gag p24 ICS did not appear sensitive enough to detect HIV-1-infected cells because some HIV-1-infected cells in which CD4 was moderately downmodulated were identified as positive for EGFP but negative for Gag p24 (**Figure 4**). Bosque and Planelles (2009) also identified a small population of such reporter-positive but Gag p24-negative cells by flow cytometry when CD4⁺ T cells were infected with EGFPencoded DHIV incorporating a small out-of-frame deletion in the gp120-encoding area and pseudotyped with X4-tropic HIV- 1_{LAI} , and assumed that these cells were at an early stage of the infection process and did not display late viral proteins. Therefore, our own findings indicate that it is the HIV-1 fluorescent reporter, rather than Gag p24 staining, that reliably detects HIV-1-infected cells at different stages of infection in flow cytometry experiments.

It is known that maturation of DsRed for coloration is usually slower compared with EGFP (Bevis and Glick, 2002; Maruyama et al., 2004). When we focused on the HIV-1 dull fraction in Figure 2, we found that CD4 downmodulation was stronger in DsRed⁺ cells than in EGFP⁺ cells. These results suggest that the EGFP reporter is preferable to the DsRed reporter for detection of earlier stage of infection. Furthermore, the detrimental effect of fixation/permeabilization on fluorescent reporter intensity, particularly when using the DsRed reporter, should be noted (Figure 3). Although the detailed mechanism remains obscure, this may result from the lower fluorescence intensity of DsRed compared with EGFP. A similar phenomenon was described regarding fixation with 3% paraformaldehyde, which significantly decreases the fluorescence intensity of DsRed, although specific data were not provided (Weber et al., 2006). Regardless of the weakened signal, the EGFP reporter is still compatible with fixation/permeabilization because the proportion of EGFP⁺ cells was comparable between intact cells and fixated/permeabilized cells (Figure 3). Therefore, the EGFP reporter still maintains an advantage for analyses of cytokine/chemokine production and proliferation assays based on Ki-67 expression, for which ICS is necessary.

The HIV-1 fluorescent reporter has a potential application in molecular biology. In general, ICS-treated cells are not suitable for analysis using molecular biology techniques, since formaldehyde-based fixation (required for ICS) makes RNA extraction and reverse transcription and quantification problematic (Farragher et al., 2008) because of chemical cross-linking of proteins and nucleic acids (Kuykendall and Bogdanffy, 1992; Finke et al., 1993; Park et al., 1996), degradation of RNA (Bresters et al., 1994), and covalent modification of RNA via the addition of monomethylol groups to the bases (Masuda et al., 1999); therefore, by using the HIV-1 fluorescent reporter, HIV-1-infected cells can be sorted/purified without the need for fixation, allowing further characterization at a molecular level.

Given the usefulness of the HIV-1 fluorescent reporter shown here, it would also be very useful for investigating the mechanisms involved in the selective replication of R5 HIV-1 over X4 HIV-1 during the acute phase *in vivo* (Wolinsky et al., 1992; Zhu et al., 1993; van't Wout et al., 1994) and in cell culture systems *in vitro* (Schweighardt et al., 2004; Roy et al., 2005). We previously developed an *in vitro* dual infection model using EGFPencoded X4 HIV-1 (HIV-1_{NL-E}) and DsRed-encoded R5 HIV-1 (HIV-1_{AD8-D}) and showed that the increase in the proportion of X4 HIV-1-infected cells is dependent upon their activation level (Yamamoto et al., 2009). Furthermore, the results of the present study show that the fluorescence intensity of the reporter molecule



can be used to assess the level of viral replication in infected cells; therefore, by focusing on the HIV-1-infected cells and the fluorescent reporter intensity in the dual infection model, the detailed mechanism(s) of HIV-1 infection/pathogenesis can be clarified. In this regard, we have been investigating the dynamics of HIV-1 infection *in vivo* using humanized mice infected simultaneously with EGFP-encoded X4 HIV-1 (HIV-1_{NL-E}) and DsRed-encoded R5 HIV-1 (HIV-1_{AD8-D}; Ishige et al., in preparation). We believe that the advantages of the recombinant HIV-1 fluorescent

REFERENCES

- Berger, E. A., Murphy, P. M., and Farber, J. M. (1999). Chemokine receptors as HIV-1 coreceptors: roles in viral entry, tropism, and disease. Annu. Rev. Immunol. 17, 657–700.
- Bevis, B. J., and Glick, B. S. (2002). Rapidly maturing variants of the Discosoma red fluorescent protein (DsRed). *Nat. Biotechnol.* 20, 83–87.
- Bosque, A., and Planelles, V. (2009). Induction of HIV-1 latency and reactivation in primary memory CD4⁺ T cells. *Blood* 113, 58–65.
- Bresters, D., Schipper, M. E., Reesink, H. W., Boeser-Nunnink, B. D., and Cuypers, H. T. (1994). The duration of fixation influences the yield of HCV cDNA-PCR products from formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded liver tissue. J. Virol. Methods 48, 267–272.
- Chalfie, M. (1995). Green fluorescent protein. *Photochem. Photobiol.* 62, 651–656.
- Cubitt, A. B., Heim, R., Adams, S. R., Boyd, A. E., Gross, L. A., and Tsien, R. Y. (1995). Understanding, improving and using green fluorescent proteins. *Trends Biochem. Sci.* 20, 448–455.
- Dai, J., Agosto, L. M., Baytop, C., Yu, J. J., Pace, M. J., Liszewski, M. K., and O'doherty, U. (2009). Human immunodeficiency virus integrates directly into naive resting CD4⁺ T cells but enters naive cells less efficiently than memory cells. *J. Virol.* 83, 4528–4537.
- Dorsky, D. I., Wells, M., and Harrington, R. D. (1996). Detection of HIV-1 infection with a green fluorescent protein reporter system. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 13, 308–313.
- Farragher, S. M., Tanney, A., Kennedy, R. D., and Paul Harkin, D. (2008). RNA expression analysis from formalin fixed paraffin embedded tissues. *Histochem. Cell Biol.* 130, 435–445.
- Finke, J., Fritzen, R., Ternes, P., Lange, W., and Dolken, G. (1993). An improved strategy and a useful

housekeeping gene for RNA analysis from formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded tissues by PCR. *Biotechniques* 14, 448–453.

- Gervaix, A., West, D., Leoni, L. M., Richman, D. D., Wong-Staal, F., and Corbeil, J. (1997). A new reporter cell line to monitor HIV infection and drug susceptibility in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 94, 4653–4658.
- Heim, R., Cubitt, A. B., and Tsien, R. Y. (1995). Improved green fluorescence. *Nature* 373, 663–664.
- Kar-Roy, A., Dong, W., Michael, N., and Li, Y. (2000). Green fluorescence protein as a transcriptional reporter for the long terminal repeats of the human immunodeficiency virus type 1. J. Virol. Methods 84, 127–138.
- Kuykendall, J. R., and Bogdanffy, M. S. (1992). Efficiency of DNA-histone crosslinking induced by saturated and unsaturated aldehydes in vitro. *Mutat. Res.* 283, 131–136.
- Malim, M. H., and Emerman, M. (2008). HIV-1 accessory proteins – ensuring viral survival in a hostile environment. *Cell Host Microbe* 3, 388–398.
- Maruyama, M., Nishio, T., Yoshida, T., Ishida, C., Ishida, K., Watanabe, Y., Nishikawa, M., and Takakura, Y. (2004). Simultaneous detection of DsRed2-tagged and EGFP-tagged human beta-interferons in the same single cells. J. Cell. Biochem. 93, 497–502.
- Masuda, N., Ohnishi, T., Kawamoto, S., Monden, M., and Okubo, K. (1999). Analysis of chemical modification of RNA from formalin-fixed samples and optimization of molecular biology applications for such samples. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 27, 4436–4443.
- Mcclure, M. O., Sattentau, Q. J., Beverley, P. C., Hearn, J. P., Fitzgerald, A. K., Zuckerman, A. J., and Weiss, R. A. (1987). HIV infection of primate lymphocytes and conservation of the CD4 receptor. *Nature* 330, 487–489.
- O'doherty, U., Swiggard, W. J., and Malim, M. H. (2000). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1

reporter will contribute to the further understanding of HIV-1 infection/pathogenesis.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Kaori Okano for technical support. This work was supported in part by Grants from the Ministry of Education, Science, Sports, and Culture of Japan (Kazutaka Terahara), and the Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare of Japan (Kazutaka Terahara and Yasuko Tsunetsugu-Yokota).

spinoculation enhances infection through virus binding. *J. Virol.* 74, 10074–10080.

- Page, K. A., Liegler, T., and Feinberg, M. B. (1997). Use of a green fluorescent protein as a marker for human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 13, 1077–1081.
- Park, Y. N., Abe, K., Li, H., Hsuih, T., Thung, S. N., and Zhang, D. Y. (1996). Detection of hepatitis C virus RNA using ligationdependent polymerase chain reaction in formalin-fixed, paraffinembedded liver tissues. *Am. J. Pathol.* 149, 1485–1491.
- Popik, W., and Pitha, P. M. (2000). Inhibition of CD3/CD28-mediated activation of the MEK/ERK signaling pathway represses replication of X4 but not R5 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 in peripheral blood CD4(+) T lymphocytes. J. Virol. 74, 2558–2566.
- Roy, A. M., Schweighardt, B., Eckstein, L. A., Goldsmith, M. A., and Mccune, J. M. (2005). Enhanced replication of R5 HIV-1 over X4 HIV-1 in CD4(+)CCR5(+)CXCR4(+) T cells. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. 40, 267–275.
- Saito, A., Nomaguchi, M., Iijima, S., Kuroishi, A., Yoshida, T., Lee, Y. J., Hayakawa, T., Kono, K., Nakayama, E. E., Shioda, T., Yasutomi, Y., Adachi, A., Matano, T., and Akari, H. (2010). Improved capacity of a monkeytropic HIV-1 derivative to replicate in cynomolgus monkeys with minimal modifications. *Microbes Infect.* 13, 58–64.
- Schweighardt, B., Roy, A. M., Meiklejohn, D. A., Grace, E. J., 2nd, Moretto, W. J., Heymann, J. J., and Nixon, D. F. (2004). R5 human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) replicates more efficiently in primary CD4⁺ T-cell cultures than X4 HIV-1. J. Virol. 78, 9164–9173.
- Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y. (2008). "Transmission of HIV from dendritic cells to CD4⁺ T cells: a promising target for vaccination and therapeutic intervention," in *AIDS Vaccines*, *HIV*

Receptors and AIDS Research, ed. L. B. Kendow (New York: Nova Science Publishers, Inc.), 117–128.

- Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y., Akagawa, K., Kimoto, H., Suzuki, K., Iwasaki, M., Yasuda, S., Hausser, G., Hultgren, C., Meyerhans, A., and Takemori, T. (1995). Monocyte-derived cultured dendritic cells are susceptible to human immunodeficiency virus infection and transmit virus to resting T cells in the process of nominal antigen presentation. J. Virol. 69, 4544-4547.
- van't Wout, A. B., Kootstra, N. A., Mulder-Kampinga, G. A., Albrecht-Van Lent, N., Scherpbier, H. J., Veenstra, J., Boer, K., Coutinho, R. A., Miedema, F., and Schuitemaker, H. (1994). Macrophage-tropic variants initiate human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection after sexual, parenteral, and vertical transmission. J. Clin. Invest. 94, 2060–2067.
- Weber, J., Weberova, J., Carobene, M., Mirza, M., Martinez-Picado, J., Kazanjian, P., and Quinones-Mateu, M. E. (2006). Use of a novel assay based on intact recombinant viruses expressing green (EGFP) or red (DsRed2) fluorescent proteins to examine the contribution of pol and env genes to overall HIV-1 replicative fitness. J. Virol. Methods 136, 102–117.
- Wolinsky, S. M., Wike, C. M., Korber, B. T., Hutto, C., Parks, W. P., Rosenblum, L. L., Kunstman, K. J., Furtado, M. R., and Munoz, J. L. (1992). Selective transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type-1 variants from mothers to infants. *Science* 255, 1134–1137.
- Yamamoto, T., Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y., Mitsuki, Y. Y., Mizukoshi, F., Tsuchiya, T., Terahara, K., Inagaki, Y., Yamamoto, N., Kobayashi, K., and Inoue, J. (2009). Selective transmission of R5 HIV-1 over X4 HIV-1 at the dendritic cell-T cell infectious synapse is determined by the T cell activation state. *PLoS Pathog.* 5, e1000279. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000279

Zhu, T., Mo, H., Wang, N., Nam, D. S., Cao, Y., Koup, R. A., and Ho, D. D. (1993). Genotypic and phenotypic characterization of HIV-1 patients with primary infection. *Science* 261, 1179–1181.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 November 2011; accepted: 28 December 2011; published online: 10 January 2012.

Citation: Terahara K, Yamamoto T, Mitsuki Y-y, Shibusawa K, Ishige M, Mizukoshi F, Kobayashi K and Tsunetsugu-Yokota Y (2012) Fluorescent reporter signals, EGFP, and DsRed, encoded in HIV-1 facilitate the detection of productively infected cells and cell-associated viral replication levels. Front. Microbio. **2**:280. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00280

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2012 Terahara, Yamamoto, Mitsuki, Shibusawa, Ishige, Mizukoshi, Kobayashi and Tsunetsugu-Yokota. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Cellular factors involved in HTLV-1 entry and pathogenicity

Hiroo Hoshino*

Advanced Scientific Research-Leaders Development Unit, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, Maebashi, Gunma, Japan

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Dorian McIlroy, University of Nantes, France Jun-Ichi Fujisawa, Kansai Medical University. Japan

*Correspondence:

Hiroo Hoshino, Advanced Scientific Research-Leaders Development Unit, Gunma University Graduate School of Medicine, Showa-machi, Maebashi, Gunma 371-8511, Japan. e-mail: hoshino@gunma-u.ac.jp

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) is the causative agent of adult T cell leukemia (ATL) and HTLV-1 – associated myelopathy and tropical spastic paraparesis (HAM/TSP). HTLV-1 has a preferential tropism for CD4T cells in healthy carriers and ATL patients, while both CD4 and CD8T cells serve as viral reservoirs in HAM/TSP patients. HTLV-1 has also been detected other cell types, including monocytes, endothelial cells, and dendritic cells. In contrast to the limited cell tropism of HTLV-1 in vivo, the HTLV receptor appears to be expressed in almost all human or animal cell lines. It remains to be examined whether this cell tropism is determined by host factors or by HTLV-1 heterogeneity. Unlike most retroviruses, cell-free virions of HTLV-1 are very poorly infectious. The lack of completely HTLV-1-resistant cells and the low infectivity of HTLV-1 have hampered research on the HTLV entry receptor. Entry of HTLV-1 into target cells is thought to involve interactions between the env (Env) glycoproteins, a surface glycoprotein (surface unit), and a transmembrane glycoprotein. Recent studies have shown that glucose transporter GLUT1, heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), and neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) are the three proteins important for the entry of HTLV-1. Studies using adherent cell lines have shown that GLUT1 can function as a receptor for HTLV. HSPGs are required for efficient entry of HTLV-1 into primary CD4 T cells. NRP-1 is expressed in most established cell lines. Further studies have shown that these three molecules work together to promote HTLV-1 binding to cells and fusion of viral and cell membranes. The virus could first contact with HSPGs and then form complexes with NRP-1, followed by association with GLUT1. It remains to be determined whether these three molecules can explain HTLV-1 cell tropism. It also remains to be more definitively proven that these molecules are sufficient to permit HTLV-1 entry into completely HTLV-1-resistant cells.

Keywords: epidemiology, cell tropism, heparan sulfate, glucose transporter GLUT1, neuropilin-1, syncytia formation, Env proteins, Env isomerization

INTRODUCTION

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) or T-lymphotrophic virus type 1 is a member of the deltaretrovirus family, which includes the simian T-lymphotrophic virus type 1 (STLV-1) and bovine leukemia virus (BLV). There are four known strains of HTLV, i.e., HTLV-1, HTLV-2, HTLV-3, and HTLV-4. HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 are prevalent worldwide (Edlich et al., 2000; Proietti et al., 2005), while HTLV-3 and HTLV-4 have been identified only in Central Africa (Mahieux and Gessain, 2009). HTLV-1 and STLV-1 are highly related; HTLV-2 and HTLV-3 are closely related to STLV-2 and STLV-3, respectively. Thus, the HTLVs are thought to derive from interspecies transmission between monkeys and humans. The genetic variation among HTLV-1 strains is less than 8%, and HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 show 70% nucleotide homology (Gessain et al., 1996; Feuer and Green, 2005).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 was first isolated in 1980 in a T cell line derived from a patient with cutaneous T cell lymphoma (Poiesz et al., 1980) and was shown to be the etiological agent of adult T cell leukemia (ATL; Hinuma et al., 1981; Yoshida et al., 1982; Takatsuki, 2005). In 1985, HTLV-1-seropositive patients in French Martinique were diagnosed with a neurodegenerative disorder, termed tropical spastic paraparesis (TSP; Gessain et al., 1985). A similar clinical disorder was reported in Japanese patients and was named HTLV-1 associated myelopathy (HAM; Osame et al., 1986; Osame and Igata, 1989). HTLV-2 is rarely pathogenic and is sporadically associated with neurological disorders (Hjelle et al., 1992; Araujo and Hall, 2004). There have been no known diseases associated with HTLV-3 or HTLV-4.

Here, the results from *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies concerning HTLV-1 infection, focusing on the mechanisms of HTLV-1 entry, are reviewed.

EPIDEMIOLOGY OF HTLV-1 INFECTION

An estimated 15–20 million persons are infected with HTLV-1 throughout the world. The virus is endemic in southwestern Japan, Central Africa, the Caribbean Islands, and Australia (aborigines) as well as in some regions of South America, Melanesia, Middle East, and India. Thus, HTLV-1 prevalence shows a quite strange ethnic distribution. In these endemic areas, the seroprevalence rates range from 0.1 to 30% (Blattner et al., 1982; Saxinger et al., 1984; Yanag-ihara et al., 1990; Gotuzzo et al., 2000; Sonoda et al., 2011). After prolonged latency periods of 40–60 years, approximately 5% of HTLV-1-infected individuals (6.6% of males and 2.1% of females) will develop ATL (Kajiyama et al., 1986; Murphy et al., 1989; Edlich

et al., 2000; Proietti et al., 2005; Sonoda et al., 2011). HTLV-2 is prevalent among intravenous drug users (IDUs) and is endemic among IDUs in the USA, Europe, South America, and Southeast Asia (Lee et al., 1989; Khabbaz et al., 1992; Fukushima et al., 1995).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 is transmitted through three major routes: (1) breastfeeding from mother-to-child, (2) sexual contact from male to female, and (3) needle sharing which mediates exposure to contaminated blood. Mother-to-child transmission through breastfeeding is the predominant mode. Transmission rates are approximately 20% for children born to infected mothers. Lifetime sexual transmission rates between spouses are 60% from infected males to females and only 0.4% from infected females to males (Kajiyama et al., 1986; Kusuhara et al., 1987; Murphy et al., 1989; Hino et al., 1994; Ureta-Vidal et al., 1999; Sonoda et al., 2011). These epidemiological characteristics of HTLV-1 infection are, or shall be, associated with virological properties of HTLV-1 that have been, or will be, clarified *in vitro*.

STRUCTURE AND GENE PRODUCTS OF HTLV-1 GENOME

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 is an enveloped virus of approximately 100 nm in diameter. Newly synthesized viral particles attach to target cell receptors on the viral envelope (Env) and enter the target cell through membrane fusion. Entry is followed by capsid uncoating and content release into the cell cytoplasm. The viral RNA is reverse transcribed into double-stranded DNA by reverse transcriptase (RT), which is then transported to the nucleus and integrated into the host chromosome, forming the provirus.

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 is a single-stranded diploid RNA virus, and the proviral genome of HTLV-1 is 9,030–9,040 nucleotides long containing two flanking long terminal repeat (LTR) sequences (**Figure 1**; Seiki et al., 1983). The LTRs of HTLV-1 comprise three components: a unique 3' (U3) region, a repeated (R) region, and a unique 5' (U5) region. The HTLV-1 genome is packaged in the viral core with the viral nucleocapsid protein (p15 NC), which is surrounded by capsid (p24 CA) and matrix (p19 MA) proteins.

The HTLV-1 genome encodes the structural proteins Gag (NC, CA, and MA) and Env and the enzymes RT, RNase H (RH), integrase (IN), and protease (Pro; **Figure 1**). The *env* gene encodes

the surface unit (SU) gp46 and transmembrane unit (TM) gp21 proteins (Hattori et al., 1984; **Figure 2**).

The envelope is made of a lipid bilayer of cellular origin, which contains the virally encoded Env glycoproteins. The Env proteins are synthesized as a precursor protein, gp62, and cleaved into the gp46 and gp21 glycoprotein subunits. The SU protein gp46 is associated with the TM gp21, and the SU-TM complex is anchored to the viral or infected cell membrane through the membrane-spanning region (MSR) within TM (**Figures 3** and 4). HTLV-1 Env is a trimer of the gp46-gp21 subunit pair. Cell receptor-binding activity is conferred by gp46 and the fusion activity is a function of gp21. The HTLV-1 Env proteins are genetically highly conserved among isolates, and the variability within their amino acid sequences ranges from 1 to 8% (Gessain et al., 1996; Feuer and Green, 2005).

The pX region encodes the accessory proteins as well as the regulatory proteins Tax and Rex (Sodroski et al., 1984; Cann et al., 1985; Felber et al., 1985; Fujisawa et al., 1985; **Figure 1**). The accessory genes are alternatively spliced and translated from different initiation sites. These genes encode novel proteins, such as p12/p8, p30, and p13 (Albrecht et al., 2000; Silverman et al., 2004; Nicot et al., 2005). The anti-sense region corresponding to the pX region and the *env* gene region encodes HBZ (Gaudray et al., 2002; Arnold et al., 2006; Matsuoka and Jeang, 2011; **Figure 1**). The expression of the HBZ gene has been detected in primary leukemic cells isolated from all ATL patients tested while the *tax* transcript was hardly detectable in them. The HBZ gene has growth-promoting activity *in vivo* and *in vitro*. These findings suggest that HBZ gene transcription is indispensable for the development of ATL.

CELLS INFECTED WITH HTLV-1 IN VIVO

Approximately up to 5% of HTLV-1-infected patients will develop ATL after a prolonged latency period (Uchiyama, 1997; Takatsuki, 2005; Sonoda et al., 2011). *In vivo*, the targets of virusinduced transformation are CD4+/CD45RO+ memory T cells. A monoclonal population of T cells showing CD3+/CD4+/CD8-/CD25+/HLA-DR+/CCR4+ cell surface markers also characterizes malignant cells of ATL (Uchiyama, 1997; Suzuki et al., 1998; Takatsuki, 2005; Hieshima et al., 2008). Regulatory T cells (Tregs)





transmembrane unit (TM) gp21 and are shown. Five potential N-glycosylation sites and the membrane-spanning region (MSR) are shown.

might also be infected in some patients (Chen et al., 2006; Yano et al., 2007; Abe et al., 2008; Toulza et al., 2009).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 – associated myelopathy and tropical spastic paraparesis primarily affects the thoracic spinal cord, and patients often show limb paraparesis (Osame et al., 1986; Osame and Igata, 1989). In the brains of some HAM/TSP patients, astrocytes are productively infected with HTLV-1. Several lines of evidence, such as IgG deposits in CNS parenchyma, indicate that the blood-brain barrier (BBB) is disrupted in HAM/TSP patients (Walter et al., 1994; Lehky et al., 1995). In addition, the infection of adherent cells *in vivo* has been reported: sweat gland epithelia, salivary glands, vascular endothelial cells, and mammary glands (Setoyama et al., 1998).

In infected individuals, HTLV-1 is primarily found in CD4+ T cells, while HTLV-2 has frequently been found in CD8+ T cells (Richardson et al., 1990; Ijichi et al., 1992). Although CD4+ T cells are the major reservoir, other hematopoietic cells [CD8+ T cells, B lymphocytes, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs), and megakaryocytes], synovial cells, and glial cells (astrocytes and microglial cells) have been infected with HTLV-1 (Kitajima et al., 1991; Koyanagi et al., 1993; Walter et al., 1994; Lehky et al., 1995; Hanon et al., 2000a; Nagai et al., 2001). It is intriguing that HTLV-I-specific, but not Epstein–Barr virus-specific, CD8+T lymphocytes were shown to be preferentially infected with HTLV-1 (Wucherpfennig et al., 1992; Goon et al., 2002). The ratio of HTLV-1 genome-positive cells in some HAM/TSP patients was reported to be as high as 40-65% in the CD4+ and CD8+ subset. The proportion of cells expressing HTLV-1 RNA is 0.02-0.1% in both subsets. Other reports also show the expression of the HTLV-1 genome in vivo (Cho et al., 1995; Hanon et al., 2000b), although HTLV-1 RNA expression in vivo is known to be highly suppressed in HTLV-1 carriers and ATL patients.

Experiments using deuterated glucose labeling to quantify in vivo lymphocyte dynamics in HTLV-1-infected individuals revealed that CD4+/CD45RO+ and CD8+/CD45RO+ T lymphocyte proliferation was elevated in HTLV-1-infected subjects; about 10^{12} more lymphocytes were estimated to be produced per year in HTLV-1-infected subjects compared with HTLV-Iuninfected subjects (Asquith et al., 2007). This high cell turnover was correlated with Tax expression measured *ex vivo*. These findings suggest that HTLV-1 genes may be expressed somewhere *in vivo*. These virological, pathological, and clinical features of HTLV-1 infection can or will be explained by the cell tropism and pathogenicity of HTLV-1.

ANIMAL MODELS OF HTLV-1 INFECTION

Animal models of HTLV-1 infection and transmission have clarified the effects of neutralizing antibodies and viral and host factors on persistent HTLV-1 infections. Some non-human primates, rabbits, rats, and mice, can be infected with HTLV-1 (Lairmore et al., 2005). In these models, HTLV-1 is also detected in various types of hematopoietic cells and non-hematopoietic tissues, including the brain, lung, kidney, heart, liver, and thyroid.

Milk transmission of HTLV-1 in rabbits can be inhibited through passive immunizations using neutralizing antibodies or HTLV-1 Env vaccines (Akagi et al., 1985; Nakamura et al., 1987; Uemura et al., 1987; Kataoka et al., 1990; Sawada et al., 1991). Although there is a strong immune response to HTLV proteins, such Env or Tax, through the humoral or cellular immune system in humans, HTLV-1 can sustain life-long persistence in subjects and HTLV-1-infected lymphocytes can robustly proliferate as described above.

The HTLV-1 accessory proteins, p12/p8, p30, and p13, have been implicated in the transmission and spread of HTLV-1 in vivo or in HTLV-1 persistence in animal models, although these proteins were shown to have little effect on HTLV-1 infection in vitro (Albrecht et al., 2000; Silverman et al., 2004; Nicot et al., 2005; Lairmore et al., 2011). The viral protein p12 localizes in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER), binds major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class I in the ER, decreases surface expression of MHC-I, ICAM-1, and intercellular adhesion molecule-2 (ICAM-2), and inhibits the killing of HTLV-1-infected cells by natural killer cells. p8, Proteolytically cleaved from p12, increases T cell contact through LFA-1 clustering and augments the number and length of cellular conduits among T cells. p8 or even virions are transferred to neighboring T cells through these conduits (van Prooyen et al., 2010). The p30 protein will localize in the nucleus and retain the Tax/Rex messenger inside the nucleus and enhances cell survival by altering cell cycle regulation. p13 Localizes in the nucleus and mitochondria. p13 can modulate cell survival and have an pivotal role in early virus transmission and virus persistence in vivo.

INFECTION OF CELLS WITH HTLV-1 IN VITRO

Unlike most other viruses, cell-free HTLV-1 is poorly infectious, and efficient infection requires cell-to-cell contact (Clapham et al., 1983; Hoshino et al., 1983; Nagy et al., 1983; Fan et al., 1992; Mazurov et al., 2010). HTLV-1-infected cells produce small amounts and low titers of the virus. However, HTLV-1 has passed on from generation to generation among humans for a long time.

Adherent cells persistently infected with HTLV-1 have rarely been isolated (Hoshino et al., 1983; Ho et al., 1984; Hoxie et al., 1984; Yoshikura et al., 1984; Fan et al., 1992; Mazurov et al., 2010). However, the HTLV receptor has been detected in almost all vertebrate cells (Sutton and Littman, 1996; Trejo and Ratner, 2000; Manel et al., 2005a) in contrast to the limited cell tropism *in vivo*. Some cell lines will form numerous syncytia upon co-cultivation with HTLV-1-producing cells, while others are resistant to syncytia formation (Jassal et al., 2001).

Surface unit-Fc fusion proteins consisting of the Fc portion of immunoglobulin and HTLV-1 SU [either full-length gp46 or the N-terminal Receptor-Binding Domain (RBD) of SU; **Figure 3**] have been used to detect and analyze HTLV-1 receptors. The SU-Fc binds to almost all vertebrate cell lines and can often bind to cell lines considered to be negative for the receptor due to their resistance to Env-mediated syncytia formation (Sutton and Littman, 1996; Trejo and Ratner, 2000; Jassal et al., 2001; Manel et al., 2005a). The use of SU-Fc has, however, clarified that HTLV-1 receptors are lacking on the surface of resting or naive CD4+ and CD8+T cells but HTLV-1 receptors can be rapidly upregulated by treating them with PHA/IL-2, TGF- β , or interleukin-7 (Moriuchi and Moriuchi, 2002; Manel et al., 2003a; Nath et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2005a). These properties have been used to characterize an HTLV-1 receptor candidate as described below.

VIRAL SYNAPSE AND BIOFILM-LIKE STRUCTURE IN HTLV-1 INFECTION

Special structures permitting efficient transmission of HTLV-1 have been identified. Namely, viral or virological synapses (VS), similar to immune or immunological synapses, can be made after cell-to-cell contacts between HTLV-1-infected and uninfected T cells (Igakura et al., 2003; Jenkins et al., 2009). Lymphocyte contact will rapidly induce polarization of the cytoskeleton, especially the microtubule-organizing center (MTOC), of HTLV-1-infected cells at the cell-cell junction: HTLV-I genome and Gag proteins accumulate at the junction. Subsequently, polarization is promoted by Tax, and the formation of VS leads to the entry of viral particles, viral proteins, and genomic RNA into uninfected target cells (Igakura et al., 2003; Nejmeddine et al., 2005; Jenkins et al., 2009). VS also lead to the efficient transmission of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1): its transmission takes place even in the presence of neutralizing antibodies. The viral envelope protein is required for the transmission of HTLV-1, suggesting that complete HTLV-1 virions are transferred across the synapse (Neimeddine et al., 2009). Electron tomography combined with the immunostaining of viral proteins has demonstrated the presence of enveloped HTLV-1 particles in the VS formed between naturally infected lymphocytes and uninfected cells (Majorovits et al., 2008).

More recently it was shown that HTLV-1 virions are stored outside the cells within a protective microenvironment: specific components of the extracellular matrix, including collagen, galectin-3, and tetherin, form a biofilm-like structure on the outer surface of infected cells (Pais-Correia et al., 2009). Following contact with T cells, these structures are rapidly transferred from infected lymphocytes to uninfected cells, resulting in the infection of target cells. HTLV-1 p8 promotes the formation of cellular conduits between T cells as described above (van Prooyen et al., 2010). These three structures will promote highly efficient transmission of the virus from cells to cells *in vivo*, as compared to the transmission of cell-free virus produced by infected cells to uninfected cells.

INFECTION OF DENDRITIC CELLS

Dendritic cells can also be infected with HTLV-1 (Macatonia et al., 1992). Recently, it was demonstrated that DCs could play a central role in HTLV-1 infection *in vivo*. DCs participate in the cell-to-cell transmission of HTLV-1 in two ways: (1) DCs can capture and transfer HTLV-1 virions to fresh T cells and (2) infected DCs can transmit newly made virions to fresh T cells (Macatonia et al., 1992; Knight et al., 1993; Ceccaldi et al., 2006). Monocyte-derived DCs form syncytia and can be infected with HTLV-1 upon co-culture with HTLV-1-producing lymphocytes. Mono-clonal antibodies (MAbs) against DC-specific ICAM-3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) can inhibit the formation of HTLV-1-induced syncytia. HTLV-1, however, does not bind directly to DC-SIGN, and the enhanced syncytium formation is mediated through the interaction of DC-SIGN with ICAM-2 and ICAM-3.

More recently, DCs have been shown to be readily infected through cell-free HTLV-1 (Jones et al., 2008). Cell-free HTLV-1 can efficiently infect myeloid and plasmacytoid DCs (pDC). DCs exposed to HTLV-1 efficiently transfer virus to autologous primary CD4+ T cells. This DC-mediated transfer of HTLV-1 involves heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs), neuropilin-1 (NRP-1), and DC-SIGN (Jain et al., 2009). Thus, DCs can facilitate HTLV-1 transmission, dissemination, and persistence through different mechanisms *in vivo*.

OTHER CELLULAR FACTORS AFFECTING HTLV-1 INFECTION IN VITRO

Many cellular factors that affect HTLV-1-induced syncytium formation have been identified. HTLV-1 Tax affects the expression of numerous molecules, such as vascular cell adhesion molecule 1 (VCAM-1) or ICAM-1 (Tanaka et al., 1995; Hildreth et al., 1997; Daenke et al., 1999). VCAM-1 promotes HTLV-1-induced syncytia formation. ICAM-1, ICAM-3, or VCAM-1 is required for syncytia formation in K562 induced by HTLV-1-producing MT-2 cells. Antibodies against β-integrins can inhibit this syncytium formation (Daenke et al., 1999). MAbs that inhibit HTLV-1-induced syncytium formation were produced in mice and shown to recognize class II MHC molecules (Hildreth, 1998). The heat shock cognate protein 70 (HSC70) directly binds to gp46. The transduction of human HSC70 cDNA into mouse cells, however, did not support HTLV-I entry: HSC70 markedly promoted syncytium formation upon co-cultivation with HTLV-I-producing cells but did not facilitate HTLV-I entry (Fang et al., 1999). Tetraspanin (CD82) was also shown to bind HTLV-1 Env proteins (Pique et al., 2000; Mazurov et al., 2006). Thus, HTLV-1-induced syncytium formation is affected by HSC70, CD82, ICAM-1, ICAM-3, LFA-1, VCAM-1, integrin \beta2, integrin \beta7, or Dlg protein (Blot et al., 2004). These factors might also affect the spread and pathogenicity of HTLV-1 in vivo.

Plasma membrane microdomains rich in cholesterol are important for the entry of many viruses, including retroviruses. The depletion of cholesterol using cyclodextrin inhibits the entry of HTLV-1 and HTLV-I pseudotypes, whereas it did not affect the receptor-binding activity of HTLV-1. Using SU-Fc, the HTLV-I receptor was shown to co-localize with a raft-associated marker. Some MAbs that inhibited HTLV-1-induced syncytium formation recognized proteins in lipid rafts. The results of these studies suggest that lipid rafts might play a role in HTLV-1-induced syncytium formation and that cholesterol is required in a post-binding step (Wielgosz et al., 2005). Intact lipid rafts are also necessary for the formation of the VS as described above (Igakura et al., 2003; Jolly and Sattentau, 2005).

ENHANCEMENT OF HTLV-1 INFECTION BY HSPG

The HSPG family is composed of core proteins, such as syndecans or glypicans, associated with one or more of the sulfated polysaccharide side chains heparan sulfate (HS) glycosaminoglycans. HSPGs have been shown to bind to many viruses, such as herpes simplex viruses, flaviviruses, picornaviruses, and HIV-1 (Ibrahim et al., 1999; Shukla et al., 1999) and promote their receptor-mediated entry.

The presence of HSPGs on the cell surface has been shown to affect HTLV-1 binding and viral entry (Okuma et al., 2003; Pinon et al., 2003a). Osteoprotegerin (OPG) inhibited the HTLV-1 infection of cell lines, indicating that this inhibition is due to the binding of OPG to cellular HS (Okuma et al., 2003). HTLV-1 SU-Fc binds to HSPGs on mammalian cells, and the enzymatic removal of

HSPGs from HeLa and CHOK1 cells also reduced SU-Fc binding and plating of the HTLV-1 pseudotype (Pinon et al., 2003a). As compared with SU-Fc binding in HSPG-positive CHOK1 hamster cells, the plating efficiency of HTLV-1 in a CHOK1 subline completely lacking HSPG was markedly reduced but apparently detectable. Thus, HSPGs might not be absolutely required for HTLV-1 entry.

More recently, HSPGs were also found to promote the HTLV-1 infection of primary CD4+ T cells and DCs (Jones et al., 2005b, 2006). Resting CD4+ T cells are negative for detectable levels of HSPGs and HTLV-1 receptor(s). HSPGs are expressed following immune activation, and the cells become susceptible to HTLV-1 (Nath et al., 2003; Jones et al., 2005a). The enzymatic removal of HSPGs on the surface of primary CD4+ T cells also reduced the binding of HTLV-1 SU and HTLV-1 virions. HTLV-1 is more dependent on HSPGs than HTLV-2 (Jones et al., 2006). Using HTLV-1/HTLV-2 recombinants, it was shown that HTLV-1 binding to HSPGs requires the C-terminal domain (CTD) of HTLV-1 SU (amino acids 215-313; Figure 3). Thus, HSPGs play an important role in the binding and entry of HTLV-1 into primary CD4+ T cells. Recently, we observed that the susceptibilities of established cell lines to HTLV-1 are well correlated with the number of HS chains, especially heparin-like regions, on the cell surface and are inversely correlated with the length of the HS chains (Tanaka et al., 2012).

EFFECTS OF GLUT1 ON HTLV-1 INFECTION

The observation that the transduction of HTLV-1 SU into cells delays medium acidification led to an investigation of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) as a candidate HTLV-1 receptor. Subsequently, GLUT1 was found to bind to HTLV-1 SU and promote HTLV-1 entry into adherent cell lines (Manel et al., 2003b). GLUT1 is a 12-membrane-spanning receptor for glucose transport across the cell membrane. GLUT1 is expressed in all of mammalian cell lines that have been tested. The transduction of GLUT1 increases the susceptibility of markedly HTLV-1-resistant cell lines, such as MDBK, to HTLV-1 Env-mediated cell fusion and infection (Coskun and Sutton, 2005). Antibodies against GLUT1, especially against extracellular loop 1 (ECL1), inhibit syncytia formation, and the infection of primary CD4+ T lymphocytes (Manel et al., 2005b; Jin et al., 2006a). Similar to HSPGs, GLUT1 is not detected in resting lymphocytes. The treatment of resting T lymphocytes with TGF-B or IL-7 rapidly induces GLUT1 expression on the cell surface (Jones et al., 2005a).

Quantitative analyses have shown that CD4+ T cells, which are the primary target of HTLV-1, express higher levels of HSPGs than CD8+ T cells. In contrast, CD8+ T cells, which are the primary targets of HTLV-2, express GLUT1 at much higher levels than CD4+ T cells. These studies suggest that the difference in the *in vitro* cellular tropism between HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 (Jones et al., 2006) and the *in vivo* tropisms of these viruses can be explained through different interactions between HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 Env proteins and CD4+ or CD8+ T cells.

The glioblastoma U87 cell line expresses low levels of GLUT1 due to a deletion in the *GLUT1* gene but is easily infected by the HTLV-1 pseudotype (Jin et al., 2006b). Among U87 cell clones, the levels of cell surface GLUT1, however, correlate well with

the plating efficiency of HTLV-1 pseudotype viruses, but not their interactions with SU-Fc. These findings together with other observations suggest that molecules other than GLUT1 are also involved in HTLV-1 entry steps, i.e., attachment and binding, and GLUT1 affects the post-binding or fusion step of HTLV-1 infection.

EFFECTS OF NEUROPILIN-1 ON HTLV-1 INFECTION

In 2006, neuropilin-1 (NRP-1) was reported to display the expected properties of a HTLV-1 receptor. NRP-1 is a 130-kDa single membrane-spanning glycoprotein, primarily modified by heparan sulfate (HS), or chondroitin sulfate (Soker et al., 1998; Shintani et al., 2006). NRP-1 is highly conserved among vertebrate species. NRP-1 is a receptor for the chemo-repellent semaphorin III (Sema III), which is a secreted protein known to be necessary for neuronal growth and development. NRP-1 can also bind to VEGF165. VEGF is a polypeptide growth factor with five alternatively spliced isoforms; VEGF165 is the most abundant isoform. NPR-1 is one of the immune synapse factors that is primarily expressed in T cells; its expression is not detectable in resting T cells but is rapidly upregulated after activation (Romeo et al., 2002; Tordjman et al., 2002). pDC and endothelial cells also express NRP-1. Although the in vivo expression of NRP-1 is relatively limited, NRP-1 is expressed in many tumor cells and in almost all established cell lines (Soker et al., 1998).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 SU inhibits T cell proliferation in a mixed lymphocyte reaction, while anti-NRP-1 antibodies also inhibit T cell proliferation (Ghez et al., 2006). The possibility of the involvement of NRP-1 in HTLV entry has also been examined (Shintani et al., 2006). NRP-1 over expression increases HTLV-1 Env-mediated syncytium formation and promotes HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 infection, whereas the downregulation of endogenous NRP-1 inhibits HTLV infection (Ghez et al., 2006). Therefore, NRP-1 expression levels *in vivo* and *in vitro* might explain HTLV-1 infection and tropism.

VEGF165 and HTLV-1 SU competitively and HS-dependently bind to NRP-1. The KPXR motif is critical for the direct binding of VEGF165 to NRP-1 and this motif is also found in HTLV-1 SU. The pentapeptide sequence of SU corresponding to this motif (a.a. 90–94, KKPNR) is highly conserved among HTLV-1 strains, and this peptide blocks HTLV-1 entry into primary T cells or DCs (Lambert et al., 2009). These findings indicate that NRP-1 plays a pivotal role in HTLV-1 binding. Because NRP-1 is modified by HS (Shintani et al., 2006), HTLV-1 SU might interact directly with HS conjugated to NRP-1. Thus, HTLV-1 SU will bind to NRP-1 in two ways: an HSPG-mediated indirect interaction and a KKPNR sequence-mediated direct interaction. This motif is also the target of neutralizing antibodies (Palker et al., 1992; **Figure 3**).

Important roles for NPR-1 and HSPG in HTLV-1 infection of DCs and CD4+ T cells have also been shown (Ghez et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2009; Lambert et al., 2009). GLUT1 and NRP-1 are concentrated in viral synapses (Romeo et al., 2002). In contrast, the effects of VEGF165 and anti-GLUT1 on the infection of U87 cells, primary astrocytes or HeLa cells appear to be more complicated (Jin et al., 2006b, 2010).

A RECEPTOR COMPLEX MODEL OF HTLV-1 ENTRY

Recent studies have revealed that HTLV-1 infection *in vitro* involves interactions with three different molecules, HSPG, NRP-1, and GLUT1. HTLV-1 SU can bind to NRP-1 in two ways: an HSPG-mediated indirect interaction and/or a KKPNR sequencemediated direct interaction as described above. NRP-1 and GLUT1 can also form a complex in the presence of HTLV-1 Env (Ghez et al., 2006; Jones et al., 2009; Lambert et al., 2009). NRP-1 and GLUT1 as well as HS and NRP-1 will work together to promote HTLV-1 entry. The level of GLUT1 expression on target cells correlates well with the titer of HTLV-1 pseudotypes, but not with the level of HTLV-1 binding (Delamarre et al., 1994; Manel et al., 2005; Jones et al., 2009), indicating a role for GLUT1 in the fusion step that follows the initial binding.

The findings described above lead to a multi-receptor model for HTLV-1 entry (Ghez et al., 2010; Jones et al., 2011). Namely, during the initial binding phase, the CTD of HTLV-1 SU interacts with HSPGs. This interaction would enhance the probability and stability of the HTLV-1 SU interaction with NRP-1. This binding to NRP-1 triggers a conformational change to expose the GLUT1binding domain. Finally, the interaction of SU with GLUT1 triggers the translocation of TM gp21. In this model, NRP-1 is the primary binding receptor, while GLUT1 is the fusion receptor.

ROLES OF SU PROTEIN gp46 IN HTLV-1 INFECTION

The HTLV-1 *env* gene encodes a 488 amino acid precursor protein, and a 62-kDa protein (gp62) is produced after the addition of five N-glycan chains, four in SU, and one in TM. gp62 is cleaved into the SU gp46 and TM gp21 subunits (**Figures 2–4**). SU-TM complexes are organized as trimers and transported to the surface of infected cells (Delamarre et al., 1996). Site-directed mutagenesis demonstrates that the glycosylation of each site is required for syncytium formation (Pique et al., 1992).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 gp46 SU can be organized into four structural domains (**Figure 3**): a signal peptide (residues 1–25), an N-terminal region (26–180), a proline-rich region (PRR; 181–215), and a CTD (216–312). The first 155 amino acid residues after the signal peptide are identified as the RBD (Delamarre et al., 1994; Kim et al., 2004). This organization of SU is similar to other retroviruses (Lavillette et al., 1998). The binding of RBD to viral receptors transmits a PRR-controlled signal to CTD, and this interaction leads to the activation of the fusion function of gp21 TM. The PRR domain is shown to be a hinge region that is subject to the conformational changes induced by receptor-binding.

The functional domains of the HTLV-1 Env have also been identified through analyses of the effects of neutralizing antibodies and specific mutations in Env on HTLV-1 infectivity (Kuroki et al., 1992; Palker et al., 1992; Baba et al., 1993; Desgranges et al., 1994; Tanaka et al., 1994; Londos-Gagliardi et al., 1996). The residues between 100 and 200 amino acids of the SU have been shown to be the targets of neutralizing antibodies. The mutations introduced in these regions reduce the ability of HTLV-1 Env to induce syncytium formation and virus infection. Antibodies in 78% of sera of HTLV-I seropositive subjects reacted with a synthetic peptide corresponding to amino acids 190–209 (Londos-Gagliardi et al., 1996). A synthetic peptide, P-197, consisting of



amino acids 197–216 also strongly inhibits HTLV-1-induced cell fusion of various cells, such as Molt-4 and HeLa (Brighty and Jassal, 2001). The rat monoclonal antibody LAT-27 recognizes a peptide epitope (amino acids 191–196) and potently neutralizes cell-free HTLV-1 infection and inhibits HTLV-1-induced syncytia formation (Tanaka et al., 1991). Antibodies binding to the PRR domain will prevent SU structural rearrangements leading to membrane fusion, rather than blocking interactions between SU and the cellular receptors. Some neutralizing antibodies may recognize secondary or tertiary structures of HTLV-1 Env proteins, and so the regions recognized by these antibodies are not necessarily located in the functional domains for HTLV-1 entry.

Furthermore, the adsorption of the neutralizing activities using a set of shorter peptides has shown that the six residues (KKPNRN; position 90–95) comprise the minimal neutralizing epitope, while residues 86–107 are involved in interactions with NRP-1 and GLUT1 (**Figure 3**). Specifically, a pentapeptide (residues 90–94) blocks the binding of HTLV-1 to cells and NRP-1 (Lambert et al., 2009). Similarly, site-directed mutagenesis experiments showed that D106 and Y114 of SU are important for GLUT1-binding (Manel et al., 2003b). These studies have suggested regions important for the interaction of HTLV-1 SU with the cellular factors (**Figure 3**).

ROLES OF TM PROTEIN gp21 IN HTLV-1 INFECTION

Retrovirus entry into cells occurs through the fusion of the viral envelope either with the cell membrane or with the endosomal membrane after internalization through an endocytic pathway (Mothes et al., 2000; Marsh and Helenius, 2006). The entry process starts by a binding step mediated by SU as described above and a subsequent TM-mediated fusion step. During virus production, TM is maintained in an inactive conformation through an association with SU, and the fusion domain (FD) in TM is not exposed. This conformation prevents premature Env activation that will lead to virus inactivation. The hydrophobic FD is located at its N-terminal region (**Figure 3**). The dissociation of TM from the SU-TM complex results in the projection of FD into the cell membrane. This dissociation involves the formation of a six-helix coiled-coil bundle that induces membrane fusion (Maerz et al., 2000; Marsh and Helenius, 2006; Mirsaliotis et al., 2007; Lamb et al., 2009).

Four domains conserved in retroviral TM glycoproteins are also present in HTLV-1 TM (Kobe et al., 1999): (1) an aminoterminal hydrophobic domain with characteristics of a FD (Kim et al., 2000); (2) a leucine zipper-like region (LZR) with an amphipathic α -helical structure capable of self-association as a coiledcoil (Maerz et al., 2000; Pinon et al., 2003b; Mirsaliotis et al., 2007; Lamb et al., 2009); (3) a domain containing the conserved motif, which forms an intramolecular disulfide link; and (4) a FD linked to the coiled-coil core through a conserved sequence rich in glycine [glycine-rich segment (GRS), M(326) to S(337); Wilson et al., 2005; **Figure 3**].

Synthetic peptides based on the leash and α -helical region (LHR) of gp21 are potent inhibitors of virus entry into cells. Inhibitory peptides target the triple-stranded coiled-coil motif of the fusion-active gp21 and block its conformational change (Mirsaliotis et al., 2008): These peptides are expected to function in a similar way to clinically available enfuvirtide (T-20) type inhibitors of HIV-1.

ISOMERIZATION IN HTLV-1 Env PROTEINS

The SU and TM subunits are associated through an inter-subunit disulfide link. Receptor-binding or low pH in the endosome decreases this association, leading to dissociation of the SU subunit from the virus and translocation of the TM subunit for membrane fusion (Pinter et al., 1997; Barnard et al., 2004; Wallin et al., 2004; Li et al., 2008). In the case of murine leukemia virus (MuLV) Env, the inter-subunit disulfide has been shown to link the CXXC motif in SU to the conserved CX_6CC motif in the TM, and these motifs are also conserved in deltaretroviruses, such as HTLV-1. The intersubunit disulfide is then rearranged into a disulfide isomer within the motif (**Figures 3** and **4**).

Human T cell leukemia virus type 1 Env proteins contain the disulfide isomerization motifs C(225)XXC(228; e.g., CIVC in gp46 SU) and $CX_6CC(401; e.g., CKALQERCC in gp21 TM; Figures 3 and 4)$. Thus, it has been proposed that C(228) is linked to C(401; Li et al., 2008). This disulfide link will be rearranged through isomerization into the intra-subunit disulfide link between C(225) and C(228). This rearrangement results in SU dissociation and TM translocation for membrane fusion. Thus, similar to MuLV Env, the membrane fusion of HTLV-1 Env was shown to occur under neutral conditions at the cell surface (Li et al., 2008; Figure 4). A set of these motifs is lacking in Rous sarcoma virus or HIV-1 but BLV (Barnard et al., 2004; Li et al., 2008).

Murine leukemia virus Env shows low spontaneous intersubunit disulfide isomerization activity (Li et al., 2008), and MuLV and BLV are relatively stable in culture medium (Shinagawa et al., 2012). In contrast, cell-free HTLV-1 shows a low infectivity. The low infectivity might be related to a high spontaneous intersubunit disulfide isomerization activity. We observed that the

REFERENCES

Abe, M., Uchihashi, K., Kazuto, T., Osaka, A., Yanagihara, K., Tsukasaki, K., Hasegawa, H., Yamada, Y., and Kamihira, S. (2008). Foxp3 expression on normal and leukemic CD4+CD25+ T cells implicated in human T-cell leukemia virus type-1



FIGURE 4 | Isomerization of Env proteins. The scheme is shown according to the model by Li et al. (2008), Pinter et al. (1997). The disulfide bond is present between C(228) of SU gp46 and C(401) of TM gp21 **(A)**. Upon the isomerization, this bond is cleaved and the new disulfide bond is made between C(225) and C(228) of gp46, leading to SU dissociation and TM translocation **(B)**.

spontaneous dissociation of SU from SU-TM complexes in HTLV-1 virions occurs readily over a wide range of temperatures: the half-life of HTLV-1 infectivity at various temperatures (0–37°C) is as short as 30–60 min (Shinagawa et al., 2012). Derse et al. (2001) have, however, reported that the half-life of HTLV-1 is about 3.5 h at 37°C: in their system, HTLV-1 pseudotype was used and its infectivity was measured by luciferase assays. We have assumed that the isomerization of HTLV-1 Env will occur spontaneously and rapidly in culture medium and HTLV-1 will easily lose the infectivity. HTLV-1 can afford to have this property since most HTLV-1 infections *in vivo* occur from cell-to-cell.

CONCLUSION

Cellular factors important for HTLV-1 infection and persistence *in vivo* and *in vitro* have been investigated for 30 years. Recently, three factors have been found to play crucial roles in HTLV-1 entry: HSPGs, glucose transporter GLUT1, and neuropilin-1 (NRP-1). These molecules have been shown to form complexes with HTLV-1 SU to promote HTLV-1 entry into primary cells and established cell lines. The functional domains of the HLTV-1 Env proteins and their interactions with these molecules have been elucidated. However, mutant cells lacking an enzyme synthesizing HS, xylosyl transferase, or mutant cells expressing little GLUT1 are apparently susceptible to HTLV-1. It has not been proven whether cells that are completely resistant to HTLV-1 will become susceptible to HTLV-1 when all or a combination of these three molecules are transduced into the cells.

is inconsistent with Treg cells. *Eur. J. Haematol.* 81, 209–217.

Akagi, T., Takeda, I., Oka, T., Ohtsuki, Y., Yano, S., and Miyoshi, I. (1985). Experimental infection of rabbits with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1. *Jpn. J. Cancer Res.* 76, 86–94.

- Hoshino
- Albrecht, B., Collins, N. D., Burniston, M. T., Nisbet, J. W., Ratner, L., Green, P. L., and Lairmore, M. D. (2000).
 Human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 open reading frame I p12(I) is required for efficient viral infectivity in primary lymphocytes. J. Virol. 74, 9828–9835.
- Araujo, A., and Hall, W. W. (2004). Human T-lymphotropic virus type II and neurological disease. *Ann. Neurol.* 56, 10–19.
- Arnold, J., Yamamoto, B., Li, M., Phipps, A. J., Younis, I., Lairmore, M. D., and Green, P. L. (2006). Enhancement of infectivity and persistence in vivo by HBZ, a natural antisense coded protein of HTLV-1. *Blood* 107, 3976–3982.
- Asquith, B., Zhang, Y., Mosley, A. J., de Lara, C. M., Wallace, D. L., Worth, A., Kaftantzi, L., Meekings, K., Griffin, G. E., Tanaka, Y., Tough, D. F., Beverley, P. C., Taylor, G. P., Macallan, D. C., and Bangham, C. R. (2007). In vivo T lymphocyte dynamics in humans and the impact of human T lymphotropic virus 1 infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 8035–8040.
- Baba, E., Nakamura, M., Tanaka, Y., Kuroki, M., Itoyama, Y., Nakano, S., and Niho, Y. (1993). Multiple neutralizing B-cell epitopes of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTIV-1) identified by human monoclonal antibodies. A basis for the design of an HTIV-1 peptide vaccine. J. Immunol. 151, 1013–1024.
- Barnard, R. J., Narayan, S., Dornadula, G., Miller, M. D., and Young, J. A. (2004). Low pH is required for avian sarcoma and leukosis virus Envdependent viral penetration into the cytosol and not for viral uncoating. *J. Virol.* 78, 10433–10441.
- Blattner, W. A., Kalyanaraman, V. S., Robert, G. M., Lister, T. A., Galton, D. A., Sarin, P. S., Crawford, M. H., Catovsky, D., Greaves, M., and Gallo, R. C. (1982). The human type-C retrovirus, HTLV, in Blacks from the Caribbean region, and relationship to adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Int. J. Cancer* 30, 257–264.
- Blot, V., Delamarre, L., Perugi, F., Pham, D., Benichou, S., Benarous, R., Hanada, T., Chishti, A. H., Dokhelar, M. C., and Pique, C. (2004). Human Dlg protein binds to the envelope glycoproteins of human Tcell leukemia virus type 1 and regulates envelope mediated cell-cell fusion in T lymphocytes. J. Cell Sci. 117, 3983–3993.
- Brighty, D. W., and Jassal, S. R. (2001). The synthetic peptide P-197 inhibits human T-cell leukemia virus type

l envelope-mediated syncytium formation by a mechanism that is independent of Hsc70. *J. Virol.* 75, 10472–10478.

- Cann, A. J., Rosenblatt, J. D., Wachsman, W., Shah, N. P., and Chen, I. S. Y. (1985). Identification of the gene responsible for human T-cell leukemia virus transcriptional regulation. *Nature* 318, 571–574.
- Ceccaldi, P. E., Delebecque, F., Prevost, M. C., Moris, A., Abastado, J. P., Gessain, A., Schwartz, O., and Ozden, S. (2006). DC-SIGN facilitates fusion of dendritic cells with human T-cell leukemia virus type 1-infected cells. *J. Virol.* 80, 4771–4780.
- Chen, S., Ishii, N., Ine, S., Ikeda, S., Fujimura, T., Ndhlovu, L. C., Soroosh, P., Tada, K., Harigae, H., Kameoka, J., Kasai, N., Sasaki, T., and Sugamura, K. (2006). Regulatory T cell-like activity of Foxp3+ adult T cell leukemia cells. *Int. Immunol.* 18, 269–277.
- Cho, I., Sugimoto, M., Mita, S., Tokunaga, M., Imamura, F., and Ando, M. (1995). In vivo proviral burden and viral RNA expression in T cell subsets of patients with human T lymphotropic virus type-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. Am. J. Trop. Med. Hyg. 53, 412–418.
- Clapham, P., Nagy, K., Cheingsong, P. R., Exley, M., and Weiss, R. A. (1983). Productive infection and c ellfree transmission of human T-cell leukemia virus in a nonlymphoid cell line. *Science* 222, 1125–1127.
- Coskun, A. K., and Sutton, R. E. (2005). Expression of glucose transporter 1 confers susceptibility to human T-cell leukemia virus envelopemediated fusion. J. Virol. 79, 4150–4158.
- Daenke, S., McCracken, S. A., and Booth, S. (1999). Human T-cell leukaemia/lymphoma virus type 1 syncytium formation is regulated in a cell-specific manner by ICAM-1, ICAM-3 and VCAM-1 and can be inhibited by antibodies to integrin beta2 or beta7. *J. Gen. Virol.* 80, 1429–1436.
- Delamarre, L., Pique, C., Pham, D, Tursz, T., and Dokhelar, M. C. (1994). Identification of functional regions in the human T-cell leukemia virus type I SU glycoprotein. J. Virol. 68, 3544–3549.
- glycoprotein. J. Virol. 68, 3544–3549.
 Delamarre, L., Rosenberg, A. R., Pique, C., Pham, D., Callebaut, I., and Dokhelar, M. C. (1996).
 The HTLV-I envelope glycoproteins: structure and functions. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 13(Suppl. 1), S85–S91.

- Derse, D., Hill, S. A., Lloyd, P. A., Chung, H. K., and Morse, B. A. (2001). Examining human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 infection and replication by cell-free infection with recombinant virus vectors. *J. Virol.* 75, 8461–8468.
- Desgranges, C., Souche, S., Vernant, J. C., Smadja, D., Vahlne, A., and Horal, P. (1994). Identification of novel neutralization-inducing regions of the human T cell lymphotropic virus type I envelope glycoproteins with human HTLV-I-seropositive sera. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 10, 163–173.
- Edlich, R. F., Arnette, J. A., and Williams, F. M. (2000). Global epidemic of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type-I (HTLV-1). *J. Emerg. Med.* 18, 109–119.
- Fan, N., Gavalchin, J., Paul, B., Wells, K. H., Lane, M. J., and Poiesz, B. J. (1992). Infection of peripheral blood mononuclear cells and cell lines by cell-free human T-cell lymphoma/leukemia virus type I. J. Clin. Microbiol. 30, 905–910.
- Fang, D., Haraguchi, Y., Jinno, A., Soda, Y., Shimizu, N., and Hoshino, H. (1999). Heat shock cognate protein 70 is a cell fusion-enhancing factor but not an entry factor for human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 261, 357–363.
- Felber, B. K., Paskalis, H., Kleinman-Ewing, C., Wong-Staal, F., and Pavlakis, G. N. (1985). The pX protein of HTLV-I is a transcriptional activator of its long terminal repeats. *Science* 229, 675–679.
- Feuer, G., and Green, P. L. (2005). Comparative biology of human Tcell lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2. *Oncogene* 24, 5996–6004.
- Fujisawa, J., Seiki, M., Kiyokawa, T., and Yoshida, M. (1985). Functional activation of the long terminal repeat of human T-cell leukemia virus type I by a trans-acting factor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 82, 2277–2281.
- Fukushima, Y., Takahashi, H., Hall, W. W., Nakasone, T., Nakata, S., Song, P., Dinh Duc, D., Hien, B., Nguyen, X. Q., Ngoc Trinh, T., Nishioka, K., Kitamura, K., Komura, K., Vahlue, A., and Honda, M. (1995). Extraordinary high rate of HTIV type II seropositivity in intravenous drug abusers in South Vietnam. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 11, 637–645.
- Gaudray, G., Gachon, F., Basbous, J., Biard-Piechaczyk, M., Devaux, C., and Mesnard, J. M. (2002). The complementary strand of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1

RNA genome encodes a bZIP transcription factor that down-regulates viral transcription. *J. Virol.* 76, 12813–12822.

- Gessain, A., Barin, F., Vernant, J. C., Gout, O., Maurs, L., Calender, A., and de The, G. (1985). Antibodies to human T-lymphotropic virus type-I in patients with tropical spastic paraparesis. *Lancet* 2, 407–410.
- Gessain, A., Mahieux, R., and De, T. G. (1996). Genetic variability and molecular epidemiology of human and simian T cell leukemia/lymphoma virus type I. J. Acquir. Immune Defic. Syndr. Hum. Retrovirol. 13, S132– S145.
- Ghez, D., Lepelletier, Y., Jones, K. S., Pique, C., and Hermine, O. (2010). Current concepts regarding the HTLV-1 receptor complex. *Retrovirology* 7, 99.
- Ghez, D., Lepelletier, Y., Lambert, S., Fourneau, J. M., Blot, V., Janvier, S., Arnulf, B., van Endert, P. M., Heveker, N., Pique, C., and Hermine, O. (2006). Neuropilin-1 is involved in human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 entry. J. Virol. 80, 6844–6854.
- Goon, P. K., Hanon, E., Igakura, T., Tanaka, Y., Weber, J. N., Taylor, G. P., and Bangham, C. R. (2002). High frequencies of Th1type CD4(+) T cells specific to HTIV-1 Env and Tax proteins in patients with HTIV-1-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis. Blood 99, 3335–3341.
- Gotuzzo, E., Arango, C., deq Ueiroz-Campos, A., and Isturiz, R. E. (2000). Human T-cell lymphotropic virus-I in Latin America. *Infect. Dis. Clin. North Am.* 14, 211–239.
- Hanon, E., Stinchcombe, J. C., Saito, M., Asquith, B. E., Taylor, G. P., Tanaka, Y., Weber, J. N., Griffiths, G. M., and Bangham, C. R. (2000a). Fratricide among CD8(+) T lymphocytes naturally infected with human T cell lymphotropic virus type I. *Immunity* 13, 657–664.
- Hanon, E., Asquith, R. E., Taylor, G. P., Tanaka, Y., Weber, J. N., and Bangham, C. R. (2000b). High frequency of viral protein expression in human T cell lymphotropic virus type 1infected peripheral blood mononuclear cells. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 16, 1711–1715.
- Hattori, S., Kiyokawa, T., Imagawa, K., Shimizu, F., Hashimura, E., Seiki, M., and Yoshida, M. (1984). Identification of gag and env gene products of human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV). *Virology* 136, 338–347.
- Hieshima, K., Nagakubo, D., Nakayama, T., Shirakawa, A. K., Jin, Z., and Yoshie, O. (2008). Tax-inducible

production of CC chemokine ligand 22 by human T cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-infected T cells promotes preferential transmission of HTLV-1 to CCR4-expressing CD4+ T cells. *J. Immunol.* 180, 931–939.

- Hildreth, J. E. (1998). Syncytiuminhibiting monoclonal antibodies produced against human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1-infected cells recognize class II major histocompatibility complex molecules and block by protein crowding. *J. Virol.* 72, 9544–9552.
- Hildreth, J. E., Subramanium, A., and Hampton, R. A. (1997). Human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1)-induced syncytium formation mediated by vascular cell adhesion molecule-1: evidence for involvement of cell adhesion molecules in HTLV-1 biology. J. Virol. 71, 1173–1180.
- Hino, S., Katamine, S., Kawase, K., Miyamoto, T., Doi, H., Tsuji, Y., and Yamabe, T. (1994). Intervention of maternal transmission of HTLV-1 in Nagasaki, Japan. *Leukemia* 8, S68– S70.
- Hinuma, Y., Nagata, K., Hanaoka, M., Nakai, M., Matsumoto, T., Kinoshita, K.-I., Shirakawa, S., and Miyoshi, I. (1981). Adult T-cell leukemia: antigen in an ATL cell line and detection of antibodies to the antigen in human sera. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 78, 6476–6480.
- Hjelle, B., Appenzeller, O., Mills, R., Alexander, S., Torrez-Martinez, N., Jahnke, R., and Ross, G. (1992). Chronic neurodegenerative disease associated with HTLV-II infection. *Lancet* 339, 645–646.
- Ho, D. D., Rota, T. R., and Hirsch, M. S. (1984). Infection of human endothelial cells by human T-lymphotropic virus type I. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 81, 7588–7590.
- Hoshino, H., Shimoyama, M., Miwa, M., and Sugimura, T. (1983). Detection of lymphocytes producing a human retrovirus associated with adult Tcell leukemia by syncytia induction assay. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 80, 7337–7341.
- Hoxie, J. A., Matthews, D. M., and Cines, D. B. (1984). Infection of human endothelial cells by human T-cell leukemia virus type I. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 81, 7591–7595.
- Ibrahim, J., Griffin, P., Coombe, D. R., Rider, C. C., and James, W. (1999). Cell-surface heparan sulfate facilitates human immunodeficiency virus type 1 entry into some

cell lines but not primary lymphocytes. *Virus Res.* 60, 159–169.

- Igakura, T., Stinchcombe, J. C., Goon, P. K., Taylor, G. P., Weber, J. N., Griffiths, G. M., Tanaka, Y., Osame, M., and Bangham, C. R. M. (2003). Spread of HTLV-I between lymphocytes by virus-induced polarization of the cytoskeleton. *Science* 299, 1713–1716.
- Ijichi, S., Ramundo, M. B., Takahashi, H., and Hall, W. W. (1992). In vivo cellular tropism of human T-cell leukemia virus type II (HTLV-II). J. Exp. Med. 176, 293–296.
- Jain, P., Manuel, S. L., Khan, Z. K., Ahuja, J., Quann, K., and Wigdahl, B. (2009). DC-SIGN mediates cellfree infection and transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 1 by dendritic cells. *J. Virol.* 83, 10908–10921.
- Jassal, S. R., Pohler, R. G., and Brighty, D. W. (2001). Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 receptor expression among syncytium-resistant cell lines revealed by a novel surface glycoprotein-immunoadhesin. J. Virol. 75, 8317–8328.
- Jenkins, M. R., Tsun, A., Stinchcombe, J. C., and Griffiths, G. M. (2009). The strength of T cell receptor signal controls the polarization of cytotoxic machinery to the immunological synapse. *Immunity* 31, 621–631.
- Jin, Q., Agrawal, L., Van Horn-Ali, Z., and Alkhatib, G. (2006a). Infection of CD4+ T lymphocytes by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1 is mediated by the glucose transporter GLUT-1: evidence using antibodies specific to the receptor's large extracellular domain. *Virology* 349, 184–196.
- Jin, Q., Agrawal, L., Vanhorn-Ali, Z., and Alkhatib, G. (2006b). GLUT-1-independent infection of the glioblastoma/astroglioma U87 cells by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1. Virology 353, 99–110.
- Jin, Q., Alkhatib, B., Cornetta, K., and Alkhatib, G. (2010). Alternate receptor usage of neuropilin-1 and glucose transporter protein 1 by the human T cell leukemia virus type 1. *Virology* 396, 203–212.
- Jolly, C., and Sattentau, Q. J. (2005). Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 virological synapse formation in T cells requires lipid raft integrity. *J. Virol.* 79, 12088–12094.
- Jones, K. S., Akel, S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Huang, Y., Bertolette, D. C., and Ruscetti, F. W. (2005a). Induction of human T cell leukemia virus type I

receptors on quiescent naive T lymphocytes by TGF-beta. *J. Immunol.* 174, 4262–4270.

- Jones, K. S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Bertolette, D. C., Huang, Y., and Ruscetti, F. W. (2005b). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans mediate attachment and entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 virions into CD4+ T cells. J. Virol. 79, 12692–12702.
- Jones, K. S., Fugo, K., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Huang, Y., Bertolette, D. C., Lisinski, I., Cushman, S. W., Jacobson, S., and Ruscetti, F. W. (2006). Human Tcell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and HTLV-2 use different receptor complexes to enter T cells. *J. Virol.* 80, 8291–8302.
- Jones, K. S., Huang, Y. K., Chevalier, S. A., Afonso, P. V., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Bertolette, D. C., Gessain, A., Ruscetti, F. W., and Mahieux, R. (2009). The receptor complex associated with human T-cell lymphotropic virus type 3 (HTLV-3) Env-mediated binding and entry is distinct from, but overlaps with, the receptor complexes of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2. J. Virol. 83, 5244–5255.
- Jones, K. S., Lambert, S., Bouttier, M., Bénit, L., Ruscetti, F. W., Hermine, O., and Pique, C. (2011). Molecular aspects of HTLV-1 entry: functional domains of the HTLV-1 surface subunit (SU) and their relationships to the entry receptors. *Viruses* 3, 794–810.
- Jones, K. S., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Huang, Y. K., Bertolette, D. C., and Ruscetti, F. W. (2008). Cell-free HTLV-1 infects dendritic cells leading to transmission and transformation of CD4(+) T cells. *Nat. Med.* 14, 429–436.
- Kajiyama, W., Kashiwagi, S., Ikematsu, H., Hayashi, J., Nomura, H., and Okochi, K. (1986). Intrafamilial transmission of adult T cell leukemia virus. *J. Infect. Dis.* 154, 851–857.
- Kataoka, R., Takehara, N., Iwahara, Y., Sawada, T., Ohtsuki, Y., Dawei, Y., Hoshino, H., and Miyoshi, I. (1990). Transmission of HTLV-I by blood transfusion and its prevention by passive immunization in rabbits. *Blood* 76, 1657–1661.
- Khabbaz, R. F., Onorato, I. M., Cannon, R. O., Hartley, T. M., Roberts, B., Hosein, B., and Kaplan, J. E. (1992). Seroprevalence of HTLV-1 and HTLV-2 among intravenous drug users and persons in clinics for sexually transmitted diseases. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 326, 375–380.
- Kim, F. J., Manel, N., Garrido, E. N., Valle, C., Sitbon, M., and Battini,

J. L. (2004). HTLV-1 and -2 envelope SU subdomains and critical determinants in receptor binding. *Retrovirology* 1, 41.

- Kim, F. J., Seiliez, I., Denesvre, C., Lavillette, D., Cosset, F. L., and Sitbon, M. (2000). Definition of an aminoterminal domain of the human Tcell leukemia virus type 1 envelope surface unit that extends the fusogenic range of an ecotropic murine leukemia virus. J. Biol. Chem. 275, 23417–23420.
- Kitajima, I., Yamamoto, K., Sato, K., Nakajima, Y., Nakajima, T., Maruyama, I., Osame, M., and Nishioka, K. (1991). Detection of human T cell lymphotropic virus type I proviral DNA and its gene expression in synovial cells in chronic inflammatory arthropathy. J. Clin. Invest. 88, 1315–1322.
- Knight, S. C., Macatonia, S. E., Cruickshank, K., Rudge, P., and Patterson, S. (1993). Dendritic cells in HIV-1 and HTIV-1 infection. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 329, 545–549.
- Kobe, B., Center, R. J., Kemp, B. E., and Poumbourios, P. (1999). Crystal structure of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 gp21 ectodomain crystallized as a maltose-binding protein chimera reveals structural evolution of retroviral transmembrane proteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 4319–4324.
- Koyanagi, Y., Itoyama, Y., Nakamura, N., Takamatsu, K., Kira, J., Iwamasa, T., Goto, I., and Yamamoto, N. (1993). In vivo infection of human T-cell leukemia virus type I in non-T cells. *Virology* 196, 25–33.
- Kuroki, M., Nakamura, M., Itoyama, Y., Tanaka, Y., Shiraki, H., Baba, E., Esaki, T., Tatsumoto, T., Nagafuchi, S., and Nakano, S. (1992). Identification of new epitopes recognized by human monoclonal antibodies with neutralizing and antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity activities specific for human T cell leukemia virus type 1. J. Immunol. 149, 940–948.
- Kusuhara, K., Sunoda, S., Takahashi, K., Tokugawa, K., Fukushige, J., and Ueda, K. (1987). Mother to child transmission of human T cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-I): a fifteen year followup study in Okinawa, Japan. *Int. J. Cancer* 40, 755–757.
- Lairmore, M. D., Anupam, R., Bowden, N., Haines, R., Haynes, R. A., Ratner, L., and Green, P. L. (2011). Molecular determinants of human T-lymphotropic virus type 1

transmission and spread. Viruses 3, 1131–1165.

- Lairmore, M. D., Silverman, L., and Ratner, L. (2005). Animal models for human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV-1) infection and transformation. Oncogene 24, 6005–6015.
- Lamb, D., Mirsaliotis, A., Kelly, S. M., and Brighty, D. W. (2009). Basic residues are critical to the activity of peptide inhibitors of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 entry. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 6575–6584.
- Lambert, S., Bouttier, M., Vassy, R., Seigneuret, M., Petrow-Sadowski, C., Janvier, S., Heveker, N., Ruscetti, F. W., Perret, G., Jones, K. S., and Pique, C. (2009). HTLV-1 uses HSPG and neuropilin-1 for entry by molecular mimicry of VEGF165. *Blood* 113, 5176–5185.
- Lavillette, D., Maurice, M., Roche, C., Russell, S. J., Sitbon, M., and Cosset, F. L. (1998). A proline-rich motif downstream of the receptor binding domain modulates conformation and fusogenicity of murine retroviral envelopes. *J. Virol.* 72, 9955–9965.
- Lee, H., Swanson, P., Shorty, V. S., Zack, J. A., Rosenblatt, J. D., and Chen, I. S. Y. (1989). High rate of HTLVII infection in seropositive IV drug abusers from New Orleans. *Science* 244, 471–475.
- Lehky, T. J., Fox, C. H., Koenig, S., Levin, M. C., Flerlage, N., Izumo, S., Sato, E., Raine, C. S., Osame, M., and Jacobson, S. (1995). Detection of human T-lymphotropic virus type I (HTIV-1) tax RNA in the central nervous system of HTIV-I-associated myelopathy/tropical spastic paraparesis patients by in situ hybridization. Ann. Neurol. 37, 167–175.
- Li, K., Zhang, S., Kronqvist, M., Wallin, M., Ekstrom, M., Derse, D., and Garoff, H. (2008). Intersubunit disulfide isomerization controls membrane fusion of human T-cell leukemia virus Env. J. Virol. 82, 7135–7143.
- Londos-Gagliardi, D., Dalibart, R., Geoffre, S., Dalbon, P., Pouliquen, J. F., Georges-Courbot, M. C., Sainte-Foie, S., Hajjar, C., Georges, A. J., Moreau, J. P., and Guillemain, B. (1996). Immunogenicity of variable regions of the surface envelope glycoprotein of HTLV type I and identification of new major epitopes in the 239–261 region. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 12, 941–950.
- Macatonia, S. E., Cruickshank, J. K., Rudge, P., and Knight, S. C. (1992). Dendritic cells from patients with tropical spastic paraparesis are

infected with HTLV-1 and stimulate autologous lymphocyte proliferation. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 8, 1699–1706.

- Maerz, A. L., Center, R. J., Kemp, B. E., Kobe, B., and Poumbourios, P. (2000). Functional implications of the human T-lymphotropic virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein helical hairpin structure. J. Virol. 74, 6614–6621.
- Mahieux, R., and Gessain, A. (2009). The human HTLV-3 and HTLV-4 retroviruses: new members of the HTLV family. *Pathol. Biol.* 57, 161–166.
- Majorovits, E., Nejmeddine, M., Tanaka, Y., Taylor, G. P., Fuller, S. D., and Bangham, C. R. (2008). Human Tlymphotropic virus-1 visualized at the virological synapse by electron tomography. *PLoS ONE* 3, e2251. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0002251
- Manel, N., Battini, J. L., Taylor, N., and Sitbon, M. (2005a). HTLV-1 tropism and envelope receptor. *Oncogene* 24, 6016–6025.
- Manel, N., Battini, J. L., and Sitbon, M. (2005b). Human T cell leukemia virus envelope binding and virus entry are mediated by distinct domains of the glucose transporter GLUT1. J. Biol. Chem. 280, 29025–29029.
- Manel, N., Kinet, S., Battini, J. L., Kim, F. J., Taylor, N., and Sitbon, M. (2003a). The HTLV receptor is an early T-cell activation marker whose expression requires de novo protein synthesis. *Blood* 101, 1913–1918.
- Manel, N., Kim, F. J., Kinet, S., Taylor, N., Sitbon, M., and Battini, J. L. (2003b). The ubiquitous glucose transporter GLUT-1 is a receptor for HTLV. *Cell* 115, 449–459.
- Marsh, M., and Helenius, A. (2006). Virus entry: open sesame. *Cell* 124, 729–740.
- Matsuoka, M., and Jeang, K. T. (2011). Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 (HTLV-1) and leukemic transformation: viral infectivity, Tax, HBZ and therapy. *Oncogene* 30, 1379–1389.
- Mazurov, D., Heidecker, G., and Derse, D. (2006). HTLV-1 Gag protein associates with CD82 tetraspanin microdomains at the plasma membrane. *Virology* 346, 194–204.
- Mazurov, D., Ilinskaya, A., Heidecker, G., Lloyd, P., and Derse, D. (2010). Quantitative comparison of HTLV-1 and HIV-1 cell-to-cell infection with new replication dependent vectors. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1000788. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000788
- Mirsaliotis, A., Lamb, D., and Brighty, D. W. (2008). Nonhelical leash and

α-helical structures determine the potency of a peptide antagonist of human T-cell leukemia virus entry. *J. Virol.* 82, 4965–4973.

- Mirsaliotis, A., Nurkiyanova, K., Lamb, D., Woof, J. M., and Brighty, D. W. (2007). Conformation-specific antibodies targeting the trimer-ofhairpins motif of the human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 transmembrane glycoprotein recognize the viral envelope but fail to neutralize viral entry. J. Virol. 81, 6019–6031.
- Moriuchi, M., and Moriuchi, H. (2002). Transforming growth factor-beta enhances human T-cell leukemia virus type I infection. *J. Med. Virol.* 67, 427–430.
- Mothes, W., Boerger, A. L., Narayan, S., Cunningham, J. M., and Young, J. A. (2000). Retroviral entry mediated by receptor priming and low pH triggering of an envelope glycoprotein. *Cell* 103, 679–689.
- Murphy, E. L., Figueroa, J. P., Gibbs,
 W. N., Brathwaite, A., Holding,
 C. M., Waters, D., Cranston, B.,
 Hanchard, B., and Blattner, W.
 A. (1989). Sexual transmission of
 human T-lymphotropic virus type
 I (HTLV-I). Ann. Intern. Med. 111,
 555–560.
- Nagai, M., Brennan, M. B., Sakai, J. A., Mora, C. A., and Jacobson, S. (2001). CD8(+) T cells are an in vivo reservoir for human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I. *Blood* 98, 1858–1861.
- Nagy, K., Clapham, P., Cheingsong-Popov, R., and Weiss, R. A. (1983). Human T-cell leukemia virus type I: induction of syncytia and inhibition by patients' sera. *Int. J. Cancer* 32, 321–328.
- Nakamura, H., Hayami, M., Ohta, Y., Ishikawa, K., Tsujimoto, H., Kiyokawa, T., Yoshida, M., Sasagawa, A., and Honjo, S. (1987). Protection of cynomolgus monkeys against infection by human T-cell leukemia virus type-1 by immunization with viral env gene products produced in *Escherichia coli. Int. J. Cancer* 40, 403–407.
- Nath, M. D., Ruscetti, F. W., Petrow-Sadowski, C., and Jones, K. S. (2003). Regulation of the cellsurface expression of an HTLV-I binding protein in human T cells during immune activation. *Blood* 101, 3085–3092.
- Nejmeddine, M., Barnard, A. L., Tanaka, Y., Taylor, G. P., and Bangham, C. R. M. (2005). Human T lymphotropic virus, type 1, tax protein triggers microtubule reorientation in the virological synapse. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 29653–29660.

- Nejmeddine, M., Negi, V. S., Mukherjee, S., Tanaka, Y., Orth, K., Taylor, G. P., and Bangham, C. R. M. (2009). HTLV-1-Tax and ICAM-1 act on T-cell signal pathways to polarize the microtubule-organizing center at the virological synapse. *Blood* 114, 1016–1025.
- Nicot, C., Harrod, R. L., Ciminale, V., and Franchini, G. (2005). Human Tcell leukemia/lymphoma virus type 1 nonstructural genes and their functions. Oncogene 24, 6026–6034.
- Okuma, K., Dalton, K. P., Buonocore, L., Ramsburg, E., Rose, J. K. (2003). Development of a novel surrogate virus for human T-cell leukemia virus type 1: inhibition of infection by osteoprotegerin. J. Virol. 77, 8562–8569.
- Osame, M., and Igata, A. (1989). The history of discovery and clinicoepidemiology of HTLV-I-associated myelopathy (HAM). *Jpn. J. Med.* 28, 412–414.
- Osame, M., Usuku, K., Izumo, S., Ijichi, N., Amitani, H., Igata, A., Matsumoto, M., and Tara, M. (1986). HTLV-I associated myelopathy, a new clinical entity. *Lancet* 1, 1031–1032.
- Pais-Correia, A. M., Sachse, M., Guadagnini, S., Robbiati, V., Lasserre, R., Gessain, A., Gout, O., Alcover, A., and Thoulouze, M. I. (2009). Biofilm-like extracellular viral assemblies mediate HTLV-1 cell-to-cell transmission at virological synapses. *Nat. Med.* 16, 83–89.
- Palker, T. J., Riggs, E. R., Spragion, D. E., Muir, A. J., Scearce, R. M., Randall, R. R., McAdams, M. W., McKnight, A., Clapham, P., and Weiss, R. A. (1992). Mapping of homologous, amino-terminal neutralizing regions of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I and II gp46 envelope glycoproteins. *J. Virol.* 66, 5879–5889.
- Pinon, J. D., Klasse, P. J., Jassal, S. R., Welson, S., Weber, J., Brighty, D. W., and Sattentau, Q. J. (2003a). Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 envelope glycoprotein gp46 interacts with cell surface heparan sulfate proteoglycans. J. Virol. 77, 9922–9930.
- Pinon, J. D., Kelly, S. M., Price, N. C., Flanagan, J. U., and Brighty, D. W. (2003b). An antiviral peptide targets a coiled-coil domain of the human T-cell leukemia virus envelope glycoprotein. *J. Virol.* 77, 3281–3290.
- Pinter, A., Kopelman, R., Li, Z., Kayman, S. C., and Sanders, D. A. (1997). Localization of the labile

disulfide bond between SU and TM of the murine leukemia virus envelope protein complex to a highly conserved CWLC motif in SU that resembles the active-site sequence of thiol-disulfide exchange enzymes. *J. Virol.* 71, 8073–8077.

- Pique, C., Lagaudriere-Gesbert, C., Delamarre, L., Rosenberg, A. R., Conjeaud, H., and Dokhelar, M. C. (2000). Interaction of CD82 tetraspanin proteins with HTLV-1 envelope glycoproteins inhibits cellto-cell fusion and virus transmission. Virology 276, 455–465.
- Pique, C., Pham, D., Tursz, T., and Dokhelar, M. C. (1992). Human Tcell leukemia virus type I envelope protein maturation process: requirements for syncytium formation. *J. Virol.* 66, 906–913.
- Poiesz, B. J., Ruscetti, F. W., Gazdar, A. F., Bunn, P. A., Minna, J. D., and Gallo, R. C. (1980). Detection and isolation of type C retrovirus particles from fresh and cultured lymphocytes of a patient with cutaneous T-cell lymphoma. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 77, 7415–7419.
- Proietti, F. A., Carneiro-Proietti, A. B., Catalan-Soares, B. C., and Murphy, E. L. (2005). Global epidemiology of HTLV-I infection and associated diseases. Oncogene 24, 6058–6068.
- Richardson, J. H., Edwards, A. J., Cruickshank, J. K., Rudge, P., Dalgleish, A. G. (1990). In vivo cellular tropism of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1. J. Virol. 64, 5682–5687.
- Romeo, P. H., Lemarchandel, V., and Tordjman, R. (2002). Neuropilin-1 in the immune system. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 515, 49–54.
- Sawada, T., Iwahara, Y., Ishii, K., Taguchi, H., Hoshino, H., and Miyoshi, I. (1991). Immunoglobulin prophylaxis against milkborne transmission of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 in rabbits. *J. Infect. Dis.* 164, 1193–1196.
- Saxinger, W., Blattner, W. A., Levine, P. H., Clark, J., Biggar, R., Hoh, M., Moghissi, J., Jacobs, P., Wilson, L., Jacobson, R., Crookes, R., Strong, M., Angari, A. A., Dean, A. G., Nkrumah, F. K., Mourali, N., and Gallo, R. C. (1984). Human T-cell leukemia virus (HTLV-I) antibodies in Africa. *Science* 225, 1473–1476.
- Seiki, M., Hattori, S., Hirayama, Y., and Yoshida, M. (1983). Human adult T-cell leukemia virus: complete nucleotide sequence of the provirus genome integrated in leukemia cell DNA. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 80, 3618–3622.

- Setoyama, M., Kerdel, F. A., Elgart, G., Kanzaki, T., and Byrnes, J. J. (1998). Detection of HTLV-1 by polymerase chain reaction in situ hybridization in adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma. *Am. J. Pathol.* 152, 683–689.
- Shinagawa, M., Jinno-Oue, A., Shimizu, N., Roy, B. B., Shimizu, A., Hoque, S. A., and Hoshino, H. (2012). Human T-cell leukemia viruses are highly unstable over a wide range of temperatures. *J. Gen. Virol.* 93. 608–617.
- Shintani, Y., Takashima, S., Asano, Y., Kato, H., Liao, Y., Yamazaki, S., Tsukamoto, O., Seguchi, O., Yamamoto, H., Fukushima, T., Sugahara, K., Kitakaze, M., and Hori, M. (2006). Glycosaminoglycan modification of neuropilin-1 modulates VEGFR2 signaling. *EMBO J.* 25, 3045–3055.
- Shukla, D., Liu, J., Blaiklock, P., Shworak, N. W., Bai, X., Esko, J. D., Cohen, G. H., Eisenberg, R. J., Rosenberg, R. D., and Spear, P. G. (1999). A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. *Cell* 99, 13–22.
- Silverman, L. R., Phipps, A. J., Montgomery, A., Ratner, L., and Lairmore, M. D. (2004). Human Tcell lymphotropic virus type 1 open reading frame II-encoded p30II is required for in vivo replication: evidence of in vivo reversion. J. Virol. 78, 3837–3845.
- Sodroski, J. G., Rosen, C. A., and Haseltine, W. A. (1984). Trans-acting transcriptional activation of the long terminal repeat of human T lymphotropic viruses in infected cells. *Science* 223, 381–385.
- Soker, S., Takashima, S., Miao, H. Q., Neufeld, G., and Klagsbrun, M. (1998). Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. *Cell* 92, 735–745.
- Sonoda, S., Li, H. C., and Tajima, K. (2011). Ethnoepidemiology of HTLV-1 related diseases: ethnic determinants of HTLV-1 susceptibility and its worldwide dispersal. *Cancer Sci.* 102, 295–301.
- Sutton, R. E., and Littman, D. R. (1996). Broad host range of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 demonstrated with an improved pseudotyping system. J. Virol. 70, 7322–7326.
- Suzuki, M., Matsuoka, H., Yamashita, K., Maeda, K., Kawano, K., Uno, H., and Tsubouchi, H. (1998). CD45RO expression on peripheral lymphocytes as a prognostic marker for

adult T-cell leukemia. *Leuk. Lym-phoma* 28, 583–590.

- Takatsuki, K. (2005). Discovery of adult T-cell leukemia. *Retrovirology* 2, 16.
- Tanaka, A., Jinno-Oue, A., Shimizu, N., Hoque, A., Mori, T., Islam, S., Nakatani, Y., Shinagawa, M., and Hoshino, H. (2012). Entry of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 is augmented by heparan sulfate proteoglycans bearing short heparin-like structures. J. Virol. 86, 2959–2969.
- Tanaka, Y., Fukudome, K., Hayashi, M., Takagi, S., and Yoshie, O. (1995). Induction of ICAM-1 and LFA-3 by Tax1 of human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 and mechanism of downregulation of ICAM-1 or LFA-1 in adult T cell leukemia cell lines. *Int. J. Cancer* 60, 554–561.
- Tanaka, Y., Tanaka, R., Terada, E., Koyanagi, Y., Miyanokurosaki, N., Yamamoto, N., Baba, E., Nakamura, M., and Shida, H. (1994). Induction of antibody responses that neutralize human T-cell leukemia virus type I infection in vitro and in vivo by peptide immunization. J. Virol. 68, 6323–6331.
- Tanaka, Y., Zeng, L., Shiraki, H., Shida, H., and Tozawa, H. (1991). Identification of a neutralization epitope on the envelope gp46 antigen of human T-cell leukemia virus type I and induction of neutralizing antibody by peptide immunization. *J. Immunol.* 147, 354–360.
- Tordjman, R., Lepelletier, Y., Lemarchandel, V., Cambot, M., Gaulard, P., Hermine, O., and Romeo, P. H. (2002). A neuronal receptor, neuropilin-1, is essential for the initiation of the primary immune response. *Nat. Immunol.* 3, 477–482.
- Toulza, F., Nosaka, K., Takiguchi, M., Pagliuca, T., Mitsuya, H., Tanaka, Y., Taylor, G. P., and Bangham, C. R. (2009). FoxP3+ regulatory T cells are distinct from leukemia cells in HTLV-1-associated adult Tcell leukemia. *Int. J. Cancer* 125, 2375–2382.
- Trejo, S. R., and Ratner, L. (2000). The HTLV receptor is a widely expressed protein. *Virology* 268, 41–48.
- Uchiyama, T. (1997). Human T cell leukemia virus type I (HTLV-I) and human diseases. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 15, 15–37.
- Uemura, Y., Kotani, S., Yoshimoto, S., Fujishita, M., Yamashita, M., Ohtsuki, Y., Taguchi, H., and Miyoshi, I. (1987). Mother-to-offspring transmission of human T cell leukemia virus type I in rabbits. *Blood* 69, 1255–1258.

- Ureta-Vidal, A., Angelin-Duclos, C., Tortevoye, P., Murphy, E., Lepere, J. F., Buigues, R. P., Jolly, N., Joubert, M., Carles, G., Pouliquen, J. F., de The, G., Moreau, J. P., and Gessain, A. (1999). Mother-tochild transmission of human T-cellleukemia/lymphoma virus type I: implication of high antiviral antibody titer and high proviral load in carrier mothers. *Int. J. Cancer* 82, 832–836.
- van Prooyen, N., Gold, H., Andresen, V., Schwartz, O., Jones, K., Ruscetti, F., Lockett, S., Gudla, P., Venzon, D., and Franchini, G. (2010). Human T-cell leukemia virus type 1 p8 protein increases cellular conduits and virus transmission. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 107, 20738–20743.
- Wallin, M., Ekstrom, M., and Garoff, H. (2004). Isomerization of the intersubunit disulphide-bond in Env controls retrovirus fusion. *EMBO J.* 23, 54–65.
- Walter, M. J., Lehky, T. J., Fox, C. H., and Jacobson, S. (1994). In situ PCR for the detection of HTLV-I in HAM/TSP patients. Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci. 724, 404–413.
- Wielgosz, M. M., Rauch, D. A., Jones, K. S., Ruscetti, F. W., and Ratner, L. (2005). Cholesterol dependence of HTLV-I infection. *AIDS Res. Hum. Retroviruses* 21, 43–50.
- Wilson, K. A., Bär, S., Maerz, A. L., Alizon, M., and Poumbourios, P. (2005). The conserved glycinerich segment linking the N-terminal fusion peptide to the coiled coil of human T-cell leukemia virus type l transmembrane glycoprotein gp21 is a determinant of membrane fusion function. J. Virol. 79, 4533–4539.
- Wucherpfennig, K. W., Hollsberg, P., Richardson, J. H., Benjamin, D., and Hafler, D. A. (1992). T-cell activation by autologous human T-cell leukemia virus type I-infected T-cell clones. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 89, 2110–2114.
- Yanagihara, R., Jenkins, C. L., Alexander, S. S., Mora, C. A., and Garruto, R. M. (1990). Human T lymphotropic virus type I infection in Papua New Guinea: high prevalence among the Hagahai confirmed by western analysis. J. Infect. Dis. 162, 649–654.
- Yano, H., Ishida, T., Inagaki, A., Ishii, T., Kusumoto, S., Komatsu, H., Iida, S., Utsunomiya, A., and Ueda, R. (2007). Regulatory T-cell function of adult T-cell leukemia/lymphoma

cells. Int. J. Cancer 120, 2052–2057.

- Yoshida, M., Miyoshi, I., and Hinuma, Y. (1982). Isolation and characterization of retrovirus from cell lines of human adult T-cell leukemia and its implication in the disease. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 79, 2031–2035.
- Yoshikura, H., Nishida, J., Yoshida, M., Kitamura, Y., Takaku, F., and Ikeda,

S. (1984). Isolation of HTLV derived from Japanese adult T-cell leukemia patients in human diploid fibroblast strain IMR90 and the biological characters of the infected cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 33, 745–749.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any

commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 10 March 2012; accepted: 30 May 2012; published online: 21 June 2012.

Citation: Hoshino H (2012) Cellular factors involved in HTLV-1 entry and pathogenicity. Front. Microbio. **3**:222. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00222 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Hoshino. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Cell tropism and pathogenesis of measles virus in monkeys

Sei-ich Kato, Kyosuke Nagata and Kaoru Takeuchi*

Division of Biomedical Science, Department of Infection Biology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tsukuba, Tsukuba, Japan

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Michael D. Muehlebach, Paul-Ehrlich-Institut, Germany Katsuhiro Komase, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

*Correspondence:

Kaoru Takeuchi, Division of Biomedical Science, Department of Infection Biology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Tsukuba, 1-1-1 Tennodai, Tsukuba, Ibaraki 305-8575, Japan. e-mail: ktakeuch@md.tsukuba.ac.jp

Measles virus (MV) is an enveloped negative strand RNA virus belonging to the family of Paramyxoviridae, genus Morbillivirus, and causes one of the most contagious diseases in humans. Experimentally infected non-human primates are used as animal models for studies of the pathogenesis of human measles. We established a reverse genetics system based on a highly pathogenic wild-type MV. Infection of monkeys with recombinant MV strains generated by reverse genetics enabled analysis of the molecular basis of MV pathogenesis. The essential in vivo function of accessory genes was indicated by infecting monkeys with recombinant MV strains deficient in the expression of accessory genes. Furthermore, recombinant wild-type MV strains expressing enhanced green fluorescent protein enabled visual tracking of MV-infected cells in vitro and in vivo. To date, three different molecules have been identified as receptors for MV. Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM, also called CD150), expressed on immune cells, is a major receptor for MV. CD46, ubiquitously expressed in all nucleated cells in humans and monkeys, is a receptor for vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV. The newly identified nectin-4 (also called poliovirus-receptor-like-4) is an epithelial cell receptor for MV. However, recent findings have indicated that CD46 acts as an MV receptor in vitro but not in vivo. The impact of the receptor usage of MV in vivo on the disease outcome is now under investigation.

Keywords: measles virus, monkey, pathogenesis, tropism, reverse genetics, receptor, EGFP

INTRODUCTION

Measles is a febrile disease that typically occurs in small children; the incubation period is 10–14 days, after which clinical symptoms such as fever, coughing, and a characteristic rash appears. Since measles is accompanied by immunosuppression, it has a high frequency of complication with secondary bacterial infections, such as otitis media or pneumonia. Although developed countries are eradicating measles by promoting effective vaccination, measles remains an important issue, especially in developing countries (Griffin, 2007).

Measles virus (MV), belonging to the genus *Morbillivirus* of the family Paramyxoviridae, is an enveloped virus with a nonsegmented negative strand RNA genome. The MV genome has six genes that encode the nucleocapsid (N), phospho (P), matrix (M), fusion (F), hemagglutinin (H), and large (L) proteins (**Figure 1A**). MV contains two envelope glycoproteins: the H protein, which is responsible for receptor binding and is important for determining cell tropism of MV; and the F protein, which mediates membrane fusion (Navaratnarajah et al., 2009). The P gene encodes the P protein and the non-structural V and C proteins. The V and C proteins are important for antagonizing the host interferon (IFN) response (Gerlier and Valentin, 2009).

To date, three different molecules have been identified as receptors for MV. Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM, also called CD150), expressed in certain immune system cells including activated B and T lymphocytes, mature dendritic cells, and macrophages, is a receptor for wild-type MV and vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV (Tatsuo et al., 2000). CD46 (also called membrane cofactor protein), expressed in all human and monkey nucleated cells, is a receptor for vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV (Dorig et al., 1993; Naniche et al., 1993). Recently, nectin-4 [also called poliovirus-receptorlike-4 (PVRL4)] has been identified as the epithelial receptor for wild-type MV (Muhlebach et al., 2011; Noyce et al., 2011).

Several animal models have been used for studying the pathogenesis of MV (Griffin, 2007). Cotton rats, rats, hamsters, mice, and ferrets can be infected with MV and are commonly used as small animal models for MV pathogenesis. After identification of CD46 and SLAM as MV receptors, numerous transgenic and knock-in mice expressing human CD46 and/or SLAM were established and intensively used to study different aspects of MV infection (Sellin and Horvat, 2009). However, non-human primates are the only animals that exhibit acute disease similar to that seen in humans. In this review, we discuss recent findings regarding tropism and pathogenesis of MV; these findings were obtained by infecting monkeys with recombinant wild-type MV.

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND OF MONKEY MODELS

When infected with measles, monkeys exhibit similar symptoms as seen in humans. This was reported as early as 1911, after inoculating monkeys with blood from measles patients (Anderson and Goldberger, 1911). In 1921, it was reported that measles could be transmitted from humans to monkeys by placing a filtered throat swab from a measles patient into the tracheae of monkeys (Blake and Trask, 1921a). These authors also performed histological analysis of infected monkeys (Blake and Trask, 1921b). However,



at this time, "MV" had not yet been discovered. MV was first isolated in 1954 from a specimen obtained from a measles patient (Enders and Peebles, 1954). Enders and Peebles (1954) inoculated human and monkey cell cultures with a throat swab taken from a young boy named David Edmonston and isolated MV from these cultures. After this, it was discovered that MV isolated from normal human renal cells caused clinical signs similar to those of human measles in monkeys (Peebles et al., 1957). Since then, numerous studies have been carried out by infecting monkeys with MV, measles vaccines, or specimens from measles patients (Griffin, 2007). In such experiments, two species of monkeys, cynomolgus monkey (Macaca fascicularis) and rhesus monkey (Macaca *mulatta*), serve as good animal models. New World monkeys are more susceptible to MV than Old World monkeys, and infection of marmoset (Saguinus mystax) with MV results in a fulminant disease (Levy and Mirkovic, 1971; Albrecht et al., 1980).

In the past, it was well known that infection of monkeys with materials from measles patients induced clinical signs similar to those of human measles (Nii et al., 1964; Yamanouchi et al., 1970; Sakaguchi et al., 1986). However, curiously enough, infection of monkeys with MV isolated and propagated in cultured cells did not always induce these clinical signs (Enders et al., 1960; Yamanouchi et al., 1970; van Binnendijk et al., 1994). This riddle was solved by the introduction of B95a cells (a marmoset B-lymphoid cell line) for isolation and propagation of MV (Kobune et al., 1990). Kobune et al. (1990, 1996) found that MV strains could be efficiently isolated in B95a cells using materials from measles patients. More importantly, MV strains isolated from B95a cells retained their original pathogenicity in monkeys. These studies indicated that vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV previously isolated from non-lymphoid cells such as Vero cells were not true MV (Figure 1B). A decade later, it was found that the MV receptor

SLAM is highly expressed on B95a cells (Tatsuo et al., 2000), which accounts for the efficient isolation of pathogenic MV from patient samples. Similar to MV strains isolated from B95a cells, MV strains isolated and propagated in monkey mononuclear cells, human cord blood cells, human B lymphoblastoid cell lines, and Vero cells expressing SLAM replicated well in monkeys and induced clinical signs of measles (van Binnendijk et al., 1994; McChesney et al., 1997; Zhu et al., 1997; Auwaerter et al., 1999; El Mubarak et al., 2007; Bankamp et al., 2008). These results suggest that expression of SLAM on cells used for isolation is important for isolation of pathogenic MV.

REVERSE GENETICS OF MV

Reverse genetics refers to the methods used for recovering infectious viruses from the cDNA that encodes the viral genome. By using this method, mutations or extra transcription units can be introduced into viral genomes by the modification of cDNA plasmids. Reverse genetics of MV was first established based on the Edmonston vaccine strain (Radecke et al., 1995). However, as previously mentioned, viruses derived from the Edmonston vaccine strain do not induce clinical symptoms of measles in monkeys. Therefore, reverse genetics of pathogenic wild-type MV was needed for the study of MV pathogenesis in monkeys. To this end, we first determined the complete nucleotide sequence of the genome of the pathogenic wild-type IC-B strain (NC_001498/AB016162; Takeuchi et al., 2000), which was isolated in Tokyo in 1984 by using B95a cells (Kobune et al., 1990). Then, we constructed a complete cDNA plasmid of the IC-B strain named p(+)MV323, and successfully recovered infectious MV (IC323 strain) from the p(+)MV323 plasmid (Takeda et al., 2000). Importantly, the IC323 strain induced clinical signs such as rash, Koplik's spots, and lymphopenia similar to human measles in infected monkeys, indicating that the IC323 strain retains the original pathogenicity of the IC-B strain. Now, infectious MV strains can be easily recovered from cDNA plasmids by using an improved protocol (Takeda et al., 2005).

Reverse genetics of other wild-type MV strains has been reported for the HL strain isolated in Japan (Terao-Muro et al., 2008) and the KS strain isolated in Sudan (Lemon et al., 2011). For vaccine strains of MV, reverse genetics for the Schwarz/Moraten vaccine strain (Combredet et al., 2003; del Valle et al., 2007) and the AIK-C vaccine strain (Nakayama et al., 2001) have also been reported. Reverse genetics for vaccine strains are being used as a platform to generate new multivalent vaccines expressing antigens of other pathogens (Billeter et al., 2009) and oncolytic viruses for cancer therapy (Russell and Peng, 2009).

FUNCTION OF MV ACCESSORY PROTEINS IN VIVO

The P gene of MV encodes two non-structural proteins, namely the C and V proteins. However, the function of the C and V proteins *in vivo* was not well understood. The C protein is a small (186 amino acid), highly positively charged protein. To study the function of the C protein in the context of the natural course of MV pathogenesis, we generated an IC323 strain deficient in the expression of the C protein, wtMV(C–), by using the reverse genetics of wild-type MV (Takeuchi et al., 2005). Notably, the growth of wtMV(C–) in cynomolgus monkeys was dramatically reduced when compared to the IC323 strain. A similar growth defect of the IC323 strain deficient in the expression of the C protein, C^{ko} , *in vivo* was observed in rhesus monkeys (Devaux et al., 2008). Interestingly, C^{ko} induced more inflammatory cytokines such as tumor necrosis factor alpha (TNF)- α and interleukin (IL)-6 and interferon (IFN)- α and - β in infected monkeys.

The V protein is translated from an edited mRNA of the P gene (Griffin, 2007). Thus, the amino-terminal domain of the V protein has the same amino acid sequence as the P protein, and the carboxyl-terminal domain of the V protein has a highly conserved amino acid sequence forming a zinc-binding domain, which is important for function as an interferon antagonist (Gerlier and Valentin, 2009). An IC323 strain deficient in the expression of the V protein, V^{ko}, was generated by introducing nucleotide mutations in the RNA-editing signal in the P gene (Devaux et al., 2008). The growth of Vko in infected rhesus monkeys was lower than that of the parental IC323 strain. Vko induced more inflammatory cytokines (TNF-α and IL-6) and IFN-α and -β. An IC323 strain unable to antagonize STAT1 function, STAT1-blind virus, was generated by introducing three amino acid substitutions in the shared domain of the P and V proteins (Devaux et al., 2011). The STAT1blind virus induced short-lived viremia and no clinical signs in infected rhesus monkeys. This virus induced more inflammatory cytokines (TNF-α and IL-6) and a Th1/Th2 balance cytokine (IL-12) in infected monkeys. Taken together, these findings indicate that the C and V proteins are not non-essential gene products as previously thought, but are stringently required for antagonizing host innate immune and inflammatory responses in vivo.

In contrast, *in vitro* studies indicated that the V protein blocks IFN- α/β signal transductions in infected cells, inhibits TLR7mediated IFN- α production in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells, and inhibits IFN induction in infected cells by interacting with MDA5 (Gerlier and Valentin, 2009). Furthermore, the C protein appears to inhibit IFN induction in infected cells by regulating viral RNA synthesis (Nakatsu et al., 2008). Thus, it is necessary to elucidate whether the *in vivo* phenotypes of C- and V-deficient viruses are similar to the *in vitro* phenotypes.

MV TROPISM IN VIVO

Recent advances in the study of virus tropism have included the introduction of enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP)expressing viruses. In vivo tropism of Morbillivirus can be visualized with high sensitivity in living animals as well as tissue samples by using EGFP-expressing recombinant canine distemper viruses (von Messling et al., 2004). Similarly, MV target tissues or organs can be visualized with high sensitivity by infecting cynomolgus monkeys with an EGFP-expressing IC323 strain (Figure 2). de Swart et al. (2007) infected rhesus and cynomolgus monkeys with an IC323 strain expressing EGFP (Hashimoto et al., 2002) and examined the tropism of wild-type MV in vivo. They indicated that the major target cells of wild-type MV were B and T lymphocytes and CD11c-positive, major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class-II-positive dendritic cells. This result is consistent with the fact that SLAM is a receptor for wild-type MV. Infection of ciliated epithelial cells in the trachea and lungs was also detected, suggesting the presence of another receptor for MV in epithelial cells.

Regarding the early target cells of wild-type MV, classical textbooks describe that the primary targets of MV are the epithelial cells of the respiratory tract. However, SLAM is not expressed in these epithelial cells. To examine the early target cells of wild-type and vaccine strains of MV in the lung, de Vries et al. (2010) infected cynomolgus monkeys with EGFP-expressing IC323 or vaccine strains of MV via the intratracheal or aerosol route. They found



FIGURE 2 | Schematic diagram of reverse genetics of wild-type MV expressing EGFP and infection of monkeys. A plasmid carrying the full-genome cDNA of the IC-B strain and the EGFP gene under the control of the T7 promoter is introduced into CHO cells expressing human SLAM (CHO/hSLAM), along with three supporting plasmids expressing N, P, and L

proteins, respectively, under the control of the T7 promoter. After infection with vaccinia virus expressing the T7 RNA polymerase, wild-type MV expressing EGFP can be recovered by mixing with B95a cells. EGFP fluorescence in tissues and organs of infected monkeys can be detected using a fluorescence microscope.

that CD11c-positive cells, which include alveolar macrophages and dendritic cells, were the major targets of both viruses. Interestingly, although viral replication and cellular tropism in the lungs were similar for the two viruses, only wild-type MV caused significant viremia, suggesting a growth defect of the vaccine strain in lymphocyte cells. Similarly, to examine the early target cells of wild-type MV, Lemon et al. (2011) infected cynomolgus monkeys with an EGFP-expressing wild-type MV based on the KS strain by aerosol infection and found that the early target cells of wild-type MV in monkeys are macrophages and dendritic cells. These studies indicated that alveolar macrophages and dendritic cells but not the epithelial cells of the respiratory tract are the early target cells of wild-type MV.

Nectin-4 is a newly identified epithelial cell receptor (EpR) for MV. To examine the effect of nectin-4-using activity of MV on disease outcomes in monkeys, an IC323 strain recognizing SLAM but not nectin-4 was generated by introducing amino acid mutations in the H protein (Leonard et al., 2008). At that time, nectin-4 had not been identified as a MV receptor, and this strain was called EpR-blind virus. When rhesus monkeys were infected with EpR-blind virus via the conjunctiva and nares, this virus induced viremia and clinical signs in infected monkeys but did not propagate in the lungs. This result indicates the importance of nectin-4 for the propagation of MV in the lungs, which is required for the subsequent exit of MV from the host. Inversely, to examine the impact of the recognition of SLAM by MV, an IC323 strain recognizing nectin-4 but not SLAM, SLAM-blind, was generated (Leonard et al., 2010). When rhesus monkeys were infected with the SLAM-blind virus, it elicited no clinical symptoms. This result indicates that SLAM recognition is necessary for MV virulence and pathogenesis.

Vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV can utilize both CD46 and SLAM as cellular receptors. However, surprisingly, the impact of the CD46-using activity of vaccine and laboratoryadapted strains of MV on their tissue and organ tropism and attenuation is not well understood. As CD46 is ubiquitously expressed on all nucleated human and monkey cells, vaccine, and laboratory-adapted strains of MV may infect all tissues and organs of humans and monkeys. If so, this tropism shift may have great consequences on vaccine attenuation. In this context, de Vries et al. (2010) indicated that only CD11c-positive cells were infected with the EGFP-expressing vaccine strain via the aerosol route, suggesting that vaccine strains do not use CD46 in vivo. However, when the replication of vaccine and laboratory-adapted strains of MV in monkeys is limited, it will be difficult to identify infected cells in tissues. Furthermore, the infection of vaccine and laboratoryadapted strains of MV may be restricted because of mutations in the P/C/V genes, which are important for antagonizing the host IFN response (Gerlier and Valentin, 2009). Therefore, the tropism shift that solely occurs via the H protein should be evaluated using the wild-type MV expressing EGFP, which bears the H protein of a vaccine strain, such as the IC/EdH strain we developed previously (Takeuchi et al., 2002).

We recently infected cynomolgus monkeys with EGFPexpressing wild-type or IC/EdH strains and found that SLAMexpressing lymphocytes were the main targets of both strains, indicating that CD46 does not act as a receptor for vaccine and



laboratory-adapted strains of MV in vivo (Figure 3; Takeuchi et al., 2012). One possible explanation for the limited expansion of the EGFP-expressing IC/EdH strain in vivo is the activation status of lymphocytes. It is known that stimulated lymphocytes are efficiently infected with MV and that stimulated lymphocytes express SLAM (Tatsuo et al., 2000). Thus, lymphocytes expressing SLAM may appear to be infected with both strains. The EGFP-expressing IC/EdH strain that entered into quiescent lymphocytes via the CD46 may not grow well in those cells. Alternatively, the expression level of CD46 in vivo may be too low to allow MV dissemination by cell-cell fusion, as it was reported that high CD46 density is required for MV-induced cell-cell fusion (Anderson et al., 2004). For whatever the reason, the growth of the EGFP-expressing IC/EdH strain was less efficient than that of the EGFP-expressing wild-type strain (Takeuchi et al., 2012), suggesting that the CD46recognition ability of vaccine and laboratory-adapted MV strains plays a role in the MV attenuation. Further studies are required to elucidate the relationship between CD46-recognition ability and MV attenuation.

CONCLUSION

As described in this review, our IC323 strain, recovered from a plasmid carrying the full-genome cDNA of the IC-B strain, is now used as a standard wild-type MV strain in MV research. Furthermore, EGFP-expressing IC323 strains are ideal tools for the study of tissue and organ tropism of wild-type MV *in vivo*. Although the use of monkeys has several limitations, monkey models still provide the only reliable animal model for the study of the pathogenesis of MV in humans. The combination of wild-type and vaccine MV strains generated by reverse genetics and monkey models will provide new insights into the relationship between viral gene functions or individual mutation(s) and the pathogenesis of MV.

REFERENCES

- Albrecht, P., Lorenz, D., Klutch, M. J., Vickers, J. H., and Ennis, F. A. (1980). Fatal measles infection in marmosets pathogenesis and prophylaxis. *Infect. Immun.* 27, 969–978.
- Anderson, B. D., Nakamura, T., Russell, S. J., and Peng, K.-W. (2004). High CD46 receptor density determines preferential killing of tumor cells by oncolytic measles virus. *Cancer Res.* 64, 4919–4926.
- Anderson, J. F., and Goldberger, J. (1911). Experimental measles in the monkey: a supplemental note. *Public Health Rep.* 26, 887–895.
- Auwaerter, P. G., Rota, P. A., Elkins, W. R., Adams, R. J., DeLozier, T., Shi, Y., Bellini, W. J., Murphy, B. R., and Griffin, D. E. (1999). Measles virus infection in rhesus macaques: altered immune responses and comparison of the virulence of six different virus strains. J. Infect. Dis. 180, 950–958.
- Bankamp, B., Hodge, G., McChesney, M. B., Bellini, W. J., and Rota, P. A. (2008). Genetic changes that affect the virulence of measles virus in a rhesus macaque model. *Virology* 373, 39–50.
- Billeter, M. A., Naim, H. Y., and Udem, S. A. (2009). Reverse genetics of measles virus and resulting multivalent recombinant vaccines: applications of recombinant measles viruses. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 329, 129–162.
- Blake, F. G., and Trask, J. D. Jr. (1921a). Studies on measles. I. Susceptibility of monkeys to the virus of measles. *J. Exp. Med.* 33, 385–412.
- Blake, F. G., and Trask, J. D. Jr. (1921b). Studies on measles. II. Symptomatology and pathology in monkeys experimentally infected. *J. Exp. Med.* 33, 413–422.
- Combredet, C., Labrousse, V., Mollet, L., Lorin, C., Delebecque, F., Hurtrel, B., McClure, H., Feinberg, M. B., Brahic, M., and Tangy, F. (2003). A molecularly cloned Schwarz strain of measles virus vaccine induces strong immune responses in macaques and transgenic mice. *J. Virol.* 77, 11546–11554.
- de Swart, R. L., Ludlow, M., de Witte, L., Yanagi, Y., van Amerongen, G., McQuaid, S., Yuksel, S., Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Duprex, W. P., and Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. (2007). Predominant infection of CD150+lymphocytes and dendritic

cells during measles virus infection of macaques. *PLoS Pathog.* 3, e178. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0030178

- de Vries, R. D., Lemon, K., Ludlow, M., McQuaid, S., Yuksel, S., van Amerongen, G., Rennick, L. J., Rima, B. K., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., de Swart, R. L., and Duprex, W. P. (2010). In vitro tropism of attenuated and pathogenic measles virus expressing green fluorescent protein in macaques. *J. Virol.* 84, 4714–4724.
- del Valle, J. R., Devaux, P., Hodge, G., Wegner, N. J., McChesney, M. B., and Catteneo, R. (2007). A vectored measles virus induces hepatitis B surface antigen antibodies while protecting macaques against measles virus challenge. J. Virol. 81, 10597–10605.
- Devaux, P., Hodge, G., McChesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2008). Attenuation of V- or C-defective measles viruses: infection control by the inflammatory and interferon responses of rhesus monkeys. J. Virol. 82, 5359–5367.
- Devaux, P., Hudacek, A. W., Hodge, G., Valle, J. R., McChesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2011). A recombinant measles virus unable to antagonize STAT1 function cannot control inflammation and is attenuated in rhesus monkeys. *J. Virol.* 85, 348–356.
- Dorig, R. E., Marcil, A., Chopra, A., and Richardson, C. D. (1993). The human CD46 molecule is a receptor for measles virus (Edmonston strain). *Cell* 75, 295–305.
- El Mubarak, H. S., Yuksel, S., van Amerongen, G., Mulder, P. G. H., Mukhtar, M. M., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., and de Swart, R. L. (2007). Infection of cynomolgus macaques (*Macaca fascicularis*) and rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*) with different wild-type measles viruses. J. Gen. Virol. 88, 2028–2034.
- Enders, J. F., Katz, S. L., Milovanovic, M. V., and Holloway, A. (1960). Studies on an attenuated measles-virus vaccine I. Development and preparation of the vaccine: techniques for assay of effects of vaccination. N. Engl. J. Med. 263, 153–159.
- Enders, J. F., and Peebles, T. C. (1954). Propagation in tissue cultures of cytopathic agents from patients with measles. *Proc. Soc. Exp. Biol. Med.* 86, 277–286.
- Gerlier, D., and Valentin, H. (2009). Measles virus interaction with host

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper was supported by a grant-in-aid (No. 23659227) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology of Japan.

cells and impact on innate immunity. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 329, 163–191.

- Griffin, D. E. (2007). "Measles virus," in *Fields Virology*, 5th Edn, eds D. M. Knipe, P. M. Howley, D. E. Griffin, R. A. Lamb, M. A. Martin, B. Roizman, and S. E. Straus (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins), 1551–1585.
- Hashimoto, K., Ono, N., Tatsuo, H., Minagawa, H., Takeda, M., Takeuchi, K., and Yanagi, Y. (2002). SLAM (CD150)-independent measles virus entry as revealed by recombinant virus expressing green fluorescent protein. J. Virol. 76, 6743–6749.
- Kobune, F., Sakata, H., and Sugiura, A. (1990). Marmoset lymphoblastoid cells as a sensitive host for isolation of measles virus. *J. Virol.* 64, 700–705.
- Kobune, F., Takahashi, H., Terao, K., Ohkawa, T., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Nagata, N., Sakata, H., Yamanouchi, K., and Kai, C. (1996). Nonhuman primate models of measles. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* 46, 315–320.
- Lemon, K., de Vries, R. D., Mesman, A. W., McQuaid, S., van Amerongen, G., Yuksel, S., Ludlow, M., Rennick, L. J., Kuiken, T., Rima, B. K., Geijtenbeek, T. B. H., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E., Duprex, W. P., and de Swart, R. L. (2011). Early target cells of measles virus after aerosol infection of non-human primates. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001263. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001263
- Leonard, V. H. J., Hodge, G., Valle, J. R., McChesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2010). Measles virus selectively blind to signaling lymphocytes activation molecule (SLAM; CD150) is attenuated and induces strong adaptive immune responses in rhesus monkeys. J. Virol. 84, 3413–3420.
- Leonard, V. H. J., Sinn, P. L., Hodge, G., Miest, T., Devaux, P., Oezguen, N., Braun, W., McCray, P. B. Jr., McChesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2008). Measles virus blind to its epithelial cell receptor remains virulent in rhesus monkeys but cannot cross the airway epithelium and is not shed. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118, 2448–2458.
- Levy, B. M., and Mirkovic, R. R. (1971). An epizootic of measles in a marmoset colony. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* 21, 33–39.
- McChesney, M. B., Miller, C. J., Rota, P. A., Zhu, Y., Antipa, L., Lerche, N. W., Ahmed, R., and Bellini, W. J. (1997).

Experimental measles. I. Pathogenesis in the normal and the immunized host. *Virology* 233, 74–84.

- Muhlebach, M. D., Mateo, M., Sinn, P. L., Prufer, S., Uhlig, K. M., Leonard, V. H., Navaratnarajah, C. K., Frenzke, M., Wong, X. X., Sawatsky, B., Ramachandran, S., McCray, P. B. Jr., Cichutek, K., von Messling, V., Lopez, M., and Cattaneo, R. (2011). Adherens junction protein nectin-4 is the epithelial receptor for measles virus. *Nature* 480, 530–533.
- Nakatsu, Y., Takeda, M., Ohno, S., Shirogane, Y., Iwasaki, M., and Yanagi, Y. (2008). Measles virus circumvents the host interferon response by different actions of the C and V proteins. *J. Virol.* 82, 8296–8306.
- Nakayama, T., Komase, K., Uzuka, R., Hoshi, A., and Okafuji, T. (2001). Leucine at position 278 of the AIK-C measles virus vaccine strain fusion protein is responsible for reduced syncytium formation. *J. Gen. Virol.* 82, 2143–2150.
- Naniche, D., Varior-Krishnan, G., Cervoni, F., Wild, T. F., Rossi, B., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Gerlier, D. (1993). Human membrane cofactor protein (CD46) acts as a cellular receptor for measles virus. *J. Virol.* 67, 6025–6032.
- Navaratnarajah, C. K., Leonard, V. H. J., and Cattaneo, R. (2009). Measles virus glycoprotein complex assembly, receptor attachment, and cell entry. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 329, 59–76.
- Nii, S., Kamahora, J., Mori, Y., Takahashi, M., Nishimura, S., and Okuno, Y. (1964). Experimental pathology of measles in monkeys. *Biken J.* 6, 271–297.
- Noyce, R. S., Bondre, D. G., Ha, M. N., Lin, L. T., Sisson, G., Tsao, M. S., and Richardson, C. D. (2011). Tumor cell marker PVRL4 (nectin 4) is an epithelial cell receptor for measles virus. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002240. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002240
- Peebles, T. C., McCarthy, K., Enders, J. F., and Holloway, A. (1957). Behavior of monkeys after inoculation of virus derived from patients with measles and propagated in tissue culture together with observations on spontaneous infections of these animals by an agent exhibiting similar antigenic properties. J. Immunol. 78, 63–74.

- Radecke, F., Spielhofer, P., Schneider, H., Kaelin, K., Huber, M., Dotsch, C., Christiansen, G., and Billeter, M. A. (1995). Rescue of measles virus from cloned DNA. *EMBO J.* 14, 5773–5784.
- Russell, S. J., and Peng, K. W. (2009). Measles virus for cancer therapy. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 330, 213–241.
- Sakaguchi, M., Yoshikawa, Y., Yamanouchi, K., Sata, T., Nagashima, K., and Takeda, K. (1986). Growth of measles virus in epithelial and lymphoid tissues of cynomolgus monkeys. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 30, 1067–1073.
- Sellin, C. I., and Horvat, B. (2009). Current animal models: transgenic animal models for study of measles pathogenesis. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 330, 111–127.
- Takeda, M., Ohno, S., Seki, F., Hashimoto, K., Miyajima, N., Takeuchi, K., and Yanagi, Y. (2005). Efficient rescue of measles virus from cloned cDNA using SLAMexpressing Chinese hamster ovary cells. Virus Res. 108, 161–165.
- Takeda, M., Takeuchi, K., Miyajima, N., Kobune, F., Ami, Y., Nagata, N., Suzaki, Y., Nagai, Y., and Tashiro, M. (2000). Recovery of pathogenic measles virus

from cloned cDNA. J. Virol. 74, 6643–6647.

- Takeuchi, K., Miyajima, N., Kobune, F., and Tashiro, M. (2000). Comparative nucleotide sequence analyses of the entire genomes of B95a cell-isolated and Vero cell-isolated measles viruses from the same patient. Virus Genes 20, 253–257.
- Takeuchi, K., Nagata, N., Kato, S., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Suzuki, T., Sato, Y., Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y., Mori, K., Nguyen, V. N., Kimura, H., and Nagata, K. (2012). Wild-type measles virus with the hemagglutinin protein of the Edmonston vaccine strain retains wild-type tropism in macaques. *J. Virol.* PMID: 22238320. [Epub ahead of print].
- Takeuchi, K., Takeda, M., Miyajima, N., Ami, Y., Nagata, N., Suzaki, Y., Shahnewaz, J., Kadota, S., and Nagata, K. (2005). Stringent requirement for the C protein of wild-type measles virus for growth in vitro and in macaques. J. Virol. 79, 7838–7844.
- Takeuchi, K., Takeda, M., Miyajima, N., Kobune, F., Tanabayashi, K., and Tashiro, M. (2002). Recombinant wild-type and Edmonston strain measles viruses bearing heterologous H proteins: role of H protein in cell fusion and host cell specificity. J. Virol. 76, 4891–4900.

- Tatsuo, H., Ono, N., Tanaka, K., and Yanagi, Y. (2000). SLAM (CDw150) is a cellular receptor for measles virus. *Nature* 406, 893–897.
- Terao-Muro, Y., Yoneda, M., Seki, T., Watanabe, A., Tsukiyama-Kohara, K., Fujita, K., and Kai, C. (2008). Heparin-like glycosaminoglycans prevent the infection of measles virus in SLAM-negative cell lines. *Antiviral Res.* 80, 370–376.
- van Binnendijk, R. S., van der Heijden, R. W., van Amerongen, G., UytdeHaag, F. G., and Osterhaus, A. D. (1994). Viral replication and development of specific immunity in macaques after infection with different measles virus strains. J. Infect. Dis. 170, 443–448.
- von Messling, V., Milosevic, D., and Cattaneo, R. (2004). Tropism illuminated: lymphocyte-based pathways blazed by lethal morbillivirus through the host immune system. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 101, 14216–14221.
- Yamanouchi, K., Egashira, Y., Uchida, N., Kodama, H., Kobune, F., Hayami, M., Fukuda, A., and Shishido, A. (1970). Giant cell formation in lymphoid tissue of monkeys inoculated with various strains of measles virus. *Jpn. J. Med. Sci. Biol.* 23, 131–145.

Zhu, Y., Heath, J., Collins, J., Greene, T., Antipa, L., Rota, P., Bellini, W., and McChesney, M. (1997). Experimental measles. II. Infection and immunity in the rhesus macaque. *Virology* 233, 85–92.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 November 2011; accepted: 09 January 2012; published online: 30 January 2012.

Citation: Kato S-i, Nagata K and Takeuchi K (2012) Cell tropism and pathogenesis of measles virus in monkeys. Front. Microbio. **3**:14. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00014

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Kato, Nagata and Takeuchi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.
REVIEW ARTICLE published: 13 January 2012 doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00279



Wild-type measles virus is intrinsically dual-tropic

Makoto Takeda¹*, Maino Tahara¹, Noriyo Nagata² and Fumio Seki¹

¹ Department of Virology 3, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Tokyo, Japan

² Department of Pathology, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Masato Tsurudome, Mie University Graduate School of Medicine, Japan Bert Rima, Queen's University Belfast, UK

*Correspondence:

Makoto Takeda, Department of Virology 3, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Gakuen 4-7-1, Musashimurayama, Tokyo 208-0011, Japan.

e-mail: mtakeda@nih.go.jp

Measles is a highly contagious disease that causes temporary and severe immunosuppression in patients. Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule (SLAM) expressed on cells of the immune system functions as a receptor for measles virus (MV). In addition to SLAM, vaccine strains of MV also use a ubiquitously expressed complement regulatory protein, CD46, as a receptor, whereas wild-type (wt) MV strains do not use this receptor. However, recent studies have indicated that SLAM is not the sole receptor for wt MV strains. These strains have an intrinsic ability to enter both immune and epithelial cells using distinct receptor binding sites in their hemagglutinin (H) protein. Recently, a clear answer was obtained through the identification of an epithelial MV receptor, nectin4, expressed at adherens junctions, thereby greatly improving our knowledge of MV receptors. It is now clear that MV specifically targets two cell types, immune cells and epithelial cells, using SLAM and nectin4, respectively. MV loses the ability to use either SLAM or nectin4 when it possesses specific mutations in the H protein. However, nectin4-blind MV still infects SLAM-positive immune cells efficiently (SLAM-tropic), and conversely, SLAM-blind MV infects nectin4-positive epithelial cells efficiently (nectin4-tropic). In this regard, MV is intrinsically dual-tropic to immune cells and epithelial cells. Although many aspects and molecular mechanisms underlying immunosuppressive effects and a highly contagious nature of MV still remain to be elucidated, analyses of physiological functions of these two receptors would provide deep insights into MV pathogenesis.

Keywords: measles virus, dual-tropic, SLAM, nectin4, receptor

MEASLES VIRUS

Measles is a highly contagious acute viral disease characterized by high fever, malaise, coryza, conjunctivitis, cough, and a maculopapular rash (Griffin, 2007). Patients with measles develop a severe and temporary immunosuppression, which is often accompanied by secondary bacterial infections (Griffin, 2007). Despite the availability of highly effective vaccines, measles-related deaths were estimated to be 164,000 worldwide in 2008 (WHO, 2009). The causative agent is measles virus (MV), which belongs to the genus Morbillivirus in the family Paramyxoviridae. The virus particle is enveloped and contains a non-segmented negative-strand RNA genome encoding six tandem linked genes, N, P/V/C, M, F, H, and L. The genome is encapsidated by the nucleocapsid (N) protein and associated with viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerases, forming a helical ribonucleoprotein complex (RNP). On the envelope, the viral particle possesses two types of viral glycoprotein spikes, the hemagglutinin (H) and fusion (F) proteins (Griffin, 2007). The H protein is responsible for binding to cellular receptors on the target host cells, and plays a key role in the determination of host cell specificity (tropism) of MV (Yanagi et al., 2009). Binding of the H protein to a receptor triggers F protein-mediated membrane fusion between the virus envelope and the host cell plasma membrane, releasing the RNP into the cytoplasm. In cells infected with MV, the H and F proteins are expressed on the cell surface and cause cell-to-cell fusion, producing syncytia.

DISCOVERIES OF CELLULAR RECEPTORS FOR MV

Basically, MV specifically infects cells expressing its receptors. Therefore, the distribution pattern of its receptors is a key determinant of which cells become infected with MV (Yanagi et al., 2009). The initial discovery of an MV receptor came in 1993 (Dorig et al., 1993; Naniche et al., 1993). Two independent studies indicated that the receptor molecule for MV is the human membrane cofactor protein (MCP/CD46), a central component of the complement system, which is expressed ubiquitously on all organs and tissues throughout the human body (Dorig et al., 1993; Naniche et al., 1993). These findings were highly welcomed from the viewpoint that MV causes a systemic infection. Meanwhile, Kobune et al. (1990) reported the isolation of lymphotropic MV strains, and subsequent studies indicated that these lymphotropic MV strains do not use MCP/CD46 as a receptor (Yanagi et al., 2009). Importantly, Kobune's isolates exhibited a high virulence in experimentally infected monkeys, whereas MCP/CD46-using classical MV isolates caused no or mild disease in monkeys (Kobune et al., 1990, 1996; Takeda et al., 1998). Hence, new two questions have arisen for MV researchers. What is the receptor for these lymphotropic strains? Which strains are the real wild-type (wt) MV strains? In 2000, using Kobune's isolates, another receptor was identified (Tatsuo et al., 2000). This receptor is signaling lymphocyte activation molecule, also known as CD150 (SLAM/CD150), which is expressed on cells of the immune system (Tatsuo et al., 2000). Subsequent studies clarified that SLAM/CD150 is a receptor for wt MV strains circulating in patients, and that MCP/CD46 does not act as a receptor for wt MV strains (Yanagi et al., 2009). MCP/CD46 acts as a receptor only for vaccine and some laboratory MV strains (Yanagi et al., 2009). Currently, it is clear that these MV strains have acquired the ability to use MCP/CD46 as an alternative receptor to grow in laboratory cell lines lacking SLAM/CD150 expression (Yanagi et al., 2009).

Hence, it has become generally accepted that wt MV is a lymphotropic virus that specifically targets immune cells, similar to the case of human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and human T cell lymphotropic virus type 1 (HTLV1). In 2000, a recombinant MV, IC323, was generated based on Kobune's first isolate (Takeda et al., 2000), and has greatly contributed to our understanding of the molecular bases for the pathogenesis of wt MV strains (Takeuchi et al., 2005; de Swart et al., 2007; Devaux et al., 2008, 2011; Leonard et al., 2008; Nakatsu et al., 2008; de Vries et al., 2010; Ludlow et al., 2010; Mühlebach et al., 2011; Noyce et al., 2011). At that time, only SLAM/CD150-positive cells were found to be susceptible to wt MV infections. However, it remained difficult to make a final conclusion that SLAM/CD150 is the sole receptor for wt MV, because histopathological examinations of measles patients and monkeys infected with MV have revealed considerable levels of MV protein expression in the epithelia of various organs, and histopathological changes are also evident in these epithelia (Nii et al., 1964; Lightwood and Nolan, 1970; Olding-Stenkvist and Bjorvatn, 1976; Moench et al., 1988; Craighead, 2000; Figure 1). In 2003, primary cultures of human small airway epithelial cells (SAECs) were shown to be susceptible to wt MV infection (Takeuchi et al., 2003). Upon MV infection, large syncytia developed in SAECs via a SLAM-independent mechanism (Takeuchi et al., 2003). After searching many cell lines, several epithelial cell lines with high susceptibility to MV infection were identified (Takeda et al., 2007; Tahara et al., 2008). Tahara et al. (2008) and Leonard et al. (2008) clearly demonstrated that wt MV infects epithelial cell lines that form tight junctions (TJs) using an unidentified receptor (Leonard et al., 2008; Tahara et al., 2008). Using these cells and recombinant IC323 expressing green fluorescent protein (IC323-EGFP; Takeda et al., 2000; Hashimoto et al., 2002), a final answer was obtained for the receptor on epithelial cells. Two groups independently demonstrated that nectin4, which is expressed at adherens junctions (AJs), acts as a receptor for MV (Mühlebach et al., 2011; Noyce et al., 2011). Interestingly, MV loses the ability to use either SLAM/CD150 or nectin4 when it possesses specific mutations in the H protein (Leonard et al., 2008; Tahara et al., 2008; Figure 2). Nectin4-blind MV still infects SLAM/CD150-positive immune cells efficiently (SLAM/CD150-tropic), and conversely, SLAM/CD150-blind MV infects nectin4-positive epithelial cells efficiently (nectin4-tropic; Leonard et al., 2008; Tahara et al., 2008; Figure 2). In this regard, MV is intrinsically dual-tropic to immune cells and epithelial cells (Figure 2).

There is now no doubt that SLAM/CD150 and nectin4 are the major receptors for MV. However, other molecules may further support MV infection *in vivo*, being involved in the development of measles and its neurological sequela. For example, the mechanism that the C-type lectin DC-specific intercellular adhesion



bronchiolar epithelial cells. At 11 days post-infection, a cynomolgus monkey experimentally infected with wt MV IC323 strain was subjected to the histopathological examination. (A) Hematoxylin and eosin staining. Multinucleated cell were seen in the epithelial layer of the bronchiole with inflammatory infiltration of eosinophils and lymphocytes. The multinucleated cells contain eosinophilic intranuclear inclusions. Scale bar indicates 20µm. (B) Immunohistochemical double staining for the N protein of MV (left, green) and keratin (center, red). Multinucleated epithelial giant cells showing positive staining for the N protein are present in the bronchiole (right, yellow in merged images). Accumulation of N proteins is detected on the apical surface of ciliated epithelial cells.

molecule 3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) acts as an attachment receptor for MV, thereby promoting MV infection of DCs, may be ideal to understand the extraordinarily high transmissibility of measles (de Witte et al., 2006, 2008). It is well known that MV causes subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE), a persistent infection of the central nervous system (CNS) with MV. This occurs with a mean latency period of 7-10 years after suffering from acute measles at a frequency of 1/5,000-1/100,000 reported cases of acute measles (Takasu et al., 2003; Bellini et al., 2005). The mechanisms underlying the spread of MV in the CNS remain to be elucidated. Although nectin4 is a possible candidate for an MV receptor in the CNS, no (or undetectable) nectin4 expression was observed in the CNS in humans (Reymond et al., 2001; Brancati et al., 2010), and some MV strains derived from SSPE patients are likely to use nectin4 inefficiently (Seki et al., 2011). Data reported by Makhortova et al. (2007) suggest that neurokinin-1, a substance P receptor, supports trans-synaptic transmission of MV by acting as a receptor for the F protein.

SLAM/CD150

Measles virus infection causes immunosuppression in patients and is often accompanied by secondary bacterial infections. Typically, MV-induced immunosuppression is characterized by a marked lymphopenia, and an early $T_{\rm H1}$ response followed by predominant and prolonged $T_{\rm H2}$ response in patients, with suppression of mitogen-induced lymphocyte proliferation *ex vivo* (Griffin and



FIGURE 2 | Dual-tropic nature of wt MV. Wt MV (IC323) intects and produces syncytia in both SLAM-positive lymphoblastoid B95a and nectin4-positive epithelial II-18 cells (dual-tropic). IC323 with an R533A mutation in the H protein fails to spread in B95a cells (SLAM-blind), but replicates well in II-18 cells (nectin4-tropic). On the contrary, IC323 with a Y543S mutation in the H protein spreads in B95a cells (SLAM-tropic), but fails to spread in II-18 cells (nectin4-blind). All MVs in this figure are engineered to express EGFP.

Ward, 1993; Schneider-Schaulies and Schneider-Schaulies, 2009). Some, if not all, of these immunological observations must be attributed either directly or indirectly to the fact that MV uses SLAM/CD150 as a receptor. SLAM/CD150 is a member of the SLAM-family receptors, which belong to the immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily (Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). The SLAM-family consists of nine members (Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011). The SLAM-family receptors are type I transmembrane proteins that typically possess an extracellular region with two Ig-like domains (an amino-terminal variable (V)-like domain and a carboxy-terminal constant-2 (C2)-like domain), a transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic region that harbors multiple tyrosine-based motifs (Detre et al., 2010; Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011). These motifs are referred to as immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motifs (ITSMs; Cannons et al., 2011). The SLAM-family receptors are expressed in a broad range of immune cells and play critical roles in immunity. In general, the receptors act as selfligands and their homophilic trans-interactions occur between either heterotypic or homotypic immune cells (Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). SLAM/CD150 is expressed on thymocytes, subsets of B and T lymphocytes, mature dendritic cells (DCs), macrophages, and platelets, and their expression is upregulated or induced in lymphocytes and monocytes upon activation (Detre et al., 2010; Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011).

Signaling lymphocyte activation molecule-associated protein (SAP)-family adaptors [SAP, Ewing's sarcoma-associated transcript (EAT)-2, and EAT-2-related transducer (ERT)] play important roles for the signal transductions mediated by the SLAM-family receptors (Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). They are small proteins that consist of a single Src homology 2 (SH2) domain and a short carboxy-terminal region. SAP associates intracellularly with the ITSMs in the cytoplasmic region of the SLAM-family receptors via the SH2 domain (Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). SAP has the ability to bind concomitantly to the Src-family protein tyrosine kinase, Fyn, thereby coupling the SLAM-family receptors with Fyn (Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011). Thereafter, Fyn phosphorylates tyrosine residues at the cytoplasmic region of SLAM-family receptors and other intracellular effector molecules, activating the downstream signals (Detre et al., 2010; Dong and Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011). In another mechanism, SAP binding to the SH2 domain of SLAM-family receptors competes with the binding of other SH2 domain-containing molecules, thus modulating the SLAM-mediated signaling (Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011). In CD4⁺ T cells, signals via SLAM/CD150-SAP-Fyn interactions play important roles in regulating T cell receptor-mediated induction of T_H2 cytokines, such as interleukin (IL)-4 and IL-13 (Detre et al., 2010; Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011). EAT-2 also mediates the signal transduction cascades of the SLAM-family receptors via a similar but distinct mechanism to that of SAP (Cannons et al., 2011). Similar to SAP, EAT-2 also associates with the ITSMs of SLAM-family receptors through its SH2 domain, but mediates the subsequent signal cascades via its own phosphorylated tyrosine in the short carboxy-terminal region (Veillette, 2010). In general, the signals mediated by the SAP-family adaptors induce the activation and differentiation of immune cells (Veillette, 2010). However, if the SAP-family adaptors are absent, the SLAM-family receptors mediate inhibitory signals to immune cells (a switch-of-function effect; Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010).

Roles for SLAM/CD150 in macrophage functions, cell adhesion, and NKT cell development have also been demonstrated, although many data were obtained in mice (Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010; Cannons et al., 2011; Ma and Deenick, 2011). X-linked lymphoproliferative syndrome is a rare immunodeficiency disease typically caused by mutations in the SAP-encoding gene, SH2D1A (Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). Patients with this syndrome have various functional defects and impaired differentiation of immune cells, indicating crucial roles for SAP in normal immunity (Dong and Veillette, 2010). Hypogammaglobulinemia, massive lymphoproliferative syndrome, and a fatal response to Epstein-Barr virus infection are characteristics of the disease (Veillette, 2010; Ma and Deenick, 2011). Although SLAMfamily receptors have some functional redundancy, each receptor plays specific roles in a variety of immune responses (Dong and Veillette, 2010; Veillette, 2010).

NECTIN4

In general, lymphotropic viruses, such as HIV and HTLV1, can never be airborne, and are transmitted inefficiently even through direct contact with patients. In sharp contrast, MV transmits via aerosols, and has a highly contagious nature. Therefore, this transmission style of MV cannot be easily explained by the fact that the virus uses a lymphocytic molecule, SLAM/CD150, as a receptor. The recent findings showing that MV uses nectin4, a cell adhesion molecule (CAM) expressed at the AJs of epithelia, may partly but nicely explain how and why MV transmits efficiently from a patient to other individuals. Epithelial cells are connected with one another through the formation of several specialized cell-cell junctions, such as TJs, AJs, desmosomes, and gap junctions. TJs function as a physical barrier that prevents the passage of soluble molecules through the intercellular gaps, and also blocks the lateral movement of lipids and membrane proteins across the TJ barrier, thereby acting as the border of the apical and basolateral membranes. AJs are located near the basolateral side of the TJs. They are basically formed by cadherins and nectins and intracellularly connected by actin filaments. Nectin4 is a member of the nectin family, which consists of four members (nectin1, 2, 3, and 4; Takai et al., 2008a). Nectin1 and nectin2 were originally identified as poliovirus receptor-related protein (PRR)-1 and PRR-2, respectively, and subsequently shown to support the entry of some herpes viruses (Takai et al., 2008a,b). Similar to the SLAM-family members, nectins are also type I transmembrane proteins that belong to the Ig superfamily (Takai et al., 2008a,b). In general, they possess an extracellular region with three Ig-like domains (an amino-terminal V-like domain and two C-like domains), a transmembrane region, and a cytoplasmic region with a short afadinbinding motif (Takai et al., 2008a,b). The consensus motif was reported to be E/A-X-Y-V for nectin1, 2, and 3, while nectin4 does not have this motif but still binds to afadin (Reymond et al., 2001; Takai et al., 2008a). Reymond et al. (2001) proposed a new consensus motif, K/R-X-X-Y/L-V, for all four nectins. Afadin is an actin filament (F-actin)-binding protein, and supports nectins to interact and co-operate with cadherins, other CAMs, and intracellular signaling molecules (Takai et al., 2008a).

Nectins are expressed as dimers, and interact *in trans* with other nectin dimers expressed on neighboring cells (Takai et al., 2008a,b). All nectins show homophilic interactions, while heterophilic interactions are also observed between specific nectins, such as those between nectin1/nectin3 and nectin 2/nectin3 (Takai et al., 2008a,b). Some nectin-like molecules also interact with nectins (Takai et al., 2008a,b). Nectin4 shows homophilic interactions as well as heterophilic interactions with nectin1 (Reymond et al., 2001; Takai et al., 2008a). The Ig V-like domain is used for the *trans*-interaction (Reymond et al., 2001; Fabre et al., 2002). Nectins play key roles in the initiation of AJ formation, and regulate various physiological functions of epithelial cells, such as contact inhibition of cell movement and proliferation, survival, differentiation, and cell polarization (Takai et al., 2008a,b).

Although nectin1 and nectin2 are expressed in a broad range of tissues, the expression of nectin3 and nectin4 is more specific (Reymond et al., 2001). Reymond et al. (2001) and Brancati et al. (2010) showed that human nectin4 is expressed mainly in the placenta and to lesser extents in the trachea, prostate, lung, and stomach. In addition, Brancati et al. (2010) demonstrated nectin4 expression in human keratinocytes, suprabasal nucleated layers of the epidermis, and non-keratinized structures of hair. Some levels of expression in epithelial cells of the tonsil, oral mucosa, esophagus, and nasopharynx have also been reported (www.proteinatlas.org). Although, in many cases, nectin4 is expressed in low or undetectable levels in normal human tissues, many cancer cells are highly positive for nectin4. Thus, it has been proposed that nectin4 is a new tumor-associated marker (Fabre-Lafay et al., 2007; Takano et al., 2009; Derycke et al., 2010). These observations may provide a rationale for the use of MV as an oncolytic agent (Mühlebach et al., 2011). In humans, mutations in the *PVRL4* gene encoding nectin4 cause ectodermal-dysplasiasyndactyly syndrome (EDSS), in which patients have affected skin and skin appendages, such as hair, teeth, and nails (Brancati et al., 2010; Jelani et al., 2011).

RELEVANCE OF SLAM/CD150 AND NECTIN4 TO MV PATHOGENESIS

The pathology of measles can now be drawn with these two receptors (Figure 3). Although nectin4-expressing epithelial cells can be the initial targets of MV, no or very limited infection of epithelia was observed in monkeys experimentally infected with MV at the early days after infection (Ludlow et al., 2010; Lemon et al., 2011). Instead, MV initiates its infection via SLAM-mediated entry into alveolar macrophages and DCs in the lung or respiratory tracts (de Witte et al., 2008; de Vries et al., 2010; Lemon et al., 2011). These infections may allow MV to penetrate into the human body and reach the lymphoid organs or tissues, where SLAM/CD150expressing cells are abundant (Corry et al., 1984; Lehmann et al., 2001). After initial replication in these lymphoid organs or tissues, MV or MV-infected lymphocytes can easily enter the bloodstream. Subsequently, a dramatic MV infection is observed in all lymphoid organs, such as the spleen, thymus, appendix, tonsil, and lymph nodes, throughout the body (Moench et al., 1988; Kobune et al., 1996; de Swart et al., 2007; de Vries et al., 2010). At the time when the MV infection of lymphoid organs reaches its peak, MV infection of epithelia, such as squamous stratified epithelia of the tongue and buccal mucosa and ciliated epithelia of the trachea, becomes evident (Nii et al., 1964; Olding-Stenkvist and Bjorvatn, 1976; Moench et al., 1988; de Swart et al., 2007). This epithelial infection is probably led by MV-infected immune cells and initiated through the basolateral side, since monkeys infected with MV often show infectious foci in the epithelia with MVinfected lymphoid or myeloid cells in the subepithelial cell layers of the trachea, bronchus, and tongue (de Vries et al., 2010; Ludlow et al., 2010). The H protein expressed on MV-infected immune cells that migrate through the epithelial cell layer likely recognizes nectin4 expressed at AJs, triggering F protein-mediated membrane fusion between the MV-infected immune cells and the target epithelial cells. Mühlebach et al. (2011) demonstrated a correlation between nectin4 expression and MV infection in epithelia in vivo. Importantly, MV has a mechanism that further facilitates virus shedding in the airway. In epithelia, MV selectively releases progeny virus particles from the apical membrane to the luminal side of the respiratory tract (Leonard et al., 2008; Tahara et al., 2008). Leonard et al. (2008) showed that MV genetically engineered to use SLAM/CD150, but not nectin4 (nectin4-blind or SLAM/CD150tropic), does not shed progeny viruses into the respiratory tract,



FIGURE 3 | Pathology of measles. MV initiates its infection via SLAM-mediated entry into alveolar macrophages and DCs in the lung. After initial replication in regional lymph nodes, MV enters the bloodstream and subsequently spreads to all lymphoid organs, such as the spleen, thymus, appendix, tonsil, and lymph nodes, throughout the body. When the MV

although it does show systemic infection of lymphoid organs, similar to the case for wt MV.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Membrane cofactor protein/CD46 was first identified as a receptor for MV (Dorig et al., 1993; Naniche et al., 1993). However, our current knowledge of MV receptors has been totally transformed. In 2000, it was shown that SLAM/CD150 expressed on cells of the immune system, but not MCP/CD46, is a real receptor for wt MV. However, recent studies further showed that SLAM/CD150 is not the sole receptor for MV. MV has an intrinsic ability to enter not

REFERENCES

- Bellini, W. J., Rota, J. S., Lowe, L. E., Katz, R. S., Dyken, P. R., Zaki, S. R., Shieh, W. J., and Rota, P. A. (2005). Subacute sclerosing panencephalitis: more cases of this fatal disease are prevented by measles immunization than was previously recognized. *J. Infect. Dis.* 192, 1686–1693.
- Brancati, F., Fortugno, P., Bottillo, I., Lopez, M., Josselin, E., Boudghene-Stambouli, O., Agolini, E., Bernardini, L., Bellacchio, E., Iannicelli, M., Rossi, A., Dib-Lachachi, A., Stuppia, L., Palka, G., Mundlos, S., Stricker,

S., Kornak, U., Zambruno, G., and Dallapiccola, B. (2010). Mutations in PVRL4, encoding cell adhesion molecule nectin-4, cause ectodermal dysplasia-syndactyly syndrome. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 87, 265–273.

- Cannons, J. L., Tangye, S. G., and Schwartzberg, P. L. (2011). SLAM family receptors and SAP adaptors in immunity. *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* 29, 665–705.
- Corry, D., Kulkarni, P., and Lipscomb, M. F. (1984). The migration of bronchoalveolar macrophages into hilar lymph nodes. *Am. J. Pathol.* 115, 321–328.

infection of the lymphoid organs reaches its peak, MV-infected immune cells transfer MV to epithelial cells through the basolateral side. At this step, MV uses nectin4 expressed at AJs as a receptor. In the epithelia, MV selectively releases its progeny virus particles from the apical membrane to the luminal side of the respiratory tract.

only immune cells but also epithelial cells. In 2011, a clear answer was obtained through the identification of the epithelial MV receptor nectin4, which is expressed at AJs, thereby partly explaining why MV exhibits its highly contagious nature (Mühlebach et al., 2011; Noyce et al., 2011). Recent studies on MV receptors greatly advanced our understanding of MV pathogenesis. However, many aspects and molecular mechanisms underlying immunosuppressive effects and a highly contagious nature of MV still remain to be elucidated. Analyses of physiological roles of MV receptors, SLAM/CD150, and nectin4, would provide deep insights into MV pathogenesis.

- Craighead, J. E. (2000). "Rubeola (Measles)," in Pathology and Pathogenesis of Human Viral Disease, ed. J. E. Craighead (Philadelphia, PA: Elsevier Inc.), 397–410.
- de Swart, R. L., Ludlow, M., De Witte, L., Yanagi, Y., Van Amerongen, G., Mcquaid, S., Yuksel, S., Geijtenbeek, T. B., Duprex, W. P., and Osterhaus, A. D. (2007). Predominant infection of CD150(+) lymphocytes and dendritic cells during measles virus infection of macaques. *PLoS Pathog.* 3, e178. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat. 0030178
- de Vries, R. D., Lemon, K., Ludlow, M., Mcquaid, S., Yuksel, S., Van Amerongen, G., Rennick, L. J., Rima, B. K., Osterhaus, A. D., De Swart, R. L., and Duprex, W. P. (2010). In vivo tropism of attenuated and pathogenic measles virus expressing green fluorescent protein in macaques. *J. Virol.* 84, 4714–4724.
- de Witte, L., Abt, M., Schneider-Schaulies, S., Van Kooyk, Y., and Geijtenbeek, T. B. (2006). Measles virus targets DC-SIGN to enhance dendritic cell infection. *J. Virol.* 80, 3477–3486.

- de Witte, L., De Vries, R. D., Van Der Vlist, M., Yuksel, S., Litjens, M., De Swart, R. L., and Geijtenbeek, T. B. (2008). DC-SIGN and CD150 have distinct roles in transmission of measles virus from dendritic cells to T-lymphocytes. *PLoS Pathog.* 4, e1000049. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000049
- Derycke, M. S., Pambuccian, S. E., Gilks, C. B., Kalloger, S. E., Ghidouche, A., Lopez, M., Bliss, R. L., Geller, M. A., Argenta, P. A., Harrington, K. M., and Skubitz, A. P. (2010). Nectin 4 overexpression in ovarian cancer tissues and serum: potential role as a serum biomarker. *Am. J. Clin. Pathol.* 134, 835–845.
- Detre, C., Keszei, M., Romero, X., Tsokos, G. C., and Terhorst, C. (2010). SLAM family receptors and the SLAM-associated protein (SAP) modulate T cell functions. *Semin. Immunopathol.* 32, 157–171.
- Devaux, P., Hodge, G., Mcchesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2008). Attenuation of V- or C-defective measles viruses: infection control by the inflammatory and interferon responses of rhesus monkeys. J. Virol. 82, 5359–5367.
- Devaux, P., Hudacek, A. W., Hodge, G., Reyes-Del Valle, J., Mcchesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2011). A recombinant measles virus unable to antagonize STAT1 function cannot control inflammation and is attenuated in rhesus monkeys. *J. Virol.* 85, 348–356.
- Dong, Z., and Veillette, A. (2010). How do SAP family deficiencies compromise immunity? *Trends Immunol.* 31, 295–302.
- Dorig, R. E., Marcil, A., Chopra, A., and Richardson, C. D. (1993). The human CD46 molecule is a receptor for measles virus (Edmonston strain). *Cell* 75, 295–305.
- Fabre, S., Reymond, N., Cocchi, F., Menotti, L., Dubreuil, P., Campadelli-Fiume, G., and Lopez, M. (2002). Prominent role of the Ig-like V domain in transinteractions of nectins. Nectin3 and nectin 4 bind to the predicted C-C'-C"-D beta-strands of the nectin1 V domain. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 27006–27013.
- Fabre-Lafay, S., Monville, F., Garrido-Urbani, S., Berruyer-Pouyet, C., Ginestier, C., Reymond, N., Finetti, P., Sauvan, R., Adelaide, J., Geneix, J., Lecocq, E., Popovici, C., Dubreuil, P., Viens, P., Goncalves, A., Charafe-Jauffret, E., Jacquemier, J., Birnbaum, D., and Lopez, M. (2007). Nectin-4 is a new histological and serological tumor associated marker

for breast cancer. *BMC Cancer* 7, 73. doi:10.1186/1471-2407-7-73

- Griffin, D. E. (2007). "Measles virus," in *Fields Virology*, 5th Edn, eds D. M. Knipe, P. M. Howley, D. E. Griffin, R. A. Lamb, M. A. Martin, B. Roizman, and S. E. Straus (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins), 1551–1585.
- Griffin, D. E., and Ward, B. J. (1993). Differential CD4 T cell activation in measles. J. Infect. Dis. 168, 275–281.
- Hashimoto, K., Ono, N., Tatsuo, H., Minagawa, H., Takeda, M., Takeuchi, K., and Yanagi, Y. (2002). SLAM (CD150)-independent measles virus entry as revealed by recombinant virus expressing green fluorescent protein. J. Virol. 76, 6743–6749.
- Jelani, M., Chishti, M. S., and Ahmad, W. (2011). Mutation in PVRL4 gene encoding nectin-4 underlies ectodermal-dysplasia-syndactyly syndrome (EDSS1). J. Hum. Genet. 56, 352–357.
- Kobune, F., Sakata, H., and Sugiura, A. (1990). Marmoset lymphoblastoid cells as a sensitive host for isolation of measles virus. *J. Virol.* 64, 700–705.
- Kobune, F., Takahashi, H., Terao, K., Ohkawa, T., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Nagata, N., Sakata, H., Yamanouchi, K., and Kai, C. (1996). Nonhuman primate models of measles. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* 46, 315–320.
- Lehmann, C., Wilkening, A., Leiber, D., Markus, A., Krug, N., Pabst, R., and Tschernig, T. (2001). Lymphocytes in the bronchoalveolar space reenter the lung tissue by means of the alveolar epithelium, migrate to regional lymph nodes, and subsequently rejoin the systemic immune system. Anat. Rec. 264, 229–236.
- Lemon, K., De Vries, R. D., Mesman, A.
 W., Mcquaid, S., Van Amerongen, G., Yuksel, S., Ludlow, M., Rennick, L. J., Kuiken, T., Rima, B. K., Geijtenbeek, T. B., Osterhaus, A. D., Duprex, W.
 P., and De Swart, R. L. (2011). Early target cells of measles virus after aerosol infection of non-human primates. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001263. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001263
- Leonard, V. H., Sinn, P. L., Hodge, G., Miest, T., Devaux, P., Oezguen, N., Braun, W., Mccray, P. B., Mcchesney, M. B., and Cattaneo, R. (2008). Measles virus blind to its epithelial cell receptor remains virulent in rhesus monkeys but cannot cross the airway epithelium and is not shed. *J. Clin. Invest.* 118, 2448–2458.
- Lightwood, R., and Nolan, R. (1970). Epithelial giant cells in measles as an acid in diagnosis. *J. Pediatr.* 77, 59–64.

- Ludlow, M., Rennick, L. J., Sarlang, S., Skibinski, G., Mcquaid, S., Moore, T., De Swart, R. L., and Duprex, W. P. (2010). Wild-type measles virus infection of primary epithelial cells occurs via the basolateral surface without syncytium formation or release of infectious virus. J. Gen. Virol. 91, 971–979.
- Ma, C. S., and Deenick, E. K. (2011). The role of SAP and SLAM family molecules in the humoral immune response. *Ann. N. Y. Acad. Sci.* 1217, 32–44.
- Makhortova, N. R., Askovich, P., Patterson, C. E., Gechman, L. A., Gerard, N. P., and Rall, G. F. (2007). Neurokinin-1 enables measles virus trans-synaptic spread in neurons. *Virology* 362, 235–244.
- Moench, T. R., Griffin, D. E., Obriecht, C. R., Vaisberg, A. J., and Johnson, R. T. (1988). Acute measles in patients with and without neurological involvement: distribution of measles virus antigen and RNA. J. Infect. Dis. 158, 433–442.
- Mühlebach, M. D., Mateo, M., Sinn, P. L., Prufer, S., Uhlig, K. M., Leonard, V. H., Navaratnarajah, C. K., Frenzke, M., Wong, X. X., Sawatsky, B., Ramachandran, S., Mccray, P. B., Cichutek, K., Von Messling, V., Lopez, M., and Cattaneo, R. (2011). Adherens junction protein nectin-4 is the epithelial receptor for measles virus. *Nature* 480, 530–533.
- Nakatsu, Y., Takeda, M., Ohno, S., Shirogane, Y., Iwasaki, M., and Yanagi, Y. (2008). Measles virus circumvents the host interferon response by different actions of the C and V proteins. *J. Virol.* 82, 8296–8306.
- Naniche, D., Varior-Krishnan, G., Cervoni, F., Wild, T. F., Rossi, B., Rabourdin-Combe, C., and Gerlier, D. (1993). Human membrane cofactor protein (CD46) acts as a cellular receptor for measles virus. *J. Virol.* 67, 6025–6032.
- Nii, S., Kamahora, J., Mori, Y., Takahashi, M., Nishimura, S., and Okuno, Y. (1964). Experimental pathology of measles in monkeys. *Biken J.* 6, 271–297.
- Noyce, R. S., Bondre, D. G., Ha, M. N., Lin, L. T., Sisson, G., Tsao, M. S., and Richardson, C. D. (2011). Tumor cell marker PVRL4 (nectin 4) is an epithelial cell receptor for measles virus. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002240. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002240
- Olding-Stenkvist, E., and Bjorvatn, B. (1976). Rapid detection of measles virus in skin rashes by immunofluroescence. J. Infect. Dis. 134, 463–469.

- Reymond, N., Fabre, S., Lecocq, E., Adelaide, J., Dubreuil, P., and Lopez, M. (2001). Nectin4/PRR4, a new afadinassociated member of the nectin family that trans-interacts with nectin1/PRR1 through V domain interaction. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 43205–43215.
- Schneider-Schaulies, S., and Schneider-Schaulies, J. (2009). Measles virus-induced immunosuppression. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 330, 243–269.
- Seki, F., Yamada, K., Nakatsu, Y., Okamura, K., Yanagi, Y., Nakayama, T., Komase, K., and Takeda, M. (2011). The si strain of measles virus derived from a patient with subacute sclerosing panencephalitis possesses typical genome alterations and unique amino acid changes that modulate receptor specificity and reduce membrane fusion activity. J. Virol. 85, 11871–11882.
- Tahara, M., Takeda, M., Shirogane, Y., Hashiguchi, T., Ohno, S., and Yanagi, Y. (2008). Measles virus infects both polarized epithelial and immune cells by using distinctive receptor-binding sites on its hemagglutinin. J. Virol. 82, 4630–4637.
- Takai, Y., Ikeda, W., Ogita, H., and Rikitake, Y. (2008a). The immunoglobulin-like cell adhesion molecule nectin and its associated protein afadin. *Annu. Rev. Cell Dev. Biol.* 24, 309–342.
- Takai, Y., Miyoshi, J., Ikeda, W., and Ogita, H. (2008b). Nectins and nectin-like molecules: roles in contact inhibition of cell movement and proliferation. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 9, 603–615.
- Takano, A., Ishikawa, N., Nishino, R., Masuda, K., Yasui, W., Inai, K., Nishimura, H., Ito, H., Nakayama, H., Miyagi, Y., Tsuchiya, E., Kohno, N., Nakamura, Y., and Daigo, Y. (2009). Identification of nectin-4 oncoprotein as a diagnostic and therapeutic target for lung cancer. *Cancer Res.* 69, 6694–6703.
- Takasu, T., Mgone, J. M., Mgone, C. S., Miki, K., Komase, K., Namae, H., Saito, Y., Kokubun, Y., Nishimura, T., Kawanishi, R., Mizutani, T., Markus, T. J., Kono, J., Asuo, P. G., and Alpers, M. P. (2003). A continuing high incidence of subacute sclerosing panencephalitis (SSPE) in the Eastern Highlands of Papua New Guinea. *Epidemiol. Infect.* 131, 887–898.
- Takeda, M., Kato, A., Kobune, F., Sakata, H., Li, Y., Shioda, T., Sakai, Y., Asakawa, M., and Nagai, Y. (1998).

Measles virus attenuation associated with transcriptional impediment and a few amino acid changes in the polymerase and accessory proteins. J. Virol. 72, 8690–8696.

- Takeda, M., Tahara, M., Hashiguchi, T., Sato, T. A., Jinnouchi, F., Ueki, S., Ohno, S., and Yanagi, Y. (2007). A human lung carcinoma cell line supports efficient measles virus growth and syncytium formation via a SLAM- and CD46-independent mechanism. J. Virol. 81, 12091–12096.
- Takeda, M., Takeuchi, K., Miyajima, N., Kobune, F., Ami, Y., Nagata, N., Suzaki, Y., Nagai, Y., and Tashiro, M. (2000). Recovery of pathogenic measles virus from cloned cDNA. J. Virol. 74, 6643–6647.
- Takeuchi, K., Miyajima, N., Nagata, N., Takeda, M., and Tashiro, M. (2003). Wild-type measles virus induces large syncytium formation in primary human small airway epithelial cells by a SLAM(CD150)independent mechanism. *Virus Res.* 94, 11–16.
- Takeuchi, K., Takeda, M., Miyajima, N., Ami, Y., Nagata, N., Suzaki, Y., Shahnewaz, J., Kadota, S., and Nagata, K. (2005). Stringent requirement for the C protein of wildtype measles virus for growth both in vitro and in macaques. J. Virol. 79, 7838–7844.
- Tatsuo, H., Ono, N., Tanaka, K., and Yanagi, Y. (2000). SLAM (CDw150) is a cellular receptor for measles virus. *Nature* 406, 893–897.

- Veillette, A. (2010). SLAM-family receptors: immune regulators with or without SAP-family adaptors. *Cold Spring Harb. Perspect. Biol.* 2, a002469.
- WHO. (2009). Global reductions in measles mortality 2000–2008 and the risk of measles resurgence. Wkly. Epidemiol. Rec. 84, 509–516.
- Yanagi, Y., Takeda, M., Ohno, S., and Hashiguchi, T. (2009). Measles virus receptors. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 329, 13–30.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 15 November 2011; paper pending published: 26 November 2011; accepted: 26 December 2011; published online: 13 January 2012.

Citation: Takeda M, Tahara M, Nagata N and Seki F (2012) Wild-type measles virus is intrinsically dualtropic. Front. Microbio. 2:279. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00279

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Takeda, Tahara, Nagata and Seki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Exploitation of lipid components by viral and host proteins for hepatitis C virus infection

Kohji Moriishi¹* and Yashiharu Matsuura²

¹ Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Yamanashi, Chuo-shi, Yamanashi, Japan

² Department of Molecular Virology, Research Institute for Microbial Diseases, Osaka University, Suita-shi, Osaka, Japan

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Glenn Randall, The University of Chicago, USA Tetsuro Suzuki, Hamamatsu University School of Medicine, Japan

*Correspondence:

Kohji Moriishi, Division of Medicine, Department of Microbiology, Interdisciplinary Graduate School of Medicine and Engineering, University of Yamanashi, 1110 Shimokato, Chuo-shi, Yamanashi 409-3898, Japan.

e-mail: kmoriishi@yamanashi.ac.jp

Hepatitis C virus (HCV), which is a major causative agent of blood-borne hepatitis, has chronically infected about 170 million individuals worldwide and leads to chronic infection, resulting in development of steatosis, cirrhosis, and eventually hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatocellular carcinoma associated with HCV infection is not only caused by chronic inflammation, but also by the biological activity of HCV proteins. HCV core protein is known as a main component of the viral nucleocapsid. It cooperates with host factors and possesses biological activity causing lipid alteration, oxidative stress, and progression of cell growth, while other viral proteins also interact with host proteins including molecular chaperones, membrane-anchoring proteins, and enzymes associated with lipid metabolism to maintain the efficiency of viral replication and production. HCV core protein is localized on the surface of lipid droplets in infected cells. However, the role of lipid droplets in HCV infection has not yet been elucidated. Several groups recently reported that other viral proteins also support viral infection by regulation of lipid droplets and core localization in infected cells. Furthermore, lipid components are required for modification of host factors and the intracellular membrane to maintain or up-regulate viral replication. In this review, we summarize the current status of knowledge regarding the exploitation of lipid components by viral and host proteins in HCV infection.

Keywords: HCV, hepatitis, lipid droplets, host factor

INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a major causative agent of chronic liver disease including steatosis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. Epidemiological studies indicate that HCV is also associated with extrahepatic manifestations including type 2 diabetes mellitus, B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma, mixed cryoglobulinemia, and Sjögren's syndrome (Jacobson et al., 2010). It has been estimated that there are 170 million patients worldwide, of whom most are infected with HCV. Combination therapy with pegylated interferon (PEG-IFN) and ribavirin has been the standard treatment but it fails to cure ~50% of treated patients (Soriano et al., 2009).

Hepatitis C virus belongs to the genus *Hepacivirus* of the family Flaviviridae. The viral genome of HCV is characterized by a single positive strand RNA with a nucleotide length of 9.6 kb and it encodes a single polypeptide (**Figure 1**). This polyprotein is cleaved by host and viral proteases into structural and non-structural proteins (Harada et al., 1991; Hijikata et al., 1991; Grakoui et al., 1993a,b). Structural proteins, including the core protein and two envelope proteins, and the viroporin p7 are located within one-third of the N-terminal, while the remaining viral proteins are classified as non-structural proteins which form a replication complex with host factors (Grakoui et al., 1993c). HCV core protein is cleaved by signal peptide cleavage and then released from E1 (Santolini et al., 1994). After cleavage by signal peptidase (SP), the C-terminal transmembrane region of the core protein is further cleaved by signal peptide peptidase (SPP; Hussy et al., 1996; McLauchlan et al., 2002). The nucleocapsid, composed of matured core proteins and the viral genome, is surrounded by an envelope composed of host lipids and viral envelope proteins (Wakita et al., 2005). The life cycle of HCV is shown in Figure 2. The viral envelope proteins play a role in the binding to host receptors and membrane fusion for uncoating. Recently, several groups reported that the viral particle binds to a very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL), including apolipoprotein E (apoE), which is required for the binding step (Andre et al., 2002; Nielsen et al., 2006; Chang et al., 2007; Benga et al., 2010) as described below. The virus infects hepatocytes via entry factors known as receptors and co-receptors. The viral particle complex composed of the enveloped nucleocapsid and VLDL including apoE (Merz et al., 2011), is reported to bind to heparin sulfate (HS; Barth et al., 2003) and the low-density lipoprotein (LDL) receptor (LDLR; Agnello et al., 1999), although Albecka et al. (2012) recently reported that LDLR is required for optimal replication of the HCV genome rather than entry of the infectious viral particle. Other host factors may be involved in apoE-mediated entry. The HCV viral particle is transferred to the scavenger receptor class B type I (SR-BI; Scarselli et al., 2002; Bartosch et al., 2003) and CD81 (Pileri et al., 1998) through E2 binding and then enters cells with claudin-1 (CLDN1; Evans et al., 2007) and occludin (OCLN; Ploss et al., 2009) by endocytosis. The Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor has recently been reported to be an HCV cell entry factor that is involved in the entry step between post-binding and





entry factors on the surface of hepatocytes and then enters cells by endocytosis. After uncoating, viral replication is carried out in the convoluted membrane structure called the membranous web. The viral nucleocapsid egresses into the lumen side of the ER and binds to VLDL. The HCV complex with VLDL is released from the infected cells.

pre-fusion (Sainz et al., 2012). The viral envelope fuses with the host plasma membrane in an endosome under a low pH condition (Takikawa et al., 2000; Hsu et al., 2003; Blanchard et al., 2006; Codran et al., 2006; Meertens et al., 2006; Tscherne et al., 2006). The capsid protein and viral genome are expected to be released into the cytoplasm of infected cells. The viral replication, assembly, and budding are summarized in **Figure 3** on the basis of current information. The viral genome is translated dependent on own internal ribosome entry site (Tsukiyama-Kohara et al., 1992) and transcribed by the translated and processed NS3 to NS5B (Lohmann et al., 1999). The viral protein NS4B induces a convoluted membrane structure (termed a membranous web) with host lipid components and proteins, in which the viral replication is carried out (Egger et al., 2002; Gosert et al., 2005; Ferraris et al., 2010). The newly synthesized viral positive stranded RNA genome is released from the membranous web and passes to the

core protein via NS5A (Masaki et al., 2008). The core protein is translocated on the surface of the lipid droplet or endoplasmic reticulum (ER) membrane for efficient formation of viral particles, and then encloses the synthesized viral genome to form a capsid near the membranous web (Miyanari et al., 2007; Boson et al., 2011). The capsids are enclosed by an endoplasmic membrane containing the viral envelope proteins E1 and E2 and are then released into ER lumen side, since intracellular envelope proteins are categorized as high-mannose type glycoproteins and the viral particle composed of core proteins and envelope proteins egresses into the lumen side of the intracellular compartment associated with lipid droplets (Miyanari et al., 2007; Vieyres et al., 2010). The viral particle is secreted through a host secretion pathway, although the mechanism by which HCV particles are secreted in infected cells remains poorly understood.

Although no effective vaccine for HCV has been developed, antiviral drugs targeting to the viral and host factors have been reported recently. The HCV replicon system was reported for a screening system based on cultured cells (Lohmann et al., 1999) and has been improved by modification of cell lines and marker genes and introduction of adaptive mutations in the region of the viral RNA genome for high efficiency of viral replication (Blight et al., 2000; Krieger et al., 2001; Lohmann et al., 2001; Ikeda et al., 2002; Pietschmann et al., 2002). The complete infectious cycle of HCV in cultured cells was established in a highly permissive cell line by using the genotype 2a strain JFH1 or its chimeric recombinant virus (Lindenbach et al., 2005; Wakita et al., 2005; Zhong et al., 2005). A system based on the cultured cell line has been an exclusive drug-screening system for finding antiviral compounds that interfere with the process of viral RNA replication under intracellular conditions. NS3 forms a complex with cofactor NS4A (Failla et al., 1994, 1995; Koch et al., 1996). This interaction stabilizes NS3 and retains it on the ER where it acquires the ability of a protease against viral polyprotein (Wolk et al., 2000) and host protein IPS-1/MAVS (Foy et al., 2005; Loo et al., 2006), which is a molecule downstream of the RIG-I sensor molecule (Sumpter et al., 2005; Loo et al., 2008). NS3 serine protease activity is a target of the direct acting HCV antiviral drugs known as telaprevir and boceprevir, which are available clinically by combination therapy with PEG-INF and ribavirin (Hofmann and Zeuzem, 2011). The RNA helicase activity of NS3 and NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase are also used for drug-screening in particular (Hicham Alaoui-Ismaili et al., 2000; Dhanak et al., 2002; Borowski et al., 2003; De Francesco et al., 2003; Boguszewska-Chachulska et al., 2004; Maga et al., 2005; Najda-Bernatowicz et al., 2010). Combination therapy using several compounds targeting host and viral factors may be able to completely eradicate the virus and suppress the pathogenicity induced by HCV infection.

Liver steatosis, which is characterized by accumulation of lipid droplets in hepatocytes, is significantly associated with the incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma in HCV-infected patients (Ohata et al., 2003). Severe liver steatosis has been frequently found in patients infected with the genotype 3a virus (Rubbia-Brandt et al., 2000; Adinolfi et al., 2001). Successful clearance of HCV reduces steatosis in genotype 3a patients, suggesting an association between genotype 3a and severe steatosis. Furthermore, HCV core protein derived from genotype 1 also induced liver steatosis in mouse and cultured cells (Barba et al., 1997; Moriya et al., 1997; Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). Lipid droplets containing triglycerides and cholesteryl ester are increased in cells expressing core protein and are surrounded by the core protein (Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). Non-structural proteins associate with the lipid droplets surrounded by HCV core proteins to supply the synthesized viral genome for viral assembly (Miyanari et al., 2007). Other lipid components are reported to be involved in formation of viral particles and the viral RNA replication as described below. This review mainly summarizes the viral and host factors that are associated with lipid metabolism with regard to HCV replication and pathogenicity.

THE ROLE OF VLDL IN HCV INFECTION

Hepatitis C virus replicates in a convoluted membrane structure as a membranous web (Egger et al., 2002; Gosert et al., 2005; Ferraris et al., 2010) and assembles in the area of the ER membraneassociated with lipid droplets surrounded by the core protein (Miyanari et al., 2007). The LDLR has also been proposed to function as one of entry factors described above for HCV entry, in which interaction between LDLR and HCV particles is facilitated though interaction of the virus with host lipoprotein components (Monazahian et al., 1999; Chang et al., 2007; Huang et al., 2007; Miyanari et al., 2007; Gastaminza et al., 2008). HCV RNA containing particles derived from infected human serum were fractionated in densities with a value of 1.03–1.25 g/ml (Thomssen et al., 1992, 1993). The HCV RNA particles of the fraction with a density of lower than 1.06 g/ml possessed infectivity against chimpanzees, while HCV RNA derived from fractions with a higher density showed poor infectious ability (Bradley et al., 1991; Hijikata et al., 1993). The infectious HCV particles form a LDL-virus complex in the sera of human patients (Andre et al., 2002). An LDL-virus complex was found in the fractions with very low to low buoyant densities (1.03-1.25 g/ml), which varied with the stage of infection (Pumeechockchai et al., 2002; Carabaich et al., 2005). HCV particles prepared from infected human serum forms a complex with lipoproteins designated as lipo-viro-particles (LVP; Figure 3; Andre et al., 2002; Nielsen et al., 2006). LVP includes triglycerides, HCV RNA, core protein, and apolipoproteins B and E (Andre et al., 2002), which are components of VLDLs and LDL (Brodsky et al., 2004).

Very low-density lipoprotein is formed with a hydrophobic particle composed of triglycerides and cholesteryl ester that is surrounded by a surface coat containing phospholipid, free cholesterol, and two dominant lipoproteins, apoB and apoE (review to see Havel, 2000). Both apoB and apoE were found in a low-density fraction of HCV RNA particles (Andre et al., 2002; Chang et al., 2007). HCV virions could also be precipitated with antibodies against apoB or apoE (Andre et al., 2002; Chang et al., 2007). ApoB and microsomal triglyceride transfer protein (MTP) are required for HCV assembly and production, since knockdown of apoB or a specific antibody to MTP could inhibit HCV production (Huang et al., 2007; Gastaminza et al., 2008). However, another report suggests that knockdown of apoB or antibodies to apoB exhibited no significant effect on HCV infectivity and production (Jiang and Luo, 2009). The monoclonal antibodies against apoE neutralized HCV infection in cultured cells (Chang et al., 2007; Jiang and Luo,



FIGURE 3 | Hepatitis C virus RNA replication and particle production on lipid droplets and the ER membrane. HCV RNA replication and viral particle production are thought to be carried out on the lipid droplets and ER membrane. The viral proteins take advantage of host lipid metabolism and intracellular compartments to produce viral components as described in the text. Each step is described below. (1) A newly synthesized or uncoated vial genomic RNA is translated to a viral polyprotein followed by a cleaving polyprotein. (2) Matured non-structural proteins form replication a complex with host factors. The core protein is translocated to lipid droplets by DGAT1. In cells infected with the highly infectious strain (e.g., Jc1), the core protein may be retained on ER membrane by cooperating with non-structural proteins. (3) NS4B is involved in the convoluted membrane structure dubbed the membranous web. Negative and positive strands of viral RNA are synthesized by the replication complex based on each other. (4) The positive strand of genomic RNA is enclosed with the core proteins, cooperating non-structural proteins. Envelope proteins, NS2, and p7 may determine recruitment of the core protein from lipid droplets to the ER membrane along microtubules. Lipid droplets hemi-fused with ER membrane (Wolins et al., 2006) may be involved in recruitment of core protein on the ER membrane (4'). (5) The core proteins enclose the viral RNA genome, and are then surrounded by envelopes. Non-structural proteins and other factors may support formation of nucleocapsid and budding. (6) VLDL binds to viral particles to form LVP before or after budding. (7) The viral particles egress into the ER lumen with VLDL including ApoE. The core protein upregulates synthesis or storage of triglycerides and cholesteryl ester, cooperating with host factors including DGAT1, and so on.

2009), while knockdown of apoE markedly reduced HCV infectivity and infectious viral production without affecting viral entry and replication (Chang et al., 2007; Berger et al., 2009; Jiang and Luo, 2009). Hishiki et al. (2010) suggested that the isoforms 3 and 4, but not 2, of apoE are critical for HCV infectivity dependent of affinity to LDLR. Furthermore, NS5A could interact with apoE in infected cells and colocalization of both proteins supports the notion of intracellular interaction in infected cells (Benga et al., 2010). The C-terminal alpha-helix region spanning from residue 205 to 280 was critical for NS5A–apoE interaction and viral production (Cun et al., 2010). ApoE included in LVP may directly bind to LDLR or LDLR-related proteins in hepatocytes (**Figure 2**), since apoE is a ligand for all members of the LDLR gene family (see review described by Herz et al., 2009). These results suggest that apoE is an essential host factor for HCV entry.

LOCALIZATION OF THE CORE PROTEIN ON BOTH ER AND LIPID DROPLETS IN INFECTED CELLS

Hepatitis C virus core protein is located at the N-terminus of the HCV polyprotein (**Figure 1**). The HCV core protein is cleaved from a precursor polyprotein by a SP, releasing it from an envelope E1 protein. Then, the C-terminal transmembrane region of the core protein is further processed by a SPP (McLauchlan et al., 2002). The intramembrane processing of the HCV core protein by SPP is critical for the production of infectious viral particles (Okamoto et al., 2008). The C-terminal end of the mature HCV core protein expressed in insect and human cell lines was determined to be Phe¹⁷⁷ (Ogino et al., 2004; Okamoto et al., 2008). Randall et al. (2007) reported that the introduction of an siRNA targeted to SPP (called HM13) reduced the production of infectious HCV particles, suggesting that SPP is required for HCV

particle production. Our previous report (Okamoto et al., 2008) showed that the production of HCV in cells persistently infected with the JFH1 strain was impaired by treatment with an SPP inhibitor and that JFH1 viruses bearing SPP-resistant mutations in the core protein failed to propagate in a permissive cell line. These data suggest that intramembrane processing of HCV core protein by SPP is required for viral propagation. Matured core protein was found in a detergent-resistant membrane fraction, which was distinct from the classical lipid rafts (Matto et al., 2004). Our data also suggest that cleavage of HCV core protein by SPP is required for localization of HCV core protein in detergent-resistant membrane fractions including cholesterol and sphingolipid (Figure 3, step 4 and 5). Detergent-resistant membrane fractions may be derived from the membranous web where the viral replication complex synthesizes the viral RNA genome, since the replication complex is fractionated in lipid raft fractions including Vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated protein (VAP)-A, cholesterol, and sphingolipid (Figure 3, step 3; Shi et al., 2003; Aizaki et al., 2004; Gao et al., 2004; Sakamoto et al., 2005). Furthermore, an HCV core protein mutation resistant to SPP results in delayed localization of HCV core protein on lipid droplets and reduction of virus production (Targett-Adams et al., 2008). These reports suggest that cleavage of HCV core protein by SPP is required for its suitable intracellular localization for the viral assembly. Sequence analysis of the core protein suggests that high hydrophobicity is found in the region from amino acid residues 119 to 174, which is called domain 2 (Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). Domain 2 is critical for localization of the core protein on lipid droplets and shares common features with the core protein of GBV-B, but not of other viruses belonging to the Flaviviridae family (Hope et al., 2002). When three hydrophobic amino acids, Leu139, Val140, and Leu144, in the most hydrophobic peak in domain 2 were replaced with Ala to reduce hydrophobicity, the triple mutations in the core protein led to resistance to SPP cleavage, dislocation of the detergent-resistant membrane, and a reduction in virus production (Okamoto et al., 2004, 2008). Furthermore, comparative analysis between JFH1 and Jc1 suggest that binding strength of domain 2 of core for lipid droplets determines efficiency of virus assembly (Shavinskaya et al., 2007). These results suggest that hydrophobicity of domain 2 in the core protein is required for lipid droplet localization, SPP cleavage, and virus production.

Host lipid biogenesis is responsible for replication and assembly. HCV core protein contributes to the accumulation and production of host lipid components and is detected on the surface of lipid droplets (Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). The core protein is translocated into the lipid droplets near the replication complex and encloses newly synthesized viral RNA to form the nucleocapsid (**Figure 3**, step 2-4 or 4'), egresses into the lumen side of the ER, then is surrounded with host lipid components and viral envelope proteins (Figure 3, step 5; Miyanari et al., 2007). HCV core protein interacts with diacylglycerol acyl transferase 1 (DGAT1), which is required for the trafficking of core protein to lipid droplets (Figure 3, step 2; Herker et al., 2010). However, the translocation of the core protein to lipid droplets may not be required for efficient production of viral particles. The recombinant virus Jc1 exhibits a higher virus titer than the JFH1 strain (Lindenbach et al., 2006; Pietschmann et al., 2006). The core protein of the Jc1 strain is hardly detected on lipid droplets in infected cells and is mainly localized on ER membranes, together with envelope protein E2 (Miyanari et al., 2007; Shavinskaya et al., 2007; Boson et al., 2011). Expression of p7 increases the ER localization of core protein in the absence of envelope proteins (Boson et al., 2011). However, Miyanari et al. (2007) reported that the core protein of the Jc1 strain was mainly localized with envelope proteins on ER in cells transfected with a complete viral genome, but on lipid droplets in cells that were transfected with the viral genome lacking envelope protein genes. Expression of envelope proteins and p7 may determine intracellular localization of the core protein with regard to viral assembly (**Figure 3**, step 2 and 4 or 4').

NS2 has been reported to be involved in the assembly process of HCV particles (Jones et al., 2007; Jirasko et al., 2008; Dentzer et al., 2009). NS2, which is composed of three transmembrane regions and a cytoplasmic domain in order after p7 (Lorenz et al., 2006), is known as the autoprotease of which C-terminal cytoplasmic domain is involved in cis cleavage at the NS2-NS3 junction (Santolini et al., 1995; Yamaga and Ou, 2002; Lorenz et al., 2006). Genetic interaction was implied between the Nterminal region of NS2 and the upstream structural proteins, since the first transmembrane of NS2 was identified as a genetic determinant for infectivity by construction of chimeric HCV with various genotypes (Pietschmann et al., 2006). Analyses by co-immunoprecipitation and imaging microscopy for interaction between NS2 and other viral proteins in cultured cells suggest that NS2 interacts with p7 and E2 on the ER-derived dotted structure closed to lipid droplets that are surrounded by HCV core protein (Popescu et al., 2011). NS2 also interacts with NS3/4A to recruit the core protein from lipid droplets to the cytoplasmic motile puncta along microtubules (Counihan et al., 2011). HCV p7 is a short hydrophobic protein composed of 63 amino acids and is encoded between the structural and non-structural proteins (Carrere-Kremer et al., 2002). The cytoplasmic loop of p7 is located between the N-terminal and C-terminal transmembrane regions (Carrere-Kremer et al., 2002). HCV p7 is known as a viroprotein that forms homooligomerize to be a ion channel, which is then involved in assembly and release of virus particle in infected cells by modulating pH equilibration in intracellular vesicles (Carrere-Kremer et al., 2002; Jones et al., 2007; Steinmann et al., 2007; Wozniak et al., 2010). Mutations of conserved amino acids required for ion channel activity impaired the production of infectious virus (Jones et al., 2007). However, recruitment of HCV core protein from lipid droplets to the ER assembly site was independent of the ion channel activity of HCV p7 (Boson et al., 2011). HCV p7 enhanced ER localization of the core protein without other viral proteins regardless of viral genotype, although compatibilities between two transmembrane regions of p7 and the first transmembrane domain of NS2 are responsible for ER localization of core protein and infection (Boson et al., 2011). The second transmembrane region of p7, rather than the first, is critical for compatibilities with NS2 regarding recruitment of core protein to the ER assembly site, although both transmembrane regions of p7 are important to sustain infectivity (Boson et al., 2011). These reports speculate that localization of the core protein on lipid droplets may contribute to suppression of virus production and maintenance of persistent HCV infection, while localization of the core protein on ER may positively support virus production under the fulminant condition.

REGULATION OF HOST LIPID METABOLISM BY THE CORE PROTEIN

The mechanisms by which the core protein can induce liver diseases and extrahepatic manifestations are unknown. Liver steatosis, which is one of the characteristics associated with persistent HCV infection, develops by accumulation of triglyceride-rich lipids in hepatocytes. However, the precise functions of HCV proteins in the development of fatty liver remain unknown due to the lack of an adequate system to investigate the pathogenesis of HCV. HCV core protein expression has been shown to induce lipid droplets in cell lines and hepatic steatosis and hepatocellular carcinoma in transgenic mice (Barba et al., 1997; Moriya et al., 1997; Hope and McLauchlan, 2000). The lipid composition of the core-transgenic mouse is similar to that of a hepatitis C patient (Koike et al., 2010; Miyoshi et al., 2011). These reports suggest that HCV core protein plays an important role in the development of various types of liver failure, including steatosis and hepatocellular carcinoma. Biosynthesis of triglycerides is mainly regulated by the sterol regulatory element-binding protein (SREBP)-1c. It has been reported that many genes regulated by SREBPs were induced during the early stage of HCV infection in the livers of chimpanzees (Bigger et al., 2004). Our study has demonstrated that the core protein enhances the binding activity of the LXRa-RXRa complex to the srebp-1c promoter in a PA28ydependent manner, resulting in upregulation of SREBP-1c and its regulating genes (Moriishi et al., 2007). The activation may be mediated by the direct interaction between the core protein and RXRα (Tsutsumi et al., 2002). Another mechanism is thought to be suppression of lipid secretion. Reduced serum levels of cholesterol and apolipoprotein B have been reported in patients with severe hepatitis C and core-transgenic mice (Perlemuter et al., 2002). The MTP regulates the assembly and secretion of VLDLs consisting of apolipoprotein E, cholesterol, and triglycerides. In core-transgenic mice, MTP-specific activity is significantly decreased (Perlemuter et al., 2002). In addition, DGAT1, which plays an important role in trafficking core protein from lipid droplets to the ER membrane (Herker et al., 2010), was reported to delay the turnover of lipid droplets that are coated by the core protein (Harris et al., 2011; Figure 3). Furthermore, increases in saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids enhance HCV RNA replication (Kapadia and Chisari, 2005). The core protein can enhance the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by induction of induced nitric oxide synthetase (iNOS) or by damage to the mitochondrial electron transport system, contributing to the emergence of hepatocellular carcinoma (Moriya et al., 2001; Okuda et al., 2002; Nunez et al., 2004), suggesting that accumulation of lipids hastens the occurrence of hepatocellular carcinoma by enhancing ROS production. The core protein is reported to be degraded by PA28gamma-dependent, but ubiquitin-independent, proteasome activity, and directly binds to PA28gamma (Moriishi et al., 2003; Suzuki et al., 2009). PA28gamma knockdown diminished liver steatosis, hepatocellular carcinoma, and insulin resistance induced by HCV core protein in the mouse liver (Moriishi et al., 2007). After our reports, several groups found that PA28gamma

plays an important role in cell cycling by degradation of SRC-3, p16, p19, and p53 (Li et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2007; Zhang and Zhang, 2008). Furthermore, HCV propagation in a cell culture system is potently suppressed by PA28gamma knockdown, regardless of cell growth (Moriishi et al., 2010). One possibility is that E6AP-dependent ubiquitination of the core protein in cytoplasm is competitively suppressed by peptide fragments deduced from nuclear core protein. However, there is still the possibility of an indirect effect of PA28gamma, since potent reduction of PA28gamma, but not intermediate reduction, can induce nuclear accumulation of HCV core protein in cultured cells and the mouse liver, but both potent and intermediate reductions could suppress viral production (Moriishi et al., 2007, 2010; Cerutti et al., 2011). Further study will be required to clarify the mechanism by which PA28gamma regulates core-induced liver diseases and the HCV life cycle.

NS3/4A AND LIPID DROPLETS

The NS3 also cleaves the host adaptor proteins IPS-1/MAVS and TRIF to modulate TLR and RIG-I signaling, resulting in inhibition of type I interferon production (Ferreon et al., 2005; Li et al., 2005a,b; Cheng et al., 2006; Loo et al., 2006). It is speculated that NS3 suppresses the activation of host innate immunity induced by HCV RNA and then contributes to persistent infection with HCV. NS3/4A may be responsible for not only the replication, but also the virus assembly and production by interaction with viral and host proteins on a region close to lipid droplets/ER assembly site. NS3/4A interacts with NS2 cooperating with p7 and E2 to recruit the core protein from lipid droplets to the cytoplasmic motile puncta along microtubules (Boson et al., 2011; Counihan et al., 2011; Popescu et al., 2011). HCV NS3/4A also interacts with host protein Y-box-binding protein-1 (YB-1) and influences the equilibrium between viral replication and infectious particle production (Chatel-Chaix et al., 2011). Knockdown of YB-1 impaired HCV RNA replication, regardless of the viral genotype, but did not affect NS3/4A autoprocessing and MAVS cleavage (Chatel-Chaix et al., 2011). JFH1 infection allowed YB-1 to translocate to lipid droplets containing core protein and NS3 (Chatel-Chaix et al., 2011), although knockdown of YB-1 enhanced the production of viral infectious particles (Chatel-Chaix et al., 2011). YB-1 may cooperate with NS3/4A to negatively regulate the steps after replication and to positively regulate viral replication.

NS5A AND CYCLOPHILINS

The peptide bond *cis/trans* isomerase converts between *cis* and *trans* peptide bonds leading to correct folding of the protein substrate. Peptidyl prolyl *cis/trans* isomerase (PPIase) includes the families of cyclophilin (Fischer et al., 1989), FK506-binding proteins (FKBP; Siekierka et al., 1989a,b) and parvulins (Rahfeld et al., 1994), and the secondary amide peptide bond *cis/trans* isomerase (Schiene-Fischer et al., 2002). Cyclophilin and FKBP are categorized as immunophilins, which are targeted by the immunosuppressants cyclosporin and FK506, respectively (Liu et al., 1991). Some cyclophilins and FKBP8 were shown to interact with NS5B and/or NS5A and to regulate HCV replication (Watashi et al., 2005; Okamoto et al., 2006), suggesting that immunophilins could lead to promising therapies for chronic hepatitis C, as discussed below.

Cyclosporin A and its derivatives, which target cyclophilins, were shown to impair HCV RNA replication and to exhibit efficacy in hepatitis C patients (Watashi et al., 2003; Ishii et al., 2006). Inoue et al. (2003) reported cyclosporin A treatment of HCV in a clinical trial. Cyclosporin derivatives lacking the ability to interact with cyclophilin lost their inhibitory effect on HCV replication (Watashi et al., 2005). Cyclophilin B is reported to be a 20-kDa secreted neurotropic factor for spinal cord cells in chick embryos (Spik et al., 1991), and is secreted into human milk and blood (Spik et al., 1991; Allain et al., 1994). Cyclophilin B specifically interacts with NS5B, the HCV RNA-dependent RNA polymerase around the ER of the HCV replicon cells, and promotes NS5B's association with viral RNA (Watashi et al., 2005). Cyclosporin A (CsA) was shown to disrupt the interaction between NS5B and cyclophilin B (Watashi et al., 2005). Treatment with cyclosporin A and knockdown of cyclophilin B suppressed the replication of HCV. However, several groups reported that interaction between NS5A and cyclophilin A is more important for HCV replication than interaction between NS5B and cyclophilin B. There is a growing consensus that cyclophilin A in particular is a crucial factor during HCV replication. A number of point mutations in both NS5A and NS5B have been reported to be associated with in vitro resistance to cyclophilin A (Yang et al., 2008; Chatterji et al., 2009; Kaul et al., 2009). Direct interaction between cyclophilin A and NS5B or NS5A has been observed (Yang et al., 2008). Several CsAanalogs, i.e., NIM811 (Ma et al., 2006), DEB025, and SCY-635 (Hopkins et al., 2010), are currently in preclinical and clinical development. DEB025 disrupts the interaction between NS5A and cyclophilin A and suppresses cyclophilin A isomerase activity. Although experimental differences in cell lines and replicons may affect employment of cyclophilins in HCV replication, the main molecule targeted by the cyclosporin analogs used clinically so far seems to be cyclophilin A.

The treatment with CsA has been associated with increased susceptibility to atherosclerosis and the development of hyperlipidemia (reviewed by Kockx et al., 2010). Treatment with CsA upregulated activity of cholesteryl ester transfer protein and suppressed lipoprotein lipase activity (Tory et al., 2008). Upregulation of cholesteryl ester by cholesteryl ester transfer protein could lead to accumulation of lipoprotein with cholesteryl ester. The report by Anderson et al. (2011) suggests that cyclophilin A and cyclophilin 40 are important for not only viral replication, but also the release of infectious viral particles. NIM811 treatment suppresses virus production and viral RNA replication (Goto et al., 2006). NIM811 treatment led to enlargement of lipid droplets and apoB crescent formation in replicon cells, but not naïve Huh7 cell line, while decreasing apoB secretion and the number of lipid droplets, rendering NS5A dislocation with apoB (Anderson et al., 2011). Knockdown of cyclophilins A and 40 in replicon cells showed the similar changes in lipid droplets size and apoB localization, comparing with NIM811 treatment (Anderson et al., 2011). Cyclophilins A and 40 may regulate lipid trafficking in the presence of HCV proteins to support secretion of viral particles.

NS5A/B AND MEMBRANE-ASSOCIATED PROTEINS

Host lipids are well known to be essential components in the viral life cycle, including the assembly, budding, and replication of

various viruses (Chen et al., 2005; Giese et al., 2006; Mannova et al., 2006; Oomens et al., 2006). In the case of HCV, several types of lipids are required for the HCV life cycle. Saturated and monounsaturated fatty acids, but not polyunsaturated fatty acids, enhance HCV RNA replication (Kapadia and Chisari, 2005), suggesting that lipid biogenesis is involved in HCV replication. HCV particles bind to lipoprotein receptors for entry (Agnello et al., 1999; Scarselli et al., 2002) and are believed to exist with lipoproteins in the serum of infected patients (Thomssen et al., 1992). There is also evidence that HCV uses the VLDL assembly and secretion pathway for maturation and secretion of viral particles (Huang et al., 2007; Gastaminza et al., 2008). Cholesterol and sphingolipids are employed for virion maturation and infectivity, since depletion of cholesterol or down-regulation of sphingomyelin reduces infectivity (Aizaki et al., 2008). Accumulation of lipid components in the liver leads to liver steatosis, and is associated with progression to liver fibrosis and hepatocellular carcinoma, as described above.

Hepatitis C virus replication is suppressed by an inhibitor of geranylgeranyl transferase I, but not by that of farnesyl transferase (Ye et al., 2003). Geranylgeranylate is known as an intermediate found in the mevalonate pathway and is covalently bound to various cellular proteins that are associated with plasma or the intracellular membrane (Horton et al., 2002). Immunoprecipitation analysis revealed that NS5A interacts with FBL2 (Wang et al., 2005a). The F-box motif is located in the N-terminus of FBL2, followed by 11 leucine-rich repeats (Ilyin et al., 1999) and the CAAX motif, which is thought to be modified by geranylgeranylation (Wang et al., 2005a). The F-box motif is generally essential for the formation of the ubiquitin ligase complex (Ilvin et al., 1999), suggesting that FBL2 regulates the ubiquitination of host or viral proteins through the interaction with NS5A. Another possibility is that FBL2 retains the viral replication complex by interacting with NS5A (Figure 3, step 3).

Screening of a genome-wide siRNA library revealed phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase III alpha (PI4KA) and COPI vesicle coat complex as a human gene associated with HCV replication (Bigger et al., 2004; Borawski et al., 2009; Li et al., 2009; Tai et al., 2009; Trotard et al., 2009; Vaillancourt et al., 2009; Reiss et al., 2011). Phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate, which is associated with oxysterol binding protein (OSBP) and CERT (Peretti et al., 2008; Banerji et al., 2010) as described below, is increased by HCV infection (Bigger et al., 2004; Hsu et al., 2010; Reiss et al., 2011; Tai and Salloum, 2011). PI4KA is co-localized with NS5A and double stranded RNA in the replication platform composed of detergentresistant lipid components, known as a membranous web, and is critical for HCV replication at posttranslational stages in the membranous web (Berger et al., 2009). NS5A can interact with PI4KA (Berger et al., 2011; Lim and Hwang, 2011; Reiss et al., 2011) and recruit PI4KA to the membranous web (Berger et al., 2009; Tai et al., 2009; Reiss et al., 2011; Tai and Salloum, 2011). Furthermore, PI4KA, but not phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase III beta, induces the membranous web structure under the non-replicative condition (Berger et al., 2011; Lim and Hwang, 2011; Reiss et al., 2011). Biosynthesis of phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate by PI4KA that is recruited by NS5A in the membranous web may be required for HCV replication and can be an endogenous biomarker of the membranous web (Figure 3, step 3).

Vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated proteins were originally identified as proteins that bind to vesicle-associated membrane protein (VAMP) in the nematode Aplysia and were designated as VAMP-associated protein 33 kDa (later renamed VAP-A; Skehel et al., 1995). Furthermore, one homolog and its splicing variant were reported as VAP-B and -C, respectively (Nishimura et al., 1999). VAP is classified as a type II membrane protein, and is composed of three functional domains: major sperm protein (MSP), which occupies the N-terminal half region, the coiledcoil domain, and the transmembrane domain. VAP-A shares 60% identity with VAP-B, while VAP-C is the splicing variant of VAP-B that lacks the coiled-coil and transmembrane domains (Nishimura et al., 1999). GST pull-down and immunoprecipitation analyses revealed that NS5A and NS5B interact with human VAP-A/B and that the N-terminal MSP domain and the coiled-coil domain of VAP-A/B are responsible for the binding to NS5B and NS5A, respectively (Tu et al., 1999; Hamamoto et al., 2005). In addition, systematic RNAi screening revealed that 62 target host genes are involved in HCV RNA or proteins including VAP-A/B (Randall et al., 2007). Several reports suggest that HCV replication takes place on the membranous web (Shi et al., 2003; Gao et al., 2004; Sakamoto et al., 2005). NS4B is predominantly associated with a lipid-raft-like detergent-resistant fraction equivalent to the membranous web, and both NS5A and NS5B were co-localized in a similar fraction in the presence of NS4B (Sakamoto et al., 2005). VAP-A was also localized in a detergent-resistant fraction, suggesting that it plays an important role in HCV replication because the dominant negative mutant of VAP-A suppressed the replication of HCV RNA (Gao et al., 2004). VAP-B forms a homodimer and heterodimer with VAP-A, and knockdown of VAP-A or VAP-B led to substantial suppression of HCV replication (Hamamoto et al., 2005). These findings suggest that VAP-A and -B positively regulate HCV replication by binding to NS5A/B.

The physiological function of VAPs was reported to be trafficking of ceramide and cholesterol between ER and the Golgi apparatus. Several VAP-interacting proteins share the FFAT motif (two phenylalanines in an acidic tract), which has the consensus amino acid sequence EFFDAxE, as determined by a comparison among oxysterol binding proteins, OSBP-related proteins (ORPs; Loewen et al., 2003), and the ceramide transport protein CERT (Hanada et al., 2003; Kawano et al., 2006), contributing to the regulation of lipid metabolism. OSBP binds and transports cholesterol or hydroxycholesterol from ER to the Golgi (Ridgway et al., 1992; Wang et al., 2005b), while CERT binds and transports ceramide from ER to the Golgi, where the ceramide is converted to sphingolipids (Kumagai et al., 2005). Altering the sphingomyelin/ceramide ratio of the plasma membrane can effect HCV entry via the cell surface expression of CD81 (Voisset et al., 2008). OSBP mediates HCV secretion while binding to NS5A and VAP-A (Amako et al., 2009). Inhibition of CERT function

REFERENCES

Adinolfi, L. E., Gambardella, M., Andreana, A., Tripodi, M. F., Utili, R., and Ruggiero, G. (2001). Steatosis accelerates the progression of liver damage of chronic hepatitis C patients and correlates with specific HCV genotype and visceral obesity. *Hepatology* 33, 1358–1364.

Agnello, V., Abel, G., Elfahal, M., Knight, G. B., and Zhang, Q. X. (1999). Hepatitis C virus and other Flaviviridae viruses enter cells via low density lipoprotein receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 96, 12766–12771. effectively suppressed HCV release regardless of RNA replication (Aizaki et al., 2008). Phosphorylation of CERT and OSBP by protein kinase D negatively regulates VAPs binding to CERT and OSBP resulting in an effect on HCV infection (Amako et al., 2011). HCV NS5A may allow VAP-A/B to provide ceramide and cholesterol to replication complexes for upregulation of virus propagation (**Figure 3**, step 3).

The VAP-B-splicing variant VAP-C interacts with NS5B via the short form of the MSP domain and then suppresses the HCV replication by disrupting binding of other VAPs to NS5B (Kukihara et al., 2009). Expression of VAP-C is observed in various tissues except for the liver, suggesting that tissue distribution of VAP-C determines the tropism of HCV infection (Kukihara et al., 2009). These findings suggest that VAP-C negatively regulates HCV replication by inhibiting the interaction between VAP-A/B and NS5B. Furthermore, expression of VAP-C was negligible in B cells prepared from chronic hepatitis C patients, in whom B cells included HCV particles (Ito et al., 2010), and expression of the full HCV genome in B cells induced B-cell lymphoma in a conditional transgenic mouse (Kasama et al., 2010), suggesting that HCV infection increases the chance of developing B-cell lymphomas via dysregulation of lipid metabolism.

CONCLUSION

This review summarizes several recently reported viral and host factors that exploit lipid components to support HCV infection. The mechanism by which HCV proteins cooperate with host factors to exploit lipid components and to regulate lipid metabolism in the infection has not been elucidated completely. The aim of identifying host factors is effective and stable therapy; targeting the host factors might be done to prevent the emergence of resistant viruses. Cyclosporin analogs will be used clinically in the near future. Wide screening and proteomics analyses have revealed novel host factors that are required for HCV replications over the past decade. The mechanism by which HCV infection induces formation of membranous web in infected cells has been unknown yet, although NS4B is involved in formation of membranous web (Egger et al., 2002; Gosert et al., 2005; Ferraris et al., 2010). We also found several host proteins to be NS4B-associating host factors by proteomics analysis based on the TargetMine program (Tripathi et al., 2010). Further study will be required to identify the prominent factors essential for lipid metabolism that are associated with each step in the HCV life cycle and to develop effective and stable therapies for hepatitis C.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank R. Tanaka for her secretarial work. Our original work cited here were supported in part by grants-in-aid from the Ministry of Health, Labor, and Welfare (Research on Hepatitis); the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science, and Technology.

- Aizaki, H., Lee, K. J., Sung, V. M., Ishiko, H., and Lai, M. M. (2004). Characterization of the hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex associated with lipid rafts. *Virology* 324, 450–461.
- Aizaki, H., Morikawa, K., Fukasawa, M., Hara, H., Inoue, Y., Tani, H.,

Saito, K., Nishijima, M., Hanada, K., Matsuura, Y., Lai, M. M., Miyamura, T., Wakita, T., and Suzuki, T. (2008). Critical role of virion-associated cholesterol and sphingolipid in hepatitis C virus infection. *J. Virol.* 82, 5715–5724.

- Albecka, A., Belouzard, S., De Beeck, A. O., Descamps, V., Goueslain, L., Bertrand-Michel, J., Terce, F., Duverlie, G., Rouille, Y., and Dubuisson, J. (2012). Role of LDL receptor in the hepatitis c virus life cycle. *Hepatol*ogy. doi: 10.1002/hep.25501
- Allain, F., Denys, A., and Spik, G. (1994). Characterization of surface binding sites for cyclophilin B on a human tumor T-cell line. J. Biol. Chem. 269, 16537–16540.
- Amako, Y., Sarkeshik, A., Hotta, H., Yates, J. III, and Siddiqui, A. (2009). Role of oxysterol binding protein in hepatitis C virus infection. *J. Virol.* 83, 9237–9246.
- Amako, Y., Syed, G. H., and Siddiqui, A. (2011). Protein kinase D negatively regulates hepatitis C virus secretion through phosphorylation of oxysterol-binding protein and ceramide transfer protein. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 11265–11274.
- Anderson, L. J., Lin, K., Compton, T., and Wiedmann, B. (2011). Inhibition of cyclophilins alters lipid trafficking and blocks hepatitis C virus secretion. *Virol. J.* 8, 329.
- Andre, P., Komurian-Pradel, F., Deforges, S., Perret, M., Berland, J. L., Sodoyer, M., Pol, S., Brechot, C., Paranhos-Baccala, G., and Lotteau, V. (2002). Characterization of lowand very-low-density hepatitis C virus RNA-containing particles. J. Virol. 76, 6919–6928.
- Banerji, S., Ngo, M., Lane, C. F., Robinson, C. A., Minogue, S., and Ridgway, N. D. (2010). Oxysterol binding protein-dependent activation of sphingomyelin synthesis in the golgi apparatus requires phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase IIalpha. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 21, 4141–4150.
- Barba, G., Harper, F., Harada, T., Kohara, M., Goulinet, S., Matsuura, Y., Eder, G., Schaff, Z., Chapman, M. J., Miyamura, T., and Brechot, C. (1997). Hepatitis C virus core protein shows a cytoplasmic localization and associates to cellular lipid storage droplets. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 94, 1200–1205.
- Barth, H., Schafer, C., Adah, M. I., Zhang, F., Linhardt, R. J., Toyoda, H., Kinoshita-Toyoda, A., Toida, T., Van Kuppevelt, T. H., Depla, E., Von Weizsacker, F., Blum, H. E., and Baumert, T. F. (2003). Cellular binding of hepatitis C virus envelope glycoprotein E2 requires cell surface heparan sulfate. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 41003–41012.
- Bartosch, B., Vitelli, A., Granier, C., Goujon, C., Dubuisson, J., Pascale, S., Scarselli, E., Cortese, R., Nicosia, A., and Cosset, F. L. (2003). Cell

entry of hepatitis C virus requires a set of co-receptors that include the CD81 tetraspanin and the SR-B1 scavenger receptor. *J. Biol. Chem.* 278, 41624–41630.

- Benga, W. J., Krieger, S. E., Dimitrova, M., Zeisel, M. B., Parnot, M., Lupberger, J., Hildt, E., Luo, G., Mclauchlan, J., Baumert, T. F., and Schuster, C. (2010). Apolipoprotein E interacts with hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A and determines assembly of infectious particles. *Hepatology* 51, 43–53.
- Berger, K. L., Cooper, J. D., Heaton, N. S., Yoon, R., Oakland, T. E., Jordan, T. X., Mateu, G., Grakoui, A., and Randall, G. (2009). Roles for endocytic trafficking and phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase III alpha in hepatitis C virus replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 7577–7582.
- Berger, K. L., Kelly, S. M., Jordan, T. X., Tartell, M. A., and Randall, G. (2011). Hepatitis C virus stimulates the phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase III alpha-dependent phosphatidylinositol 4-phosphate production that is essential for its replication. *J. Virol.* 85, 8870–8883.
- Bigger, C. B., Guerra, B., Brasky, K. M., Hubbard, G., Beard, M. R., Luxon, B. A., Lemon, S. M., and Lanford, R. E. (2004). Intrahepatic gene expression during chronic hepatitis C virus infection in chimpanzees. *J. Virol.* 78, 13779–13792.
- Blanchard, E., Belouzard, S., Goueslain, L., Wakita, T., Dubuisson, J., Wychowski, C., and Rouille, Y. (2006). Hepatitis C virus entry depends on clathrin-mediated endocytosis. J. Virol. 80, 6964–6972.
- Blight, K. J., Kolykhalov, A. A., and Rice, C. M. (2000). Efficient initiation of HCV RNA replication in cell culture. *Science* 290, 1972–1974.
- Boguszewska-Chachulska, A. M., Krawczyk, M., Stankiewicz, A., Gozdek, A., Haenni, A. L., and Strokovskaya, L. (2004). Direct fluorometric measurement of hepatitis C virus helicase activity. *FEBS Lett.* 567, 253–258.
- Borawski, J., Troke, P., Puyang, X., Gibaja, V., Zhao, S., Mickanin, C., Leighton-Davies, J., Wilson, C. J., Myer, V., Cornellataracido, I., Baryza, J., Tallarico, J., Joberty, G., Bantscheff, M., Schirle, M., Bouwmeester, T., Mathy, J. E., Lin, K., Compton, T., Labow, M., Wiedmann, B., and Gaither, L. A. (2009). Class III phosphatidylinositol 4kinase alpha and beta are novel host factor regulators of hepatitis C virus replication. J. Virol. 83, 10058–10074.

- Borowski, P., Deinert, J., Schalinski, S., Bretner, M., Ginalski, K., Kulikowski, T., and Shugar, D. (2003). Halogenated benzimidazoles and benzotriazoles as inhibitors of the NTPase/helicase activities of hepatitis C and related viruses. *Eur. J. Biochem.* 270, 1645–1653.
- Boson, B., Granio, O., Bartenschlager, R., and Cosset, F. L. (2011). A concerted action of hepatitis C virus p7 and nonstructural protein 2 regulates core localization at the endoplasmic reticulum and virus assembly. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002144. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002144
- Bradley, D., Mccaustland, K., Krawczynski, K., Spelbring, J., Humphrey, C., and Cook, E. H. (1991). Hepatitis C virus: buoyant density of the factor VIII-derived isolate in sucrose. *J. Med. Virol.* 34, 206–208.
- Brodsky, J. L., Gusarova, V., and Fisher, E. A. (2004). Vesicular trafficking of hepatic apolipoprotein B100 and its maturation to very low-density lipoprotein particles; studies from cells and cell-free systems. *Trends Cardiovasc. Med.* 14, 127–132.
- Carabaich, A., Ruvoletto, M., Bernardinello, E., Tono, N., Cavalletto, L., Chemello, L., Gatta, A., and Pontisso, P. (2005). Profiles of HCV core protein and viremia in chronic hepatitis C: possible protective role of core antigen in liver damage. J. Med. Virol. 76, 55–60.
- Carrere-Kremer, S., Montpellier-Pala, C., Cocquerel, L., Wychowski, C., Penin, F., and Dubuisson, J. (2002). Subcellular localization and topology of the p7 polypeptide of hepatitis C virus. *J. Virol.* 76, 3720–3730.
- Cerutti, A., Maillard, P., Minisini, R., Vidalain, P. O., Roohvand, F., Pecheur, E. I., Pirisi, M., and Budkowska, A. (2011). Identification of a functional, CRM-1-dependent nuclear export signal in hepatitis C virus core protein. *PLoS ONE* 6, e25854. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0025854
- Chang, K. S., Jiang, J., Cai, Z., and Luo, G. (2007). Human apolipoprotein E is required for infectivity and production of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. J. Virol. 81, 13783–13793.
- Chatel-Chaix, L., Melancon, P., Racine, M. E., Baril, M., and Lamarre, D. (2011). Y-box-binding protein 1 interacts with hepatitis C virus NS3/4A and influences the equilibrium between viral RNA replication and infectious particle production. J. Virol. 85, 11022–11037.
- Chatterji, U., Bobardt, M., Selvarajah, S., Yang, F., Tang, H., Sakamoto, N., Vuagniaux, G., Parkinson, T.,

and Gallay, P. (2009). The isomerase active site of cyclophilin A is critical for hepatitis C virus replication. *J. Biol. Chem.* 284, 16998–17005.

- Chen, B. J., Takeda, M., and Lamb, R. A. (2005). Influenza virus hemagglutinin (H3 subtype) requires palmitoylation of its cytoplasmic tail for assembly: M1 proteins of two subtypes differ in their ability to support assembly. J. Virol. 79, 13673–13684.
- Chen, X., Barton, L. F., Chi, Y., Clurman, B. E., and Roberts, J. M. (2007). Ubiquitin-independent degradation of cell-cycle inhibitors by the REGgamma proteasome. *Mol. Cell* 26, 843–852.
- Cheng, G., Zhong, J., and Chisari, F. V. (2006). Inhibition of dsRNAinduced signaling in hepatitis C virus-infected cells by NS3 proteasedependent and -independent mechanisms. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 8499–8504.
- Codran, A., Royer, C., Jaeck, D., Bastien-Valle, M., Baumert, T. F., Kieny, M. P., Pereira, C. A., and Martin, J. P. (2006). Entry of hepatitis C virus pseudotypes into primary human hepatocytes by clathrindependent endocytosis. J. Gen. Virol. 87, 2583–2593.
- Counihan, N. A., Rawlinson, S. M., and Lindenbach, B. D. (2011). Trafficking of hepatitis C virus core protein during virus particle assembly. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1002302. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002302
- Cun, W., Jiang, J., and Luo, G. (2010). The C-terminal alpha-helix domain of apolipoprotein E is required for interaction with nonstructural protein 5A and assembly of hepatitis C virus. *I. Virol.* 84, 11532–11541.
- De Francesco, R., Tomei, L., Altamura, S., Summa, V., and Migliaccio, G. (2003). Approaching a new era for hepatitis C virus therapy: inhibitors of the NS3-4A serine protease and the NS5B RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. *Antiviral Res.* 58, 1–16.
- Dentzer, T. G., Lorenz, I. C., Evans, M. J., and Rice, C. M. (2009). Determinants of the hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 2 protease domain required for production of infectious virus. J. Virol. 83, 12702–12713.
- Dhanak, D., Duffy, K. J., Johnston, V. K., Lin-Goerke, J., Darcy, M., Shaw, A. N., Gu, B., Silverman, C., Gates, A. T., Nonnemacher, M. R., Earnshaw, D. L., Casper, D. J., Kaura, A., Baker, A., Greenwood, C., Gutshall, L. L., Maley, D., Delvecchio, A., Macarron, R., Hofmann, G. A., Alnoah, Z., Cheng, H. Y., Chan, G., Khandekar, S., Keenan, R. M., and Sarisky, R.

T. (2002). Identification and biological characterization of heterocyclic inhibitors of the hepatitis C virus RNA-dependent RNA polymerase. J. *Biol. Chem.* 277, 38322–38327.

- Egger, D., Wolk, B., Gosert, R., Bianchi, L., Blum, H. E., Moradpour, D., and Bienz, K. (2002). Expression of hepatitis C virus proteins induces distinct membrane alterations including a candidate viral replication complex. *J. Virol.* 76, 5974–5984.
- Evans, M. J., Von Hahn, T., Tscherne, D. M., Syder, A. J., Panis, M., Wolk, B., Hatziioannou, T., Mckeating, J. A., Bieniasz, P. D., and Rice, C. M. (2007). Claudin-1 is a hepatitis C virus co-receptor required for a late step in entry. *Nature* 446, 801–805.
- Failla, C., Tomei, L., and De Francesco, R. (1994). Both NS3 and NS4A are required for proteolytic processing of hepatitis C virus nonstructural proteins. J. Virol. 68, 3753–3760.
- Failla, C., Tomei, L., and De Francesco, R. (1995). An amino-terminal domain of the hepatitis C virus NS3 protease is essential for interaction with NS4A. J. Virol. 69, 1769–1777.
- Ferraris, P., Blanchard, E., and Roingeard, P. (2010). Ultrastructural and biochemical analyses of hepatitis C virus-associated host cell membranes. *J. Gen. Virol.* 91, 2230–2237.
- Ferreon, J. C., Ferreon, A. C., Li, K., and Lemon, S. M. (2005). Molecular determinants of TRIF proteolysis mediated by the hepatitis C virus NS3/4A protease. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 20483–20492.
- Fischer, G., Wittmann-Liebold, B., Lang, K., Kiefhaber, T., and Schmid, F. X. (1989). Cyclophilin and peptidylprolyl cis-trans isomerase are probably identical proteins. *Nature* 337, 476–478.
- Foy, E., Li, K., Sumpter, R. Jr., Loo, Y. M., Johnson, C. L., Wang, C., Fish, P. M., Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T., Lemon, S. M., and Gale, M. Jr. (2005). Control of antiviral defenses through hepatitis C virus disruption of retinoic acid-inducible gene-I signaling. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 2986–2991.
- Gao, L., Aizaki, H., He, J. W., and Lai, M. M. (2004). Interactions between viral nonstructural proteins and host protein hVAP-33 mediate the formation of hepatitis C virus RNA replication complex on lipid raft. *J. Virol.* 78, 3480–3488.
- Gastaminza, P., Cheng, G., Wieland, S., Zhong, J., Liao, W., and Chisari, F. V. (2008). Cellular determinants of

hepatitis C virus assembly, maturation, degradation, and secretion. *J. Virol.* 82, 2120–2129.

- Giese, S. I., Woerz, I., Homann, S., Tibroni, N., Geyer, M., and Fackler, O. T. (2006). Specific and distinct determinants mediate membrane binding and lipid raft incorporation of HIV-1(SF2) Nef. Virology 355, 175–191.
- Gosert, R., Jendrsczok, W., Berke, J. M., Brass, V., Blum, H. E., and Moradpour, D. (2005). Characterization of nonstructural protein membrane anchor deletion mutants expressed in the context of the hepatitis C virus polyprotein. J. Virol. 79, 7911–7917.
- Goto, K., Watashi, K., Murata, T., Hishiki, T., Hijikata, M., and Shimotohno, K. (2006). Evaluation of the anti-hepatitis C virus effects of cyclophilin inhibitors, cyclosporin A, and NIM811. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 343, 879–884.
- Grakoui, A., Mccourt, D. W., Wychowski, C., Feinstone, S. M., and Rice, C. M. (1993a). Characterization of the hepatitis C virus-encoded serine proteinase: determination of proteinasedependent polyprotein cleavage sites. J. Virol. 67, 2832–2843.
- Grakoui, A., Mccourt, D. W., Wychowski, C., Feinstone, S. M., and Rice, C. M. (1993b). A second hepatitis C virus-encoded proteinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 90, 10583–10587.
- Grakoui, A., Wychowski, C., Lin, C., Feinstone, S. M., and Rice, C. M. (1993c). Expression and identification of hepatitis C virus polyprotein cleavage products. *J. Virol.* 67, 1385–1395.
- Hamamoto, I., Nishimura, Y., Okamoto, T., Aizaki, H., Liu, M., Mori, Y., Abe, T., Suzuki, T., Lai, M. M., Miyamura, T., Moriishi, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2005). Human VAP-B is involved in hepatitis C virus replication through interaction with NS5A and NS5B. J. Virol. 79, 13473–13482.
- Hanada, K., Kumagai, K., Yasuda, S., Miura, Y., Kawano, M., Fukasawa, M., and Nishijima, M. (2003). Molecular machinery for non-vesicular trafficking of ceramide. *Nature* 426, 803–809.
- Harada, S., Watanabe, Y., Takeuchi, K., Suzuki, T., Katayama, T., Takebe, Y., Saito, I., and Miyamura, T. (1991). Expression of processed core protein of hepatitis C virus in mammalian cells. J. Virol. 65, 3015–3021.
- Harris, C., Herker, E., Farese, R. V. Jr., and Ott, M. (2011). Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein Decreases Lipid Droplet Turnover: a mechanism for

core-induced steatosis. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 42615–42625.

- Havel, R. J. (2000). Remnant lipoproteins as therapeutic targets. *Curr. Opin. Lipidol.* 11, 615–620.
- Herker, E., Harris, C., Hernandez, C., Carpentier, A., Kaehlcke, K., Rosenberg, A. R., Farese, R. V. Jr., and Ott, M. (2010). Efficient hepatitis C virus particle formation requires diacylglycerol acyltransferase-1. *Nat. Med.* 16, 1295–1298.
- Herz, J., Chen, Y., Masiulis, I., and Zhou, L. (2009). Expanding functions of lipoprotein receptors. J. Lipid Res. 50(Suppl.), S287–S292.
- Hicham Alaoui-Ismaili, M., Gervais, C., Brunette, S., Gouin, G., Hamel, M., Rando, R. F., and Bedard, J. (2000).
 A novel high throughput screening assay for HCV NS3 helicase activity. *Antiviral Res.* 46, 181–193.
- Hijikata, M., Kato, N., Ootsuyama, Y., Nakagawa, M., and Shimotohno, K. (1991). Gene mapping of the putative structural region of the hepatitis C virus genome by in vitro processing analysis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 88, 5547–5551.
- Hijikata, M., Shimizu, Y. K., Kato, H., Iwamoto, A., Shih, J. W., Alter, H. J., Purcell, R. H., and Yoshikura, H. (1993). Equilibrium centrifugation studies of hepatitis C virus: evidence for circulating immune complexes. *J. Virol.* 67, 1953–1958.
- Hishiki, T., Shimizu, Y., Tobita, R., Sugiyama, K., Ogawa, K., Funami, K., Ohsaki, Y., Fujimoto, T., Takaku, H., Wakita, T., Baumert, T. F., Miyanari, Y., and Shimotohno, K. (2010). Infectivity of hepatitis C virus is influenced by association with apolipoprotein E isoforms. *J. Virol.* 84, 12048–12057.
- Hofmann, W. P., and Zeuzem, S. (2011). A new standard of care for the treatment of chronic HCV infection. *Nat. Rev. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 8, 257–264.
- Hope, R. G., and McLauchlan, J. (2000). Sequence motifs required for lipid droplet association and protein stability are unique to the hepatitis C virus core protein. *J. Gen. Virol.* 81, 1913–1925.
- Hope, R. G., Murphy, D. J., and Mclauchlan, J. (2002). The domains required to direct core proteins of hepatitis C virus and GB virus-B to lipid droplets share common features with plant oleosin proteins. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 4261–4270.
- Hopkins, S., Scorneaux, B., Huang, Z., Murray, M. G., Wring, S., Smitley, C., Harris, R., Erdmann, F., Fischer, G., and Ribeill, Y. (2010). SCY-635, a novel nonimmunosuppressive

analog of cyclosporine that exhibits potent inhibition of hepatitis C virus RNA replication in vitro. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 54, 660–672.

- Horton, J. D., Goldstein, J. L., and Brown, M. S. (2002). SREBPs: activators of the complete program of cholesterol and fatty acid synthesis in the liver. J. Clin. Invest. 109, 1125–1131.
- Hsu, M., Zhang, J., Flint, M., Logvinoff, C., Cheng-Mayer, C., Rice, C. M., and Mckeating, J. A. (2003). Hepatitis C virus glycoproteins mediate pHdependent cell entry of pseudotyped retroviral particles. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 7271–7276.
- Hsu, N. Y., Ilnytska, O., Belov, G., Santiana, M., Chen, Y. H., Takvorian, P. M., Pau, C., Van Der Schaar, H., Kaushik-Basu, N., Balla, T., Cameron, C. E., Ehrenfeld, E., Van Kuppeveld, F. J., and Altan-Bonnet, N. (2010). Viral reorganization of the secretory pathway generates distinct organelles for RNA replication. *Cell* 141, 799–811.
- Huang, H., Sun, F., Owen, D. M., Li, W., Chen, Y., Gale, M. Jr., and Ye, J. (2007). Hepatitis C virus production by human hepatocytes dependent on assembly and secretion of very low-density lipoproteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 5848–5853.
- Hussy, P., Langen, H., Mous, J., and Jacobsen, H. (1996). Hepatitis C virus core protein: carboxy-terminal boundaries of two processed species suggest cleavage by a signal peptide peptidase. *Virology* 224, 93–104.
- Ikeda, M., Yi, M., Li, K., and Lemon, S. M. (2002). Selectable subgenomic and genome-length dicistronic RNAs derived from an infectious molecular clone of the HCV-N strain of hepatitis C virus replicate efficiently in cultured Huh7 cells. J. Virol. 76, 2997–3006.
- Ilyin, G. P., Rialland, M., Glaise, D., and Guguen-Guillouzo, C. (1999). Identification of a novel Skp2-like mammalian protein containing F-box and leucine-rich repeats. *FEBS Lett.* 459, 75–79.
- Inoue, K., Sekiyama, K., Yamada, M., Watanabe, T., Yasuda, H., and Yoshiba, M. (2003). Combined interferon alpha2b and cyclosporin A in the treatment of chronic hepatitis C: controlled trial. *J. Gastroenterol.* 38, 567–572.
- Ishii, N., Watashi, K., Hishiki, T., Goto, K., Inoue, D., Hijikata, M., Wakita, T., Kato, N., and Shimotohno, K. (2006). Diverse effects of cyclosporine on hepatitis C virus strain replication. *J. Virol.* 80, 4510–4520.

- Ito, M., Masumi, A., Mochida, K., Kukihara, H., Moriishi, K., Matsuura, Y., Yamaguchi, K., and Mizuochi, T. (2010). Peripheral B cells may serve as a reservoir for persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J. Innate Immun.* 2, 607–617.
- Jacobson, I. M., Cacoub, P., Dal Maso, L., Harrison, S. A., and Younossi, Z. M. (2010). Manifestations of chronic hepatitis C virus infection beyond the liver. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 8, 1017–1029.
- Jiang, J., and Luo, G. (2009). Apolipoprotein E but not B is required for the formation of infectious hepatitis C virus particles. J. Virol. 83, 12680–12691.
- Jirasko, V., Montserret, R., Appel, N., Janvier, A., Eustachi, L., Brohm, C., Steinmann, E., Pietschmann, T., Penin, F., and Bartenschlager, R. (2008). Structural and functional characterization of nonstructural protein 2 for its role in hepatitis C virus assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 28546–28562.
- Jones, C. T., Murray, C. L., Eastman, D. K., Tassello, J., and Rice, C. M. (2007). Hepatitis C virus p7 and NS2 proteins are essential for production of infectious virus. *J. Virol.* 81, 8374–8383.
- Kapadia, S. B., and Chisari, F. V. (2005). Hepatitis C virus RNA replication is regulated by host geranylgeranylation and fatty acids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 2561–2566.
- Kasama, Y., Sekiguchi, S., Saito, M., Tanaka, K., Satoh, M., Kuwahara, K., Sakaguchi, N., Takeya, M., Hiasa, Y., Kohara, M., and Tsukiyama-Kohara, K. (2010). Persistent expression of the full genome of hepatitis C virus in B cells induces spontaneous development of B-cell lymphomas in vivo. Blood 116, 4926–4933.
- Kaul, A., Stauffer, S., Berger, C., Pertel, T., Schmitt, J., Kallis, S., Zayas, M., Lohmann, V., Luban, J., and Bartenschlager, R. (2009). Essential role of cyclophilin A for hepatitis C virus replication and virus production and possible link to polyprotein cleavage kinetics. *PLoS Pathog.* 5, e1000546. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1000546
- Kawano, M., Kumagai, K., Nishijima, M., and Hanada, K. (2006). Efficient trafficking of ceramide from the endoplasmic reticulum to the Golgi apparatus requires a VAMPassociated protein-interacting FFAT motif of CERT. J. Biol. Chem. 281, 30279–30288.
- Koch, J. O., Lohmann, V., Herian, U., and Bartenschlager, R. (1996). In vitro studies on the activation of the

hepatitis C virus NS3 proteinase by the NS4A cofactor. *Virology* 221, 54–66.

- Kockx, M., Jessup, W., and Kritharides, L. (2010). Cyclosporin A and atherosclerosis – cellular pathways in atherogenesis. *Pharmacol. Ther.* 128, 106–118.
- Koike, K., Tsutsumi, T., Yotsuyanagi, H., and Moriya, K. (2010). Lipid metabolism and liver disease in hepatitis C viral infection. *Oncology* 78(Suppl. 1), 24–30.
- Krieger, N., Lohmann, V., and Bartenschlager, R. (2001). Enhancement of hepatitis C virus RNA replication by cell culture-adaptive mutations. *J. Virol.* 75, 4614–4624.
- Kukihara, H., Moriishi, K., Taguwa, S., Tani, H., Abe, T., Mori, Y., Suzuki, T., Fukuhara, T., Taketomi, A., Maehara, Y., and Matsuura, Y. (2009). Human VAP-C negatively regulates hepatitis C virus propagation. J. Virol. 83, 7959–7969.
- Kumagai, K., Yasuda, S., Okemoto, K., Nishijima, M., Kobayashi, S., and Hanada, K. (2005). CERT mediates intermembrane transfer of various molecular species of ceramides. *J. Biol. Chem.* 280, 6488–6495.
- Li, K., Foy, E., Ferreon, J. C., Nakamura, M., Ferreon, A. C., Ikeda, M., Ray, S. C., Gale, M. Jr., and Lemon, S. M. (2005a). Immune evasion by hepatitis C virus NS3/4A proteasemediated cleavage of the Toll-like receptor 3 adaptor protein TRIF. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 2992–2997.
- Li, X. D., Sun, L., Seth, R. B., Pineda, G., and Chen, Z. J. (2005b). Hepatitis C virus protease NS3/4A cleaves mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein off the mitochondria to evade innate immunity. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102. 17717–17722.
- Li, Q., Brass, A. L., Ng, A., Hu, Z., Xavier, R. J., Liang, T. J., and Elledge, S. J. (2009). A genome-wide genetic screen for host factors required for hepatitis C virus propagation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 106, 16410–16415.
- Li, X., Lonard, D. M., Jung, S. Y., Malovannaya, A., Feng, Q., Qin, J., Tsai, S. Y., Tsai, M. J., and O'malley, B. W. (2006). The SRC-3/AIB1 coactivator is degraded in a ubiquitinand ATP-independent manner by the REGgamma proteasome. *Cell* 124, 381–392.
- Lim, Y. S., and Hwang, S. B. (2011). Hepatitis C virus NS5A protein interacts with phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase type IIIalpha and regulates viral propagation. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 11290–11298.

- Lindenbach, B. D., Evans, M. J., Syder, A. J., Wolk, B., Tellinghuisen, T. L., Liu, C. C., Maruyama, T., Hynes, R. O., Burton, D. R., Mckeating, J. A., and Rice, C. M. (2005). Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 309, 623–626.
- Lindenbach, B. D., Meuleman, P., Ploss, A., Vanwolleghem, T., Syder, A. J., Mckeating, J. A., Lanford, R. E., Feinstone, S. M., Major, M. E., Leroux-Roels, G., and Rice, C. M. (2006). Cell culture-grown hepatitis C virus is infectious in vivo and can be recultured in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 103, 3805–3809.
- Liu, J., Farmer, J. D. Jr., Lane, W. S., Friedman, J., Weissman, I., and Schreiber, S. L. (1991). Calcineurin is a common target of cyclophilincyclosporin A and FKBP-FK506 complexes. *Cell* 66, 807–815.
- Loewen, C. J., Roy, A., and Levine, T. P. (2003). A conserved ER targeting motif in three families of lipid binding proteins and in Opi1p binds VAP. *EMBO J.* 22, 2025–2035.
- Lohmann, V., Korner, F., Dobierzewska, A., and Bartenschlager, R. (2001). Mutations in hepatitis C virus RNAs conferring cell culture adaptation. *J. Virol.* 75, 1437–1449.
- Lohmann, V., Korner, F., Koch, J., Herian, U., Theilmann, L., and Bartenschlager, R. (1999). Replication of subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNAs in a hepatoma cell line. *Science* 285, 110–113.
- Loo, Y. M., Fornek, J., Crochet, N., Bajwa, G., Perwitasari, O., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Akira, S., Gill, M. A., Garcia-Sastre, A., Katze, M. G., and Gale, M. Jr. (2008). Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by RNA viruses in innate immunity. *J. Virol.* 82, 335–345.
- Loo, Y. M., Owen, D. M., Li, K., Erickson, A. K., Johnson, C. L., Fish, P. M., Carney, D. S., Wang, T., Ishida, H., Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T., Saito, T., Lee, W. M., Hagedorn, C. H., Lau, D. T., Weinman, S. A., Lemon, S. M., and Gale, M. Jr. (2006). Viral and therapeutic control of IFN-beta promoter stimulator 1 during hepatitis C virus infection. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 6001–6006.
- Lorenz, I. C., Marcotrigiano, J., Dentzer, T. G., and Rice, C. M. (2006). Structure of the catalytic domain of the hepatitis C virus NS2-3 protease. *Nature* 442, 831–835.
- Ma, S., Boerner, J. E., Tiongyip, C., Weidmann, B., Ryder, N. S., Cooreman, M. P., and Lin, K. (2006). NIM811, a cyclophilin inhibitor, exhibits potent in vitro activity against hepatitis C virus alone or in combination with

alpha interferon. *Antimicrob. Agents Chemother.* 50, 2976–2982.

- Maga, G., Gemma, S., Fattorusso, C., Locatelli, G. A., Butini, S., Persico, M., Kukreja, G., Romano, M. P., Chiasserini, L., Savini, L., Novellino, E., Nacci, V., Spadari, S., and Campiani, G. (2005). Specific targeting of hepatitis C virus NS3 RNA helicase. Discovery of the potent and selective competitive nucleotide-mimicking inhibitor QU663. *Biochemistry* 44, 9637–9644.
- Mannova, P., Fang, R., Wang, H., Deng, B., Mcintosh, M. W., Hanash, S. M., and Beretta, L. (2006). Modification of host lipid raft proteome upon hepatitis C virus replication. *Mol. Cell Proteomics* 5, 2319–2325.
- Masaki, T., Suzuki, R., Murakami, K., Aizaki, H., Ishii, K., Murayama, A., Date, T., Matsuura, Y., Miyamura, T., Wakita, T., and Suzuki, T. (2008). Interaction of hepatitis C virus nonstructural protein 5A with core protein is critical for the production of infectious virus particles. *J. Virol.* 82, 7964–7976.
- Matto, M., Rice, C. M., Aroeti, B., and Glenn, J. S. (2004). Hepatitis C virus core protein associates with detergent-resistant membranes distinct from classical plasma membrane rafts. *J. Virol.* 78, 12047–12053.
- McLauchlan, J., Lemberg, M. K., Hope, G., and Martoglio, B. (2002). Intramembrane proteolysis promotes trafficking of hepatitis C virus core protein to lipid droplets. *EMBO* J. 21, 3980–3988.
- Meertens, L., Bertaux, C., and Dragic, T. (2006). Hepatitis C virus entry requires a critical postinternalization step and delivery to early endosomes via clathrin-coated vesicles. *J. Virol.* 80, 11571–11578.
- Merz, A., Long, G., Hiet, M. S., Brugger, B., Chlanda, P., Andre, P., Wieland, F., Krijnse-Locker, J., and Bartenschlager, R. (2011). Biochemical and morphological properties of hepatitis C virus particles and determination of their lipidome. J. Biol. Chem. 286, 3018–30132.
- Miyanari, Y., Atsuzawa, K., Usuda, N., Watashi, K., Hishiki, T., Zayas, M., Bartenschlager, R., Wakita, T., Hijikata, M., and Shimotohno, K. (2007). The lipid droplet is an important organelle for hepatitis C virus production. *Nat. Cell Biol.* 9, 1089–1097.
- Miyoshi, H., Moriya, K., Tsutsumi, T., Shinzawa, S., Fujie, H., Shintani, Y., Fujinaga, H., Goto, K., Todoroki, T., Suzuki, T., Miyamura, T., Matsuura, Y., Yotsuyanagi, H., and

Koike, K. (2011). Pathogenesis of lipid metabolism disorder in hepatitis C: polyunsaturated fatty acids counteract lipid alterations induced by the core protein. *J. Hepatol.* 54, 432–438.

- Monazahian, M., Bohme, I., Bonk, S., Koch, A., Scholz, C., Grethe, S., and Thomssen, R. (1999). Low density lipoprotein receptor as a candidate receptor for hepatitis C virus. J. Med. Virol. 57, 223–229.
- Moriishi, K., Mochizuki, R., Moriya, K., Miyamoto, H., Mori, Y., Abe, T., Murata, S., Tanaka, K., Miyamura, T., Suzuki, T., Koike, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2007). Critical role of PA28gamma in hepatitis C virus-associated steatogenesis and hepatocarcinogenesis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 1661–1666.
- Moriishi, K., Okabayashi, T., Nakai, K., Moriya, K., Koike, K., Murata, S., Chiba, T., Tanaka, K., Suzuki, R., Suzuki, T., Miyamura, T., and Matsuura, Y. (2003). Proteasome activator PA28gamma-dependent nuclear retention and degradation of hepatitis C virus core protein. J. Virol. 77, 10237–10249.
- Moriishi, K., Shoji, I., Mori, Y., Suzuki, R., Suzuki, T., Kataoka, C., and Matsuura, Y. (2010). Involvement of PA28gamma in the propagation of hepatitis C virus. *Hepatology* 52, 411–420.
- Moriya, K., Nakagawa, K., Santa, T., Shintani, Y., Fujie, H., Miyoshi, H., Tsutsumi, T., Miyazawa, T., Ishibashi, K., Horie, T., Imai, K., Todoroki, T., Kimura, S., and Koike, K. (2001). Oxidative stress in the absence of inflammation in a mouse model for hepatitis C virus-associated hepatocarcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* 61, 4365–4670.
- Moriya, K., Yotsuyanagi, H., Shintani, Y., Fujie, H., Ishibashi, K., Matsuura, Y., Miyamura, T., and Koike, K. (1997). Hepatitis C virus core protein induces hepatic steatosis in transgenic mice. J. Gen. Virol. 78 (Pt 7), 1527–1531.
- Najda-Bernatowicz, A., Krawczyk, M., Stankiewicz-Drogon, A., Bretner, M., and Boguszewska-Chachulska, A. M. (2010). Studies on the anti-hepatitis C virus activity of newly synthesized tropolone derivatives: identification of NS3 helicase inhibitors that specifically inhibit subgenomic HCV replication. *Bioorg. Med. Chem.* 18, 5129–5136.
- Nielsen, S. U., Bassendine, M. F., Burt, A. D., Martin, C., Pumeechockchai, W., and Toms, G. L.

(2006). Association between hepatitis C virus and very-low-density lipoprotein (VLDL)/LDL analyzed in iodixanol density gradients. *J. Virol.* 80, 2418–2428.

- Nishimura, Y., Hayashi, M., Inada, H., and Tanaka, T. (1999). Molecular cloning and characterization of mammalian homologues of vesicle-associated membrane protein-associated (VAMPassociated) proteins. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 254, 21–26.
- Nunez, O., Fernandez-Martinez, A., Majano, P. L., Apolinario, A., Gomez-Gonzalo, M., Benedicto, I., Lopez-Cabrera, M., Bosca, L., Clemente, G., Garcia-Monzon, C., and Martin-Sanz, P. (2004). Increased intrahepatic cyclooxygenase 2, matrix metalloproteinase 2, and matrix metalloproteinase 9 expression is associated with progressive liver disease in chronic hepatitis C virus infection: role of viral core and NS5A proteins. *Gut* 53, 1665–1672.
- Ogino, T., Fukuda, H., Imajoh-Ohmi, S., Kohara, M., and Nomoto, A. (2004). Membrane binding properties and terminal residues of the mature hepatitis C virus capsid protein in insect cells. J. Virol. 78, 11766–11777.
- Ohata, K., Hamasaki, K., Toriyama, K., Matsumoto, K., Saeki, A., Yanagi, K., Abiru, S., Nakagawa, Y., Shigeno, M., Miyazoe, S., Ichikawa, T., Ishikawa, H., Nakao, K., and Eguchi, K. (2003). Hepatic steatosis is a risk factor for hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Cancer* 97, 3036–3043.
- Okamoto, K., Mori, Y., Komoda, Y., Okamoto, T., Okochi, M., Takeda, M., Suzuki, T., Moriishi, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2008). Intramembrane processing by signal peptide peptidase regulates the membrane localization of hepatitis C virus core protein and viral propagation. J. Virol. 82, 8349–8361.
- Okamoto, K., Moriishi, K., Miyamura, T., and Matsuura, Y. (2004). Intramembrane proteolysis and endoplasmic reticulum retention of hepatitis C virus core protein. *J. Virol.* 78, 6370–6380.
- Okamoto, T., Nishimura, Y., Ichimura, T., Suzuki, K., Miyamura, T., Suzuki, T., Moriishi, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2006). Hepatitis C virus RNA replication is regulated by FKBP8 and Hsp90. *EMBO J.* 25, 5015–5025.
- Okuda, M., Li, K., Beard, M. R., Showalter, L. A., Scholle, F., Lemon, S. M., and Weinman, S. A. (2002). Mitochondrial injury, oxidative stress, and antioxidant gene expression

are induced by hepatitis C virus core protein. *Gastroenterology* 122, 366–375.

- Oomens, A. G., Bevis, K. P., and Wertz, G. W. (2006). The cytoplasmic tail of the human respiratory syncytial virus F protein plays critical roles in cellular localization of the F protein and infectious progeny production. *J. Virol.* 80, 10465–10477.
- Peretti, D., Dahan, N., Shimoni, E., Hirschberg, K., and Lev, S. (2008). Coordinated lipid transfer between the endoplasmic reticulum and the Golgi complex requires the VAP proteins and is essential for Golgimediated transport. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 19, 3871–3884.
- Perlemuter, G., Sabile, A., Letteron, P., Vona, G., Topilco, A., Chretien, Y., Koike, K., Pessayre, D., Chapman, J., Barba, G., and Brechot, C. (2002). Hepatitis C virus core protein inhibits microsomal triglyceride transfer protein activity and very low density lipoprotein secretion: a model of viral-related steatosis. *FASEB J.* 16, 185–194.
- Pietschmann, T., Kaul, A., Koutsoudakis, G., Shavinskaya, A., Kallis, S., Steinmann, E., Abid, K., Negro, F., Dreux, M., Cosset, F. L., and Bartenschlager, R. (2006). Construction and characterization of infectious intragenotypic and intergenotypic hepatitis C virus chimeras. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 7408–7413.
- Pietschmann, T., Lohmann, V., Kaul, A., Krieger, N., Rinck, G., Rutter, G., Strand, D., and Bartenschlager, R. (2002). Persistent and transient replication of full-length hepatitis C virus genomes in cell culture. *J. Virol.* 76, 4008–4021.
- Pileri, P., Uematsu, Y., Campagnoli, S., Galli, G., Falugi, F., Petracca, R., Weiner, A. J., Houghton, M., Rosa, D., Grandi, G., and Abrignani, S. (1998). Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 282, 938–941.
- Ploss, A., Evans, M. J., Gaysinskaya, V. A., Panis, M., You, H., De Jong, Y. P., and Rice, C. M. (2009). Human occludin is a hepatitis C virus entry factor required for infection of mouse cells. *Nature* 457, 882–886.
- Popescu, C. I., Callens, N., Trinel, D., Roingeard, P., Moradpour, D., Descamps, V., Duverlie, G., Penin, F., Heliot, L., Rouille, Y., and Dubuisson, J. (2011). NS2 protein of hepatitis C virus interacts with structural and nonstructural proteins towards virus assembly. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001278. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001278

- Pumeechockchai, W., Bevitt, D., Agarwal, K., Petropoulou, T., Langer, B. C., Belohradsky, B., Bassendine, M. F., and Toms, G. L. (2002). Hepatitis C virus particles of different density in the blood of chronically infected immunocompetent and immunodeficient patients: implications for virus clearance by antibody. J. Med. Virol. 68, 335–342.
- Rahfeld, J. U., Schierhorn, A., Mann, K., and Fischer, G. (1994). A novel peptidyl-prolyl cis/trans isomerase from *Escherichia coli*. *FEBS Lett.* 343, 65–69.
- Randall, G., Panis, M., Cooper, J. D., Tellinghuisen, T. L., Sukhodolets, K. E., Pfeffer, S., Landthaler, M., Landgraf, P., Kan, S., Lindenbach, B. D., Chien, M., Weir, D. B., Russo, J. J., Ju, J., Brownstein, M. J., Sheridan, R., Sander, C., Zavolan, M., Tuschl, T., and Rice, C. M. (2007). Cellular cofactors affecting hepatitis C virus infection and replication. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 104, 12884–12889.
- Reiss, S., Rebhan, I., Backes, P., Romero-Brey, I., Erfle, H., Matula, P., Kaderali, L., Poenisch, M., Blankenburg, H., Hiet, M. S., Longerich, T., Diehl, S., Ramirez, F., Balla, T., Rohr, K., Kaul, A., Buhler, S., Pepperkok, R., Lengauer, T., Albrecht, M., Eils, R., Schirmacher, P., Lohmann, V., and Bartenschlager, R. (2011). Recruitment and activation of a lipid kinase by hepatitis C virus NS5A is essential for integrity of the membranous replication compartment. *Cell Host Microbe* 9, 32–45.
- Ridgway, N. D., Dawson, P. A., Ho, Y. K., Brown, M. S., and Goldstein, J. L. (1992). Translocation of oxysterol binding protein to Golgi apparatus triggered by ligand binding. *J. Cell Biol.* 116, 307–319.
- Rubbia-Brandt, L., Quadri, R., Abid, K., Giostra, E., Male, P. J., Mentha, G., Spahr, L., Zarski, J. P., Borisch, B., Hadengue, A., and Negro, F. (2000). Hepatocyte steatosis is a cytopathic effect of hepatitis C virus genotype 3. *J. Hepatol.* 33, 106–115.
- Sainz, B. Jr., Barretto, N., Martin, D. N., Hiraga, N., Imamura, M., Hussain, S., Marsh, K. A., Yu, X., Chayama, K., Alrefai, W. A., and Uprichard, S. L. (2012). Identification of the Niemann-Pick C1-like 1 cholesterol absorption receptor as a new hepatitis C virus entry factor. *Nat. Med.* doi: 10.1038/nm.2581
- Sakamoto, H., Okamoto, K., Aoki, M., Kato, H., Katsume, A., Ohta, A., Tsukuda, T., Shimma, N., Aoki, Y., Arisawa, M., Kohara, M., and Sudoh, M. (2005). Host sphingolipid biosynthesis as a target for hepatitis

C virus therapy. Nat. Chem. Biol. 1, 333–337.

- Santolini, E., Migliaccio, G., and La Monica, N. (1994). Biosynthesis and biochemical properties of the hepatitis C virus core protein. J. Virol. 68, 3631–3641.
- Santolini, E., Pacini, L., Fipaldini, C., Migliaccio, G., and Monica, N. (1995). The NS2 protein of hepatitis C virus is a transmembrane polypeptide. J. Virol. 69, 7461–7471.
- Scarselli, E., Ansuini, H., Cerino, R., Roccasecca, R. M., Acali, S., Filocamo, G., Traboni, C., Nicosia, A., Cortese, R., and Vitelli, A. (2002). The human scavenger receptor class B type I is a novel candidate receptor for the hepatitis C virus. *EMBO J.* 21, 5017–5025.
- Schiene-Fischer, C., Habazettl, J., Schmid, F. X., and Fischer, G. (2002). The hsp70 chaperone DnaK is a secondary amide peptide bond cis-trans isomerase. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 9, 419–424.
- Shavinskaya, A., Boulant, S., Penin, F., Mclauchlan, J., and Bartenschlager, R. (2007). The lipid droplet binding domain of hepatitis C virus core protein is a major determinant for efficient virus assembly. *J. Biol. Chem.* 282, 37158–37169.
- Shi, S. T., Lee, K. J., Aizaki, H., Hwang, S. B., and Lai, M. M. (2003). Hepatitis C virus RNA replication occurs on a detergent-resistant membrane that cofractionates with caveolin-2. *J. Virol.* 77, 4160–4168.
- Siekierka, J. J., Hung, S. H., Poe, M., Lin, C. S., and Sigal, N. H. (1989a). A cytosolic binding protein for the immunosuppressant FK506 has peptidyl-prolyl isomerase activity but is distinct from cyclophilin. *Nature* 341, 755–757.
- Siekierka, J. J., Staruch, M. J., Hung, S. H., and Sigal, N. H. (1989b). FK-506, a potent novel immunosuppressive agent, binds to a cytosolic protein which is distinct from the cyclosporin A-binding protein, cyclophilin. J. Immunol. 143, 1580–1583.
- Skehel, P. A., Martin, K. C., Kandel, E. R., and Bartsch, D. (1995). A VAMP-binding protein from Aplysia required for neurotransmitter release. *Science* 269, 1580–1583.
- Soriano, V., Peters, M. G., and Zeuzem, S. (2009). New therapies for hepatitis C virus infection. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 48, 313–320.
- Spik, G., Haendler, B., Delmas, O., Mariller, C., Chamoux, M., Maes, P., Tartar, A., Montreuil, J., Stedman, K., Kocher, H. P., Keller, R., Hiestad, P. C., and Movva, N. R. (1991). A

novel secreted cyclophilin-like protein (SCYLP). J. Biol. Chem. 266, 10735–10738.

- Steinmann, E., Penin, F., Kallis, S., Patel, A. H., Bartenschlager, R., and Pietschmann, T. (2007). Hepatitis C virus p7 protein is crucial for assembly and release of infectious virions. *PLoS Pathog.* 3, e103. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.0030103
- Sumpter, R. Jr., Loo, Y. M., Foy, E., Li, K., Yoneyama, M., Fujita, T., Lemon, S. M., and Gale, M. Jr. (2005). Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I. J. Virol. 79, 2689–2699.
- Suzuki, R., Moriishi, K., Fukuda, K., Shirakura, M., Ishii, K., Shoji, I., Wakita, T., Miyamura, T., Matsuura, Y., and Suzuki, T. (2009). Proteasomal turnover of hepatitis C virus core protein is regulated by two distinct mechanisms: a ubiquitin-dependent mechanism and a ubiquitin-independent but PA28gamma-dependent mechanism. J. Virol. 83, 2389–2392.
- Tai, A. W., Benita, Y., Peng, L. F., Kim, S. S., Sakamoto, N., Xavier, R. J., and Chung, R. T. (2009). A functional genomic screen identifies cellular cofactors of hepatitis C virus replication. *Cell Host Microbe* 5, 298–307.
- Tai, A. W., and Salloum, S. (2011). The role of the phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase PI4KA in hepatitis C virus-induced host membrane rearrangement. PLoS ONE 6, e26300. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026300
- Takikawa, S., Ishii, K., Aizaki, H., Suzuki, T., Asakura, H., Matsuura, Y., and Miyamura, T. (2000). Cell fusion activity of hepatitis C virus envelope proteins. J. Virol. 74, 5066–5074.
- Targett-Adams, P., Hope, G., Boulant, S., and Mclauchlan, J. (2008). Maturation of hepatitis C virus core protein by signal peptide peptidase is required for virus production. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 16850–16859.
- Thomssen, R., Bonk, S., Propfe, C., Heermann, K. H., Kochel, H. G., and Uy, A. (1992). Association of hepatitis C virus in human sera with beta-lipoprotein. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 181, 293–300.
- Thomssen, R., Bonk, S., and Thiele, A. (1993). Density heterogeneities of hepatitis C virus in human sera due to the binding of beta-lipoproteins and immunoglobulins. *Med. Microbiol. Immunol.* 182, 329–334.
- Tory, R., Sachs-Barrable, K., Hill, J. S., and Wasan, K. M. (2008).

Cyclosporine A and rapamycin induce in vitro cholesteryl ester transfer protein activity, and suppress lipoprotein lipase activity in human plasma. *Int. J. Pharm.* 358, 219–223.

- Tripathi, L. P., Kataoka, C., Taguwa, S., Moriishi, K., Mori, Y., Matsuura, Y., and Mizuguchi, K. (2010). Network based analysis of hepatitis C virus core and NS4B protein interactions. *Mol. Biosyst.* 6, 2539–2553.
- Trotard, M., Lepere-Douard, C., Regeard, M., Piquet-Pellorce, C., Lavillette, D., Cosset, F. L., Gripon, P., and Le Seyec, J. (2009). Kinases required in hepatitis C virus entry and replication highlighted by small interference RNA screening. *FASEB* J. 23, 3780–3789.
- Tscherne, D. M., Jones, C. T., Evans, M. J., Lindenbach, B. D., Mckeating, J. A., and Rice, C. M. (2006). Time- and temperature-dependent activation of hepatitis C virus for low-pH-triggered entry. J. Virol. 80, 1734–1741.
- Tsukiyama-Kohara, K., Iizuka, N., Kohara, M., and Nomoto, A. (1992). Internal ribosome entry site within hepatitis C virus RNA. J. Virol. 66, 1476–1483.
- Tsutsumi, T., Suzuki, T., Shimoike, T., Suzuki, R., Moriya, K., Shintani, Y., Fujie, H., Matsuura, Y., Koike, K., and Miyamura, T. (2002). Interaction of hepatitis C virus core protein with retinoid X receptor alpha modulates its transcriptional activity. *Hepatol*ogy 35, 937–946.
- Tu, H., Gao, L., Shi, S. T., Taylor, D. R., Yang, T., Mircheff, A. K., Wen, Y., Gorbalenya, A. E., Hwang, S. B., and Lai, M. M. (1999). Hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase and NS5A complex with a SNARE-like protein. *Virology* 263, 30–41.
- Vaillancourt, F. H., Pilote, L., Cartier, M., Lippens, J., Liuzzi, M., Bethell, R. C., Cordingley, M. G., and Kukolj, G. (2009). Identification of a lipid kinase as a host factor involved in hepatitis C virus RNA replication. *Virology* 387, 5–10.
- Vieyres, G., Thomas, X., Descamps, V., Duverlie, G., Patel, A. H., and Dubuisson, J. (2010). Characterization of the envelope glycoproteins associated with infectious hepatitis C virus. *J. Virol.* 84, 10159–10168.
- Voisset, C., Lavie, M., Helle, F., Op De Beeck, A., Bilheu, A., Bertrand-Michel, J., Terce, F., Cocquerel, L., Wychowski, C., Vu-Dac, N., and Dubuisson, J. (2008). Ceramide enrichment of the plasma membrane induces CD81 internalization

and inhibits hepatitis C virus entry. *Cell. Microbiol.* 10, 606–617.

- Wakita, T., Pietschmann, T., Kato, T., Date, T., Miyamoto, M., Zhao, Z., Murthy, K., Habermann, A., Krausslich, H. G., Mizokami, M., Bartenschlager, R., and Liang, T. J. (2005). Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat. Med.* 11, 791–796.
- Wang, C., Gale, M. Jr., Keller, B. C., Huang, H., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., and Ye, J. (2005a). Identification of FBL2 as a geranylgeranylated cellular protein required for hepatitis C virus RNA replication. *Mol. Cell* 18, 425–434.
- Wang, P. Y., Weng, J., and Anderson, R. G. (2005b). OSBP is a cholesterolregulated scaffolding protein in control of ERK 1/2 activation. *Science* 307, 1472–1476.
- Watashi, K., Hijikata, M., Hosaka, M., Yamaji, M., and Shimotohno, K. (2003). Cyclosporin A suppresses replication of hepatitis C virus genome in cultured hepatocytes. *Hepatology* 38, 1282–1288.
- Watashi, K., Ishii, N., Hijikata, M., Inoue, D., Murata, T., Miyanari, Y., and Shimotohno, K. (2005). Cyclophilin B is a functional regulator of hepatitis C virus RNA polymerase. *Mol. Cell* 19, 111–122.
- Wolins, N. E., Brasaemle, D. L., and Bickel, P. E. (2006). A proposed model of fat packaging by exchangeable lipid droplet proteins. *FEBS Lett.* 580, 5484–5491.
- Wolk, B., Sansonno, D., Krausslich, H. G., Dammacco, F., Rice, C. M., Blum, H. E., and Moradpour, D. (2000). Subcellular localization, stability, and trans-cleavage competence of the hepatitis C virus NS3-NS4A complex expressed in tetracycline-regulated cell lines. J. Virol. 74, 2293–2304.
- Wozniak, A. L., Griffin, S., Rowlands, D., Harris, M., Yi, M., Lemon, S. M., and Weinman, S. A. (2010). Intracellular proton conductance of the hepatitis C virus p7 protein and its contribution to infectious virus production. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1001087. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001087
- Yamaga, A. K., and Ou, J. H. (2002). Membrane topology of the hepatitis C virus NS2 protein. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 33228–33234.
- Yang, F., Robotham, J. M., Nelson, H. B., Irsigler, A., Kenworthy, R., and Tang, H. (2008). Cyclophilin A is an essential cofactor for hepatitis C virus infection and the principal mediator of cyclosporine resistance in vitro. J. Virol. 82, 5269–5278.

- Ye, J., Wang, C., Sumpter, R. Jr., Brown, M. S., Goldstein, J. L., and Gale, M. Jr. (2003). Disruption of hepatitis C virus RNA replication through inhibition of host protein geranylgeranylation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 100, 15865–15870.
- Zhang, Z., and Zhang, R. (2008). Proteasome activator PA28 gamma regulates p53 by enhancing its MDM2mediated degradation. *EMBO J.* 27, 852–864.
- Zhong, J., Gastaminza, P., Cheng, G., Kapadia, S., Kato, T., Burton, D. R., Wieland, S. F., Uprichard, S. L., Wakita, T., and Chisari, F. V. (2005). Robust hepatitis C virus infection in vitro. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 102, 9294–9299.
- **Conflict of Interest Statement:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that

could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 December 2011; accepted: 31 January 2012; published online: 14 February 2012.

Citation: Moriishi K and Matsuura Y (2012) Exploitation of lipid components by viral and host proteins for hepatitis C virus infection. Front. Microbio. **3**:54. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00054 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Moriishi and Matsuura. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

Molecular mechanism of hepatitis C virus-induced glucose metabolic disorders

Ikuo Shoji *, Lin Deng and Hak Hotta

Division of Microbiology, Center for Infectious Diseases, Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine, Kobe, Japan

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Koji Ishii, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Kohji Moriishi, University of Yamanashi, Japan

*Correspondence:

Ikuo Shoji, Division of Microbiology, Center for Infectious Diseases, Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine, 7-5-1 Kusunoki-cho, Chuo-ku, Kobe, Hyogo 650-0017, Japan. e-mail: ishoji@med.kobe-u.ac.jp

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection causes not only intrahepatic diseases but also extrahepatic manifestations, including metabolic disorders. Chronic HCV infection is often associated with type 2 diabetes. However, the precise mechanism underlying this association is still unclear. Glucose is transported into hepatocytes via glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2). Hepatocytes play a crucial role in maintaining plasma glucose homeostasis via the gluconeogenic and glycolytic pathways. We have been investigating the molecular mechanism of HCVrelated type 2 diabetes using HCV RNA replicon cells and HCV J6/JFH1 system. We found that HCV replication down-regulates cell surface expression of GLUT2 at the transcriptional level. We also found that HCV infection promotes hepatic gluconeogenesis in HCV J6/JFH1-infected Huh-7.5 cells. HCV infection transcriptionally up-regulated the genes for phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) and glucose 6-phosphatase (G6Pase), the rate-limiting enzymes for hepatic gluconeogenesis. Gene expression of PEPCK and G6Pase was regulated by the transcription factor forkhead box O1 (FoxO1) in HCV-infected cells. Phosphorylation of FoxO1 at Ser319 was markedly diminished in HCV-infected cells, resulting in increased nuclear accumulation of FoxO1. HCV NS5A protein was directly linked with the FoxO1-dependent increased gluconeogenesis. This paper will discuss the current model of HCV-induced glucose metabolic disorders.

Keywords: HCV, diabetes, gluconeogenesis, GLUT2, FoxO1, JNK, NS5A

INTRODUCTION

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is a positive-sense, single stranded RNA virus that belongs to the genus *Hepacivirus* of the family *Flaviviridae*. The approximately 9.6-kb HCV genome encodes a unique open reading frame that is translated into a polyprotein of about 3,000 amino acids, which is cleaved by cellular signalases and viral proteases to generate at least 10 viral proteins, such as core, envelope 1 (E1) and E2, p7, NS2, NS3, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, and NS5B (Choo et al., 1991; Lemon et al., 2007).

Hepatitis C virus is the main cause of chronic hepatitis, liver cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma. More than 170 million people worldwide are chronically infected with HCV (Poynard et al., 2003). Persistent HCV infection causes not only liver diseases but also extrahepatic manifestations. It is well established that HCV perturbs the glucose metabolism, leading to insulin resistance and type 2 diabetes in predisposed individuals. Several epidemiological, clinical, and experimental data suggested that HCV infection serves as an additional risk factor for the development of diabetes (Mason et al., 1999; Negro and Alaei, 2009; Negro, 2011). HCV-related glucose metabolic changes and insulin resistance and diabetes have significant clinical consequences, such as accelerated fibrogenesis, increased incidence of hepatocellular carcinoma, and reduced virological response to interferon (IFN)-α-based therapy (Negro, 2011). Therefore, it is very important to clarify the molecular mechanism of HCV-related diabetes. However, the precise mechanisms are poorly understood.

Experimental data suggest a direct interference of HCV with the insulin signaling pathway. Transgenic mice expressing HCV

core gene exhibit insulin resistance (Shintani et al., 2004; Koike, 2007). In this transgenic mice model, both tyrosine phosphorylation of the insulin receptor substrate (IRS)-1 and IRS-2 are decreased. These decreases are recovered when the proteasome activator PA28 γ is deleted, suggesting that the HCV core protein suppresses insulin signaling through a PA28 γ -dependent pathway (Miyamoto et al., 2007). Several other reports also showed a link of the HCV core protein with insulin resistance (Kawaguchi et al., 2004; Pazienza et al., 2007).

Hepatocytes play a crucial role in maintaining plasma glucose homeostasis by adjusting the balance between hepatic glucose production and utilization via the gluconeogenic and glycolytic pathways, respectively. Gluconeogenesis is mainly regulated at the transcriptional level of the glucose 6-phosphatase (G6Pase) and phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase (PEPCK) genes, whereas glycolysis is mainly regulated by glucokinase (GK). Gluconeogenesis and glycolysis are coordinated so that one pathway is highly active within a cell while the other is relatively inactive. It is well known that increased hepatic glucose production via gluconeogenesis is a major feature of type 2 diabetes (Clore et al., 2000).

To identify a novel mechanism of HCV-related diabetes, we have been investigating the effects of HCV on glucose production in hepatocytes using HCV RNA replicon cells (Lohmann et al., 1999) and HCV J6/JFH1 cell culture system (Lindenbach et al., 2005; Wakita et al., 2005; Bungyoku et al., 2009). We previously reported that HCV replication suppresses cellular glucose uptake through down-regulation of cell surface expression of glucose transporter 2 (GLUT2; Kasai et al., 2009). Furthermore, we

recently reported that HCV promotes hepatic gluconeogenesis via an NS5A-mediated, forkhead box O1 (FoxO1)-dependent pathway, resulting in increased cellular glucose production in hepatocytes (Deng et al., 2011). This paper discusses our current model for HCV-induced glucose metabolic disorders.

HCV REPLICATION DOWN-REGULATES CELL SURFACE EXPRESSION OF GLUT2

The uptake of glucose into cells is conducted by the facilitative glucose carrier, glucose transporters (GLUTs). GLUTs are integral membrane proteins that contain 12 membrane-spanning helices. To date, a total of 14 isoforms have been identified in the GLUT family (Wu and Freeze, 2002; Macheda et al., 2005; Godoy et al., 2006). Glucose is transported into hepatocytes by GLUT2. We previously reported that HCV J6/JFH1 infection suppresses hepatocytic glucose uptake through down-regulation of surface expression of GLUT2 in human hepatoma cell line, Huh-7.5 cells (Kasai et al., 2009). We also demonstrated that GLUT2 expression in hepatocytes of the liver tissues from HCV-infected patients was significantly lower than in those from patients without HCV infection. Our data suggest that HCV infection down-regulates GLUT2 expression at transcriptional level. We are currently analyzing transcriptional control of human GLUT2 promoter in HCV replicon cells as well as in HCV J6/JFH1-infected cells.

HCV INFECTION PROMOTES HEPATIC GLUCONEOGENESIS

Then we analyzed hepatic glucose production and expression of transcription factors using HCV replicon cells and HCVcc system in order to clarify a role of HCV infection in glucose metabolic changes. Hepatic glucose production is usually regulated by

gluconeogenesis and glycolysis. Therefore, we examined whether HCV infection induces gluconeogenesis or glycolysis. We found that the PEPCK and G6Pase genes were transcriptionally upregulated in J6/JFH1-infected cells (**Figure 1**). On the other hand, the GK gene was transcriptionally down-regulated in HCVinfected cells. We obtained similar data in HCV replicon cells (both in subgenomic replicon cells and full-genomic replicon cells). When HCV replication was suppressed by IFN treatment, the up-regulation of PEPCK and G6Pase gene expression as well as the down-regulation of GK gene expression were canceled. From these results, HCV infection selectively up-regulates PEPCK and G6Pase genes, whereas HCV infection down-regulates GK gene (Deng et al., 2011).

Both HCV replicon cells and HCV-infected cells produced greater amounts of glucose than the control cells. IFN treatment canceled the enhanced glucose production in HCV replicon cells as well as in HCV-infected cells. G6P is an important precursor molecule that is converted to glucose in the gluconeogenesis pathway (**Figure 1**). Our metabolite analysis showed that a significantly higher level of G6P was accumulated in HCV-infected cells than in the control cells, suggesting that HCV indeed promotes hepatic gluconeogenesis to cause hyperglycemia. There is a trend toward an increase in gluconeogenesis in HCV-infected cells (**Figure 1**).

HCV SUPPRESSES Fox01 PHOSPHORYLATION AT Ser319, LEADING TO THE NUCLEAR ACCUMULATION OF Fox01

It has been reported that G6Pase, PEPCK, and GK are regulated by certain transcription factors, including FoxO1 (Hirota et al., 2008), hepatic nuclear factor 4α (HNF- 4α ; Hirota et al.,



2008), Krüppel-like factor 15 (KLF15; Takashima et al., 2010), and cyclic AMP (cAMP) response element binding protein (CREB; Rozance et al., 2008). While we were analyzing these factors in both HCV replicon cells and HCV J6/JFH1-infected cells, we found the involvement of the FoxO1 in the transcriptional activation of G6Pase and PEPCK (Deng et al., 2011). It is known that the FoxO1 enhances gluconeogenesis through the transcriptional activation of various genes, including G6Pase and PEPCK (Gross et al., 2008). The function of FoxO1 is regulated by post-translational modifications, including phosphorylation, ubiquitylation, and acetylation (Tzivion et al., 2011). The phosphorylated form of FoxO1 is exported from the nucleus to the cytosol, resulting in loss of its transcriptional activity (Figure 2). Phosphorylation status of FoxO1 at Ser319 is critical for FoxO1 nuclear exclusion (Zhao et al., 2004). Although the total amounts of FoxO1 protein were unchanged, FoxO1 phosphorylation at Ser319 was markedly suppressed in HCV-infected cells compared to that in the mockinfected cells. It is known that the FoxO1 is phosphorylated by the protein kinase Akt and is exported from the nucleus to the cytosol, resulting in loss of its transcriptional activity (Tzivion et al., 2011). The majority of FoxO1 was accumulated in the nuclear fraction in HCV-infected cells, whereas in control cells FoxO1 was distributed in both the nuclear and cytoplasmic fractions. Akt phosphorylation was enhanced in HCV-infected cells, although the protein levels of total Akt protein were comparable, which is consistent with the report by Burdette et al. (2010). Our findings suggest an interesting scenario in which the HCV-mediated suppression in FoxO1 phosphorylation is caused by an unknown mechanism independent of Akt activity.

HCV-INDUCED JNK ACTIVATION IS INVOLVED IN THE SUPPRESSION OF F0x01 PHOSPHORYLATION

It is known that the stress-sensitive serine/threonine kinase INK regulates FoxO at multiple levels (van der Horst and Burgering, 2007; Karpac and Jasper, 2009). We demonstrated that HCV infection induces phosphorylation and activation of JNK in a timedependent manner, which is similar to that observed for the suppression of FoxO1 phosphorylation. As a result, c-Jun, a key substrate for JNK, got phosphorylated and activated in HCV-infected cells. The JNK inhibitor SP600125 clearly prevented the phosphorylation of c-Jun, and concomitantly recovered the suppression of FoxO1 phosphorylation in HCV-infected cells, suggesting that HCV activates the JNK/c-Jun signaling pathway, resulting in the nuclear accumulation of FoxO1 by reducing its phosphorylation status. The detailed mechanisms of HCV-induced suppression of FoxO1 phosphorylation via the JNK/c-Jun signaling pathway remain to be explored. There are at least two possibilities. The JNK/c-Jun signaling pathway (1) suppresses a protein kinase, or (2) activates a protein phosphatase to reduce phosphorylation of FoxO1.

HCV-INDUCED MITOCHONDRIAL REACTIVE OXYGEN SPECIES PRODUCTION IS INVOLVED IN INCREASED GLUCOSE PRODUCTION THROUGH JNK ACTIVATION

Hepatitis C virus infection increases mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS) production (Deng et al., 2008). *N*-acetyl cysteine (NAC; a general antioxidant) clearly prevented the phosphorylation of JNK, and concomitantly canceled the suppression of FoxO1 phosphorylation in HCV-infected cells, suggesting that



FIGURE 2 | A proposed mechanism of HCV-induced glucose metabolic disorders. HCV infection down-regulates cell surface expression of GLUT2 in hepatocytes at the transcriptional level. HCV down-regulates a transcription factor involved in GLUT2 gene expression through an unknown mechanism. HCV infection induces mitochondria damage and ROS production, leading to JNK activation. HCV NS4A protein is involved in mitochondrial damage. HCV NS5A protein is involved in ROS production. HCV-induced ROS production causes JNK activation, resulting in the decreased phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation of FoxO1. Nuclear accumulation of FoxO1 up-regulates gene expression of PEPCK and G6Pase, leading eventually to increased glucose production by gluconeogenesis. High glucose levels in the hepatocytes may confer an advantage in efficient replication of HCV.

HCV-induced ROS production is involved in the JNK activation. There was no significant difference in HCV RNA replication or infectious virus release between SP600125- or NAC-treated HCV-infected cells and non-treated HCV-infected cells. These results suggest that ROS-mediated JNK activation plays a key role in the suppression of FoxO1 phosphorylation, nuclear accumulation of FoxO1, and enhancement of glucose production in HCV-infected cells (Deng et al., 2011).

HCV NS5A IS INVOLVED IN THE ENHANCEMENT OF GLUCOSE PRODUCTION

Then we sought to determine which HCV protein(s) is involved in the enhancement of glucose production. Transient expression of NS5A protein in Huh-7.5 cells significantly promoted the gene expression levels of G6Pase and PEPCK determined by real time quantitative RT-PCR. Promoter assay revealed that the level of PEPCK promoter activity was significantly higher in NS5A-expressing cells than in the control cells. Our results suggest that NS5A activate both the PEPCK promoter and the G6Pase promoter, leading to an increase in glucose production (Deng et al., 2011). The study by Banerjee et al. (2010) suggests that the HCV core protein modulates FoxO1 and FoxA2 activation and affects insulin-induced metabolic gene regulation in human hepatocytes. Our results, however, suggest that the HCV core protein is not significantly involved in the increased gluconeogenesis (Deng et al., 2011). The difference between these two studies needs to be explored.

There were previous reports suggesting that ROS production is induced in NS5A-expressing cells (Dionisio et al., 2009) or in hepatocytes of NS5A transgenic mice (Wang et al., 2009). We therefore sought to determine whether NS5A contributes to increased hepatic gluconeogenesis through the induction of ROS production. NS5A-expressing cells displayed a much stronger signal of ROS than in control cells. NS5A-expressing cells promoted phosphorylation level at Ser63 of c-Jun and suppressed FoxO1 phosphorylation at Ser319, suggesting that NS5A mediates JNK/c-Jun activation and FoxO1 phosphorylation suppression. These results suggest that NS5A play a role in the HCV-induced enhancement of hepatic gluconeogenesis through JNK/c-Jun activation and FoxO1 phosphorylation suppression.

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTIVES

Taken together, we propose a model of HCV-induced glucose metabolic disorders as shown in **Figure 2**. HCV infection down-regulates cell surface expression of GLUT2 in hepatocytes at the transcriptional level. HCV down-regulates a transcription factor involved in GLUT2 gene expression through an unknown mechanism. As GLUT2 is a facilitative GLUT, it ensures large bidirectional fluxes of glucose in and out the cell due to its low affinity and high capacity (Leturque et al., 2009). Down-regulated

REFERENCES

Banerjee, A., Meyer, K., Mazumdar, B., Ray, R. B., and Ray, R. (2010). Hepatitis C virus differentially modulates activation of forkhead transcription factors and insulin-induced metabolic gene expression. J. Virol. 84, 5936–5946.

Bungyoku, Y., Shoji, I., Makine, T., Adachi, T., Hayashida, K., Nagano-Fujii, M., Ide, Y. H., Deng, L., and Hotta, H. (2009). Efficient cell surface expression of GLUT2 results in disruption of bidirectional transport of glucose in hepatocytes. Even in the fasting state, down-regulation of GLUT2 may result in low glucose uptake of hepatocytes, causing hyperglycemia. In the fed state, glucose secretion from hepatocytes may be suppressed due to low level cell surface expression of GLUT2, as GLUT2 is a bidirectional transporter.

Hepatitis C virus infection induces mitochondria damage and ROS production, leading to JNK activation. HCV NS4A protein is involved in mitochondrial damage (Nomura-Takigawa et al., 2006). HCV NS5A protein is involved in ROS production (Dionisio et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009; Deng et al., 2011). HCVinduced ROS production causes JNK activation, which results in the decreased phosphorylation and nuclear accumulation of FoxO1 by an unidentified mechanism. Nuclear accumulation of FoxO1 up-regulates gene expression of PEPCK and G6Pase, leading eventually to increased glucose production by gluconeogenesis (Deng et al., 2011).

These two pathways, HCV-induced down-regulation of GLUT2 expression and up-regulation of gluconeogenesis, may contribute to development of type 2 diabetes in HCV-infected patients at least to some extent. HCV-induced down-regulation of GLUT2 expression and up-regulation of gluconeogenesis may result in high concentration of glucose in HCVinfected hepatocytes. As suggested in a recent study, low glucose concentration in the hepatocytes inhibits HCV replication (Nakashima et al., 2011). Therefore, high glucose levels in the hepatocytes may confer an advantage in efficient replication of HCV.

Our understanding of HCV-induced glucose metabolic disorders will require much more work to fully unfold this pathway. Further investigation including the mechanism of HCV-induced GLUT2 downregualtion, JNK-mediated decreased phosphorylation of FoxO1, and the possible effect(s) of the dysregulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis on the HCV life cycle and host cells are currently under way.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to all of their co-workers who contributed to the studies cited here. This work was supported in part by grants-in-aid for Research on Hepatitis from the Ministry of Health, Labor and Welfare, Japan, and the Japan Initiative for Global Research Network on Infectious Diseases (J-GRID) program of Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology, Japan. This study was also carried out as part of the Global Center of Excellence program of Kobe University Graduate School of Medicine, and the Science and Technology Research Partnership for Sustainable Development (SATREPS) program of Japan Science and Technology Agency (JST) and Japan International Cooperation Agency (JICA).

production of infectious hepatitis C virus with adaptive mutations in cultured hepatoma cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* 90, 1681–1691.

Burdette, D., Olivarez, M., and Waris, G. (2010). Activation of transcription

factor Nrf2 by hepatitis C virus induces the cell-survival pathway. *J. Gen. Virol.* 91, 681–690.

Choo, Q. L., Richman, K. H., Han, J. H., Berger, K., Lee, C., Dong, C., Gallegos, C., Coit, D., Medina-Selby, R., Barr, P. J., Weiner, A. J., Bredley, D. W., Kuo, G., and Houghton, M. (1991). Genetic organization and diversity of the hepatitis C virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 2451–2455.

- Clore, J. N., Stillman, J., and Sugerman, H. (2000). Glucose-6-phosphatase flux in vitro is increased in type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes* 49, 969–974.
- Deng, L., Adachi, T., Kitayama, K., Bungyoku, Y., Kitazawa, S., Ishido, S., Shoji, I., and Hotta, H. (2008). Hepatitis C virus infection induces apoptosis through a Bax-triggered, mitochondrion-mediated, caspase 3-dependent pathway. J. Virol. 82, 10375–10385.
- Deng, L., Shoji, I., Ogawa, W., Kaneda, S., Soga, T., Jiang, D. P., Ide, Y. H., and Hotta, H. (2011). Hepatitis C virus infection promotes hepatic gluconeogenesis through an NS5Amediated, FoxO1-dependent pathway. J. Virol. 85, 8556–8568.
- Dionisio, N., Garcia-Mediavilla, M. V., Sanchez-Campos, S., Majano, P. L., Benedicto, I., Rosado, J. A., Salido, G. M., and Gonzalez-Gallego, J. (2009). Hepatitis C virus NS5A and core proteins induce oxidative stressmediated calcium signalling alterations in hepatocytes. J. Hepatol. 50, 872–882.
- Godoy, A., Ulloa, V., Rodriguez, F., Reinicke, K., Yanez, A. J., Garcia Mde, L., Medina, R. A., Carrasco, M., Barberis, S., Castro, T., Martinez, F., Koch, X., Vera, J. C., Poblete, M. T., Figueroa, C. D., Peruzzo, B., Perez, F., and Nualart, F. (2006). Differential subcellular distribution of glucose transporters GLUT1-6 and GLUT9 in human cancer: ultrastructural localization of GLUT1 and GLUT5 in breast tumor tissues. J. Cell. Physiol. 207, 614–627.
- Gross, D. N., van den Heuvel, A. P., and Birnbaum, M. J. (2008). The role of FoxO in the regulation of metabolism. *Oncogene* 27, 2320–2336.
- Hirota, K., Sakamaki, J., Ishida, J., Shimamoto, Y., Nishihara, S., Kodama, N., Ohta, K., Yamamoto, M., Tanimoto, K., and Fukamizu, A. (2008). A combination of HNF-4 and Foxo1 is required for reciprocal transcriptional regulation of glucokinase and glucose-6-phosphatase genes in response to fasting and feeding. J. Biol. Chem. 283, 32432–32441.
- Karpac, J., and Jasper, H. (2009). Insulin and JNK: optimizing metabolic homeostasis and lifespan. *Trends Endocrinol. Metab.* 20, 100–106.
- Kasai, D., Adachi, T., Deng, L., Nagano-Fujii, M., Sada, K., Ikeda, M.,

Kato, N., Ide, Y. H., Shoji, I., and Hotta, H. (2009). HCV replication suppresses cellular glucose uptake through down-regulation of cell surface expression of glucose transporters. *J. Hepatol.* 50, 883–894.

- Kawaguchi, T., Yoshida, T., Harada, M., Hisamoto, T., Nagao, Y., Ide, T., Taniguchi, E., Kumemura, H., Hanada, S., Maeyama, M., Baba, S., Koga, H., Kumashiro, R., Ueno, T., Ogata, H., Yoshimura, A., and Sata, M. (2004). Hepatitis C virus downregulates insulin receptor substrates 1 and 2 through up-regulation of suppressor of cytokine signaling 3. *Am. J. Pathol.* 165, 1499–1508.
- Koike, K. (2007). Hepatitis C virus contributes to hepatocarcinogenesis by modulating metabolic and intracellular signaling pathways. J. Gastroenterol. Hepatol. 22(Suppl. 1), S108– S111.
- Lemon, S. M., Walker, C., Alter, M. J., and Yi, M. (2007). "Hepatitis C virus," in *Fields' Virology*, 5th Edn, eds B. N. Fields, D. M. Knipe, and P. M. Howley (Philadelphia, PA: Wolters Kluwer Health/Lippincott Williams and Wilkins), 1291–1304.
- Leturque, A., Brot-Laroche, E., and Le Gall, M. (2009). GLUT2 mutations, translocation, and receptor function in diet sugar managing. *Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab.* 296, E985– E992.
- Lindenbach, B. D., Evans, M. J., Syder, A. J., Wolk, B., Tellinghuisen, T. L., Liu, C. C., Maruyama, T., Hynes, R. O., Burton, D. R., McKeating, J. A., and Rice, C. M. (2005). Complete replication of hepatitis C virus in cell culture. *Science* 309, 623–626.
- Lohmann, V., Korner, F., Koch, J., Herian, U., Theilmann, L., and Bartenschlager, R. (1999). Replication of subgenomic hepatitis C virus RNAs in a hepatoma cell line. *Science* 285, 110–113.
- Macheda, M. L., Rogers, S., and Best, J. D. (2005). Molecular and cellular regulation of glucose transporter (GLUT) proteins in cancer. J. Cell. Physiol. 202, 654–662.
- Mason, A. L., Lau, J. Y., Hoang, N., Qian, K., Alexander, G. J., Xu, L., Guo, L., Jacob, S., Regenstein, F. G., Zimmerman, R., Everhart, J. E., Wasserfall, C., Maclaren, N. K., and Perrillo, R. P. (1999). Association of diabetes mellitus and chronic hepatitis C virus infection. *Hepatology* 29, 328–333.
- Miyamoto, H., Moriishi, K., Moriya, K., Murata, S., Tanaka, K., Suzuki, T., Miyamura, T., Koike, K., and Matsuura, Y. (2007). Involvement of the

PA28gamma-dependent pathway in insulin resistance induced by hepatitis C virus core protein. *J. Virol.* 81, 1727–1735.

- Nakashima, K., Takeuchi, K., Chihara, K., Hotta, H., and Sada, K. (2011). Inhibition of hepatitis C virus replication through adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase-dependent and -independent pathways. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 55, 774–782.
- Negro, F. (2011). Mechanisms of hepatitis C virus-related insulin resistance. *Clin. Res. Hepatol. Gastroenterol.* 35, 358–363.
- Negro, F., and Alaei, M. (2009). Hepatitis C virus and type 2 diabetes. *World J. Gastroenterol.* 15, 1537–1547.
- Nomura-Takigawa, Y., Nagano-Fujii, M., Deng, L., Kitazawa, S., Ishido, S., Sada, K., and Hotta, H. (2006). Nonstructural protein 4A of Hepatitis C virus accumulates on mitochondria and renders the cells prone to undergoing mitochondriamediated apoptosis. J. Gen. Virol. 87, 1935–1945.
- Pazienza, V., Clement, S., Pugnale, P., Conzelman, S., Foti, M., Mangia, A., and Negro, F. (2007). The hepatitis C virus core protein of genotypes 3a and 1b downregulates insulin receptor substrate 1 through genotypespecific mechanisms. *Hepatology* 45, 1164–1171.
- Poynard, T., Yuen, M. F., Ratziu, V., and Lai, C. L. (2003). Viral hepatitis C. *Lancet* 362, 2095–2100.
- Rozance, P. J., Limesand, S. W., Barry, J. S., Brown, L. D., Thorn, S. R., LoTurco, D., Regnault, T. R., Friedman, J. E. and Hay, W. W. Jr. (2008). Chronic late-gestation hypoglycemia upregulates hepatic PEPCK associated with increased PGC1alpha mRNA and phosphorylated CREB in fetal sheep. Am. J. Physiol. Endocrinol. Metab. 294, E365–E370.
- Shintani, Y., Fujie, H., Miyoshi, H., Tsutsumi, T., Tsukamoto, K., Kimura, S., Moriya, K., and Koike, K. (2004). Hepatitis C virus infection and diabetes: direct involvement of the virus in the development of insulin resistance. *Gastroenterology* 126, 840–848.
- Takashima, M., Ogawa, W., Hayashi, K., Inoue, H., Kinoshita, S., Okamoto, Y., Sakaue, H., Wataoka, Y., Emi, A., Senga, Y., Matsuki, Y., Watanabe, E., Hiramatsu, R., and Kasuga, M. (2010). Role of KLF15 in regulation of hepatic gluconeogenesis and metformin action. *Diabetes* 59, 1608–1615.

- Tzivion, G., Dobson, M., and Ramakrishnan, G. (2011). FoxO transcription factors; Regulation by AKT and 14-3-3 proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta* 1813, 1938–1945.
- van der Horst, A., and Burgering, B. M. (2007). Stressing the role of FoxO proteins in lifespan and disease. *Nat. Rev. Mol. Cell Biol.* 8, 440–450.
- Wakita, T., Pietschmann, T., Kato, T., Date, T., Miyamoto, M., Zhao, Z., Murthy, K., Habermann, A., Krausslich, H. G., Mizokami, M., Bartenschlager, R., and Liang, T. J. (2005). Production of infectious hepatitis C virus in tissue culture from a cloned viral genome. *Nat. Med.* 11, 791–796.
- Wang, A. G., Lee, D. S., Moon, H. B., Kim, J. M., Cho, K. H., Choi, S. H., Ha, H. L., Han, Y. H., Kim, D. G., Hwang, S. B., and Yu, D. Y. (2009). Non-structural 5A protein of hepatitis C virus induces a range of liver pathology in transgenic mice. *J. Pathol.* 219, 253–262.
- Wu, X., and Freeze, H. H. (2002). GLUT14, a duplicon of GLUT3, is specifically expressed in testis as alternative splice forms. *Genomics* 80, 553–557.
- Zhao, X., Gan, L., Pan, H., Kan, D., Majeski, M., Adam, S. A., and Unterman, T. G. (2004). Multiple elements regulate nuclear/cytoplasmic shuttling of FOXO1: characterization of phosphorylation- and 14-3-3dependent and -independent mechanisms. *Biochem. J.* 378, 839–849.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 01 December 2011; accepted: 25 December 2011; published online: 10 January 2012.

Citation: Shoji I, Deng L and Hotta H (2012) Molecular mechanism of hepatitis C virus-induced glucose metabolic disorders. Front. Microbio. **2**:278. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00278

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Shoji, Deng and Hotta. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Masahiko Ito, Hideki Kusunoki and Toshiaki Mizuochi*

Department of Research on Blood and Biological Products, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Tokyo, Japan *Correspondence: miz@nih.go.jp

Hepatitis C virus (HCV) is an enveloped positive-stranded RNA virus of approximately 9.6 kb that belongs to the Flaviviridae family (Suzuki et al., 2007). HCV infection is a global health problem affecting nearly 200 million people (Lauer and Walker, 2001). The infection causes prolonged and persistent disease in over half of viral carriers that often leads to chronic hepatitis, cirrhosis, and hepatocellular carcinoma (Afdhal, 2004). Recent studies have suggested that HCV infects not only hepatocytes but also peripheral mononuclear lymphocytes, particularly B cells, which express CD81, a widely expressed tetraspanin molecule. CD81 has been shown to interact with the E2 region of HCV envelope proteins (Pileri et al., 1998) and is thus regarded as one of the key molecules involved in HCV infection. HCV infection of B cells is the likely cause of various B cell dysregulation disorders. Herein, we propose that HCV uses peripheral B cells as reservoirs for persistent infection, which are in turn responsible for HCV pathogenesis.

Although the liver is considered the primary and main target of HCV infection, extrahepatic manifestations such as mixed cryoglobulinemia, a systemic immune complex-mediated disorder characterized by B cell proliferation that may evolve into overt B cell non-Hodgkin's lymphoma (B-NHL), are often recognized among patients persistently infected with HCV (Agnello et al., 1992; Zuckerman et al., 1997). Epidemiological evidence strongly suggests a close association between chronic HCV infection and B-NHL occurrence (Turner et al., 2003; de Sanjose et al., 2008). A pathogenic role of HCV in B cell disorders has been further demonstrated by studies in which the clinical resolution of B cell dysfunctions was observed after successful regimens of anti-HCV treatment (Mazzaro et al., 1996; Agnello et al., 2002). Based on the aforementioned data, Antonelli et al. (2008) postulated a role of B cells in HCV pathogenesis. In accordance with this notion, our recent study clearly demonstrated

that HCV infects and may replicate in the peripheral CD19⁺ B cells of chronic hepatitis C (CHC) patients (Ito et al., 2010a). In order to determine how HCV evades antiviral innate immune responses that are normally induced in B cells, we analyzed expression levels of IFN- β in peripheral B cells of CHC patients because type I IFN plays a critical role in the antiviral innate immune response. We found that HCV infection failed to trigger antiviral immune responses, such as IFN-B production, in B cells of CHC patients (Ito et al., 2010b). This suggests that HCV evades antiviral innate immune responses in peripheral B cells and uses these cells as reservoirs for its persistent infection in the host.

The idea that B cells may serve as HCV reservoirs was advocated by Muller et al. (1993). Several subsequently published

papers also favored the notion of HCV lymphotropism (Ducoulombier et al., 2004; Blackard et al., 2006; Pal et al., 2006). Figure 1 illustrates the possible process of HCV infection in B cells based on previous studies using human hepatocyte-derived cell lines (Burlone and Budkowska, 2009; Georgel et al., 2010). Among B cell subsets, memory B cells are assumed to be the main reservoirs of HCV infection primarily because of their long lifespans. In support of this notion, our recent study indicated that CD19⁺ CD27⁺ cells (i.e., memory B cell phenotype) express a high amount of CXCR3, a chemokine receptor, and are recruited to the inflammatory site in the liver of CHC patients where IFNγ-inducible protein-10, a CXCR3 ligand, is highly produced (Mizuochi et al., 2010; Figure 1). This unique strategy seems to



FIGURE 1 | Proposed lifecycle of HCV in B cell. The life cycle of the hepatitis C virus (HCV) has several specific steps. Virus entry is mediated by the direct interaction of envelope glycoproteins with co-receptors, presumably E2–CD81 binding. CLDN1 and SR-BI are not expressed in B cell. Innate immunity response against HCV is suppressed by HCV infection. Some HCV-encoding proteins, i.e., core and NS3, have been proven to be expressed in B cells. HCV RNA replication was examined by nested PCR and *in situ* hybridization. Mechanisms of virus assembly, vesicle fusion, and virion release in B cell remain unknown. LDLR, low-density lipoprotein receptor; SR-BI, scavenger receptor class B type I; SR-BII, scavenger receptor 3; IP-10, interferon gamma-induced protein-10.

be beneficial for HCV in securing sites for persistent infection. HCV may search for reservoir sites in cellular compartments other than hepatocytes in case the liver becomes unsuitable for HCV replication, perhaps because of cellular destruction caused by the host immune response and/ or by irrelevant conditions for successful virus replication, such as the development of cirrhosis or hepatocellular carcinoma.

At least two important issues remain to be investigated. First, how do HCV-infected B cells evade "acquired/adaptive" immune responses represented by cytotoxic T cells (CTL)? In peripheral blood, the frequencies of HCV-specific CD8+ lymphocytes with persistent HCV infection are lower than those with acute HCV infection. Furthermore, the CTL response to the HCV antigen is impaired in chronic HCV patients (Lechner et al., 2000). Interestingly, the percentage of CTL in peripheral blood is lower than that in the liver, which may be advantageous for persistent HCV infection in B cells. Because the peripheral B cells of CHC patients express the HCV core as well as NS3 antigens (Ito et al., 2010a), both of which encode functional CTL epitopes (Hiroishi et al., 2010), it is possible that HCV-infected B cells are eliminated by CTL to some extent. However, the fact that substantial amounts of HCV-infected B cells are found in CHC patients suggests incomplete elimination by CTL by an inhibitory mechanism, i.e., HCV E2-mediated inhibition of IL-2/IFN-y secretion (Petrovic et al., 2011). Second, do HCV-infected B cells produce infectious HCV? Stamataki et al. (2009) demonstrated that the infectious JFH-1 strain of HCV can bind B cells but fails to establish productive infection. On the other hand, Inokuchi et al. (2009) recently demonstrated the presence of negative-stranded HCV RNA, a marker of viral replication, in B cells from 4 of 75 (5%) CHC patients. These results support the notion that HCV replicates in B cells and suggest that infectious HCV are produced in B cells. We have currently been investigating this intriguing issue by using an in vitro assay system.

In conclusion, lymphoid reservoirs of HCV infection may play a role in viral persistence and thereby be involved in its pathogenesis. Infection and replication of HCV in peripheral B cells should be regarded as a considerable impediment to the treatment of CHC patients undergoing various antiviral regimens. From a therapeutic viewpoint, it may be beneficial to eliminate peripheral B cells in CHC patients by administering anti-B cell antibodies, such as rituximab, along with combination chemotherapy of peg-IFN- α and ribavirin, which eliminate circulating HCV in the blood. Together, this could lead to a synergistic effect on HCV clearance in CHC patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This work was supported by Grants-in-Aid from the Ministry of Health, Labour, and Welfare, Japan.

REFERENCES

- Afdhal, N. H. (2004). The natural history of hepatitis C. Semin. Liver Dis. 24(Suppl. 2), 3–8.
- Agnello, V., Chung, R. T., and Kaplan, L. M. (1992). A role for hepatitis C virus infection in type II cryoglobulinemia. N. Engl. J. Med. 327, 1490–1495.
- Agnello, V., Mecucci, C., and Casato, M. (2002). Regression of splenic lymphoma after treatment of hepatitis C virus infection. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 347, 2168–2170.
- Antonelli, A., Ferri, C., Galeazzi, M., Giannitti, C., Manno, D., Mieli-Vergani, G., Menegatti, E., Olivieri, I., Puoti, M., Palazzi, C., Roccatello, D., Vergani, D., Sarzi-Puttini, P., and Atzeni, F. (2008). HCV infection: pathogenesis, clinical manifestation and therapy. *Clin. Exp. Rheumatol.* 26(Suppl. 48), S39–S47.
- Blackard, J. T., Kemmer, N., and Sherman, K. E. (2006). Extrahepatic replication of HCV: insights into clinical manifestations and biological consequences. *Hepatology* 44, 15–22.
- Burlone, M. E., and Budkowska, A. (2009). Hepatitis C virus cell entry: role of lipoproteins and cellular receptors. J. Gen. Virol. 90, 1055–1070.
- de Sanjose, S., Benavente, Y., Vajdic, C. M., Engels, E. A., Morton, L. M., Bracci, P. M., Spinelli, J. J., Zheng, T., Zhang, Y., Franceschi, S., Talamini, R., Holly, E. A., Grulich, A. E., Cerhan, J. R., Hartge, P., Cozen, W., Boffetta, P., Brennan, P., Maynadie, M., Cocco, P., Bosch, R., Foretova, L., Staines, A., Becker, N., and Nieters, A. (2008). Hepatitis C and non-Hodgkin lymphoma among 4784 cases and 6269 controls from the International Lymphoma Epidemiology Consortium. *Clin. Gastroenterol. Hepatol.* 6, 451–458.
- Ducoulombier, D., Roque-Afonso, A. M., Di Liberto, G., Penin, F., Kara, R., Richard, Y., Dussaix, E., and Feray, C. (2004). Frequent compartmentalization of hepatitis C virus variants in circulating B cells and monocytes. *Hepatology* 39, 817–825.
- Georgel, P., Schuster, C., Zeisel, M. B., Stoll-Keller, F., Berg, T., Bahram, S., and Baumert, T. F. (2010). Virus-host interactions in hepatitis C virus infection: implications for molecular pathogenesis and antiviral strategies. *Trends Mol. Med.* 16, 277–286.
- Hiroishi, K., Eguchi, J., Ishii, S., Hiraide, A., Sakaki, M., Doi, H., Omori, R., and Imawari, M. (2010). Immune response of cytotoxic T lymphocytes and possibility of vaccine development for hepa-

titis C virus infection. J. Biomed. Biotechnol. doi: 10.1155/2010/263810

- Inokuchi, M., Ito, T., Uchikoshi, M., Shimozuma, Y., Morikawa, K., Nozawa, H., Shimazaki, T., Hiroishi, K., Miyakawa, Y., and Imawari, M. (2009). Infection of B cells with hepatitis C virus for the development of lymphoproliferative disorders in patients with chronic hepatitis C. J. Med. Virol. 81, 619–627.
- Ito, M., Murakami, K., Suzuki, T., Mochida, K., Suzuki, M., Ikebuchi, K., Yamaguchi, K., and Mizuochi, T. (2010a). Enhanced expression of lymphomagenesis-related genes in peripheral blood B cells of chronic hepatitis C patients. *Clin. Immunol.* 135, 459–465.
- Ito, M., Masumi, A., Mochida, K., Kukihara, H., Moriishi, K., Matsuura, Y., Yamaguchi, K., and Mizuochi, T. (2010b). Peripheral B cells may serve as a reservoir for persistent hepatitis C virus infection. *J. Innate Immun.* 2, 607–617.
- Lauer, G. M., and Walker, B. D. (2001). Hepatitis C virus infection. N. Engl. J. Med. 345, 41–52.
- Lechner, F., Wong, D. K., Dunbar, P. R., Chapman, R., Chung, R. T., Dohrenwend, P., Robbins, G., Phillips, R., Klenerman, P., and Walker, B. D. (2000). Analysis of successful immune responses in persons infected with hepatitis C virus. J. Exp. Med. 191, 1499–1512.
- Mazzaro, C., Franzin, F., Tulissi, P., Pussini, E., Crovatto, M., Carniello, G. S., Efremov, D. G., Burrone, O., Santini, G., and Pozzato, G. (1996). Regression of monoclonal B-cell expansion in patients affected by mixed cryoglobulinemia responsive to alpha-interferon therapy. *Cancer* 77, 2604–2613.
- Mizuochi, T., Ito, M., Saito, K., Kasai, M., Kunimura, T., Morohoshi, T., Momose, H., Hamaguchi, I., Takai, K., Iino, S., Suzuki, M., Mochida, S., Ikebuchi, K., and Yamaguchi, K. (2010). Possible recruitment of peripheral blood CXCR3+ CD27+ CD19+ B cells to the liver of chronic hepatitis C patients. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 30, 243–252.
- Muller, H. M., Pfaff, E., Goeser, T., Kallinowski, B., Solbach, C., and Theilmann, L. (1993). Peripheral blood leukocytes serve as a possible extrahepatic site for hepatitis C virus replication. *J. Gen. Virol.* 74(Pt 4), 669–676.
- Pal, S., Sullivan, D. G., Kim, S., Lai, K. K., Kae, J., Cotler, S. J., Carithers, R. L. Jr., Wood, B. L., Perkins, J. D., and Gretch, D. R. (2006). Productive replication of hepatitis C virus in perihepatic lymph nodes in vivo: implications of HCV lymphotropism. *Gastroenterology* 130, 1107–1116.
- Petrovic, D., Stamataki, Z., Dempsey, E., Golden-Mason, L., Freeley, M., Doherty, D., Prichard, D., Keogh, C., Conroy, J., Mitchell, S., Volkov, Y., McKeating, J. A., O'Farrelly, C., Kelleher, D., and Long, A. (2011). Hepatitis C virus targets the T cell secretory machinery as a mechanism of immune evasion. *Hepatology* 53, 1846–1853.
- Pileri, P., Uematsu, Y., Campagnoli, S., Galli, G., Falugi, F., Petracca, R., Weiner, A. J., Houghton, M., Rosa, D., Grandi, G., and Abrignani, S. (1998). Binding of hepatitis C virus to CD81. *Science* 282, 938–941.
- Stamataki, Z., Shannon-Lowe, C., Shaw, J., Mutimer, D., Rickinson, A. B., Gordon, J., Adams, D. H., Balfe, P., and McKeating, J.A. (2009). Hepatitis C virus association with peripheral blood B lymphocytes potentiates viral infection of liver-derived hepatoma cells. *Blood* 113, 585–593.
- Suzuki, T., Ishii, K., Aizaki, H., and Wakita, T. (2007). Hepatitis C viral life cycle. *Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev.* 59, 1200–1212.

- Turner, N. C., Dusheiko, G., and Jones, A. (2003). Hepatitis C and B-cell lymphoma. *Ann. Oncol.* 14, 1341–1345.
- Zuckerman, E., Zuckerman, T., Levine, A. M., Douer, D., Gutekunst, K., Mizokami, M., Qian, D. G., Velankar, M., Nathwani, B. N., and Fong, T. L. (1997). Hepatitis C virus infection in patients with B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. Ann. Intern. Med. 127, 423–428.

Received: 04 July 2011; accepted: 11 August 2011; published online: 31 August 2011.

Citation: Ito M, Kusunoki H and Mizuochi T (2011) Peripheral B cells as reservoirs for persistent HCV infection. Front. Microbio. 2:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2011.00177 This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2011 Ito, Kusunoki and Mizuochi. This is an open-access article subject to a non-exclusive license between the authors and Frontiers Media SA, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited and other Frontiers conditions are complied with.



Scavenger receptor B2 as a receptor for hand, foot, and mouth disease and severe neurological diseases

Seiya Yamayoshi, Ken Fujii and Satoshi Koike*

Neurovirology Project, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Yorihiro Nishimura, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

*Correspondence:

Satoshi Koike, Neurovirology Project, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, 2-1-6 Kamikitazawa, Setagaya-ku, Tokyo 156-8506, Japan. e-mail: koike-st@igakuken.or.jp

INTRODUCTION

Human enteroviruses (HEVs) are a large family of human pathogens belonging to the Picornaviridae family, and these viruses can cause a variety of diseases. HEVs are classified into four groups, species A (HEV-A) to species D (HEV-D). HEV-A is composed of at least 16 members of different serotypes: Coxsackievirus (CV) A2, CVA3, CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, CVA7, CVA8, CVA10, CVA12, CVA14, CVA16, Enterovirus 71 (EV71), EV76, EV89, EV90, and EV91 (Pallansch and Roos, 2007). The number of isolated and characterized HEV-A viruses is continually increasing (Oberste et al., 2007, 2008). Members of HEV-A are known to be causative agents of hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD), herpangina, respiratory disease, meningitis, and poliolike flaccid paralysis (Pallansch and Roos, 2007). EV71 and CVA16 are the major causative agents of HFMD. HFMD is normally a mild disease, but HFMD caused by EV71 is sometimes associated with severe neurological diseases such as acute fatal encephalitis, polio-like acute flaccid paralysis, and neurogenic pulmonary edema (Schmidt et al., 1974; Chumakov et al., 1979a,b; Melnick, 1984; Ho et al., 1999; Chan et al., 2000). Recently, large outbreaks of EV71 associated with severe neurological diseases have occurred repeatedly in the Asia-Pacific region (Ho et al., 1999; Komatsu et al., 1999; Ahmad, 2000; Chan et al., 2000; McMinn et al., 2001a,b; Fujimoto et al., 2002; Wang et al., 2002; De et al., 2011). EV71 has become a serious public health concern (Qiu, 2008).

Virus infection is initiated by attachment of the virus to a cellular receptor at the surface of a susceptible cell. Cellular receptors for viruses therefore play important roles in determining the cell, tissue, and species tropism and pathogenicity of viruses (Bergelson, 2010). Thus, the identification and characterization of the cellular receptor for EV71 are important steps in the elucidation of the pathogenicity of EV71. Recently, several research groups identified cellular receptors and host factors that enhance EV71 infection (Nishimura et al., 2009; Yamayoshi et al., 2009; Yang et al., 2009, 2011; Han et al., 2010). Herein, we will summarize the

Enterovirus 71 (EV71) is one of the major causative agents of hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD). Infection with EV71 is occasionally associated with severe neurological diseases such as acute encephalitis, acute flaccid paralysis, and cardiopulmonary failure. Because cellular receptors for viruses play an important role in cell, tissue, and species tropism, it is important to identify and characterize the receptor molecule. Recently, cellular receptors and host factors that stimulate EV71 infection have been identified. Several lines of evidence suggest that scavenger receptor class B, member 2 (SCARB2) plays critical roles in efficient EV71 infection and the development of disease in humans. In this review, we will summarize the findings of recent studies on EV71 infection and on the roles of SCARB2.

Keywords: EV71, SCARB2, HFMD, neurological disease

importance of scavenger receptor class B, member 2 (SCARB2) as a receptor for EV71.

IDENTIFICATION OF SCARB2 AS A RECEPTOR FOR EV71

Monolayer cultures of primate cells such as RD cells and Vero cells are susceptible to EV71 strains, and these cells are often used for the isolation of EV71 from clinical specimens (Mizuta et al., 2005, 2009). Mouse cells, such as L929 cells, are generally not highly susceptible to EV71 infection. Only residual virus antigenpositive cells are observed, even if the mouse cells are infected at a high multiplicity of infection. This species-specific restriction of EV71 infection is due to the absence on mouse cells of the cellular receptor that permits viral entry into cells. Yamayoshi et al. (2009) employed a strategy to identify the human EV71 receptor; this strategy is outlined in Figure 1. These researchers transfected human genomic DNA into mouse L929 cells and succeeded in selecting two L929 cell lines, Ltr051 and Ltr246, that became susceptible to EV71 among approximately 70,000 transformed cells. The integrated human gene(s) are expected to encode the EV71 receptor.

One of the transformed cell lines, Ltr051, was highly susceptible to EV71, with an infection efficiency similar to that of RD cells, whereas the other cell line, Ltr246, was susceptible to EV71 but with a lower efficiency. By microarray analysis of the RNAs expressed in the transformant cells, it was shown that Ltr051 cells carried the gene for human *SCARB2*. L929 cells that expressed SCARB2 constitutively (L-SCARB2 cells) were susceptible to all EV71 strains tested, irrespective of the sub-genogroup. EV71 infection in RD cells was inhibited both by anti-SCARB2 antibodies and by soluble SCARB2. The human and monkey cell lines that are EV71-susceptible cells expressed SCARB2. These results suggest that SCARB2 plays a critical role in the EV71 infection pathway. In addition, Yamayoshi et al. (2009) found that CVA16 also uses SCARB2 as a receptor, suggesting that SCARB2 serves as a receptor for other HEV-As that cause HFMD.



The other cell line, Ltr246, is susceptible to a subset of EV71 strains but not all strains. Despite all of the efforts undertaken to identify the gene that is integrated in this cell line and that supports EV71 infection, this gene has not yet been identified. Other research groups have proposed that molecules act as receptors or other entities to enhance EV71 infection (see Mini Review by Nishimura and Shimizu, submitted). However, infection mediated by P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) or by an unknown molecule expressed in Ltr246 cells is not as efficient as infection mediated by SCARB2. Infection with EV71 in L929 cells expressing PSGL-1 was successful only for a subset of EV71 strains (Miyamura et al., 2011). SCARB2 seems to play the most important role in EV71 infection *in vitro* and *in vivo* because SCARB2 serves as a receptor for all EV71 strains and is expressed in the sites of EV71 replication *in vivo*.

STRUCTURE AND FUNCTION OF SCARB2

Scavenger receptor class B, member 2 (also known as Lysosomal Integral Membrane Protein II, LGP85 or CD36b like-2) is composed of 478 amino acids and belongs to the CD36 family, which includes CD36 and scavenger receptor B, member 1 (SR-BI and its splicing variant SR-BII; Calvo et al., 1995; Eskelinen et al., 2003). SCARB2 is one of the most abundant proteins in the lysosomal membrane and participates in membrane transportation and the reorganization of the endosomal/lysosomal compartment (Kuronita et al., 2002; Eskelinen et al., 2003; Blanz et al., 2010). SCARB2 shuttles between these compartments and the plasma membrane (**Figure 2B**, left; Eskelinen et al., 2003). SCARB2 is a type III double-transmembrane protein with a large extracellular domain (when it is present at the cell surface) and short cytoplasmic domains at the amino- and carboxy-terminus (**Figure 2A**; Calvo et al., 1995). SCARB2 is expressed in a variety of tissues, including neurons in the CNS. SCARB2 deficiency in mice causes ureteric pelvic junction obstruction, deafness, and peripheral neuropathy, and SCARB2 deficiency in humans causes action myoclonus–renal failure syndrome (AMRF; Gamp et al., 2003; Berkovic et al., 2008).

Mouse SCARB2 exhibits 85.8% amino acid identity with human SCARB2 (Figure 2A). Using chimeric mutants that include human and mouse SCARB2 sequences, Yamayoshi and Koike (2011) mapped the region that was important for efficient EV71 binding and infection. L929 cells expressing chimeras that carried amino acids 142-204 from the human sequence were susceptible to EV71, whereas chimeras that carried the mouse sequence in this region were not susceptible. It was shown that this region is also critical for binding to the virion. This region of the SCARB2 protein exhibits 76.2% amino acid identity between the human and mouse sequences. Removal of the carbohydrate moiety of the recombinant soluble SCARB2 protein by PNGase F treatment did not abolish the binding of the virus to the receptor, suggesting that the protein moiety of human SCARB2 plays a critical role in binding. Recently, Chen et al. (2012) identified critical residues required for human SCARB2 binding to EV71, which was comprised of residues 144-151 in a highly variable region among species. On the viral proteins, they showed that amino acids lined on the wall of the canyon (the EF loop of VP1) were important for SCARB2 binding and viral infectivity (Chen et al., 2012). To elucidate the mode of interaction of EV71 and SCARB2 more precisely, crystallographic analysis will be needed.

MECHANISM OF EV71 INFECTION IN RD CELLS

Hussain et al. (2011) have performed a screen of host factors required for EV71 entry into RD cells using an siRNA library. They found that the repression of genes associated with clathrinmediated endocytosis, including AP2A1, ARRB1, CLTC, CLTCL1, SYNJ1, ARPC5, PAK1, ROCK1, and WASF1, resulted in significant inhibition of EV71 infection. They observed both co-localization of EV71 with clathrin using an immunofluorescence assay and virions in clathrin-coated pits by electron microscopy. EV71 entry into cells was inhibited when a dominant-negative mutant of Eps15, which binds to AP-2, was expressed and when cells were treated with drugs that selectively inhibit clathrin-dependent endocytosis (chlorpromazine and cytochalasin B). Entry was not inhibited by drugs that inhibit caveolae-dependent endocytosis and macropinocytosis. Hussain et al. also showed that EV71 infection was abolished when cells were treated with drugs that inhibit acidification of the endosome (Bafilomycin A1 and concanamycin A). Taken together, these results suggest that the mechanism of EV71 infection is that which is summarized in Figure 2B (right).



EV71 infection has been shown to be sensitive to the disruption of clathrin-mediated endocytosis and the acidic endosomal pH. Infection of RD cells with EV71 is largely blocked by anti-SCARB2 antibody or soluble SCARB2 (Yamayoshi et al., 2009), suggesting that the SCARB2-dependent pathway is the main pathway of EV71 infection in RD cells. SCARB2 is also known to be internalized by clathrin-dependent endocytosis (Le Borgne et al., 2001; Rodionov et al., 2002). The evidence has not directly shown that SCARB2 is involved in this pathway. The involvement of SCARB2 in this pathway should be confirmed experimentally.

It is known that the poliovirus receptor (CD155) and the major group rhinovirus receptor (intercellular adhesion molecule-1) are able to bind poliovirus and rhinovirus, respectively, and induce a conformational change that leads to the uncoating of the viral genome. Chen et al. (2012) reported that SCARB2, but not PSGL-1, induced a conformational change from native 160S virions to 135S particles. The change was enhanced under an acidic environment (pH 5.6; Chen et al., 2012). It should be further determined whether SCARB2 induces a conformational change to empty capsids and whether VP4 is released during SCARB2-mediated conformational change.

ANIMAL MODEL OF EV71 INFECTION

To study the neuropathogenicity of EV71, experiments using live animals are essential. The most reliable animal model is the monkey model (Hashimoto et al., 1978; Chumakov et al., 1979b; Hashimoto and Hagiwara, 1982; Hagiwara et al., 1983, 1984; Nagata et al., 2002, 2004; Arita et al., 2005, 2007; Zhang et al., 2011) because the species barrier caused by receptor differences is not a critical problem. The localization patterns of EV71-induced lesions in monkeys after intraspinal and intravenous inoculation were highly consistent with those observed in humans with severe EV71 encephalitis at autopsy (Lum et al., 1998; Wang et al., 1999; Chan et al., 2000; Shieh et al., 2001). Infected monkeys showed acute flaccid paralysis, which is a sign of involvement of the pyramidal tract, and tremor and ataxia, which are signs of involvement of the extrapyramidal tract. Histopathological changes were observed in the cerebellar and pontine vestibular nuclei, and in the spinal cord. Although the monkey is an excellent model for study of EV71 neuropathogenicity, monkey models have disadvantages with respect to handling, ethics, and cost. Experiments to identify the virulence determinants in the EV71 genome are limited to one report (Arita et al., 2005).

EV71, like other CVAs, is able to infect suckling mice. Some investigators use the suckling mouse model (Chumakov et al., 1979b; Chen et al., 2004; Ong et al., 2008). A problem with this system is that mice lose susceptibility to EV71 as they age (Yu et al., 2000; Chua et al., 2008). To circumvent this problem, some research groups have isolated mouse-adapted EV71 (Wang et al., 2004, 2011; Chua et al., 2008). Khong et al. (2012) found that 2week-old mice deficient in type I and type II interferon receptors are susceptible to EV71 strains that were not artificially adapted to mice. Because mouse SCARB2 and PSGL-1 do not function as EV71 receptors in mice (Nishimura et al., 2009; Yamayoshi et al., 2009; Yamayoshi and Koike, 2011), EV71 infection in suckling mice is mediated by an unknown mechanism distinct from the SCARB2- and PSGL-1-mediated mechanisms. Indeed, EV71 exhibits different tissue tropism in suckling mice than in humans. In addition to infecting the CNS, EV71 replicates efficiently in the muscle of mice, unlike in humans (Chen et al., 2004; Wang et al., 2004; Chua et al., 2008; Ong et al., 2008).

In poliovirus, critical nucleotides or amino acids that influence the neurovirulence have been reported (Evans et al., 1985; Omata et al., 1986; Kawamura et al., 1989; Westrop et al., 1989). To identify such neurovirulence determinants in EV71, attempts were made to determine nucleotide changes that influence the virulence level in suckling mice (Arita et al., 2008; Chua et al., 2008; Li et al., 2011; Huang et al., 2012). Some virulence determinants were mapped to the capsid region. Because the viral capsid is involved in the binding to the receptor and in other steps of infection, such as uncoating and stabilization of the virion, it is difficult to claim that amino acid changes in the capsid region are responsible for adaptation or virulence.

One of the strategies that can be used to overcome the problems discussed above is to generate transgenic mice that express the human EV71 receptor(s). Transgenic mice expressing human PVR, CD155, are susceptible to poliovirus and are used for the

REFERENCES

- Abe, S., Ota, Y., Koike, S., Kurata, T., Horie, H., Nomura, T., Hashizume, S., and Nomoto, A. (1995). Neurovirulence test for oral live polio vaccines using poliovirus-sensitive transgenic mice. *Virology* 206, 1075–1083.
- Ahmad, K. (2000). Hand, foot, and mouth disease outbreak reported in Singapore. *Lancet* 356, 1338.
- Arita, M., Ami, Y., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2008). Cooperative effect of the attenuation determinants derived from poliovirus sabin 1 strain is essential for attenuation of enterovirus 71 in the NOD/SCID mouse infection model. J. Virol. 82, 1787–1797.
- Arita, M., Nagata, N., Iwata, N., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Mizuta, K., Iwasaki, T., Sata, T., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2007). An attenuated strain of enterovirus 71 belonging to genotype a showed a broad spectrum of antigenicity with attenuated neurovirulence in cynomolgus monkeys. J. Virol. 81, 9386–9395.
- Arita, M., Shimizu, H., Nagata, N., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Sata, T., Iwasaki, T., and Miyamura, T. (2005). Temperaturesensitive mutants of enterovirus 71 show attenuation in cynomolgus monkeys. *J. Gen. Virol.* 86, 1391–1401.
- Bergelson, J. M. (2010). "Receptors," in *The Picornaviruses*, eds E. Ehrenfeld, E. Domingo, and R. P. Roos (Washington, DC: ASM Press), 73–86.
- Berkovic, S. F., Dibbens, L. M., Oshlack, A., Silver, J. D., Katerelos, M., Vears, D. F., Lullmann-Rauch, R., Blanz, J., Zhang, K. W., Stankovich, J., Kalnins, R. M., Dowling, J. P., Andermann, E., Andermann, F., Faldini, E., D'Hooge, R., Vadlamudi, L., Macdonell, R. A., Hodgson, B. L., Bayly, M. A., Savige, J., Mulley, J. C., Smyth, G. K., Power, D. A., Saftig, P., and Bahlo, M. (2008). Array-based gene discovery with three unrelated subjects shows SCARB2/LIMP-2 deficiency causes

myoclonus epilepsy and glomerulosclerosis. *Am. J. Hum. Genet.* 82, 673–684.

- Blanz, J., Groth, J., Zachos, C., Wehling, C., Saftig, P., and Schwake, M. (2010). Disease-causing mutations within the lysosomal integral membrane protein type 2 (LIMP-2) reveal the nature of binding to its ligand beta-glucocerebrosidase. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 19, 563–572.
- Calvo, D., Dopazo, J., and Vega, M. A. (1995). The CD36, CLA-1 (CD36L1), and LIMPII (CD36L2) gene family: cellular distribution, chromosomal location, and genetic evolution. *Genomics* 25, 100–106.
- Chan, L. G., Parashar, U. D., Lye, M. S., Ong, F. G., Zaki, S. R., Alexander, J. P., Ho, K. K., Han, L. L., Pallansch, M. A., Suleiman, A. B., Jegathesan, M., and Anderson, L. J. (2000). Deaths of children during an outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease in Sarawak, Malaysia: clinical and pathological characteristics of the disease. For the Outbreak Study Group. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 31, 678–683.
- Chen, P., Song, Z., Qi, Y., Feng, X., Xu, N., Sun, Y., Wu, X., Yao, X., Mao, Q., Li, X., Dong, W., Wan, X., Huang, N., Shen, X., Liang, Z., and Li, W. (2012). Molecular determinants of enterovirus 71 viral entry: a cleft around Q172 on VP1 interacts with a variable region on scavenge receptor B 2. J. Biol. Chem. [Epub ahead of print].
- Chen, Y. C., Yu, C. K., Wang, Y. F., Liu, C. C., Su, I. J., and Lei, H. Y. (2004). A murine oral enterovirus 71 infection model with central nervous system involvement. J. Gen. Virol. 85, 69–77.
- Chua, B. H., Phuektes, P., Sanders, S. A., Nicholls, P. K., and McMinn, P. C. (2008). The molecular basis of mouse adaptation by human enterovirus 71. *J. Gen. Virol.* 89, 1622–1632.
- Chumakov, K. M., Lavrova, I. K., Martianova, L. I., Korolev, M. B., Bashkirtsev, V. N., and Voroshilova,

study of poliovirus pathogenicity (Ren et al., 1990; Koike et al., 1991; Horie et al., 1994; Abe et al., 1995). To this end, transgenic mice that express human PSGL-1 driven by the CMV promoter were generated (Liu et al., 2011). The expression of human PSGL-1 by this method was not sufficient to cause disease. It is obvious that the CMV promoter does not mimic the native PSGL-1 promoter in humans. Transgenic mice that express PSGL-1 with a distribution identical to that in human tissues are desirable. It seems that human SCARB2 expression in mice is necessary for the development of disease. A transgenic mouse model that develops disease that resembles the severe neurological diseases observed in humans will greatly contribute to the study of EV71 pathogenicity.

M. K. (1979a). Investigation of physicochemical properties of Bulgarian strain 258 of enterovirus type 71. Brief report. *Arch. Virol.* 60, 359–362.

- Chumakov, M., Voroshilova, M., Shindarov, L., Lavrova, I., Gracheva, L., Koroleva, G., Vasilenko, S., Brodvarova, I., Nikolova, M., Gyurova, S., Gacheva, M., Mitov, G., Ninov, N., Tsylka, E., Robinson, I., Frolova, M., Bashkirtsev, V., Martiyanova, L., and Rodin, V. (1979b). Enterovirus 71 isolated from cases of epidemic poliomyelitis-like disease in Bulgaria. Arch. Virol. 60, 329–340.
- De, W., Changwen, K., Wei, L., Monagin, C., Jin, Y., Cong, M., Hanri, Z., and Jun, S. (2011). A large outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease caused by EV71 and CAV16 in Guangdong, China, 2009. Arch. Virol. 156, 945–953.
- Eskelinen, E. L., Tanaka, Y., and Saftig, P. (2003). At the acidic edge: emerging functions for lysosomal membrane proteins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13, 137–145.
- Evans, D. M., Dunn, G., Minor, P. D., Schild, G. C., Cann, A. J., Stanway, G., Almond, J. W., Currey, K., and Maizel, J. V. Jr. (1985). Increased neurovirulence associated with a single nucleotide change in a noncoding region of the Sabin type 3 polio vaccine genome. *Nature* 314, 548–550.
- Fujimoto, T., Chikahira, M., Yoshida, S., Ebira, H., Hasegawa, A., Totsuka, A., and Nishio, O. (2002). Outbreak of central nervous system disease associated with hand, foot, and mouth disease in Japan during the summer of 2000: detection and molecular epidemiology of enterovirus 71. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 46, 621–627.
- Gamp, A. C., Tanaka, Y., Lullmann-Rauch, R., Wittke, D., D'hooge, R., De Deyn, P. P., Moser, T., Maier, H., Hartmann, D., Reiss, K., Illert, A. L., Von Figura, K., and Saftig, P. (2003). LIMP-2/LGP85 deficiency causes

ureteric pelvic junction obstruction, deafness and peripheral neuropathy in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 631–646.

- Hagiwara, A., Yoneyama, T., and Hashimoto, I. (1983). Isolation of a temperature-sensitive strain of enterovirus 71 with reduced neurovirulence for monkeys. J. Gen. Virol. 64(Pt 2), 499–502.
- Hagiwara, A., Yoneyama, T., Takami, S., and Hashimoto, I. (1984). Genetic and phenotypic characteristics of enterovirus 71 isolates from patients with encephalitis and with hand, foot and mouth disease. *Arch. Virol.* 79, 273–283.
- Han, J. F., Cao, R. Y., Deng, Y. Q., Tian, X., Jiang, T., Qin, E. D., and Qin, C. F. (2010). Antibody dependent enhancement infection of enterovirus 71 in vitro and in vivo. *Virol. J.* 8, 106.
- Hashimoto, I., and Hagiwara, A. (1982). Pathogenicity of a poliomyelitis-like disease in monkeys infected orally with enterovirus 71: a model for human infection. *Neuropathol. Appl. Neurobiol.* 8, 149–156.
- Hashimoto, I., Hagiwara, A., and Kodama, H. (1978). Neurovirulence in cynomolgus monkeys of enterovirus 71 isolated from a patient with hand, foot and mouth disease. *Arch. Virol.* 56, 257–261.
- Ho, M., Chen, E. R., Hsu, K. H., Twu, S. J., Chen, K. T., Tsai, S. F., Wang, J. R., and Shih, S. R. (1999). An epidemic of enterovirus 71 infection in Taiwan. Taiwan Enterovirus Epidemic Working Group. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 341, 929–935.
- Horie, H., Koike, S., Kurata, T., Sato-Yoshida, Y., Ise, I., Ota, Y., Abe, S., Hioki, K., Kato, H., Taya, C., Nomura, T., Hashizume, S., Yonekawa, H., and Nomoto, A. (1994). Transgenic mice carrying the human poliovirus receptor: new animal models for study of poliovirus neurovirulence. J. Virol. 68, 681–688.

- Huang, S. W., Wang, Y. F., Yu, C. K., Su, I. J., and Wang, J. R. (2012). Mutations in VP2 and VP1 capsid proteins increase infectivity and mouse lethality of enterovirus 71 by virus binding and RNA accumulation enhancement. *Virology* 422, 132–143.
- Hussain, K. M., Leong, K. L., Ng, M. M., and Chu, J. J. (2011). The essential role of clathrin-mediated endocytosis in the infectious entry of human enterovirus 71. *J. Biol. Chem.* 286, 309–321.
- Kawamura, N., Kohara, M., Abe, S., Komatsu, T., Tago, K., Arita, M., and Nomoto, A. (1989). Determinants in the 5' noncoding region of poliovirus Sabin 1 RNA that influence the attenuation phenotype. J. Virol. 63, 1302–1309.
- Khong, W. X., Yan, B., Yeo, H., Tan, E. L., Lee, J. J., Ng, J. K., Chow, V. T., and Alonso, S. (2012). A non mouse-adapted enterovirus 71 (EV71) strain exhibits neurotropism causing neurological manifestations in a novel mouse model of EV71 infection. J. Virol. 86, 2121–2131.
- Koike, S., Taya, C., Kurata, T., Abe, S., Ise, I., Yonekawa, H., and Nomoto, A. (1991). Transgenic mice susceptible to poliovirus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 88, 951–955.
- Komatsu, H., Shimizu, Y., Takeuchi, Y., Ishiko, H., and Takada, H. (1999). Outbreak of severe neurologic involvement associated with enterovirus 71 infection. *Pediatr. Neurol.* 20, 17–23.
- Kuronita, T., Eskelinen, E. L., Fujita, H., Saftig, P., Himeno, M., and Tanaka, Y. (2002). A role for the lysosomal membrane protein LGP85 in the biogenesis and maintenance of endosomal and lysosomal morphology. J. Cell. Sci. 115, 4117–4131.
- Le Borgne, R., Planque, N., Martin, P., Dewitte, F., Saule, S., and Hoflack, B. (2001). The AP-3-dependent targeting of the melanosomal glycoprotein QNR-71 requires a di-leucinebased sorting signal. *J. Cell. Sci.* 114, 2831–2841.
- Li, R., Zou, Q., Chen, L., Zhang, H., and Wang, Y. (2011). Molecular analysis of virulent determinants of enterovirus 71. *PLoS ONE* 6, e26237. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0026237
- Liu, J., Dong, W., Quan, X., Ma, C., Qin, C., and Zhang, L. (2011). Transgenic expression of human P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is not sufficient for enterovirus 71 infection in mice. *Arch. Virol.* doi: 10.1007/s00705-011-1198-2
- Lum, L. C., Wong, K. T., Lam, S. K., Chua, K. B., Goh, A. Y., Lim, W.

L., Ong, B. B., Paul, G., Abubakar, S., and Lambert, M. (1998). Fatal enterovirus 71 encephalomyelitis. *J. Pediatr.* 133, 795–798.

- McMinn, P., Lindsay, K., Perera, D., Chan, H. M., Chan, K. P., and Cardosa, M. J. (2001a). Phylogenetic analysis of enterovirus 71 strains isolated during linked epidemics in Malaysia, Singapore, and Western Australia. J. Virol. 75, 7732–7738.
- McMinn, P., Stratov, I., Nagarajan, L., and Davis, S. (2001b). Neurological manifestations of enterovirus 71 infection in children during an outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease in Western Australia. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 32, 236–242.
- Melnick, J. L. (1984). Enterovirus type 71 infections: a varied clinical pattern sometimes mimicking paralytic poliomyelitis. *Rev. Infect. Dis.* 6(Suppl. 2), S387–S390.
- Miyamura, K., Nishimura, Y., Abo, M., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2011). Adaptive mutations in the genomes of enterovirus 71 strains following infection of mouse cells expressing human P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 287–291.
- Mizuta, K., Abiko, C., Murata, T., Matsuzaki, Y., Itagaki, T., Sanjoh, K., Sakamoto, M., Hongo, S., Murayama, S., and Hayasaka, K. (2005). Frequent importation of enterovirus 71 from surrounding countries into the local community of Yamagata, Japan, between 1998 and 2003. J. Clin. Microbiol. 43, 6171–6175.
- Mizuta, K., Aoki, Y., Suto, A., Ootani, K., Katsushima, N., Itagaki, T., Ohmi, A., Okamoto, M., Nishimura, H., Matsuzaki, Y., Hongo, S., Sugawara, K., Shimizu, H., and Ahiko, T. (2009). Cross-antigenicity among EV71 strains from different genogroups isolated in Yamagata, Japan, between 1990 and 2007. Vaccine 27, 3153–3158.
- Nagata, N., Iwasaki, T., Ami, Y., Tano, Y., Harashima, A., Suzaki, Y., Sato, Y., Hasegawa, H., Sata, T., Miyamura, T., and Shimizu, H. (2004). Differential localization of neurons susceptible to enterovirus 71 and poliovirus type 1 in the central nervous system of cynomolgus monkeys after intravenous inoculation. *J. Gen. Virol.* 85, 2981–2989.
- Nagata, N., Shimizu, H., Ami, Y., Tano, Y., Harashima, A., Suzaki, Y., Sato, Y., Miyamura, T., Sata, T., and Iwasaki, T. (2002). Pyramidal and extrapyramidal involvement in experimental infection of cynomolgus monkeys with enterovirus 71. J. Med. Virol. 67, 207–216.

- Nishimura, Y., Shimojima, M., Tano, Y., Miyamura, T., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2009). Human Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a functional receptor for enterovirus 71. Nat. Med. 15, 794–797.
- Oberste, M. S., Jiang, X., Maher, K., Nix, W. A., and Jiang, B. (2008). The complete genome sequences for three simian enteroviruses isolated from captive primates. *Arch. Virol.* 153, 2117–2122.
- Oberste, M. S., Maher, K., and Pallansch, M. A. (2007). Complete genome sequences for nine simian enteroviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 88, 3360–3372.
- Omata, T., Kohara, M., Kuge, S., Komatsu, T., Abe, S., Semler, B. L., Kameda, A., Itoh, H., Arita, M., Wimmer, E., and Nomoto, A. (1986). Genetic analysis of the attenuation phenotype of poliovirus type 1. *J. Virol.* 58, 348–358.
- Ong, K. C., Badmanathan, M., Devi, S., Leong, K. L., Cardosa, M. J., and Wong, K. T. (2008). Pathologic characterization of a murine model of human enterovirus 71 encephalomyelitis. J. Neuropathol. Exp. Neurol. 67, 532–542.
- Pallansch, M., and Roos, R. (2007). "Enteroviruses: polioviruses, coxsackieviruses, echoviruses, and newer enteroviruses," in *Fields Virology*, 5th Edn, eds D. M. Knipe, P. M. Howley, D. E. Griffin, R. A. Lamb, M. A. Martin, B. Roizman, and S. E. Straus (Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins), 839–893.
- Qiu, J. (2008). Enterovirus 71 infection: a new threat to global public health? *Lancet Neurol.* 7, 868–869.
- Ren, R. B., Costantini, F., Gorgacz, E. J., Lee, J. J., and Racaniello, V. R. (1990). Transgenic mice expressing a human poliovirus receptor: a new model for poliomyelitis. *Cell* 63, 353–362.
- Rodionov, D. G., Honing, S., Silye, A., Kongsvik, T. L., Von Figura, K., and Bakke, O. (2002). Structural requirements for interactions between leucine-sorting signals and clathrin-associated adaptor protein complex AP3. J. Biol. Chem. 277, 47436–47443.
- Schmidt, N. J., Lennette, E. H., and Ho, H. H. (1974). An apparently new enterovirus isolated from patients with disease of the central nervous system. J. Infect. Dis. 129, 304–309.
- Shieh, W. J., Jung, S. M., Hsueh, C., Kuo, T. T., Mounts, A., Parashar, U., Yang, C. F., Guarner, J., Ksiazek, T. G., Dawson, J., Goldsmith, C., Chang, G. J., Oberste, S. M., Pallansch, M. A., Anderson, L. J., and Zaki, S. R. (2001). Pathologic studies

of fatal cases in outbreak of hand, foot, and mouth disease, Taiwan. *Emerging Infect. Dis.* 7, 146–148.

- Wang, J. R., Tuan, Y. C., Tsai, H. P., Yan, J. J., Liu, C. C., and Su, I. J. (2002). Change of major genotype of enterovirus 71 in outbreaks of hand-foot-and-mouth disease in Taiwan between 1998 and 2000. J. Clin. Microbiol. 40, 10–15.
- Wang, S. M., Liu, C. C., Tseng, H. W., Wang, J. R., Huang, C. C., Chen, Y. J., Yang, Y. J., Lin, S. J., and Yeh, T. F. (1999). Clinical spectrum of enterovirus 71 infection in children in southern Taiwan, with an emphasis on neurological complications. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 29, 184–190.
- Wang, W., Duo, J., Liu, J., Ma, C., Zhang, L., Wei, Q., and Qin, C. (2011). A mouse muscle-adapted enterovirus 71 strain with increased virulence in mice. *Microbes Infect.* 13, 862–870.
- Wang, Y. F., Chou, C. T., Lei, H. Y., Liu, C. C., Wang, S. M., Yan, J. J., Su, I. J., Wang, J. R., Yeh, T. M., Chen, S. H., and Yu, C. K. (2004). A mouse-adapted enterovirus 71 strain causes neurological disease in mice after oral infection. *J. Virol.* 78, 7916–7924.
- Westrop, G. D., Wareham, K. A., Evans, D. M., Dunn, G., Minor, P. D., Magrath, D. I., Taffs, F., Marsden, S., Skinner, M. A., Schild, G. C., and Almond, J. W. (1989). Genetic basis of attenuation of the Sabin type 3 oral poliovirus vaccine. *J. Virol.* 63, 1338–1344.
- Yamayoshi, S., and Koike, S. (2011). Identification of a human SCARB2 region that is important for enterovirus 71 binding and infection. J. Virol. 85, 4937–4946.
- Yamayoshi, S., Yamashita, Y., Li, J., Hanagata, N., Minowa, T., Takemura, T., and Koike, S. (2009). Scavenger receptor B2 is a cellular receptor for enterovirus 71. *Nat. Med.* 15, 798–801.
- Yang, B., Chuang, H., and Yang, K. D. (2009). Sialylated glycans as receptor and inhibitor of enterovirus 71 infection to DLD-1 intestinal cells. *Virol. J.* 6, 141.
- Yang, S. L., Chou, Y. T., Wu, C. N., and Ho, M. S. (2011). Annexin II binds to capsid protein VP1 of enterovirus 71 and enhances viral infectivity. *J. Virol.* 85, 11809–11820.
- Yu, C. K., Chen, C. C., Chen, C. L., Wang, J. R., Liu, C. C., Yan, J. J., and Su, I. J. (2000). Neutralizing antibody provided protection against enterovirus type 71 lethal challenge in neonatal mice. J. Biomed. Sci. 7, 523–528.
- Zhang, Y., Cui, W., Liu, L., Wang, J., Zhao, H., Liao, Y., Na, R., Dong, C.,

Wang, L., Xie, Z., Gao, J., Cui, P., Zhang, X., and Li, Q. (2011). Pathogenesis study of enterovirus 71 infection in rhesus monkeys. *Lab. Invest.* 91, 1337–1350.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was

conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 29 December 2011; accepted: 18 January 2012; published online: 06 February 2012. Citation: Yamayoshi S, Fujii K and Koike S (2012) Scavenger receptor B2 as a receptor for hand, foot, and mouth disease and severe neurological diseases. Front. Microbio. **3**:32. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00032

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology. Copyright © 2012 Yamayoshi, Fujii and Koike. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Cellular receptors for human enterovirus species A

Yorihiro Nishimura * and Hiroyuki Shimizu

Department of Virology II, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Musashimurayama-shi, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Satoshi Koike, Tokyo Metropolitan Institute of Medical Science, Japan

*Correspondence:

Yorihiro Nishimura, Department of Virology II, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, 4-7-1 Gakuen, Musashimurayama-shi, Tokyo 208-0011, Japan. e-mail: ynishi@nih.go.jp Human enterovirus species A (HEV-A) is one of the four species of HEV in the genus *Enterovirus* in the family *Picornaviridae*. Among HEV-A, coxsackievirus A16 (CVA16) and enterovirus 71 (EV71) are the major causative agents of hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD). Some other types of HEV-A are commonly associated with herpangina. Although HFMD and herpangina due to HEV-A are common febrile diseases among infants and children, EV71 can cause various neurological diseases, such as aseptic meningitis and fatal encephalitis. Recently, two human transmembrane proteins, P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) and scavenger receptor class B, member 2 (SCARB2), were identified as functional receptors for EV71 and CVA16. In *in vitro* infection experiments using the prototype HEV-A strains, PSGL-1 and SCARB2 could be responsible for the specific receptors for EV71 and CVA16. However, the involvement of both receptors in the *in vitro* and *in vivo* infections of clinical isolates of HEV-A has not been clarified yet. To elucidate a diverse array of the clinical outcome of HEV-A-associated diseases, the identification and characterization of HEV-A receptors may provide useful information in understanding the HEV-A pathogenesis at a molecular level.

Keywords: human enterovirus species A, enterovirus 71, receptor, PSGL-1, SCARB2

INTRODUCTION

The genus Enterovirus within family Picornaviridae, nonenveloped viruses with a single-stranded RNA genome of positive polarity, is comprised of more than 100 serotypes (Pallansch and Roos, 2007). Human enteroviruses (HEVs) are presently classified into four species, HEV species A, B, C, and D (HEV-A, B, C, and D). At present, coxsackievirus A2 (CVA2), CVA3, CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, CVA7, CVA8, CVA10, CVA12, CVA14, CVA16, enterovirus 71 (EV71), EV76, EV89, EV90, EV91, and EV92 have been classified as HEV-A (Oberste et al., 2004, 2005, 2008). In addition, four types of simian enteroviruses are classified as HEV-A (Oberste et al., 2007). Although most enterovirus infections are asymptomatic, particular clinical manifestations are associated with specific types of enteroviruses (Pallansch and Roos, 2007). CVA2, CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, and CVA10 are commonly associated with herpangina. EV71 and CVA16 are major causative agents of hand, foot, and mouth disease (HFMD), a common febrile disease occurring mainly in young children, characterized by skin rash involving palms and soles, and ulcers on oral mucosa. Recently, HFMD outbreaks mainly due to CVA6 have been reported (Fujimoto et al., 2012). Clinical manifestations of HFMD caused by EV71, CVA6, and CVA16 are usually mild and self-limited. However, EV71 infection causes a diverse range of neurological diseases, such as aseptic meningitis, acute flaccid paralysis, brainstem encephalitis, and neurogenic pulmonary edema, and may result in long-term neurological sequelae, mainly in infants and young children (Alexander et al., 1994; McMinn, 2002; Modlin, 2007).

Recently, two human transmembrane proteins, P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1; Nishimura et al., 2009) and scavenger receptor class B, member 2 (SCARB2; Yamayoshi et al., 2009), were identified as functional receptors for EV71 and CVA16 (Patel and Bergelson, 2009). In addition, annexin II (Yang et al., 2011), sialic acid (SA; Yang et al., 2009), and dendritic cell (DC)-specific ICAM3-grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN; Lin et al., 2009b) were found to be cellular factors involved in the early stages of EV71 infection. This review summarizes our current understanding of the EV71/CVA16 receptors and their role in HEV-A infection.

P-SELECTIN GLYCOPROTEIN LIGAND-1

Patients with severe EV71-associated encephalitis and neurological pulmonary edema showed a significant depletion of T cells and high levels of proinflammatory cytokines (Lin et al., 2003; Wang et al., 2003), suggesting the possible involvement of lymphocytes in EV71 infection and the immunopathogenesis. Therefore, we generated a cDNA library from Jurkat T cells and used it for expression cloning to identify a receptor on lymphocytes that specifically binds to EV71. Finally we identified PSGL-1 as a functional EV71 receptor on Jurkat T cells (Nishimura et al., 2009).

P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a sialomucin leukocyte membrane protein expressed as a homodimer of disulfide-linked subunits and it can bind to three different selectins (P, E, and L; Sako et al., 1993; Laszik et al., 1996; Somers et al., 2000). The tissue distribution of PSGL-1 is restricted to myeloid, lymphoid, and dendritic lineages, and platelets. PSGL-1 is also expressed on DCs of lymph nodes and macrophages in the intestinal mucosa (Laszik et al., 1996), which could be the primary sites of EV71 replication. PSGL-1 plays critical roles in the tethering and rolling of leukocytes for the recruitment of cells from blood vessels to the sites of acute inflammation upon stimulation by infection.

We found that some representative EV71 strains bind to PSGL-1 but other strains did not (Nishimura et al., 2009). According to their PSGL-1 binding capability, we classified the EV71 isolates as PSGL-1 binding strains (EV71-PB) and PSGL-1-non-binding strains (EV71-non-PB). The replication of EV71-PB in Jurkat T
cells was inhibited by anti-PSGL-1 monoclonal antibody (KPL1), indicating that EV71-PB replicated in Jurkat cells in a PSGL-1dependent manner. On the other hand, EV71 replicated in nonleukocyte cells (such as RD cells) expressing little or no PSGL-1, and the replication was not affected by KPL1. Therefore we conclude that EV71 does not use PSGL-1 as the major cellular receptor on RD cells and other receptor(s), including SCARB2 or annexin II, may be responsible for EV71 infection in non-leukocyte cells expressing little or no PSGL-1.

Post-translational modifications of the N-terminal region of PSGL-1 contribute the efficient binding to selectins and chemokines (Pouyani and Seed, 1995; Sako et al., 1995; Wilkins et al., 1995; Liu et al., 1998; Hirata et al., 2004). In this region, there are a potential *O*-glycosylation residue (T57) and three potential tyrosine sulfation sites (Y46, Y48, and Y51). We demonstrated that tyrosine sulfation, not *O*-glycosylation, of the N-terminal region of PSGL-1 facilitates its binding to EV71-PB and viral replication in Jurkat T cells (Nishimura et al., 2010).

Coxsackievirus A16 is genetically and antigenically related to EV71 and is a major causative agent of HFMD as well as EV71 (Oberste et al., 2004). The inoculation of L-PSGL-1.1 cells, mouse L929 cells stably expressing human PSGL-1, with the prototype CVA16-G-10 strain induced faint cytopathic effects (CPE) (Nishimura et al., 2009). The replication of CVA16-G-10 was partially inhibited by KPL1 in L-PSGL-1.1 cells. This result indicated that the prototype CVA16 strain may use human PSGL-1 and another unidentified receptor(s) to infect L-PSGL-1.1 cells. CVA16-G-10 replication in Jurkat cells was not apparently inhibited by KPL1 (Nishimura et al., 2009), but significantly inhibited by a sulfation inhibitor, sodium chlorate (Nishimura et al., 2010). Therefore some sulfated molecules other than PSGL-1 might be involved in the replication of CVA16 in Jurkat cells. CVA16-G-10 would use unidentified receptor(s) to infect Jurkat T cells (Nishimura et al., 2009; Patel and Bergelson, 2009).

To investigate the PSGL-1-dependent replication phenotype of HEV-A, we tested the replication of 10 prototype HEV-A strains in L-PSGL-1.1 cells in the presence or absence of KPL1 (Figure 1A). On day 6 post-inoculation, there was no significant replication of CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, or CVA8 in L-bsd cells (blasticidin-resistant control L929 cells) or L-PSGL-1.1 cells. Although higher viral titers were found for CVA2 and CVA7 in L-PSGL-1.1 cells compared with those in L-bsd cells, replication was not affected by KPL1. These results suggest that CVA2 and CVA7 may infect to L-PSGL-1.1 cells in an alternative pathway via PSGL-1 or glycosylated PSGL-1, without the interaction between EV71-PB and the N-terminal region of PSGL-1 recognized by KPL1. We could not demonstrate any PSGL-1-dependent replication of the CVA3, CVA10, CVA12, and CVA14 strains in L-PSGL-1.1 cells, because they replicated even in PSGL-1 negative L-bsd cells as previously reported for certain HEV-A field isolates (Nadkarni and Deshpande, 2003; Yamayoshi et al., 2009).

Coxsackievirus A7 and CVA14 infection induced CPE in L-PSGL-1.1 cells, but not in L-bsd cells (**Table 1**). On the other hand, CVA7 and CVA14 induced CPE in L-Empty cells (puromycinresistant control L929 cells; **Table 1**; Yamayoshi et al., 2009). The difference in the CPE induction by some HEV-A strains might be due to the maintenance or cultivation conditions of the mouse L929-derived cells regardless of the receptor expression of PSGL-1 or SCARB2. Some strains of HEV-A are able to infect mouse L929 cells regardless of expression of PSGL-1 or SCARB2 (Nadkarni and Deshpande, 2003; Yamayoshi et al., 2009). It is therefore impossible to determine receptor usage of HEV-A by simply investigating the susceptibility of mouse L929 cells expressing the putative cellular receptor. Receptor usage of HEV-A should be determined carefully by showing several lines of evidence such as acquisition of susceptibility by expressing a putative receptor in non-susceptible cells, loss of susceptibility by knocking down of the receptor, etc.

L-PSGL-1.1 cells did not support PSGL-1-dependent replication of the HEV-B and HEV-C strains (**Figure 1B**); however, the prototype EV70 strain (HEV-D) replicated in L-PSGL-1.1 cells more efficiently than in L-bsd cells. Although EV70 replication was not affected by KPL1 (**Figure 1B**), we cannot exclude the possibility that EV70 utilizes α 2,3-linked SA, which could be a receptor for EV70 (Nokhbeh et al., 2005).

Recently we reported that that four out of five EV71-PB strains replicated poorly in L-PSGL-1.1 cells (Miyamura et al., 2011). We found that EV71 variants, which were propagated once in L-PSGL-1.1 cells, have several possible adaptive mutations, including a putative amino acid determinant of the adaptive phenotype in L-PSGL-1.1 cells at VP2-149 (Miyamura et al., 2011). The results suggest that adaptive mutations, along with a PB phenotype, may facilitate efficient PSGL-1-dependent replication of the EV71 variants in L-PSGL-1.1 cells. It is possible that HEV-A strains other than EV71 also require adaptive mutations for efficient replication in L-PSGL-1.1 cells.

SCAVENGER RECEPTOR CLASS B, MEMBER 2

Yamayoshi et al. (2009) identified SCARB2 (also known as lysosomal integral membrane protein II, or CD36b like-2) as an EV71 receptor on RD cells, widely used for isolation of EV71 from clinical specimens. They transfected EV71-non-susceptible mouse L929 cells with the genomic DNA of RD cells and selected two cell clones that were susceptible for EV71 infection. By a transcriptome analysis, SCARB2 was identified as an EV71 receptor on RD cells.

Scavenger receptor class B, member 2 is a heavily *N*-glycosylated type III transmembrane protein consists from 478 amino acids and belongs to the CD36 family of scavenger receptor proteins (Fujita et al., 1992; Calvo et al., 1995). SCARB2 has a N-terminal transmembrane domain, a ~400 amino acid lumeral domain, a C-terminal transmembrane domain, and a C-terminal cytoplasmic tail of ~20 amino acids (Fujita et al., 1992). SCARB2 involves in an enlargement of early endosomes and late endosomes/lysosomes and an impairment of endocytic membrane out of the enlarged compartments (Kuronita et al., 2002). SCARB2 deficiency caused ureteric pelvic junction obstruction, deafness, and peripheral neuropathy in mice (Gamp et al., 2003). SCARB2 is expressed ubiquitously in human tissues (Eskelinen et al., 2003); therefore, it might be involved in systemic EV71 infections (Yamayoshi et al., 2009).

Human SCARB2 has 10 potential *N*-glycosylation sites (Fujita et al., 1992). But the carbohydrate chains of human SCARB2 are not essential for the interaction between EV71 and human SCARB2 (Yamayoshi and Koike, 2011). Experiments using a



FIGURE 1 | Human enteroviruses replication in L-PSGL-1.1 cells. (A) Replication of the HEV-A strains **(Table 1)** in L-PSGL-1.1 cells in the presence or absence of anti-PSGL-1 mAb (KPL1) or an isotype control. Cells were inoculated with viruses at 10 CCID₅₀/cell for 1 h, washed, and incubated in the medium, as described previously (Nishimura et al., 2009). Cells were incubated at 34°C. For mAb inhibition, the cells were pretreated with 10 μ g/ml mAb for 1 h, washed, and maintained in the medium with 10 μ g/ml mAb. At the indicated time [just after infection (0 h) and 6 days postinfection (6 d)], the infected cells and supernatants were freeze-thawed and viral titers were

determined by CCID₅₀ titration using RD cells. The titers are expressed as the

were compared using Student's *t*-test. *P* values < 0.01 were considered statistically significant. **(B)** Viral replication of HEV-B, C, and D in LPSGL1.1 cells. Replication of two HEV-B [CVB3-Nancy and echovirus 7 (E7)-Wallace] and two HEV-C strains [CVA21-Coe and poliovirus 1 (PV1)-Sabin 1], and one HEV-D (EV70-J670/71) strains in LPSGL1.1 cells in the presence or absence of KPL1 or an isotype control. The titers are expressed as the mean and error bars indicate SD of triplicate analyses. The mean viral titers were compared using Student's *t*-test. *P* values < 0.01 were considered statistically significant.

series of chimeric proteins between human and mouse SCARB2 identified that the amino acids 142–204 of human SCARB2 (encoded by human *SCARB2* exon 4) are responsible for EV71 binding and infection (Yamayoshi and Koike, 2011).

Mouse L929 cells expressing human SCARB2 in the presence of puromycin (L-SCARB2 cells) permitted the replication of all EV71 strains tested, including the non-PB strains (Yamayoshi et al., 2009). CVA16 induced CPE in L-SCARB2 cells, whereas CVA2, CVA3, CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, CVA8, and CVA12 did not. CVA16 grew efficiently in L-SCARB2, whereas CVA2, CVA3, CVA4, CVA5, CVA6, CVA8, and CVA12 did not (**Table 1**). Yamayoshi et al. (2009) concluded that CVA16 also infect L-SCARB2 cells in a SCARB2dependent manner and that infection with most other HEV-A is not dependent upon SCARB2. CVA7, CVA10, and CVA14 induced CPE in both L-Empty cells and L-SCARB2 cells (Yamayoshi et al., 2009). They could not determine whether the CPE induced by these viruses were due to human SCARB2–mediated infection.

ANNEXIN II

Yang et al. (2011) identified annexin II as an EV71 VP1-binding protein on RD cells. Using a recombinant VP1 protein of EV71 fused with a calmodulin-binding peptide, they tried to identify VP1-binding proteins from the total cellular proteins of RD cells. A virus-overlay protein-binding assay followed by a mass spectrometry analysis identified annexin II as a VP1-binding protein.

Annexin II is a member of the annexin family – the multifunctional phospholipid-binding proteins. Annexin II on the surface of endothelial cells acts as a profibrinolytic coreceptor for both

Strain Fleetwood	Accession No.	L-bsd ¹	L-PSGL-1.1	L-Empty ^{2,3}	L-SCARB2 ³
Fleetwood					
	AY421760	_	_	_	_
Olson	AY421761	_	_	_	_
JR ⁴	AB457644	_	_	_	_
Swartz	AY421763	_	_	_	_
Gdula	AY421764	_	_	_	_
Parker	AY421765	_	+	+	+
Donovan	AY421766	_	_	_	_
Kowalik	AY421767	+	+	+	+
Texas-12	AY421768	_	_	_	_
G-14	AY421769	_	+	+	+
G-10	U05876	_	+	_	+
	JR ⁴ Swartz Gdula Parker Donovan Kowalik Texas-12 G-14	JR ⁴ AB457644 Swartz AY421763 Gdula AY421764 Parker AY421765 Donovan AY421766 Kowalik AY421767 Texas-12 AY421768 G-14 AY421769	JR ⁴ AB457644 - Swartz AY421763 - Gdula AY421764 - Parker AY421765 - Donovan AY421766 - Kowalik AY421767 + Texas-12 AY421768 - G-14 AY421769 -	JR ⁴ AB457644 - - Swartz AY421763 - - Gdula AY421764 - - Parker AY421765 - + Donovan AY421766 - - Kowalik AY421767 + + Texas-12 AY421769 - - G-14 AY421769 - +	JR ⁴ AB457644 - - - Swartz AY421763 - - - Gdula AY421764 - - - Parker AY421765 - + + Donovan AY421766 - - - Kowalik AY421767 + + + Texas-12 AY421768 - - - G-14 AY421769 - + +

Table 1 | Induction of CPE by the HEV-A strains.

¹Blasticidin-resistant L929 cells (a negative control for L-PSGL-1.1 cells).

²Puromycin-resistant L929 cells (a negative control for L-SCARB2 cells).

³Yamayoshi et al. (2009).

⁴ Prototype CVA4 strain (high point) is unavailable from ATCC, therefore we used an in-house reference strain of CVA4, the JR strain.

plasminogen and tissue plasminogen activator facilitating the generation of plasmin (Kim and Hajjar, 2002). The interaction to annexin II was specific to EV71; CVA16 did not bind to annexin II in the virus-overlay protein-binding assay (Yang et al., 2011).

SIALIC ACID

Sialic acid is usually found as terminal monosaccharides on the glycan chains of glycolipids and glycoproteins (Varki and Varki, 2007). Coxsackievirus A24 variant (CVA24v) uses SA-containing glycoconjugates as attachment receptors on corneal cells (Nilsson et al., 2008). Yang et al. (2009) hypothesized that SA would be important for EV71 infection, as the transmission route of EV71 and CVA24v is fecal-oral and/or droplet-aerosol route. EV71 infection to DLD-1 intestinal cells was inhibited by an O-glycan synthesis inhibitor, but not by an N-glycan synthesis inhibitor. Sialidase treatment decreased EV71 replication in DLD-1 cells. Furthermore, DLD-1 cells co-cultured with SA-linked galactose significantly reduced the EV71 infection. Thus Yang et al. (2009) concluded that SA-linked glycans are EV71 receptors on DLD-1 cells. Recently, Neu5Aca2,3Gal disaccharides on PSGL-1 were reported as a candidate receptor of CVA24v (Mistry et al., 2011). It is unknown whether other enteroviruses, including HEV-A, recognize SA-containing glycans as the entry receptors.

DENDRITIC CELL-SPECIFIC ICAM3-GRABBING NON-INTEGRIN

Dendritic cells play crucial roles in antiviral immunity by functioning as professional antigen-presenting cells to prime T cells and by secreting cytokines to modulate immune responses. In a mouse model of EV71 infection, DCs from the brains of EV71infected, but not of uninfected, mice expressed viral antigen and

REFERENCES

Alexander, J. P. Jr., Baden, L., Pallansch, M. A., and Anderson, L. J. (1994). Enterovirus 71 infections and neurologic disease – United States, 1977–1991. J. Infect. Dis. 169, 905–908.

Calvo, D., Dopazo, J., and Vega, M. A. (1995). The CD36, CLA-1 (CD36L1), and LIMPII (CD36L2) primed T cells efficiently (Lin et al., 2009a). Lin et al. (2009b) reported that EV71 infection enhances mouse DCs to elicit protective immune response and also found that EV71 infects human immature DCs and that viral entry is partially inhibited by anti-DC-SIGN antibody. However, the direct interaction between EV71 and DC-SIGN is still unclear. It is essential to characterize the role of DC-SIGN and other receptors for EV71 in DCs for understanding the host immunological responses and immunopathogenesis of HEV-A including EV71.

CONCLUSION

Identification of PSGL-1 and SCARB2 as the cellular receptors for EV71 and CVA16 has advanced our understanding of the early stages of HEV-A infections at the molecular level. However, further experiments using clinical HEV-A isolates are necessary to clarify the general role of PSGL-1 and SCARB2 in HEV-A infection and their pathogenesis. Most of the prototype (laboratory-adapted) HEV-A strains other than EV71 and CVA16 may use unidentified receptor(s) to infect susceptible human cells such as RD cells. Characterization of the identified and unidentified HEV-A receptors is essential to understand the mechanism of HEV-A infection and development of a diverse array of the clinical outcomes of HEV-A-associated diseases.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful to Junko Wada for excellent technical assistance. This work was supported by a Grant-in-Aid for Research on Emerging and Re-emerging Infectious Diseases and JSPS KAK-ENHI [Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B), 22390092]. Yorihiro Nishimura and Hiroyuki Shimizu were supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for the Promotion of Polio Eradication, from the Ministry of Health, Labour and Welfare, Japan.

gene family: cellular distribution, chromosomal location, and genetic evolution. *Genomics* 25, 100–106. Eskelinen, E. L., Tanaka, Y., and Saftig, P. (2003). At the acidic edge: emerging functions for lysosomal membrane proteins. *Trends Cell Biol.* 13, 137–145.

Fujimoto, T., Iizuka, S., Enomoto, M., Abe, K., Yamashita, K., Hanaoka, N.,

HEV-A receptors

Okabe, N., Yoshida, H., Yasui, Y., Kobayashi, M., Fujii, Y., Tanaka, H., Yamamoto, M., and Shimizu, H. (2012). Hand, foot, and mouth disease caused by coxsackievirus A6, Japan, 2011. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 18, 337–339.

- Fujita, H., Takata, Y., Kono, A., Tanaka, Y., Takahashi, T., Himeno, M., and Kato, K. (1992). Isolation and sequencing of a cDNA clone encoding the 85 kDa human lysosomal sialoglycoprotein (hLGP85) in human metastatic pancreas islet tumor cells. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 184, 604–611.
- Gamp, A. C., Tanaka, Y., Lüllmann-Rauch, R., Wittke, D., D'Hooge, R., De Deyn, P. P., Moser, T., Maier, H., Hartmann, D., Reiss, K., Illert, A. L., von Figura, K., and Saftig, P. (2003). LIMP-2/LGP85 deficiency causes ureteric pelvic junction obstruction, deafness and peripheral neuropathy in mice. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 12, 631–646.
- Hirata, T., Furukawa, Y., Yang, B. G., Hieshima, K., Fukuda, M., Kannagi, R., Yoshie, O., and Miyasaka, M. (2004). Human P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 (PSGL-1) interacts with the skin-associated chemokine CCL27 via sulfated tyrosines at the PSGL-1 amino terminus. J. Biol. Chem. 279, 51775–51782.
- Kim, J., and Hajjar, K. A. (2002). Annexin II: a plasminogenplasminogen activator co-receptor. *Front. Biosci.* 7, d341–d348.
- Kuronita, T., Eskelinen, E. L., Fujita, H., Saftig, P., Himeno, M., and Tanaka, Y. (2002). A role for the lysosomal membrane protein LGP85 in the biogenesis and maintenance of endosomal and lysosomal morphology. J. Cell Sci. 115, 4117–4131.
- Laszik, Z., Jansen, P. J., Cummings, R. D., Tedder, T. F., McEver, R. P., and Moore, K. L. (1996). P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is broadly expressed in cells of myeloid, lymphoid, and dendritic lineage and in some nonhematopoietic cells. *Blood* 88, 3010–3021.
- Lin, T. Y., Hsia, S. H., Huang, Y. C., Wu, C. T., and Chang, L. Y. (2003). Proinflammatory cytokine reactions in enterovirus 71 infections of the central nervous system. *Clin. Infect. Dis.* 36, 269–274.
- Lin, Y. W., Chang, K. C., Kao, C. M., Chang, S. P., Tung, Y. Y., and Chen, S. H. (2009a). Lymphocyte and antibody responses reduce enterovirus 71 lethality in mice by decreasing tissue viral loads. *J. Virol.* 83, 6477–6483.

- Lin, Y. W., Wang, S. W., Tung, Y. Y., and Chen, S. H. (2009b). Enterovirus 71 infection of human dendritic cells. *Exp. Biol. Med. (Maywood)* 234, 1166–1173.
- Liu, W. J., Ramachandran, V., Kang, J., Kishimoto, T. K., Cummings, R. D., and McEver, R. P. (1998). Identification of N-terminal residues on P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1 required for binding to P-selectin. J. Biol. Chem. 273, 7078–7087.
- McMinn, P. C. (2002). An overview of the evolution of enterovirus 71 and its clinical and public health significance. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.* 26, 91–107.
- Mistry, N., Inoue, H., Jamshidi, F., Storm, R. J., Oberste, M. S., and Arnberg, N. (2011). Coxsackievirus A24 variant uses sialic acid-containing O-linked glycoconjugates as cellular receptors on human ocular cells. J. Virol. 85, 11283–11290.
- Miyamura, K., Nishimura, Y., Abo, M., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2011). Adaptive mutations in the genomes of enterovirus 71 strains following infection of mouse cells expressing human P-selectin glycoprotein ligand-1. J. Gen. Virol. 92, 287–291.
- Modlin, J. F. (2007). Enterovirus déjà vu. N. Engl. J. Med. 356, 1204–1205.
- Nadkarni, S. S., and Deshpande, J. M. (2003). Recombinant murine L20B cell line supports multiplication of group A coxsackieviruses. J. Med. Virol. 70, 81–85.
- Nilsson, E. C., Jamshidi, F., Johansson, S. M. C., Oberste, M. S., and Arnberg, N. (2008). Sialic acid is a cellular receptor for coxsackievirus A24 variant, an emerging virus with pandemic potential. *J. Virol.* 82, 3061–3068.
- Nishimura, Y., Shimojima, M., Tano, Y., Miyamura, T., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2009). Human Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is a functional receptor for enterovirus 71. *Nat. Med.* 15, 794–797.
- Nishimura, Y., Wakita, T., and Shimizu, H. (2010). Tyrosine sulfation of the amino terminus of PSGL-1 is critical for enterovirus 71 infection. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1001174. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001174
- Nokhbeh, M. R., Hazra, S., Alexander, D. A., Khan, A., McAllister, M., Suuronen, E. J., Griffith, M., and Dimock, K. (2005). Enterovirus 70 binds to different glycoconjugates containing α 2,3-linked sialic acid on different cell lines. *J. Virol.* 79, 7087–7094.

- Oberste, M. S., Jiang, X., Maher, K., Nix, W. A., and Jiang, B. (2008). The complete genome sequences for three simian enteroviruses isolated from captive primates. *Arch. Virol.* 153, 2117–2122.
- Oberste, M. S., Maher, K., Michele, S. M., Belliot, G., Uddin, M., and Pallansch, M. A. (2005). Enteroviruses 76, 89, 90 and 91 represent a novel group within the species human enterovirus A. J. Gen. Virol. 86, 445–451.
- Oberste, M. S., Maher, K., and Pallansch, M. A. (2007). Complete genome sequences for nine simian enteroviruses. *J. Gen. Virol.* 88, 3360–3372.
- Oberste, M. S., Peñaranda, S., Maher, K., and Pallansch, M. A. (2004). Complete genome sequences of all members of the species Human enterovirus A. J. Gen. Virol. 85, 1597–1607.
- Pallansch, M., and Roos, R. (2007). "Enteroviruses: polioviruses, coxsackieviruses, echoviruses, and newer enteroviruses," in *Fields Virology*, 5th Edn, eds D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins), 839–893.
- Patel, K. P., and Bergelson, J. M. (2009). Receptors identified for hand, foot and mouth virus. *Nat. Med.* 15, 728–729.
- Pouyani, T., and Seed, B. (1995). PSGL-1 recognition of P-selectin is controlled by a tyrosine sulfation consensus at the PSGL-1 amino terminus. *Cell* 83, 333–343.
- Sako, D., Chang, X. J., Barone, K. M., Vachino, G., White, H. M., Shaw, G., Veldman, G. M., Bean, K. M., Ahern, T. J., Furie, B., Cumming, D. A., and Larsen, G. R. (1993). Expression cloning of a functional glycoprotein ligand for P-selectin. *Cell* 75, 1179–1186.
- Sako, D., Comess, K. M., Barone, K. M., Camphausen, R. T., Cumming, D. A., and Shaw, G. D. (1995). A sulfated peptide segment at the amino terminus of PSGL-1 is critical for P-selectin binding. *Cell* 83, 323–331.
- Somers, W. S., Tang, J., Shaw, G. D., and Camphausen, R. T. (2000). Insights into the molecular basis of leukocyte tethering and rolling revealed by structures of P- and E-selectin bound to SLeX and PSGL-1. *Cell* 103, 467–479.
- Varki, N. M., and Varki, A. (2007). Diversity in cell surface sialic acid presentations: implications for

biology and disease. Lab. Invest. 87, 851-857.

- Wang, S. M., Lei, H. Y., Huang, K. J., Wu, J. M., Wang, J. R., Yu, C. K., Su, I. J., and Liu, C. C. (2003). Pathogenesis of enterovirus 71 brainstem encephalitis in pediatric patients: roles of cytokines and cellular immune activation in patients with pulmonary edema. J. Infect. Dis. 188, 564–570.
- Wilkins, P. P., Moore, K. L., McEver, R. P., and Cummings, R. D. (1995). Tyrosine sulfation of Pselectin glycoprotein ligand-1 is required for high affinity binding to P-selectin. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 22677–22680.
- Yamayoshi, S., and Koike, S. (2011). Identification of a human SCARB2 region that is important for enterovirus 71 binding and infection. *J. Virol.* 85, 4937–4946.
- Yamayoshi, S., Yamashita, Y., Li, J., Hanagata, N., Minowa, T., Takemura, T., and Koike, S. (2009). Scavenger receptor B2 is a cellular receptor for enterovirus 71. *Nat. Med.* 15, 798–801.
- Yang, B., Chuang, H., and Yang, K. D. (2009). Sialylated glycans as receptor and inhibitor of enterovirus 71 infection to DLD-1 intestinal cells. *Virol. J.* 6, 141.
- Yang, S. L., Chou, Y. T., Wu, C. N., and Ho, M. S. (2011). Annexin II binds to capsid protein VP1 of enterovirus 71 and enhances viral infectivity. *J. Virol.* 85, 11809–11820.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 30 November 2011; accepted: 02 March 2012; published online: 27 March 2012.

Citation: Nishimura Y and Shimizu H (2012) Cellular receptors for human enterovirus species A. Front. Microbio. **3**:105. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00105

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Nishimura and Shimizu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Mouse hepatitis virus receptor as a determinant of the mouse susceptibility to MHV infection

Fumihiro Taguchi¹* and Asuka Hirai-Yuki²

¹ Laboratory of Virology and Viral Infections, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Nippon Veterinary and Life Science University, Musashino, Tokyo, Japan ² Laboratory of Animal Care, National Institute of Infectious Disease, Musashi-Murayama, Tokyo, Japan

Edited by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Kazutaka Terahara, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Nicole Beauchemin, McGill University, Canada

*Correspondence:

Fumihiro Taguchi, Department of Veterinary Medicine, Laboratory of Virology and Viral Infections, Nippon Veterinary and Life Science University, 1-7-1 Kyonan, Musashino, Tokyo 180-8602, Japan. e-mail: ftaguchi@nvlu.ac.jp

INTRODUCTION

Mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) is a murine coronavirus which causes a wide range of diseases in the mouse and rat, including hepatitis, enteritis, respiratory diseases, and encephalomyelitis in the central nervous system (Wege et al., 1982). There are also great differences in tissue tropism and virulence among various strains and isolates of MHV (Hirano et al., 1981; Wege et al., 1982). Complex factors, such as age and immunological status of the host animal, dose, and route of virus inoculation, affect disease outcomes (Taguchi et al., 1977; Hirano et al., 1981). Naturally occurring cases of MHV infections in mouse colonies are generally enteric infections that are not highly pathogenic to immunocompetent adult mice, while virus infections are mostly of a persistent nature (Ishida et al., 1978; Homberger, 1997). Viruses shed in the feces from persistently infected mice are a source of acute and chronic fatal diseases encountered in mice prone to MHV infection, e.g., diarrhea of suckling mice and wasting syndrome in immunodeficient nude mice (Hirano et al., 1975; Tamura et al., 1977; Ishida et al., 1978). Thus, the asymptomatic infection of adult mice is a major problem in animal facilities where MHV-free mice are used for experiments and evokes serious problems in terms of maintaining animals of sufficient quality to allow scientists to perform experiments with high reproducibility and reliability.

It is well known that there is a difference in susceptibility to MHV infection among mouse strains. A number of works have reported differing susceptibilities to MHV infection among mouse strains from 1960 to the present (Bang and Warwick, 1960; Taguchi et al., 1976; Stohlman and Frelinger, 1978; Knobler et al., 1981). Bang and Warwick (1960) showed that the C3H inbred strain was resistant to MHV-2 infection, while Princeton outbred mice were deemed susceptible. They further showed that susceptibility was determined by a single gene, expressed in macrophages (Bang and Warwick, 1960). Stohlman and Frelinger (1978) reported, using

In this review, we report that the receptor of mouse hepatitis virus (MHV), carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1 (CEACAM1), is an important determinant of mouse susceptibility to MHV infection. This finding was revealed by using mouse strains with two different allelic forms of the MHV receptor, *Ceacam1a* and *Ceacam1b*. Although previous studies indicated that susceptibility is determined by a single gene, *Ceacam1*, our recent work in gene-replaced mice with chimeric *Ceacam1* pointed toward the involvement of other host factors (genes) in the susceptibility. Studies on mouse susceptibility to MHV, as well as the factors involved in their susceptibility, are overviewed.

Keywords: MHV, coronavirus, receptor, MHV receptor, mouse, MHV resistant gene, gene-replacement

a neurotropic MHV, JHMV strain, that SJL mice are resistant, while others are susceptible. By cross and backcross studies, they indicated that susceptibility is dominant, as determined by a major gene and a gene marginally influencing its susceptibility (Stohlman and Frelinger, 1978). Thereafter, Smith et al. (1984) identified the locus of the gene that determines the susceptibility of mice to MHV infection to be on chromosome 7. From those findings, it was postulated that mouse susceptibility to MHV infection is dominant and determined mostly by a single gene located on chromosome 7. On the basis of those findings, Holmes and her colleagues identified an MHV receptor.

IDENTIFICATION OF MHV RECEPTOR

Holmes and co-workers tried to find a receptor protein by using susceptible BALB/c and resistant SJL/J mice (Boyle et al., 1987). They prepared cell membrane fractions from MHV target tissues, intestines, and liver, of those mice and showed, by using a viral overlay protein blot assay (whereby virions bind to the protein on a membrane filter prepared by Western blotting), that BALB/c mice express a molecule of 110-120 kDa on cell membranes to bind MHV virus particles. However, in the same fraction of SJL mice, they failed to find the protein that would bind MHV (Boyle et al., 1987; Williams et al., 1990). Accordingly, they speculated that the protein was a receptor for MHV and determines mouse susceptibility. Thereafter, they isolated the protein and analyzed the partial amino acid sequence of the protein, which suggested to them that the protein is similar to a carcinoembryonic antigen, CEA (Williams et al., 1991). They finally isolated a cDNA clone and identified the protein to be a biliary glycoprotein of the CEA family (Dveksler et al., 1991), now called carcinoembryonic antigen-related cell adhesion molecule 1 (CEACAM1; Beauchemin et al., 1999). The expression of this protein in non-permissive cells converted them into cells that were permissive to MHV infection, a finding that indicated this protein serves as an MHV receptor (Dveksler et al., 1991). These findings suggested to them that the susceptibility of the mouse to MHV infection is determined by the presence or absence of this molecule. Soon after these findings were published, they reported that the CEACAM1 counterpart is expressed in the SJL (Dveksler et al., 1993b); however, they also reported that the CEACAM1 counterpart found in SJL is also functional as a receptor for MHV when expressed in non-permissive cells, although the receptor functionality is less efficient compared with the CEACAM1 found in BALB/c (Dveksler et al., 1993b). Holmes and co-workers explained that the relatively small difference in receptor function between BALB/c CEACAM1 and SJL CEACAM1 could result in the very large biological differences in the multiple cycle infections that are required to cause disease in animals (Dveksler et al., 1993b). There is a slight difference in amino acid sequences between CEACAM1 found in most mouse strains and CEACAM1 expressed in SJL in the MHV-binding region (Rao et al., 1997; Beauchemin et al., 1999); these are allelic forms and called CEACAM1a for BALB/c type and CEACAM1b for SJL type (Beauchemin et al., 1999). In contrast to the hypothesis by Holmes and co-workers, Yokomori and Lai (1992) expressed CEACAM1a derived from C57BL/6 and CEACAM1b from SJL mice in MHV-non-permissive cells and found no significant difference in viral growth between cells expressing CEACAM1a and those with CEACAM1b, which may mean that the susceptibility difference observed between those two mouse strains may not be attributable to MHV receptor protein.

STRUCTURE AND MHV-BINDING ACTIVITY OF CEACAM1s

There are at least four different types of CEACAM1 isoforms derived by alternative splicing (Beauchemin et al., 1999). CEA-CAM1 belongs to an immunoglobulin (Ig) superfamily and is composed of an ectodomain, transmembrane domain (TM), and cytoplasmic tail (Cy). The ectodomain consists of four Ig constant region-like domains, i.e., the N, A1, B, and A2 domains from the N terminus of the molecule (Dveksler et al., 1991; Beauchemin et al., 1999). Alternative splicing generates the molecules with two ectodomains, composed of N and A2, while those four- and twodomain forms have either long or short Cy, which results in the four different forms of CEACAM1 (Beauchemin et al., 1999). Also as described above, there are two allelic forms in CEACAM1, 1a, and 1b, and, thus, at least eight totally different MHV receptor molecules exist (Beauchemin et al., 1999). Recently, some CEA-CAM1 molecules deleting TM and Cy were found in intestinal epithelium and intestinal secretions, and those neutralize MHV (Terahara et al., 2009).

The molecule on MHV virion that binds to the receptor is the spike (S) protein with ca. 180–200 kDa class I fusion glycoprotein (Bosch et al., 2003). One spike is composed of a trimer of the S protein. The S protein of most MHV is cleaved in the middle of the molecule, and the N terminal subunit is called the S1 and C terminal subunits S2, respectively (Sturman et al., 1985). N terminal 330 amino acids in S1 are responsible for receptor binding (Kubo et al., 1994), and S2 is critical for envelope–cell membrane fusion, namely, cell entry (Bosch et al., 2003).

The N domain of CEACAM1 alone is sufficient to bind MHV; a soluble form consisting of the N domain alone works efficiently to bind to MHV (Dveksler et al., 1993a; Miura et al., 2004). Also, the

N domain alone can neutralize viruses and induce conformational change in the S protein. Moreover, the binding of the N domain to the S protein of MHV induces the fusion activation of the S protein (Taguchi and Matsuyama, 2002; Miura et al., 2004). However, when the N domain alone is expressed on the membrane (which has both TM and Cy), this molecule fails to work as a functional receptor (Dveksler et al., 1993a; Miura et al., 2004). This may be due to its short molecule that is buried among various cell surface molecules and thus fails to have a chance to attach to the virions (Dveksler et al., 1993a). We have compared the virus-binding activity of CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b. Soluble CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b composed of N and A2 domains prepared on nitrocellulose paper were allowed to attach to an MHV virion (viral protein blot assay). By this method, CEACAM1a binds to virions more than 300-fold efficiently when compared with CEACAM1b (Ohtsuka et al., 1996). We also examined the neutralization activity of the two soluble proteins, finding that, in this assay, CEACAM1a is highly reactive and neutralizes MHV more than 300-fold efficiently than does CEACAM1b. These results are in agreement with the observations of the Holmes lab (Boyle et al., 1987). However, when those proteins are expressed in MHV-non-permissive BHK cells, CEACAM1a exhibits only a 10- to 30-fold higher receptor function when compared with that of CEACAM1b, and, again, this finding is similar to those obtained by the Holmes lab (Boyle et al., 1987). Accordingly, from these findings, we concluded that the small difference in receptor function between CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b will be amplified after several viral growths, as also postulated by Holmes and her collaborators. As for the receptor binding site in the N domain of CEACAM1, Gallagher and coworkers reported six contiguous amino acids from 38 to 43 in the N domain different between CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b play an important role in the differences seen in receptor function (Rao et al., 1997). Others showed that amino acids 34-52 are involved in virus-binding (Wessner et al., 1998).

ANALYSIS OF THE ROLE OF CEACAM1 IN THE MHV SUSCEPTIBILITY OR RESISTANCE OF MICE

The above data suggested to us that CEACAM1 is an important factor to determine the susceptibility of mice and could be a product of the gene responsible for susceptibility mapped in a locus on chromosome 7 by Smith et al. (1984). This idea is strengthened by the fact that the MHV receptor Ceacam1 gene is mapped to the same region on chromosome 7 (Robbins et al., 1991). If the CEACAM1 receptor is a determinant of susceptibility, and susceptibility is dominant over resistance, then mice with CEACAM1a/CEACAM1a and CEACAM1a/CEACAM1b are susceptible and only mice with a CEACAM1b/CEACAM1b phenotype, such as SJL mice, are resistant. To assess this possibility, we have mated BALB/c and SJL to generate F1 mice, and then we obtained mice backcrossed to SJL. We also produced F2 mice from BALB/c and SJL mice. By using these mice, we examined the relationship between the mouse genotype of Ceacam1 and its susceptibility to MHV. Of more than 120 backcrossed and F2 mice, those with Ceacam1a/Ceacam1a and Ceacam1a/Ceacam1b were fully susceptible, while those with Ceacam1b/Ceacam1b were resistant (Ohtsuka and Taguchi, 1997). These experimental results are well in accordance with the hypothesis, i.e., that mouse susceptibility to MHV is determined by a receptor gene. We have also

studied the relationship between MHV susceptibility and CEA-CAM1 allelic forms by using wild mice (Ohtsuka et al., 2001). The study showed that most of subspecies of wild mice distributed worldwide express both or either CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b. Among those mice, CEACAM1a-expressing ones showed high susceptibility to MHV, while those with CEACAM1b were not highly susceptible, being in good agreement to the result and hypothesis obtained by mouse cross and backcross experiment shown above.

It has been reported in studies using gene-knockout mice that CEACAM1a is a critical factor for mouse susceptibility to MHV infection (Blau et al., 2001; Hemmila et al., 2004). Beauchemin and co-workers produced mice whose *Ceacam1* gene is partially disrupted or mice in which the *Ceacam1a* gene was deleted and showed that those mice showed a reduced susceptibility and no susceptibility to MHV infection, respectively (Blau et al., 2001; Hemmila et al., 2004). These findings clearly show that CEACAM1 is an important factor in determining the susceptibility to MHV. However, these studies did not explain the difference of susceptibility to MHV infection observed between BALB/c with CEACAM1a and SJL with CEACAM1b receptor protein.

ANALYSIS OF GENE-REPLACED MICE

If the differing susceptibilities between CEACAM1a-expressing mice and SJL with CEACAM1b are determined by CEACAM1, then MHV-susceptible mice with CEACAM1a are converted to SJL type-resistant mice, when the Ceacam1a mouse gene is replaced with a Ceacam1b gene. We have produced C57BL/6 (B6) mice whose original Ceacam1a gene is replaced by a Ceacam1b gene (Hirai et al., 2010). Since it has been revealed that the chimeric CEACAM1a, which is replaced with 1-70 amino acids of the N terminus of N domain with CEACAM1b counterpart, functioned as CEACAM1b, suggesting that there is a critical region in 1-70 amino acids to determine the difference of receptor functionality between CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b (Wessner et al., 1998). Thus, we produced B6 mice whose N terminal region (1-70 amino acids) is replaced by CEACAM1b (we call it CEACAM1ba) to see the mouse susceptibility is determined by CEACAM1. CEA-CAM1ba has two N-linked glycosylation sites in the N domain as CEACM1b, while CEACAM1a has three sites, showing that chimeric CEACAM1ba is more like CEACAM1b rather than CEA-CAM1a. Those gene-replaced mice expressed the chimeric protein in the tissues or cells where CEACAM1a and CEACAM1b were expressed in B6 and SJL mice, respectively. It was also revealed that there is no significant difference in the expression level of CEACACM1a and CEACAM1ba in B6 and chimeric B6 mice (Hirai et al., 2010). Additionally, the chimeric CEACAM1 did not react with the CEACAM1a-specific monoclonal antibody, CC1 as reported previously (Wessner et al., 1998). We then examined the susceptibility of mice having a chimeric Ceacam1. The gene-replaced mice, when compared to B6 mice, were resistant to a lethal dose of MHV-A59 infection, a finding similar to those in SJL mice that were resistant to the infection. However, when we

REFERENCES

Bang, F. B., and Warwick, A. (1960). Mouse macrophages as host cells for the mouse hepatitis virus and the genetic basis of their susceptibility. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 46, 1065–1075.

Beauchemin, N., Draber, P., Dveksler, G., Gold, P., Gray-Owen, S., Grunert, F., Hammarström, S., Holmes, K. V., examined virus growth in B6, SJL, and the gene-replaced mice, high titer of MHV were detected in the liver and other target tissues of B6 mice, while low levels of virus titer were recorded in SJL mice, findings which are similar to the results we have thus far obtained. Interestingly, no virus growth was detected in the mice having gene-replacement with chimeric CEACAM1, indicating the gene-replaced mice showed a much higher resistance to MHV infection than did the SJL mice. Since the virus-binding domain is derived from SJL, the chimeric mouse susceptibility should be similar to that in SJL mice, if our hypothesis is correct. However, at the moment, we have no convincing explanation on the difference in susceptibility of SJL and chimeric mice with identical MHV-binding site on CEACAM1.

Two other molecules, CEACAM2 (Nedellec et al., 1994) and pregnancy-specific glycoprotein (PSG; Chen et al., 1995), have so far been reported to work as MHV receptor. These proteins, however, seem unlikely to function as an MHV receptor in the mouse, since CEACAM1 knockout mice produced in Beauchemin lab showed complete resistance to MHV-A59 infection (Hemmila et al., 2004),. Moreover, as there are no substantial differences in amino acid sequences in those two receptor proteins expressed in B6 and SJL, there is little possibility that those proteins are involved in the differences of MHV susceptibility between SJL and chimeric mice. One point to be further studied is the effect of FVB Cre mouse that is used to exclude neomycin resistant gene from initially produced chimeric mouse (Hirai et al., 2010). To exclude the FVB mouse genes, we performed the backcross of neomycin deleted mouse to B6 mouse by 11 generations, however, some FVB mouse gene still remaining in backcrossed mice could have some unexpected effects on the chimeric mice. It is important to study whether any of FVB mouse genes are involved in the high resistance of chimeric mice.

We did observe that peritoneal macrophages from chimeric mice, which express chimeric CEACAM1ba, were resistant to MHV, while chimeric CEACAM1 expressed in cultured cell lines, such as BHK, showed MHV susceptibility, slightly lower than that in cells expressing CEACAM1b. From these findings, it could be postulated that some cellular factor(s) other than CEACAM1 could modify animal susceptibility. This idea appears to be in accordance with findings by Stohlman and Frelinger (1978), who postulated two factors to determine mouse strain differences in susceptibility to MHV infection. Studies to elucidate such factors are in progress.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Nobuhisa Ohtsuka, Toshio Ikeda, Tateki Kikuchi, and other members in National Institute of Neuroscience NCNP and colleagues in National Institute of Infectious Diseases, where our works shown in this review have been performed. Those works were financially supported by the grants-in-aid from Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology of Japan.

Karlsson, A., Kuroki, M., Lin, S. H., Lucka, L., Najjar, S. M., Neumaier, M., Obrink, B., Shively, J. E., Skubitz, K. M., Stanners, C. P., Thomas, P., Thompson, J. A., Virji, M., von Kleist, S., Wagener, C., Watt, S., and Zimmermann, W. (1999). Redefined nomenclature for members of the carcinoembryonic antigen family. *Exp. Cell Res.* 252, 243–249.

- Blau, D. M., Turbide, C., Tremblay, M., Olson, M. A., Letourneau, S., Michaliszyn, E., Jothy, S., Holmes, K. V., and Beauchemin, N. (2001). Targeted disruption of the Ceacam1 (MHVR) gene leads to reduced susceptibility of mice to mouse hepatitis virus infection. J. Virol. 75, 8173–8186.
- Bosch, B. J., van der Zee, R., de Haan, C. A. M., and Rottier, P. J. M. (2003). The coronavirus spike protein is a class I fusion protein: structural and functional characterization of the fusion core complex. *J. Virol.* 77, 8801–8811.
- Boyle, J. F., Weismiller, D. G., and Holmes, K. V. (1987). Genetic resistance to mouse hepatitis virus correlates with absence of virus-binding activity on target tissues. *J. Virol.* 61, 185–189.
- Chen, D. S., Asanaka, M., Yokomori, K., Wang, F., Hwang, S. B., Li, H., and Lai, M. M. C. (1995). A pregnancyspecific glycoprotein is expressed in the brain and serve as a receptor for mouse hepatitis virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 92, 12095–12099.
- Dveksler, G. S., Pensiero, M. N., Cardellichio, C. B., Williams, R. K., Jiang, G. S., Holmes, K. V., and Dieffenbach, C. W. (1991). Cloning of the mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) receptor: expression in human and hamster cell lines confers susceptibility to MHV. J. Virol. 65, 6881–68891.
- Dveksler, G. S., Pensiero, M. N., Dieffenbach, C. W., Cardellichio, C. B., Basile, A. A., Elia, P. E., and Holmes, K. V. (1993a). Mouse hepatitis virus strain A59 and blocking antireceptor monoclonal antibody bind to the Nterminal domain of cellular receptor. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 90, 1716–1720.
- Dveksler, G. S., Dieffenbach, C. W., Cardellichio, C. B., McCuaig, K., Pensiero, M. N., Jiang, G. S., Beauchemin, N., and Holmes, K. V. (1993b). Several members of the mouse carcinoembryonic antigenrelated glycoprotein family are functional receptors of the coronavirus mouse hepatitis virus-A59. J. Virol. 67, 1–8.
- Hemmila, E., Turbide C Olson, M., Jothy, S., Holmes, K. V., and Beauchemin, N. (2004). Ceacam1a-/mice are completely resistant to infection by murine coronavirus mouse hepatitis virus A59. *J. Virol.* 78, 10156–10165.
- Hirai, A., Ohtsuka, B., Ikeda, T., Taniguchi, R., Blau, D., Nakagaki, K., Miura, H. S., Ami, Y., Yamada,

Y. K., Itohara, S., Holmes, K. V., and Taguchi, F. (2010). Role of mouse hepatitis virus (MHV) receptor murine CEACAM1 in the resistance of mice to MHV infection: studies of mice with chimeric mCEACAM1a and mCEACM1b. *J. Virol.* 84, 6654–6666.

- Hirano, N., Murakami, T., Taguchi, F., Fujiwara, K., and Matumoto, M. (1981). Comparison of mouse hepatitis virus strains for pathogenicity in weanling mice infected by various route. *Arch. Virol.* 70, 69–73.
- Hirano, N., Tamura, T., Taguchi, F., Ueda, K., and Fujiwara, K. (1975). Isolation of low-virulent mouse hepatitis virus from nude mice with wasting syndrome and hepatitis. *Jpn. J. Exp. Med.* 45, 429–432.
- Homberger, F. R. (1997). Enterotropic mouse hepatitis virus. *Lab. Anim.* 31, 97–115.
- Ishida, T., Taguchi, F., Lee, Y., Yamada, A., Tamura, T., and Fujiwara, K. (1978). Isolation of mouse hepatitis virus from infant mice with fatal diarrhea. *Lab. Anim. Sci.* 28, 269–276.
- Knobler, R. L., Haspel, M. V., and Oldstone, M. B. A. (1981). Mouse hepatitis virus type 4 (JHM strain)induced fatal central nervous system disease. I. Genetic control and the murine neuron as the susceptible site of disease. J. Exp. Med. 153, 832–843.
- Kubo, H., Yamada, Y. K., and Taguchi, F. (1994). Localization of neutralizing epitopes and the receptor-binding site within the amino-terminal 330 amino acids of the murine coronavirus spike protein. *J. Virol.* 68, 5403–5410.
- Miura, S. H., Nakagaki, K., and Taguchi, F. (2004). N terminal domain of murine coronavirus receptor CEA-CAM1 is responsible for fusogenic activation and conformational changes of the spike protein. J. Virol. 78, 216–223.
- Nedellec, P., Dveksler, G. S., Danieles, E., Turbide, C., Chow, B., Basile, A. A., Holmes, K. V., and Beauchemin, N. (1994). Bgp-2, a new member of the carcinoembryonic antigenrelated gene family, encodes an alternative receptor for mouse hepatitis viruses. J. Virol. 68, 4525–4537.
- Ohtsuka, N., and Taguchi, F. (1997). Mouse susceptibility to mouse hepatitis virus infection is linked to viral receptor genotype. *J. Virol.* 71, 8860–8863.
- Ohtsuka, N., Tsuchiya, K., Honda, E., and Taguchi, F. (2001). A study on mouse hepatitis virus receptor

genotype in the wild mouse. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 494, 237–240.

- Ohtsuka, N., Yamada, Y. K., and Taguchi, F. (1996). Difference in virus-binding activity of two distinct receptor proteins for mouse hepatitis virus. J. Gen. Virol. 77, 1683–1692. Rao, P. V., Kumari, S., and Gallagher, T.
- M. (1997). Identification of a contiguous 6-residue determinant in the MHV receptor that controls the level of virion binding to cells. *Virology* 229, 336–348.
- Robbins, J., Robbins, P., Kozak, C. A., and Callahan, R. (1991). The mouse biliary glycoprotein gene (Bgp): partial nucleotide sequence, expression and chromosomal assignment. *Genomics* 10, 583–587.
- Smith, M. S., Click, R. E., and Plagemann, P. G. W. (1984). Control of mouse hepatitis virus replication in macrophages by a recessive gene on chromosome 7. *J. Immunol.* 134, 428–432.
- Stohlman, S. A., and Frelinger, J. A. (1978). Resistance to fatal central nervous system disease by mouse hepatitis virus, strain JHM. 1. Genetic analysis. *Immunogenetics* 6, 277–281.
- Sturman, L. S., Ricard, C. S., and Holmes, K. V. (1985). Proteolytic cleavage of the E2 glycoprotein of murine coronavirus: activation of cell fusing activity of virions by trypsin and separation of two different 90K cleavage fragments. *J. Virol.* 56, 904–911.
- Taguchi, F., Aiuchi, M., and Fujiwara, K. (1977). Age-dependent response of mice to a mouse hepatitis virus, MHV-S. Jpn. J. Exp. Med. 47, 109–115.
- Taguchi, F., Hirano, N., Kiuchi, Y., and Fujiwara, K. (1976). Difference in response of mouse hepatitis virus among susceptible mouse strains. *Jpn. J. Microbiol.* 20, 293–302.
- Taguchi, F., and Matsuyama, S. (2002). Soluble receptor potentiates receptor-independent infection by murine coronavirus. *J. Virol.* 76, 950–958.
- Tamura, T., Taguchi, F., Ueda, K., and Fujiwara, K. (1977). Persistent infection with mouse hepatitis virus of low virulence in nude mice. *Microbiol. Immunol.* 21, 683–691.
- Terahara, K., Yoshida, M., Taguchi, F., Igarashi, O., Nochi, T., Gotoh, Y., Yamamoto, T., Tsunetsugu-Yokota, Y., Beauchemin, N., and Kiyono, H. (2009). Expression of newly identified secretory CEACAM1a isoforms in the

intestinal epithelium. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 383, 340–346.

- Wege, H., Siddell, S. G., and ter Meulen, V. (1982). The biology and pathogenesis of coronaviruses. *Curr. Top. Microbiol. Immunol.* 99, 165–200.
- Wessner, D. R., Shick, P. C., Lu, J. H., Cardellichio, C. B., Gagneten, S. E., Beauchemin, N., Holmes, K. V., and Dveksler, G. S. (1998). Mutational analysis of the virus and monoclonal antibody binding sites in MHVR, the cellular receptor of the murine coronavirus mouse hepatitis virus strain A59. J. Virol. 72, 1941–1948.
- Williams, R. K., Jiang, G., Synder, S. W., Frana, M. F., and Holmes, K. V. (1990). Purification of the 110kilodalton glycoprotein receptor for mouse hepatitis virus (MHV)-A59 from mouse liver and identification of a nonfunctional, homologous protein in MHV-resistant SJL/J mice. J. Virol. 64, 3817–3823.
- Williams, R. K., Jiang, G. S., and Holmes, K. V. (1991). Receptor for mouse hepatitis virus is a member of the carcinoembryonic antigen family of glycoproteins. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U.S.A. 88, 5533–5536.
- Yokomori, K., and Lai, M. M. C. (1992). The receptor for mouse hepatitis virus in the resistant mouse strain SJL is functional: implications for the requirement of a second factor for viral infection. J. Virol. 66, 6931–6938.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 22 December 2011; accepted: 09 February 2012; published online: 24 February 2012.

Citation: Taguchi F and Hirai-Yuki A (2012) Mouse hepatitis virus receptor as a determinant of the mouse susceptibility to MHV infection. Front. Microbio. **3**:68. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00068

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Taguchi and Hirai-Yuki. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.



Cell receptors for influenza A viruses and the innate immune response

Irene Ramos¹ and Ana Fernandez-Sesma^{1,2}*

¹ Department of Microbiology, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

² Global Health and Emerging Pathogens Institute, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, New York, NY, USA

Edited by:

Yasuko Yokota, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan

Reviewed by:

Hideki Hasegawa, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Japan Cornelis Alexander De Haan, Utrecht University, Netherlands

*Correspondence:

Ana Fernandez-Sesma, Department of Microbiology, Mount Sinai School of Medicine, One Gustave L. Levy Place, Box 1124, New York, NY 10029, USA.

e-mail: ana.sesma@mssm.edu

The interaction of the hemagglutinin (HA) of the influenza A viruses (IAV) with the cell surface is a key factor for entry of the virus and productive infection of the cell. This glycoprotein has affinity for sialic acids (SA), and different strains present specificity for SA bound through $\alpha 2,3$ or $\alpha 2,6$ linkages to the underlying sugar chain, which is usually related with host and cell tropism. Nucleic acid recognizing receptors (mainly RIG-I and Toll-like receptors) are the most extensively studied pattern recognition receptors for IAV. However, due to the ability of the HA of avian, swine, or human influenza viruses to bind differently linked SA and also to the high levels and variability of glycosylations of their major virion glycoprotein components, HA and NA, IAV interacting proteins on the cell surface could also play an important role in initiating different signaling pathways to elicit the immune response in infected cells. But, at present, these processes are not well understood. In this mini-review we discuss how the interactions of IAV with cell surface receptors on immune cells might be important for the induction of specific innate immune responses and as a result, for pathogenicity in humans.

Keywords: influenza virus, receptors, sialic acids, innate immune response

INTRODUCTION

Influenza viruses are an important threat to human health and global economy, causing an annual average of 36,000 deaths and over 200,000 hospitalizations during the 1990s (CDC, 2010). In addition, due to the high frequency of mutations and recombination of their genome (antigenic drift and shift), and their airborne transmission, they have a high potential to become pandemic viruses. Influenza viruses belong to the family Orthomyxoviridae, and include the types, A, B, and C, from which influenza A viruses (IAV) are the responsible for most of the disease burden (Mubareka and Palese, 2011). IAV have a segmented negative stranded RNA genome, consisting on 8 segments that encode up to 12 proteins (Palese and Shaw, 2007; Wise et al., 2009).

The major glycoproteins present on the surface of the virion are the hemagglutinin (HA) and the neuraminidase (NA). To date, 16 HA and 9 NA subtypes have been described, and the combination of different subtypes of these proteins results in different subtypes of IAV (Mubareka and Palese, 2011). The main roles of the HA are to mediate the interaction of the viral particle with the cell components on the surface and to promote the fusion of the viral and endosomal membranes, leading to the release of the ribonucleoproteins (RNP) into the cytoplasm. The interaction of influenza viruses with their receptors is necessary for subsequent internalization of the virus. Some studies demonstrated that IAV enter the cell via clathrin mediated endocytosis, although under certain conditions they can also enter in a caveolin and clathrin independent manner (Lakadamyali et al., 2004, 2006; De Vries et al., 2011).

Here we review and discuss how the interaction of IAV with their receptors on the cell surface of immune cells, such as dendritic cells (DCs) and macrophages, might influence infection and promote specific innate immune responses, with important implications in the outcome of the disease, either promoting viral clearance or generating exacerbated local immune responses resulting in acute infection and increased pathogenesis.

RECEPTOR SPECIFICITY OF THE IAV

The circulation of IAV is species-specific, and therefore, transmission among different species is usually not observed. It is known that the receptor specificity has an important role in maintaining the host species barrier, although other proteins, like PB2, also need to be adapted for efficient infection of other hosts different than the original host (Almond, 1977; Neumann and Kawaoka, 2006). Sialic acids (SA, *N*-acetylneuraminic acid) are the primary receptors for virus attachment to cell surfaces, binding to a pocket at the distal tip of the HA of IAV (Weis et al., 1988). SA consist of nine carbon sugars frequently attached through $\alpha 2,3$ or $\alpha 2,6$ (SA $\alpha 2,3$ or SA $\alpha 2,6$) linkages to underlying sugar chains of glycoproteins in the cell membrane. It is known that avian and human viruses differ in their SA binding affinity, since HA from human isolates usually bind SA $\alpha 2,6$, while the avian isolates usually have affinity

Abbreviations: CLRs, C-type lectin receptors; DCs, dendritic cells; DC-SIGN, dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3-grabbing non-integrin; EGFR, epidermal growth factor receptor; HA, hemagglutinin; HPAIV, high pathogenic influenza avian viruses; IAV, influenza A virus; NA, neuraminidase; NLRs, Nod-like receptors; PI3K, phosphatidylinositol 3-kinases; PRRs, pattern recognition receptors; RLRs, RIG-I-like receptors; RNP, ribonucleoprotein; RTK, receptor tyrosine kinases; SA, sialic acids; TLRs, Toll-like receptors.

for SA α 2,3 (Rogers and Paulson, 1983). Related to this, human upper respiratory tract present mainly SA α 2,6, which is believed to act as one of the main barriers for transmission of avian IAV to humans (Shinya et al., 2006; Van Riel et al., 2006; Nicholls et al., 2007).

High pathogenic avian influenza viruses (HPAIV) H5N1 are currently a pandemic threat, and almost 600 people have been reported to be infected as of November 15, 2011 (WHO, 2011), resulting in severe pneumonia with a lethal outcome in 60% of those reported cases. Humans infected with H5N1 present unusually high serum concentrations of chemokines and proinflammatory cytokines, which are thought to contribute to disease severity (Peiris et al., 2004; De Jong et al., 2006; Maines et al., 2008; Sirinonthanawech et al., 2011). Although no sustained human-to-human transmission has been established yet, possibly due to the low levels of SAa2,3 present in the human airways, HPAIV have been shown to be able to infect and replicate efficiently in cells in the lower region of the respiratory tract, including type II pneumocytes and alveolar macrophages, where the avian-like virus receptor is predominant (Shinya et al., 2006; Van Riel et al., 2006; Nicholls et al., 2007). Therefore, the receptor specificity of influenza viruses is important not only for the host tropism, but also for tissue tropism in humans, since it determines the airway region and cell types that support active viral replication, what might contribute to the severity of the disease observed in humans infected with HPAIV. Moreover, a recent work by Watanabe et al. (2011) showed that a single aminoacid change in the HA (D222G) of a H1N1 2009 pandemic IAV, which is determinant for the receptor binding preference modification from SAa2,6 to mixed SAa2,3 and SAa2,6, correlated with severe infection in macaques and higher replication in human lung tissue. It is believed that modifications in the receptor specificity of avian H5N1 influenza virus would be necessary to allow human-to-human direct transmission (Enserink, 2007; Tumpey et al., 2007). However, some studies indicate that a change from SAa2,3 to SAa2,6 binding preference is not enough to increase transmission efficiency in ferrets (Maines et al., 2006; Chen et al., 2012), which are a suitable animal model for the study of influenza since they are susceptible to human influenza viruses (Matsuoka et al., 2009), suggesting that several molecular changes, not only in the HA gene but also in other segments, would be required to confer efficient fitness in humans and become pandemic.

The development of glycan arrays has provided highly valuable information regarding the receptor binding specificity of the HA of numerous IAV isolates (Stevens et al., 2006a,b). These assays allow researchers to determine the SA α 2,3 or SA α 2,6 glycans that interact with the viral HA or whole virus, by using a broad panel of synthetic polymers. Therefore, we now know that not only the SA α 2,3 or SA α 2,6 linkages, but also the underlying sugar chain features, like other modifications such as sulfation, fucosylations, or additional sialylation of the sialyl-receptors are determinant for the binding specificity of the HA, being very variable among the different IAV subtypes and isolates (Stevens et al., 2006a), which could be determinant not only in the host and cell tropism, but also in differential recognition by cell receptors.

SIALYLATED GLYCANS AS RECEPTORS: INVOLVEMENT IN THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO IAV AND PATHOGENESIS

In the last few years, numerous studies have provided increasing evidence for a role for the viral HA-SA interaction in the induction of innate immunity and pathogenesis. SA are structural components of the cell surface, and they have important implications in the immune responses (Crocker and Varki, 2001; Videira et al., 2008). On the other hand, DCs are essential players in the induction of innate immunity, as well as in the initiation of adaptive responses. Upon sensing invading pathogens via several pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), they differentiate to mature DCs and migrate to the secondary lymphoid organs, where they present the processed antigen to T-lymphocytes. Importantly, human DCs express SA α 2,3 and SA α 2,6 on their surface (Videira et al., 2008; Ramos et al., 2011), and the levels of expression of sialyltransferases and therefore, the SA levels on the surface, are modulated during differentiation and maturation processes (Bax et al., 2007; Videira et al., 2008). Additionally, it has also been shown that the elimination of the SA from the surface using a sialidase induced the maturation and activation of human DCs (Crespo et al., 2009), and that endogenous neuraminidase activity is necessary for the immune response to bacterial infections (Amith et al., 2009; Stamatos et al., 2010). These last studies reinforce the idea of a role for SA in immunity, and also could have implications in the immune responses against IAV, as the IAV NA is one important component of viral particles. One of the first reports suggesting the importance of HA-SA interaction in eliciting innate immune responses was published by Miller and Anders (2003), who showed that inactivated IAV are able to induce type I IFN production in mouse spleen cells in a SA-dependent manner. Herein, it is important to mention that the induction of type I IFN in immune cells by inactivated viruses via TLR7 could also be dependent on HA-SA interaction, since a more efficient SA-dependent entry of inactivated viruses would result in an enhanced recognition of viral ssRNA by TLR7 in the endosomes (Diebold et al., 2004).

Several studies have been performed comparing cytokine responses between avian H5N1 viruses and human H1N1 in immune and epithelial cells, and most were able to demonstrate that the H5N1 IAV induced the strongest production of cytokines and chemokines, as compared to H1N1 IAV (Cheung et al., 2002; Chan et al., 2005; Lee et al., 2008, 2009; Cheng et al., 2010). However, the viral factors responsible for this effect were not clearly determined, due to high disparity in the viral segments among the strains compared, and it is likely that a combination of them (HA, NS1, PB1-F2...) could account for these differences. In order to elucidate if differences in receptor specificity of the IAV are important for this hyper-induction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, we recently reported that recombinant viruses bearing the HA and NA from a HPAIV H5N1, which differed only in two amino-acids that were shown to modify receptor specificity, induced different cytokine profiles in human DCs, macrophages, and primary bronchial-epithelial cells (Ramos et al., 2011). Using these viruses with identical genes with the exception of two amino-acids in the HA we could clearly analyze the contribution of this important factor to the immune responses in human immune cells. Specifically, the recombinant IAV with avian-type receptor specificity (226Q/228G) induced higher levels of type I IFN, TNF-a, IP-10,

RANTES, and IL-6 than the one with increased human-type receptor specificity (226L/228S), indicating that the differential binding of the IAV to their receptors in the cell surface could contribute for the hyper-cytokinemia observed in HPAIV patients. These data indicate that recognition of IAV by cell surface receptors in immune cells could occur differently depending on their binding preference, as proposed in the model shown in Figure 1. In this hypothetical model, IAV could be detected by separate unknown receptors differently sialylated (either SA α 2,3 or SA α 2,6; **Figure 1A**), or by a receptor expressing both SA α 2,3 and SA α 2,6 (Figure 1B). In these two cases, engagement of avian IAV to a putative receptor containing SAa2,3 would result in activation of signaling pathways leading to increased cytokine production and inflammation. However, human IAV detection would result in delayed induction of cytokines. At that stage of infection, IAV proteins involved in innate immune evasion (such as NS1 or PB1-F2) could antagonize innate immunity, resulting in lower expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines.

On the other hand, another study by a different group found that recombinant HA proteins from an H5N1 and a 2009 H1N1 virus were able to induce DC activation of murine DCs in a MyD88/TLR4 dependent manner (Liu et al., 2010), indicating a possible role for this Toll-like receptor (TLR) in recognition of IAV HA. In this work, no clear differences were observed between H5 and H1 HAs, but it is important to note that the cytokine profile induced in murine DCs could differ of that observed in human DCs, probably due to different sialylation patterns in those two systems.

Interestingly, Eierhoff et al. (2010) recently discovered that IAV interact with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) in a SA-dependent manner. They clearly showed that IAV attachment to this receptor tyrosine kinase (RTK) family member promotes its activation, resulting in increased IAV uptake. Furthermore, they observed recruitment of the regulatory subunit p85 of PI3K to the EGFR in response to viral attachment, indicating activation of downstream signaling pathways, which are necessary for endocytosis triggering. These results are of great relevance, indicating that the interaction of the viral particles with the cell surface via RTK might have important impact not only in viral uptake, as the authors demonstrated, but its activation could play a role also in the innate immune response to IAV, since it is known that the EGFR pathway is involved in the production of IL-8 by respiratory epithelial cells, resulting in neutrophils recruitment in airway inflammatory diseases (Subauste and Proud, 2001; Nakanaga et al., 2007). Moreover, as EGFR activation was observed to be SA-dependent, further studies to elucidate if the same signaling pathways are trigged by viruses with different SAa2,3 or SAa2,6 receptor specificity would be of great interest.

IAV INTERACTION WITH CELL SURFACE CARBOHYDRATE RECOGNIZING RECEPTORS AND THE INNATE IMMUNE RESPONSE

Influenza A viruses are recognized by different PRRs in host cells, leading to the initiation of the innate immune response aimed to defeat the virus. The most extensively studied receptors for IAV



are nucleic acid recognizing receptors, such as RIG-I-like receptors (RLRs) and TLRs (Garcia-Sastre, 2011), and more recently, nucleotide oligomerization domain receptors or Nod-like receptors (NLRs) have been shown to have also an important role in IAV infection (Allen et al., 2009; Ichinohe et al., 2009). However, although not much attention has been paid so far to the IAV glycoproteins as pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) there is increasing evidence for the importance of their interaction with the host cell and the initiation of signaling pathways related with either internalization/endocytosis and cytokine production (**Table 1**).

Several studies showed that interactions of the HA of the IAV with C-type lectins receptors (CLRs) are important for IAV infectivity and for induction of type I IFN production in immune cells, since these are reduced upon pre-incubation with mannans and/or blocking antibodies (Miller and Anders, 2003; Londrigan et al., 2011; Seeds et al., 2011). CLRs are important PRRs in the immune response to pathogens, since they mediate attachment of the pathogens to DCs and macrophages. Attachment events facilitate phagocytosis, and also induce the activation of several signaling pathways that modulate immune responses to that pathogen (Geijtenbeek and Gringhuis, 2009).

Dendritic cell-specific intercellular adhesion molecule-3grabbing non-integrin (DC-SIGN) is one of the best-characterized CLRs, which is expressed in immature DCs and recognizes and binds to high mannose containing glycoproteins, commonly found in several pathogens, including viruses. H5N1 pseudotyped viruses were demonstrated to efficiently infect THP-1/DC-SIGN expressing cells, and the infectivity was reduced using DC-SIGN blocking antibodies (Wang et al., 2008). Another interesting observation in this manuscript was that DC-SIGN dependent entry was observed to be also dependent on SA. In contrast, another study focused in the role of DC-SIGN and L-SIGN in IAV entry, using SAdeficient cells and the virus strain BJx109 (H3N2), indicated that the entry mediated by these receptors was SA-independent (Londrigan et al., 2011). These discrepancies are likely to be due to differences on experimental designs as, for instance, the avian H5 and the H3 from BJx109 present affinity for differently galactoselinked SA (SA α 2,3 and SA α 2,6, respectively). SIGN-R1 is one of the human DC-SIGN homologous proteins in mouse, and it is expressed in some subsets of macrophages and DCs in the spleen and the lymph node (Kang et al., 2003; Gonzalez et al., 2010; Lyszkiewicz et al., 2011). Similarly to human DC-SIGN, SIGN-R1 has also been reported to interact with IAV. Gonzalez et al. (2010) observed that a SIGN-R1-specific blocking antibody reduces IAV PR8 binding to lymph node DCs both *in vitro* and *in vivo* (using multiphoton intra-vital microscopy), and the viral uptake via this receptor was essential for local humoral immunity.

Additional C-type lectins that IAV have been shown to interact with are the murine macrophage galactose-type lectin (MGL) and macrophage mannose receptor (MMR). These interactions were observed to be SA-independent, and correlated with the different HA glycosylation levels of a few IAV strains (Reading et al., 2000; Upham et al., 2010). On the other hand, the mannose binding lectin (MBL), which is a soluble PRR belonging to the collectins family, is known to have anti-IAV activity, since it inhibits hemagglutination, resulting in viral neutralization, opsonizes viral particles allowing for better recognition and ingestion by phagocytic cells, and also activates the lectin complement pathway (Kawai et al., 2007; Chang et al., 2010; Gonzalez et al., 2010).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

The IAV interaction with surface cellular receptors is important for the pathogenesis and the immune responses generated in the host. The receptor specificity of IAV is determinant for allowing entry in the cell, and differential SA specificity accounts for host and cell tropism. Several specific cell receptors have been identified to interact with IAV in a SA-dependent or independent way. Further studies will allow for a better understanding of the outcome of these interactions and identification of new receptors, which could be important for the immune responses necessary for virus clearance or exaggerated responses that result in acute infections

Table 1 | Summary of cell surface or soluble host molecules reported to interact with IAV.

Cell receptor/ interacting molecule	Host studied/cell types	IAV subtype	Remarks	Reference
DC-SIGN	B-THP-1, B-THP-1/DC-SIGN (human), MDDCs (human)	H5N1 pseudotyped virus particles	SA-dependent interaction	Wang et al. (2008)
	Lec2 CHO cells (hamster)	H3N2 and highly glycosylated H1N1	SA-independent interaction	Londrigan et al. (2011)
L-SIGN	Lec2 CHO cells	H3N2 and highly glycosylated H1N1	SA-independent interaction	Londrigan et al. (2011)
SIGN-R1	Mouse model-in vivo/DCs	PR8 (H1N1)	Involved in humoral immunity	Gonzalez et al. (2010)
MMR	J774E (mouse)	H3N2, PR8	SA-independent interaction	Reading et al. (2000), Upham et al. (2010)
MGL	J774E	H3N2, PR8	SA-independent interaction	Upham et al. (2010)
EGFR c-Met receptor	A549 (human)	H7N7 (avian), PR8	SA-dependent interaction	Eierhoff et al. (2010)
MBL (opsonization)	Mouse model- <i>in vivo/</i> macrophages	PR8 (H1N1)	Dispensable for humoral immunity	Gonzalez et al. (2010)
	MDCK cells (canine)	H3N2		Kawai et al. (2007)
	Mouse model-in vivo	H3N2		Chang et al. (2010)

and complications in high risk populations, as well as in infection by HPAIV. Recent data from several groups, including ours, strongly suggest that these receptors, when present in immune cells, might account for specific pro-inflammatory responses or facilitation of virus entry into cells. These findings may shed new light into the observed exacerbated immune responses in humans infected with viruses with different host tropism, such as HPAIV H5N1. Further studies need to be performed to analyze if IAV with different SA binding affinity indeed bind different receptors

REFERENCES

- Allen, I. C., Scull, M. A., Moore, C. B., Holl, E. K., Mcelvania-Tekippe, E., Taxman, D. J., Guthrie, E. H., Pickles, R. J., and Ting, J. P. (2009). The NLRP3 inflammasome mediates in vivo innate immunity to influenza A virus through recognition of viral RNA. *Immunity* 30, 556–565.
- Almond, J. W. (1977). A single gene determines the host range of influenza virus. *Nature* 270, 617–618.
- Amith, S. R., Jayanth, P., Franchuk, S., Siddiqui, S., Seyrantepe, V., Gee, K., Basta, S., Beyaert, R., Pshezhetsky, A. V., and Szewczuk, M. R. (2009). Dependence of pathogen molecule-induced Toll-like receptor activation and cell function on Neul sialidase. *Glycoconj. J.* 26, 1197–1212.
- Bax, M., Garcia-Vallejo, J. J., Jang-Lee, J., North, S. J., Gilmartin, T. J., Hernandez, G., Crocker, P. R., Leffler, H., Head, S. R., Haslam, S. M., Dell, A., and Van Kooyk, Y. (2007). Dendritic cell maturation results in pronounced changes in glycan expression affecting recognition by siglecs and galectins. *J. Immunol.* 179, 8216–8224.
- CDC. (2010). Prevention and Control of Influenza with Vaccines. Recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP).
 MMWR 59 (No. RR-8). Atlanta: Office of Surveillance, Epidemiology, and Laboratory Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC).
- Chan, M. C., Cheung, C. Y., Chui, W. H., Tsao, S. W., Nicholls, J. M., Chan, Y. O., Chan, R. W., Long, H. T., Poon, L. L., Guan, Y., and Peiris, J. S. (2005). Proinflammatory cytokine responses induced by influenza A (H5N1) viruses in primary human alveolar and bronchial epithelial cells. *Respir. Res.* 6, 135.
- Chang, W. C., White, M. R., Moyo, P., Mcclear, S., Thiel, S., Hartshorn, K. L., and Takahashi, K. (2010). Lack of the pattern recognition molecule mannose-binding lectin increases susceptibility to influenza A virus

infection. *BMC Immunol.* 11, 64. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-11-64

- Chen, L. M., Blixt, O., Stevens, J., Lipatov, A. S., Davis, C. T., Collins, B. E., Cox, N. J., Paulson, J. C., and Donis, R. O. (2012). In vitro evolution of H5N1 avian influenza virus toward human-type receptor specificity. *Virology* 422, 105–113.
- Cheng, X., Xu, Q., Song, E., Yang, C. F., Kemble, G., and Jin, H. (2010). The hemagglutinin protein of influenza A/Vietnam/1203/2004 (H5N1) contributes to hyperinduction of proinflammatory cytokines in human epithelial cells. Virology 406, 28–36.
- Cheung, C. Y., Poon, L. L., Lau, A. S., Luk, W., Lau, Y. L., Shortridge, K. F., Gordon, S., Guan, Y., and Peiris, J. S. (2002). Induction of proinflammatory cytokines in human macrophages by influenza A (H5N1) viruses: a mechanism for the unusual severity of human disease? *Lancet* 360, 1831–1837.
- Crespo, H. J., Cabral, M. G., Teixeira, A. V., Lau, J. T., Trindade, H., and Videira, P. A. (2009). Effect of sialic acid loss on dendritic cell maturation. *Immunology* 128, e621–e631.
- Crocker, P. R., and Varki, A. (2001). Siglecs, sialic acids and innate immunity. *Trends Immunol.* 22, 337–342.
- De Jong, M. D., Simmons, C. P., Thanh, T. T., Hien, V. M., Smith, G. J., Chau, T. N., Hoang, D. M., Chau, N. V., Khanh, T. H., Dong, V. C., Qui, P. T., Cam, B. V., Ha Do, Q., Guan, Y., Peiris, J. S., Chinh, N. T., Hien, T. T., and Farrar, J. (2006). Fatal outcome of human influenza A (H5N1) is associated with high viral load and hypercytokinemia. *Nat. Med.* 12, 1203–1207.
- De Vries, E., Tscherne, D. M., Wienholts, M. J., Cobos-Jimenez, V., Scholte, F., Garcia-Sastre, A., Rottier, P. J., and De Haan, C. A. (2011). Dissection of the influenza A virus endocytic routes reveals macropinocytosis as an alternative entry pathway. *PLoS Pathog.* 7, e1001329. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001329
- Diebold, S. S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S., and Reis E Sousa, C. (2004). Innate antiviral responses by means of TLR7-mediated recognition of

in antigen presenting cells or if the different binding by those HAs induces distinct signaling cascades in those cells.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Sarah Pagni for kindly reviewing the manuscript. Data discussed in this review from the Fernandez-Sesma group was funded by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) and the NIH Center of Excellence for Influenza Research and Surveillance (CEIRS; grant HHSN266200700010C to Ana Fernandez-Sesma).

single-stranded RNA. Science 303, 1529–1531.

- Eierhoff, T., Hrincius, E. R., Rescher, U., Ludwig, S., and Ehrhardt, C. (2010). The epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) promotes uptake of influenza A viruses (IAV) into host cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 6, e1001099. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1001099
- Enserink, M. (2007). Virology from two mutations, an important clue about the Spanish flu. *Science* 315, 582.
- Garcia-Sastre, A. (2011). Induction and evasion of type I interferon responses by influenza viruses. *Virus Res.* 162, 12–18.
- Geijtenbeek, T. B., and Gringhuis, S. I. (2009). Signalling through C-type lectin receptors: shaping immune responses. *Nat. Rev. Immunol.* 9, 465–479.
- Gonzalez, S. F., Lukacs-Kornek, V., Kuligowski, M. P., Pitcher, L. A., Degn, S. E., Kim, Y. A., Cloninger, M. J., Martinez-Pomares, L., Gordon, S., Turley, S. J., and Carroll, M. C. (2010). Capture of influenza by medullary dendritic cells via SIGN-R1 is essential for humoral immunity in draining lymph nodes. *Nat. Immunol.* 11, 427–434.
- Ichinohe, T., Lee, H. K., Ogura, Y., Flavell, R., and Iwasaki, A. (2009). Inflammasome recognition of influenza virus is essential for adaptive immune responses. J. Exp. Med. 206, 79–87.
- Kang, Y. S., Yamazaki, S., Iyoda, T., Pack, M., Bruening, S. A., Kim, J. Y., Takahara, K., Inaba, K., Steinman, R. M., and Park, C. G. (2003). SIGN-R1, a novel C-type lectin expressed by marginal zone macrophages in spleen, mediates uptake of the polysaccharide dextran. *Int. Immunol.* 15, 177–186.
- Kawai, T., Kase, T., Suzuki, Y., Eda, S., Sakamoto, T., Ohtani, K., and Wakamiya, N. (2007). Antiinfluenza A virus activities of mannan-binding lectins and bovine conglutinin. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* 69, 221–224.
- Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M. J., and Zhuang, X. (2004). Endocytosis of influenza viruses. *Microbes Infect.* 6, 929–936.

- Lakadamyali, M., Rust, M. J., and Zhuang, X. (2006). Ligands for clathrin-mediated endocytosis are differentially sorted into distinct populations of early endosomes. *Cell* 124, 997–1009.
- Lee, S. M., Cheung, C. Y., Nicholls, J. M., Hui, K. P., Leung, C. Y., Uiprasertkul, M., Tipoe, G. L., Lau, Y. L., Poon, L. L., Ip, N. Y., Guan, Y., and Peiris, J. S. (2008). Hyperinduction of cyclooxygenase-2-mediated proinflammatory cascade: a mechanism for the pathogenesis of avian influenza H5N1 infection. J. Infect. Dis. 198, 525–535.
- Lee, S. M., Gardy, J. L., Cheung, C. Y., Cheung, T. K., Hui, K. P., Ip, N. Y., Guan, Y., Hancock, R. E., and Peiris, J. S. (2009). Systems-level comparison of host-responses elicited by avian H5N1 and seasonal H1N1 influenza viruses in primary human macrophages. *PLoS ONE* 4, e8072. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0008072
- Liu, W. C., Lin, S. C., Yu, Y. L., Chu, C. L., and Wu, S. C. (2010). Dendritic cell activation by recombinant hemagglutinin proteins of H1N1 and H5N1 influenza A viruses. *J. Virol.* 84, 12011–12017.
- Londrigan, S. L., Turville, S. G., Tate, M. D., Deng, Y. M., Brooks, A. G., and Reading, P. C. (2011). N-linked glycosylation facilitates sialic acidindependent attachment and entry of influenza A viruses into cells expressing DC-SIGN or L-SIGN. J. Virol. 85, 2990–3000.
- Lyszkiewicz, M., Zietara, N., Rohde, M., Gekara, N. O., Jablonska, J., Dittmar, K. E., and Weiss, S. (2011). SIGN-R1+MHC II+ cells of the splenic marginal zone – a novel type of resident dendritic cells. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 89, 607–615.
- Maines, T. R., Chen, L. M., Matsuoka, Y., Chen, H., Rowe, T., Ortin, J., Falcon, A., Nguyen, T. H., Mai Le, Q., Sedyaningsih, E. R., Harun, S., Tumpey, T. M., Donis, R. O., Cox, N. J., Subbarao, K., and Katz, J. M. (2006). Lack of transmission of H5N1 avian-human reassortant influenza viruses in a ferret model. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 103, 12121–12126.

- Maines, T. R., Szretter, K. J., Perrone, L., Belser, J. A., Bright, R. A., Zeng, H., Tumpey, T. M., and Katz, J. M. (2008). Pathogenesis of emerging avian influenza viruses in mammals and the host innate immune response. *Immunol. Rev.* 225, 68–84.
- Matsuoka, Y., Lamirande, E. W., and Subbarao, K. (2009). The ferret model for influenza. *Curr. Protoc. Microbiol.* Chapter 15, Unit 15G 12.
- Miller, J. L., and Anders, E. M. (2003). Virus-cell interactions in the induction of type 1 interferon by influenza virus in mouse spleen cells. *J. Gen. Virol.* 84, 193–202.
- Mubareka, S., and Palese, P. (2011). "Influenza virus: the biology of a changing virus," in *Influenza Vaccines for the Future*, eds G. D. Giudice and R. Rappuoli (Basel: Springer), 3–26.
- Nakanaga, T., Nadel, J. A., Ueki, I. F., Koff, J. L., and Shao, M. X. (2007). Regulation of interleukin-8 via an airway epithelial signaling cascade. *Am. J. Physiol. Lung Cell Mol. Physiol.* 292, L1289–L1296.
- Neumann, G., and Kawaoka, Y. (2006). Host range restriction and pathogenicity in the context of influenza pandemic. *Emerging Infect. Dis.* 12, 881–886.
- Nicholls, J. M., Chan, M. C., Chan, W. Y., Wong, H. K., Cheung, C. Y., Kwong, D. L., Wong, M. P., Chui, W. H., Poon, L. L., Tsao, S. W., Guan, Y., and Peiris, J. S. (2007). Tropism of avian influenza A (H5N1) in the upper and lower respiratory tract. *Nat. Med.* 13, 147–149.
- Palese, P., and Shaw, M. L. (2007). "Orthomyxoviridae: the viruses and their replication," in *Fields Virol*ogy, 5th Edn, eds D. M. Knipe and P. M. Howley (Philadelphia, PA: Lippincott Williams & Wilkins), 1647–1689.
- Peiris, J. S., Yu, W. C., Leung, C. W., Cheung, C. Y., Ng, W. F., Nicholls, J. M., Ng, T. K., Chan, K. H., Lai, S. T., Lim, W. L., Yuen, K. Y., and Guan, Y. (2004). Re-emergence of fatal human influenza A subtype H5N1 disease. *Lancet* 363, 617–619. Ramos, I., Bernal-Rubio, D., Durham,

N., Belicha-Villanueva, A., Lowen,

A. C., Steel, J., and Fernandez-Sesma, A. (2011). Effects of receptor binding specificity of avian influenza virus on the human innate immune response. *J. Virol.* 85, 4421–4431.

- Reading, P. C., Miller, J. L., and Anders, E. M. (2000). Involvement of the mannose receptor in infection of macrophages by influenza virus. *J. Virol.* 74, 5190–5197.
- Rogers, G. N., and Paulson, J. C. (1983). Receptor determinants of human and animal influenza virus isolates: differences in receptor specificity of the H3 hemagglutinin based on species of origin. *Virology* 127, 361–373.
- Seeds, R. E., Mukhopadhyay, S., Jones, I. M., Gordon, S., and Miller, J. L. (2011). The role of myeloid receptors on murine plasmacytoid dendritic cells in induction of type I interferon. *Int. Immunopharmacol.* 11, 794–801.
- Shinya, K., Ebina, M., Yamada, S., Ono, M., Kasai, N., and Kawaoka, Y. (2006). Avian flu: influenza virus receptors in the human airway. *Nature* 440, 435–436.
- Sirinonthanawech, N., Uiprasertkul, M., Suptawiwat, O., and Auewarakul, P. (2011). Viral load of the highly pathogenic avian influenza H5N1 virus in infected human tissues. J. Med. Virol. 83, 1418–1423.
- Stamatos, N. M., Carubelli, I., Van De Vlekkert, D., Bonten, E. J., Papini, N., Feng, C., Venerando, B., D'Azzo, A., Cross, A. S., Wang, L. X., and Gomatos, P. J. (2010). LPS-induced cytokine production in human dendritic cells is regulated by sialidase activity. *J. Leukoc. Biol.* 88, 1227–1239.
- Stevens, J., Blixt, O., Glaser, L., Taubenberger, J. K., Palese, P., Paulson, J. C., and Wilson, I. A. (2006a). Glycan microarray analysis of the hemagglutinins from modern and pandemic influenza viruses reveals different receptor specificities. J. Mol. Biol. 355, 1143–1155.
- Stevens, J., Blixt, O., Paulson, J. C., and Wilson, I. A. (2006b). Glycan microarray technologies: tools to survey host specificity of influenza

viruses. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. 4, 857–864.

- Subauste, M. C., and Proud, D. (2001). Effects of tumor necrosis factoralpha, epidermal growth factor and transforming growth factor-alpha on interleukin-8 production by, and human rhinovirus replication in, bronchial epithelial cells. Int. Immunopharmacol. 1, 1229–1234.
- Tumpey, T. M., Maines, T. R., Van Hoeven, N., Glaser, L., Solorzano, A., Pappas, C., Cox, N. J., Swayne, D. E., Palese, P., Katz, J. M., and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2007). A two-amino acid change in the hemagglutinin of the 1918 influenza virus abolishes transmission. *Science* 315, 655–659.
- Upham, J. P., Pickett, D., Irimura, T., Anders, E. M., and Reading, P. C. (2010). Macrophage receptors for influenza A virus: role of the macrophage galactose-type lectin and mannose receptor in viral entry. J. Virol. 84, 3730–3737.
- Van Riel, D., Munster, V. J., De Wit, E., Rimmelzwaan, G. F., Fouchier, R. A., Osterhaus, A. D., and Kuiken, T. (2006). H5N1 virus attachment to lower respiratory tract. *Science* 312, 399.
- Videira, P. A., Amado, I. F., Crespo, H. J., Alguero, M. C., Dall'Olio, F., Cabral, M. G., and Trindade, H. (2008). Surface alpha 2-3- and alpha 2-6sialylation of human monocytes and derived dendritic cells and its influence on endocytosis. *Glycoconj. J.* 25, 259–268.
- Wang, S. F., Huang, J. C., Lee, Y. M., Liu, S. J., Chan, Y. J., Chau, Y. P., Chong, P., and Chen, Y. M. (2008). DC-SIGN mediates avian H5N1 influenza virus infection in cis and in trans. *Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun.* 373, 561–566.
- Watanabe, T., Shinya, K., Watanabe, S., Imai, M., Hatta, M., Li, C., Wolter, B. F., Neumann, G., Hanson, A., Ozawa, M., Yamada, S., Imai, H., Sakabe, S., Takano, R., Iwatsuki-Horimoto, K., Kiso, M., Ito, M., Fukuyama, S., Kawakami, E., Gorai, T., Simmons, H. A., Schenkman, D., Brunner, K., Capuano, S. V. III, Weinfurter, J. T., Nishio, W., Maniwa, Y., Igarashi, T., Makino, A., Travanty, E. A., Wang,

J., Kilander, A., Dudman, S. G., Suresh, M., Mason, R. J., Hungnes, O., Friedrich, T. C., and Kawaoka, Y. (2011). Avian-type receptor-binding ability can increase influenza virus pathogenicity in macaques. *J. Virol.* 13195–13203.

- Weis, W., Brown, J. H., Cusack, S., Paulson, J. C., Skehel, J. J., and Wiley, D. C. (1988). Structure of the influenza virus haemagglutinin complexed with its receptor, sialic acid. *Nature* 333, 426–431.
- WHO. (2011). Cumulative Number of Confirmed Human Cases of Avian Influenza A/(H5N1) Reported to WHO. Available at: http://www. who.int/influenza/human_animal_ interface/H5N1_cumulative_table_ archives/en/index.html
- Wise, H. M., Foeglein, A., Sun, J., Dalton, R. M., Patel, S., Howard, W., Anderson, E. C., Barclay, W. S., and Digard, P. (2009). A complicated message: identification of a novel PB1-related protein translated from influenza A virus segment 2 mRNA. J. Virol. 83, 8021–8031.

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Received: 19 January 2012; accepted: 12 March 2012; published online: 28 March 2012.

Citation: Ramos I and Fernandez-Sesma A (2012) Cell receptors for influenza A viruses and the innate immune response. Front. Microbio. **3**:117. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00117

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Ramos and Fernandez-Sesma. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits non-commercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.

OPINION ARTICLE published: 17 May 2012 doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00177



Norovirus recognition sites on histo-blood group antigens

Haruko Shirato*

Department of Virology II, National Institute of Infectious Diseases, Musashi-Murayama, Tokyo, Japan *Correspondence: harukos@nih.go.jp

Norovirus (NoV) is the major causative agent of acute viral gastroenteritis worldwide. Based on genetic analyses, human NoV strains have been classified into at least three genogroups: genogroup I (GI), GII, and GIV, which contain at least 15, 18, and 1 genotypes, respectively (Kagevama et al., 2004). Notably, these NoV genotypes are morphologically similar to one another but differ antigenically (Kapikian, 1996; Estes et al., 1997; Hansman et al., 2006). Since no cell culture system has been developed yet, molecular analyses to elucidate the mechanisms underlying infection or productive replication have been stalled until recently. The primary NoV replication site in humans is unknown, but intestinal biopsy from volunteer who became ill following oral administration of NoV exhibited histopathologic lesions, in which the villi of the proximal small intestine were blunted (Agus et al., 1973). More than 30 years ago, the initial NoV challenge studies conducted in volunteers found that a subset of individuals was repeatedly susceptible to NoV infection, whereas a second subset was repeatedly resistant to infection (Parrino et al., 1977). A genetic factor, possibly a receptor, was hypothesized to affect the susceptibility of an individual to NoV infection. Recently, a mechanism that explains the susceptibility or resistance to NoV infection has been identified; namely, NoV attaches to histo-blood group antigens (HBGAs) on potential host cells in the gut (Lindesmith et al., 2003).

HBGAs are structurally related oligosaccharides that include ABH antigens and Lewis (Le) antigens (Figure 1). Polymorphisms in the ABH antigens are induced by variations in the core structure. Type 1 chain ABH antigens are widely expressed in endodermally derived tissues such as the lining epithelia and the glandular epithelia (Oriol et al., 1986). Meanwhile, type 2 chain ABH antigens are found primarily in ecto- or meso-dermally derived tissues, including skin and erythrocytes (Hakomori, 1981; Dabelsteen et al., 1982; Oriol et al., 1986). In the human gastroduodenal junction, type 1 structures are found exclusively at the level of the surface epithelia, whereas type 2 structures are preferentially found at the glandular level (Mollicone et al., 1985).

Details of the NoV recognition of HBGAs were clarified with in vitro experiments, enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISAs), and surface plasmon resonance (SPR) experiments using virus-like particles (VLPs), as well as crystallization studies using P domains. When the NoV VP1 gene, which encodes a capsid protein, is expressed in insect cells, capsid proteins

of approximately 58 kDa are generated and self-assembled into VLPs (Xi et al., 1990; Jiang et al., 1993). Though artificial, these VLPs are morphologically and antigenically similar to those of the respective native virions (Jiang et al., 1992; Green et al., 1993; Prasad et al., 1994, 1999). VP1 has two major domains: a shell (S) domain, which forms the core of the icosahedral shell (Bertolotti-Ciarlet et al., 2002), and a protruding (P) domain, which forms arches extending from the shell and is responsible for host interactions (Tan et al., 2004, 2011; Tan and Jiang, 2005a,b, 2007). The association and dissociation kinetics for NoV VLPs binding to HBGAs were measured with SPR experiments (Choi et al., 2008; Shirato et al., 2008), which allowed us to visualize



FIGURE 1 | NoV recognition sites on histo-blood group antigens. The structure represents a pentasaccharide as the final product (ALe^b or BLe^b: in the case of BLe^b, the terminal residue is Gal.) of human HBGA synthesis. H types 1 (Fucα1-2Galβ1-3GlcNAcβ1-) and 2 (Fucα1-2Galβ1-4GlcNAcβ1-) are the terminal moieties expressed in histo-blood group type O individuals. However, in A, B, and AB individuals the H antigens are further modified by enzymes that transfer N-acetylgalactosamine (GalNAc, type A), Gal (type B), or either carbohydrate (type AB) to the terminal Gal residue of an H antigen in an α3 linkage. For NoV recognition site 1 on HBGAs, the majority of GI NoVs interact with the A [GalNAcα1-3(Fucα1-2)Galβ1-] and Le^a [Galβ1-3(Fucα1-4)GlcNAcβ1-] antigens, whereas GII NoVs exhibit more diverse HBGA-binding patterns, such as for the B [Gal α 1-3(Fuc α 1-2)Gal β 1-] antigen. For recognition site 2, NoVVLPs are able to distinguish between the type 1 (Gal\beta1-3GlcNAc\beta1-) and type 2 (Gal\beta1-4GlcNAc\beta1-) core structures of HBGAs and bind more tightly to the type 1 carbohydrates than to the type 2 carbohydrates.

Abbreviations: Fuc, fucose; Gal, galactose; GalNAc, N-acetylgalactosamine; Glc, glucose; GlcNAc, N-acetylglucosamine; HBGA, histo-blood group antigen; NoV, norovirus; VP, virion protein.

each binding step in about a 120-1200 s reaction time, whereas ELISA allowed us to visualize the last step in a total reaction time of about 8 h. Recent crystallographic studies have revealed that the P domain dimers form a structure similar to that of the corresponding region of the VP1 protein, indicating that the P domain proteins are valid alternatives for HBGA-binding studies (Choi et al., 2008). Moreover, the P domain proteins have an advantage over VLPs in structural studies, because they are easily purified from extracts of transformed E. coli cells. The crystallization studies have identified not only the recognition sites on HBGAs by NoV but also the putative binding sites on the NoV capsid protein. These in vitro studies clarified that the binding properties of human NoV to HBGAs were variable and that the terminal residues and internal structures were important in the NoV-HBGA interactions (Harrington et al., 2002, 2004; Huang et al., 2003, 2005; Shirato-Horikoshi et al., 2007; Shirato et al., 2008).

To date, the interactions between carbohydrates and 29 NoV VLPs, including 10 GI and 19 GII VLPs, have been reported. Figure 1 illustrates the recognition sites on HBGAs by NoV. For recognition site 1, several binding patterns have been identified according to the interaction with the H (α 2Fuc), A (α GalNAc), B (α Gal), and Le (\alpha4Fuc) epitopes (Huang et al., 2005; Shirato et al., 2008). The binding of NoVs to these terminal residues is genogroup dependent. The majority of GI NoVs interact with the A and Le^a antigens (Hutson et al., 2003; Shirato et al., 2008), whereas GII NoVs exhibit more diverse HBGA-binding patterns, such as in the binding of the B antigen (Harrington et al., 2004; Huang et al., 2005; Cao et al., 2007; Shirato et al., 2008). Indeed, strains of the same genogroup tend to have identical amino acids on the putative binding sites. Moreover, structural studies revealed that the carbohydrate-binding site in the P domain is distinctly different between the GI and GII genogroups both in terms of its location and its structural characteristics (Cao et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2008), despite the VP1 protein sharing a similar S and P domain organization and polypeptide fold between these two genogroups. However, one group has argued that the specificity for HBGA is strain-dependent across GI

and GII (Huang et al., 2005). These authors concluded that NoV-HBGA-binding patterns could be classified into two groups, an A/B-binding group and a Le-binding group, and that no correlation was present between the binding patterns and the genogroup. However, a single amino acid change in the P domain was found to result in a change in the pattern of HBGA binding (Tan et al., 2003), so that reaching conclusions is difficult. For recognition site 2, both GI and GII NoV VLPs are able to distinguish the difference between type 1 and type 2 carbohydrates. In SPR experiments, GI and GII NoV VLPs more efficiently bound to type 2 than type 1 for the H, A and B antigens (Shirato et al., 2008). Moreover, the dissociation of GII NoV VLP from the B type 1 antigen was slower than that from the B type 2 antigen (Shirato et al., 2008). ELISA experiments also showed that the NoV VLPs were able to distinguish the difference between the core structures of HBGAs. The GI VLP has been reported to bind synthetic H carbohydrates in the following order of strength: H type 1 trisaccharides, H type 2 trisaccharides, and H disaccharides (Hutson et al., 2003). The binding of GII NoV VLP to B type 1 has been reported to be stronger than that to B type 2 (Shirato et al., 2008). In addition, immunohistochemical analysis has revealed that the binding of GI to the gastroduodenal junction correlated with the presence of H type 1 antigen but not to H type 2 antigen (Marionneau et al., 2002). These studies indicate that the NoV VLPs are able to distinguish between type 1 and type 2 core structures of HBGAs and to bind more tightly to the type 1 carbohydrates than to the type 2 carbohydrates.

Avian and equine influenza viruses are known to preferentially bind to the terminal sialic acid α2-3Gal (SAα2-3Gal) linkage, whereas human influenza viruses preferentially bind to the SA α 2–6Gal linkage (Rogers and Paulson, 1983; Rogers et al., 1983; Connor et al., 1994), affording a major impact on the host specificity of these influenza viruses. A similar relationship may exist between NoV carbohydrate recognition and the tissue specificity of this virus, since the binding of NoV to the gastroduodenal junction has been reported to correlate with the presence of the H type 1 but not the H type 2 antigen, as described above (Marionneau et al., 2002). In conclusion, HBGAs are important factors in determining the host specificity of NoV, although it remains unclear whether they function as the primary receptor or enhance NoV infectivity and/or attachment to a common cellular receptor. Since NoV comprises a number of antigenically diverse groups, identification of the common NoV-binding epitopes on host cells, if any, should be useful in the development of possible antiviral agents.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

This work was supported by the R&D Project of Industrial Science and Technology Frontier Program, which is supported by the New Energy and Industrial Technology Development Organization.

REFERENCES

- Agus, S. G., Dolin, R., Wyatt, R. G., Tousimis, A. J., and Northrup, R. S. (1973). Acute infectious nonbacterial gastroenteritis: intestinal histopathology. Histologic and enzymatic alterations during illness produced by the Norwalk agent in man. *Ann. Intern. Med.* 79, 18–25.
- Bertolotti-Ciarlet, A., White, L. J., Chen, R., Prasad, B. V., and Estes, M. K. (2002). Structural requirements for the assembly of Norwalk virus-like particles. *J. Virol.* 76, 4044–4055.
- Cao, S., Lou, Z., Tan, M., Chen, Y., Liu, Y., Zhang, Z., Zhang, X. C., Jiang, X., Li, X., and Rao, Z. (2007). Structural basis for the recognition of blood group trisaccharides by norovirus. *J. Virol.* 81, 5949–5957.
- Choi, J. M., Hutson, A. M., Estes, M. K., and Prasad, B. V. (2008). Atomic resolution structural characterization of recognition of histo-blood group antigens by Norwalk virus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 105, 9175–9180.
- Connor, R. J., Kawaoka, Y., Webster, R. G., and Paulson, J. C. (1994). Receptor specificity in human, avian, and equine H2 and H3 influenza virus isolates. *Virology* 205, 17–23.
- Dabelsteen, E., Vedtofte, P., Hakomori, S. I., and Young, W.W. (1982). Carbohydrate chains specific for blood group antigens in differentiation of human oral epithelium. *J. Invest. Dermatol.* 79, 3–7.
- Estes, M. K., Ball, J. M., Crawford, S. E., O'Neal, C., Opekun, A. A., Graham, D. Y., and Conner, M. E. (1997). Virus-like particle vaccines for mucosal immunization. *Adv. Exp. Med. Biol.* 412, 387–395.
- Green, K. Y., Lew, J. F., Jiang, X., Kapikian, A. Z., and Estes, M. K. (1993). Comparison of the reactivities of baculovirus-expressed recombinant Norwalk virus capsid antigen with those of the native Norwalk virus antigen in serologic assays and some epidemiologic observations. J. Clin. Microbiol. 31, 2185–2191.
- Hakomori, S. (1981). Blood group ABH and Ii antigens of human erythrocytes: chemistry, polymorphism, and their developmental change. *Semin. Hematol.* 18, 39–62.
- Hansman, G. S., Natori, K., Shirato-Horikoshi, H., Ogawa, S., Oka, T., Katayama, K., Tanaka, T., Miyoshi, T., Sakae, K., Kobayashi, S., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Sakurai, N., Shinozaki, K., Okada, M., Seto, Y., Kamata, K., Nagata, N., Tanaka, K., Miyamura, T., and Takeda,

N. (2006). Genetic and antigenic diversity among noroviruses. J. Gen. Virol. 87, 909–919.

- Harrington, P. R., Lindesmith, L., Yount, B., Moe, C. L., and Baric, R. S. (2002). Binding of Norwalk viruslike particles to ABH histo-blood group antigens is blocked by antisera from infected human volunteers or experimentally vaccinated mice. J. Virol. 76, 12335–12343.
- Harrington, P. R., Vinje, J., Moe, C. L., and Baric, R. S. (2004). Norovirus capture with histo-blood group antigens reveals novel virus-ligand interactions. J. Virol. 78, 3035–3045.
- Huang, P., Farkas, T., Marionneau, S., Zhong, W., Ruvoen-Clouet, N., Morrow, A. L., Altaye, M., Pickering, L. K., Newburg, D. S., Lependu, J., and Jiang, X. (2003). Noroviruses bind to human ABO, Lewis, and secretor histo-blood group antigens: identification of 4 distinct strain-specific patterns. *J. Infect. Dis.* 188, 19–31.
- Huang, P., Farkas, T., Zhong, W., Tan, M., Thornton, S., Morrow, A. L., and Jiang, X. (2005). Norovirus and histo-blood group antigens: demonstration of a wide spectrum of strain specificities and classification of two major binding groups among multiple binding patterns. J. Virol. 79, 6714–6722.
- Hutson, A. M., Atmar, R. L., Marcus, D. M., and Estes, M. K. (2003). Norwalk virus-like particle hemagglutination by binding to h histo-blood group antigens. J. Virol. 77, 405–415.
- Jiang, X., Wang, M., Graham, D. Y., and Estes, M. K. (1992). Expression, self-assembly, and antigenicity of the Norwalk virus capsid protein. *J. Virol.* 66, 6527–6532.
- Jiang, X., Wang, M., Wang, K., and Estes, M. K. (1993). Sequence and genomic organization of Norwalk virus. *Virology* 195, 51–61.
- Kageyama, T., Shinohara, M., Uchida, K., Fukushi, S., Hoshino, F. B., Kojima, S., Takai, R., Oka, T., Takeda, N., and Katayama, K. (2004). Coexistence of multiple genotypes, including newly identified genotypes, in outbreaks of gastroenteritis due to Norovirus in Japan. J. Clin. Microbiol. 42, 2988–2995.
- Kapikian, A. Z. (1996). Overview of viral gastroenteritis. Arch. Virol. Suppl. 12, 7–19.

- Lindesmith, L., Moe, C., Marionneau, S., Ruvoen, N., Jiang, X., Lindblad, L., Stewart, P., Lependu, J., and Baric, R. (2003). Human susceptibility and resistance to Norwalk virus infection. *Nat. Med.* 9, 548–553.
- Marionneau, S., Ruvoen, N., Le Moullac-Vaidye, B., Clement, M., Cailleau-Thomas, A., Ruiz-Palacois, G., Huang, P., Jiang, X., and Le Pendu, J. (2002). Norwalk virus binds to histo-blood group antigens present on gastroduodenal epithelial cells of secretor individuals. *Gastroenterology* 122, 1967–1977.
- Mollicone, R., Bara, J., Le Pendu, J., and Oriol, R. (1985). Immunohistologic pattern of type 1 (Lea, Leb) and type 2 (X, Y, H) blood group-related antigens in the human pyloric and duodenal mucosae. *Lab. Invest.* 53, 219–227.
- Oriol, R., Le Pendu, J., and Mollicone, R. (1986). Genetics of ABO, H, Lewis, X and related antigens. *Vox Sang.* 51, 161–171.
- Parrino, T. A., Schreiber, D. S., Trier, J. S., Kapikian, A. Z., and Blacklow, N. R. (1977). Clinical immunity in acute gastroenteritis caused by Norwalk agent. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 297, 86–89.
- Prasad, B. V., Hardy, M. E., Dokland, T., Bella, J., Rossmann, M. G., and Estes, M. K. (1999). X-ray crystallographic structure of the Norwalk virus capsid. *Science* 286, 287–290.
- Prasad, B. V., Rothnagel, R., Jiang, X., and Estes, M. K. (1994). Three-dimensional structure of baculovirusexpressed Norwalk virus capsids. J. Virol. 68, 5117–5125.
- Rogers, G. N., and Paulson, J. C. (1983). Receptor determinants of human and animal influenza virus isolates: differences in receptor specificity of the H3 hemagglutinin based on species of origin. *Virology* 127, 361–373.
- Rogers, G. N., Pritchett, T. J., Lane, J. L., and Paulson, J. C. (1983). Differential sensitivity of human, avian, and equine influenza A viruses to a glycoprotein inhibitor of infection: selection of receptor specific variants. *Virology* 131, 394–408.
- Shirato, H., Ogawa, S., Ito, H., Sato, T., Kameyama, A., Narimatsu, H., Xiaofan, Z., Miyamura, T., Wakita, T., Ishii, K., and Takeda, N. (2008). Noroviruses distinguish between type 1 and type 2 histo-blood group antigens for binding. J. Virol. 82, 10756–10767.

- Shirato-Horikoshi, H., Ogawa, S., Wakita, T., Takeda, N., and Hansman, G. S. (2007). Binding activity of norovirus and sapovirus to histo-blood group antigens. *Arch. Virol.* 152, 457–461.
- Tan, M., Fang, P. A., Xia, M., Chachiyo, T., Jiang, W., and Jiang, X. (2011). Terminal modifications of norovirus P domain resulted in a new type of subviral particles, the small P particles. *Virology* 410, 345–352.
- Tan, M., Hegde, R. S., and Jiang, X. (2004). The P domain of norovirus capsid protein forms dimer and binds to histo-blood group antigen receptors. *J. Virol.* 78, 6233–6242.
- Tan, M., Huang, P., Meller, J., Zhong, W., Farkas, T., and Jiang, X. (2003). Mutations within the P2 domain of norovirus capsid affect binding to human histo-blood group antigens: evidence for a binding pocket. *J. Virol.* 77, 12562–12571.
- Tan, M., and Jiang, X. (2005a). Norovirus and its histoblood group antigen receptors: an answer to a historical puzzle. *Trends Microbiol.* 13, 285–293.
- Tan, M., and Jiang, X. (2005b). The p domain of norovirus capsid protein forms a subviral particle that binds to histo-blood group antigen receptors. *J. Virol.* 79, 14017–14030.
- Tan, M., and Jiang, X. (2007). Norovirus-host interaction: implications for disease control and prevention. *Expert Rev. Mol. Med.* 9, 1–22.
- Xi, J. N., Graham, D. Y., Wang, K. N., and Estes, M. K. (1990). Norwalk virus genome cloning and characterization. *Science* 250, 1580–1583.

Received: 23 April 2012; accepted: 23 April 2012; published online: 17 May 2012.

Citation: Shirato H (2012) Norovirus recognition sites on histo-blood group antigens. Front. Microbio. **3**:177. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2012.00177

This article was submitted to Frontiers in Virology, a specialty of Frontiers in Microbiology.

Copyright © 2012 Shirato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non Commercial License, which permits noncommercial use, distribution, and reproduction in other forums, provided the original authors and source are credited.